
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE CLIMATE ACTION, ENVIRONMENT AND 

ENERGY SPC 
 

TO BE HELD IN THE MS TEAMS 
 

ON THURSDAY 22 OCTOBER 2020 AT 4.00 PM 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

THURSDAY 22 OCTOBER 2020
  PAGE 
 
1   Climate Change Action Plan 2020   

 
 

2   Litter Management Plan 2020 -2022   
 

 

i   Draft Litter Management Plan 2020 2022 
 

3 - 38 

ii   Public Consultation Report 
 

39 - 44 

iii   Public Consultation Summary 
 

45 - 148 

iv   Public Consultation Submissions 
 

149 - 
322 

v   Litter Management Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment 
 

323 - 
350 

vi   Litter Management Plan - Screening for Appropriate Assessment Report 
 

351 - 
402 

vii   Appendix 1 
 

403 - 
412 

3   Amended Waste Management (Storage, Presentation & Segregation of 
Household & Commercial Waste) Bye - Laws 2018   
 

 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100. 

 



 

i   Draft Amended Bye-Laws 2018 
 

413 - 
422 

ii   Public Consultation Report 
 

423 - 
424 

iii   Public Consultation Submissions 
 

425 - 
436 

4   A.O.B.   
 

 

 



 

 

  

 

Dublin City Council 

Draft Litter 

Management Plan 

2020-2022 
 

 

Working Together to Keep Dublin Clean 

Page 3



 
 

 

 

  

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acknowledgement 

Dublin City Council wishes to acknowledge and thank the individuals, organisations, elected 

members and staff who contributed in the preparation of this Litter Management Plan during the 

consultation and review process.  A broad range of views was received by Dublin City Council 

through the statutory consultation period held between February and June of 2020. 

We engaged the services of Patel Tonra Ltd., Environmental Solutions, to assist us in the 

preparation of this important plan for the City.  Patel Tonra Ltd. worked closely with the Waste 

Management Department team to produce a Litter Management Plan based on a practical, 

feasible and effective way forward to deliver a clean European Capital City.

Page 4



 

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2019-2021 

 

 
 

 
Contents 
1      Introduction 1 

           1.1  Litter 1 

      1.2       Our City                                                                                                                                             1 

      1.3      Preparing the Plan                                                                                                                           4 

2      Review of the 2016-2018 Litter Management Plan 5 

          2.1 Resources 5 

          2.2 Partnership 10 

         2.3       Enforcement 14 

3 Objectives for the 2019-2021 Litter Management Plan 17 

         3.1       Resources 18 

         3.2       Partnership 21 

    3.3    Enforcement                                                                                                                                     23 

4      Monitoring and Implementation of the 2019-2021 Litter Management Plan 26 

       4.1       Implementation Plan 26 

  4. 2      Key Performance Indicators                                                                                                            32 

  4.3      Review and Reporting                                                                                                                       32 

  

 

 

 

Page 5



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

1 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 Litter 

Litter consists of any substance, material or item deposited in, or disposed of in, or within sight of a public 

place in such a manner as to be detrimental to the amenity of the natural or built environment.  

Litter is defined in the Litter Pollution Act 1997 as amended as “a substance or object, whether or not 

intended as waste (other than waste within the meaning of the Waste Management Act, 1996, which is 

properly consigned for disposal) that, when deposited in a place other than a litter receptacle or other place 

lawfully designated for the deposit, is or is likely to become unsightly, deleterious, nauseous or unsanitary, 

whether by itself or with any other such substance or object, and regardless of its size or volume or the 

extent of the deposit”. 

The making and implementation of the Litter Management Plan is the statutory responsibility of the Local 

Authority.  In order for the plan to be successful however the core message of the plan must be that we are 

all responsible for litter management and prevention as we go about our business. 

Dublin City Council, business, industry, visitors and residents alike share the responsibility for the prevention 

of litter in Dublin. 

 

1.2 Our City 

Dublin is a vibrant, modern city, of huge cultural and historical significance. It is the economic centre of the 

Country, with a diverse geographical landscape, including a coastline stretching from Clontarf to Sandymount 

within Dublin Bay.   Dublin City Council is the largest Local Authority in Ireland, the council provides a wide and 

varied range of services to the citizens of Dublin City (population in excess of 500,000), to businesses and to 

visitors to the city.  Dublin City Council is responsible for the social, economic, infrastructural and cultural 

development of the city.  

Litter management in Dublin City is primarily the responsibility of the Waste Management Department.  

Services include street sweeping and cleaning, litter management, provision of litter bins, street washing, 

graffiti and chewing gum removal, provision of recycling facilities, community engagement, education and 

enforcement.   

The department has operational depots on the north and south of the city and nine bring centres facilitating 

community recycling.  There are 84 bottle and textile bank locations throughout the city and the network of 

recycling infrastructure is completed with two civic amenity recycling facilities.  Street Cleaning activities are 

carried out 365 days of the year and are provided on a 24-hour basis in the city centre. 

The Waste Management Department removes approximately 18,000 tonnes of litter and street cleaning waste 

annually and has a network of almost 3,200 litter bins.  In excess of 2,200 tonnes of mixed dry recyclables are 

collected at bring centres annually and over 9,000 tonnes of glass is recovered through the network of bottle 

banks, almost 1,000 tonnes of green waste is recycled for composting each year. A further 4,500 tonnes of 

recycling of various waste streams are recovered through the two Civic Amenity recycling facilities. 

Page 6



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

2 
 

The objectives of the Waste Management Department are set out in the table below. 

 

Litter Management in Parks and Public Open Space. 

The Parks and Landscape Services Department also provide significant litter management services to the city’s 

green spaces, beaches and environs. In 2018, the department disposed of in the order of 2,264 tons of waste 

materials.  This derived from the following operations and activities: 

 Servicing 341 bins located in Parks and fortnightly maintenance schedules for parks, open spaces, road 

environs and margins, carried out by a combination of direct labour and contracted services, where 

litter and dumped material is collected.  

 Halloween. Disposal of material pre and post event 

 St Annes Park (37 bins), the Bull Island and Dollymount Beach provided 156 tons of waste material in 

2018. This includes waste that derives from fly tipping on the island and The Bull Island Action 

(volunteer) Group who carry out monthly clean-ups on the island. 

 

 Dollymount Beach is maintained to a ‘Blue Flag’ standard so three weeks prior to the bathing season 

(which commences 1st June), the beach is mechanically raked from 6.00am each morning, along with 

a litter pick. This operation is carried out seven days a week throughout the bathing season until 15th 

September each year. Fifty ‘barrel bins’ are put in place to accommodate the waste that derives from 

the use of the beach during the summer months (reduced to 8 bins during the winter months) as well 

as 2 solar bins on the North Wall.  

The Waste Management Department maintain bins along the seafront promenades at Sandymount and 

Clontarf and co-operate with the Parks Service in terms of monitoring the best placement of public litter bins 

to coincide with entrances to parks and open spaces where feasible. 

 Ongoing review of street cleaning operations to ensure optimum use of resources. 

 Focus on continued improvements in Irish Business Against Litter (IBAL) and National Litter Pollution Monitoring System (NLPMS) 

survey results, specifically in relation to the issue of illegal dumping. 

 To ensure that a value for money service is delivered in all aspects of recycling. 

 Commence implementation of the Litter Management Plan for 2020- 2022. 

 Implementation of the recently amended Bye Laws for the Storage, Presentation and Segregation of Household and Commercial 

Waste. 

 Continue to implement trials of smart systems and enhance the use of technology in the area of street cleaning 

 Ongoing review of fleet operations. 

 Utilisation of GPS on fleet to analyse route information. 

 Continue initiatives to combat the issue of dog fouling. 

 Continued enforcement of Litter Pollution Acts. 

 Continued enforcement of the Bye-laws for the Prevention and Control of Litter. 

 Continue to promote and develop projects within DCCA&E Anti-Dumping Initiative. 

 Develop awareness campaigns to combat specific litter and recycling/refuse issues. 

 Improved power washing of urban villages and key locations. 

 

Page 7



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

3 
 

The Parks Service has introduced fifty solar compactor bins in 2019 and these are located throughout city parks 

where there is a significant weekend usage. 

Complaints in relation to litter are continuously monitored and if there are requests for additional bins in 

parks, each request is considered based on a local needs assessment.   

 

The Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 is formulated having regard to the shared goals of the Dublin 

City Climate Action Plan, the Eastern Midland Regional Waste Management Plan and the UN Sustainable 

Development Goals.  The plan contains actions and objectives that can contribute to positive climate and 

environmental outcomes, waste reduction and increases in recycling and reuse. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

4 
 

1.3 Preparing the Plan 

For the 2019-2021 Litter Management Plan, Dublin City Council decided to take a streamlined and focused 

approach to its preparation. This involved a four-stage process:  

 

 

 

1. Internal Consultation  

Consultation was held with key stakeholders, waste management and enforcement staff 

to review the success of the previous plan and to discuss and draw out ideas about the 

new plan, based on their experiences on the front line of litter management in the city.  

 

2. Drafting the Plan 

Background research was conducted and a review of the internal consultation was 

undertaken for the preparation of the new Litter Management Plan.  

 

A review of 2016 - 2018 Litter Management Plan and evaluation of performance against 

previous targets was completed. 

 

The draft plan was then reviewed by the Dublin City Council Litter Management Team and 

other key stakeholders. 

 

3. Statutory Consultation 

The Draft Plan must be approved by Climate Action, Energy and Environment Strategic 

Policy Committee and Dublin City Council for the statutory phase of Public Consultation 

to commence. 

 

During the Public Consultation, the Draft plan will be published on the Dublin City Council 

website and advertised through a media campaign inviting submissions including press 

and radio advertising. 

 

The results of the Statutory Consultation will be reviewed through a Special Meeting of 

Strategic Policy Committee. 

 

4. Review and Publishing the Plan 

The Draft Plan will be reviewed and amended based on the submissions received, followed 

by adoption of the Plan by Dublin City Council. The final stage will be the publication of 

the full and final Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022. 

 

 

 

 

Page 9



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

5 
 

2 Review of the 2016-2018 Litter Management Plan 
 

The 2016-2018 Plan described the activities and resources to be put in place by Dublin City Council for the 

management of litter over this period.  The Litter Management Plan adopted in March 2016 contained four 

key objectives: 

 

 

The plan was structured around three key areas; Resources, Partnership and Enforcement with various 

objectives under each to be delivered over the lifetime of the plan. A summary report on actions in each area 

over the period 2016-2018 is presented below. 

 

2.1 Resources 

The 2016-2018 Litter Management Plan set out how Dublin City Council planned to make best use of the 

resources available to it during the period of the plan, combining greater provision of technology with fully 

trained and appropriately equipped staff to ensure that a high standard of street cleaning is delivered 

throughout the City. Some highlights from the plan follow below.  

Infrastructure 

 Rationalisation of services at the two main depots at Collins Ave and Davitt Road was completed. This 

included the complete redevelopment of the Davitt Road Facility. Herzog Park bring centre facility has 

been redeveloped to facilitate development and improvement of the adjacent park facilities. 

Page 10



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

6 
 

Human Resources 

 Recruitment has been undertaken at all levels of operational staff to ensure that staffing levels 

are maintained to provide a high quality range of street cleaning services. 

Fleet 

 A replacement programme has been undertaken across a fleet of in excess of 200 vehicles.  

New compact sweeping vehicles, side loader vehicles, small vans and street vacuums have 

been introduced. 

Litter Bins 

 An upgrade of bins in urban villages is underway and more than 200 solar compactor bins have 

been installed in the city.  A litter bin tagging project has been introduced to both manage the 

stock of litter bins and provide an additional customer reporting option for issues relating to 

litter bin maintenance and servicing.   

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) System  

 Use of the Dublin City Council customer relations management system (CRM) has been 

enhanced to improve service delivery, accountability, and measurement of response times 

and levels of complaints in each administrative area. Approximately 28,000 service requests 

were addressed in 2018. 

 The use of CRM mapping tools has also been introduced to allow for identification of areas 

that require monitoring or intervention and this is carried out through a new street grading 

programme introduced to provide for ongoing monitoring of standards of day-to-day street 

cleaning and service delivery. 

 
CRM Mapping Tool Sample Screen Shot 

Page 11



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

7 
 

 

  

 

 

The chart below shows the wide variety of notifications and complaints received by Dublin City Councils 

Waste Management Services in 2018 and recorded on the CRM system 

Illegal Dumping
41%

Street Cleaning
18%

Community Clean Ups
12%

Litter Bin Maintenance
7%

Abandonded Vehicles
6%

Bulky Waste
6%

Graffiti
3%

Bonfire materials
2%

Litter Offence
1%

Abandoned bikes 1%

Dead Animal
1%

Hazardous Waste
1%

Electoral Poster Complaint

Overflowing Skips

Dog Fouling 

Dog Fouling Sign

Other
2%

Page 12



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

8 
 

Actions and Targets 

A set of tangible actions and realistic targets for Resources were set for the 2016-2018 Litter 

Management Plan. The implementation of the objectives set out in the plan were monitored and a 

selection of the targets and their implementation are outlined below: 

Resources Objective From 2016-2018 
Litter Management Plan 

Status Update on Objective 

Develop a cleaning strategy for suburban 
villages, including provision for 
weekend/out of hour’s service schedule. 

During the lifetime of the Plan, the Waste 
Management Department has undergone 
significant change incorporating the introduction 
of new shift patterns.  These have delivered on 
the commitment to provide a regular seven-day 
cleaning and litter management service to all 
areas, reflecting what is currently provided to 
the City Centre area. 
A move from route based cleaning to area based 
cleaning has been undertaken and is currently 
being refined further to ensure that resources 
are allocated adequately across all of the 
administrative areas. 
North and Southside crews are now assigned 
and scheduled cleaning / power washing of 
areas prioritised in conjunction with Area Depts. 
There is now in place a regular weekend service 
to all urban villages. 
 

Introduce street sweeping request facility 
for City residents. Parking restrictions will 
be sought to be put in place in cooperation 
with residents to facilitate this. 

Street Sweeping request facility is available in 
conjunction with local area offices and is in use 
successfully in a number of locations both on an 
occasional and regular basis in cooperation with 
local residents. 

Introduction of on line Bulky Waste 
Collection service.  Request via Dublin City 
Council website. 

Online bulky waste collection service is in place 
and working successfully.       
                              
1132 service requests completed in 2017.  
1620 service requests completed in 2018. 

Implement Halloween Plan to combat 
social and environmental consequences of 
Bonfires. 

Halloween Plan successfully implemented in 
2016 2017 and 2018 
 
420 tonnes of material removed in 2016 
450 tonnes of material removed in 2017 
600 tonnes of material removed in 2018 

Page 13



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

9 
 

Organise Christmas tree collection service. Christmas Tree Collection in place annually. 
 
150 tonnes of trees collected  in 2016/17 
170 tonnes of trees collected  in 2017/18 
153 tonnes of trees collected  in 2018/19 

 
Increase the number of handcarts to 10 in 
use in City Centre Streets (e.g. O’Connell 
St., Grafton St. and Henry St.) 

 Number of handcarts currently in use in the city 
centre is 11 and citywide 32  

Updated bin survey, including bins in parks 
to be completed.  

Bin surveying and mapping has been completed 
and the introduction of Quick response (QR) 
code reporting for bins requiring servicing has 
been introduced. 
 
Note: Litter in parks is managed by the Parks 
Department.  These bins have not been included 
in the roll out of QR code system. 
 
 

Installation of additional litter bins/dog 
fouling bins in or in close proximity to every 
enclosed Park within the City. 

110 Dog Fouling bins installed across city at 
green spaces, park entrances and high footfall 
dog walking locations as agreed with the Area 
Offices.  Standard litter bins are also in place at 
many park entrances. 
 

Use advertising space on litter bins for anti-
littering messages. 

Litter bin advertising space has been used for 
anti-littering and environmental messaging and 
for general public service messaging.  This will be 
enhanced during the lifetime of the upcoming 
litter management plan 

Continue maintenance programme for 
Bottle Banks. 

An enhanced programme of maintenance is now 
in place with closer coordination between the 
Waste Management Department and service 
providers.   
       
All bottle and textile bank locations are now 
included in Area Based cleaning schedules and 
receive scheduled daily cleaning and deep 
cleaning on an annual basis 
 

  

Page 14



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

10 
 

2.2 Partnership 

Partnerships were a key focus of the 2016 to 2018 Litter Management plan. During the lifetime of the 

plan Dublin City Council engaged with citizens through a variety of initiatives and communications 

channels 

 

Local Communities, Residents and Business Groups 

 The Waste Management Department continues to work in close partnership with local 

communities and residents groups and Dublin City Council Area Departments to deliver 

services and support local environmental initiatives.  Community clean ups are supported 

throughout the city on an ongoing basis.  Dublin City Council also engages with businesses 

to support corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives.  There is ongoing support for 

groups such as the Royal and Grand Canal volunteers, The Dodder Action Group, City 

Kayaking, tidy towns groups, business associations and residents groups.  

 

City Neighbourhoods Competition  

 The City Neighbourhoods competition is supported and promoted to reward active 

communities for the invaluable contribution they make to their environment and locality.  

The City Neighbourhoods is an area-based competition and winners at local level are then 

entered into a citywide competition in categories that provide for residents, schools and 

businesses that are engaged in community, environmental and sustainability initiatives.  

Over 400 entries were received in 2019 

 

Pride Of Place 

 The national Pride of Place entries from Dublin City Council are coordinated and 

supported through the Waste Management Department. The Pride of Place Awards are 

community recognition awards, which acknowledge the work being done every day by 

communities all over the island of Ireland. The competition is based on communities 

demonstrating directly to the judges their pride in their place by oral presentation, 

exhibitions of community activities and culture and a tour of the area highlighting the 

aspects of which they are particularly proud. It is also important that the community 

demonstrates real partnership with their local council and shows that all sectors of the 

community are included. 

 

Local Agenda 21  

 The Waste Management Department continues to promote Local Agenda 21 grant 

funding to support workshops, educational activities and initiatives promoting 

sustainability and environmental awareness.  

 

Page 15



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

11 
 

Green Schools 

 Dublin City Council supports and promotes the Green Schools programme in conjunction 

with An Taisce with over 280 schools at primary and secondary level taking part in the 

programme that promotes environmental awareness and sustainability.  Dublin City 

Council hosts an annual seminar targeted at teachers delivering the green schools 

programme to provide up to date information on the various environmental modules 

contained within the programme. 

Media Campaigns 

 Dublin City Council ran a series of media campaigns throughout the lifetime of the 2016 

to 2018 Litter Management Plan. The campaigns were run across radio, outdoor 

advertising, and cinema, digital and social media. 

 

Choose to Reuse 

Dublin City Council in partnership 

with Fingal County Council and South 

Dublin County Council ran a major 

‘choose to reuse’ campaign in the 

summer of 2018 to highlight the issue 

of disposable coffee cups in the 

Dublin Region.  

The aim of the campaign was to raise 

awareness among coffee drinkers in 

the Dublin region that disposable 

cups are having a detrimental impact 

on the environment.       Link to Campaign Video 

Bin the Butt Campaign 

Dublin City Council also ran a public 

awareness campaign in 2018 entitled 

'Bin the Butt' to raise awareness 

about the ongoing issue of cigarette 

litter in the city. 

 

Cigarette butts account for nearly 

60% of all the incidences of street 

litter in Dublin city. The aim of the 

City Council's campaign was to raise 

awareness among smokers that 

cigarette butts are litter and the 

significance of cigarette litter in the city.   Link to Campaign Video 

Page 16

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=peuuHJ8eXDM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mJFtJ32nHso


  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

12 
 

 

Think Don’t Tag Campaign  

Dublin City Council launched the 

'Graffiti is a Crime, Think Don’t Tag' 

campaign in 2017.  Dublin City 

Council in partnership with An Garda 

Síochána produced an animated 

video and poster campaign to raise 

awareness among children about 

tagging and graffiti and how this 

criminal activity can have serious 

consequences for them in the future.  

In 2018 Dublin City Council removed 

17,000 m² of graffiti from public and 

private property in the city.     Link to Campaign Video 

 

The Team Dublin Clean Up/Dublin Community 
Clean Up Day 

 The Team Dublin Clean Up is now an 
annual event for the city and is now 
called the Dublin Community Clean Up 
Day.  It is run in partnership with the 
four Dublin Local Authorities, An Taisce, 
Local Authorities Waters and 
Community Office (LAWCO) and the 
volunteer Canal and Waterways action 
groups on the Royal and Grand Canals 
and the river Dodder. The event is run to 
coincide with National spring Clean, 

In 2018 in Dublin City over 100 groups 

took part in the event and over 1000 

bags of litter were collected by the City 

Council from groups working in 

residential areas, carrying out beach 

clean ups and clean ups of the canals 

and river banks. 

 

 

 

Page 17

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nMMv3r-eZBw


  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

13 
 

Actions and Targets 

Below is a summary outlining our performance against the objectives set out for Partnership in the 

2016 - 2018 Litter Management Plan.  

Objective From 2016-2018 Litter 
Management Plan 

Status Update on Objective 

Implement Team Dublin Clean-up on 
Saturday 26th March. 

Team Dublin Clean Up event held in 2016, 2017 and 
2018. Participation has increased annually. 
The 2018 event was held in conjunction with Dodder 
Action Day, the Canal Clean Up, Clean Coasts and 
National Spring Clean.   
100 groups took part in the event in 2018. 
In 2019 the event was expanded and held in 
conjunction with the 4 Dublin local authorities, An 
Taisce, LAWCO and the canals action groups 
 

Dublin City Council will facilitate 
community clean-ups with Residents 
Associations and community groups.  

Community Clean Up support is ongoing in conjunction 
with Area Depts.                     
                     

 1909 clean ups supported in 2017 

 3299 clean ups supported in 2018 

Dublin City Council will continue to 
assist in the organisation and support 
of the City Neighbourhoods Awards. 

City Neighbourhoods Annual Awards takes place in 
September each year. 
 

 287 entries in 2017 

 298 entries in 2018  

Continue to develop and roll out the 
Green Schools Programme to primary, 
post primary and third level 
institutions.  

284 schools are taking part in the Green schools 
Programme in Dublin City  
70 school visits are completed annually to assist in 
developing and supporting the programme. 
A Green Schools seminar is held annually to promote 
programme to teachers.                           

Development of policy on responsible 
dog ownership. 

 The Waste Management Department support the 
Green Dog Walkers scheme, which promotes 
responsible dog ownership and the appropriate 
disposal of dog fouling.  The scheme is promoted at 
relevant events and in communities and schools.  The 
provision of free dog bags has been extended to 
additional DCC facilities including bring centres. 

Introduce pre-programmed anti dog 
fouling audio messages at dog fouling 
blackspots and bring centres. 

This system has been used at 4 locations including 
bring centre locations and dog walking areas.   
Areas where the system can be used are limited due to 
noise disturbance.  Effectiveness appears to decrease 
over time so usage will be considered for limited 
timeframes at problematic locations. 

Page 18



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

14 
 

2.3 Enforcement 

Enforcement activities were a key focus of the 2016 to 2018 Litter Management plan. Dublin City 
Council has a statutory responsibility to enforce the Litter Pollution Act, bye-laws and other relevant 
regulations. Dublin City Council recognises that while resources and education are required to manage 
and prevent incidences of littering, enforcement measures are necessary to target individuals and 
groups who choose to ignore the law.   
 
Below is a summary outlining our performance against the objectives set out for Enforcement in the 

previous plan.  

 

CCTV 

 The use of CCTV has continued in community bring centres and areas where illegal 
dumping is prevalent.   This service is available citywide and the Waste Management 
Department has recently awarded a contract for the provision of these services through 
the public procurement process. 

 
Compliance Campaigns 
 

 Door to door compliance campaigns have been undertaken as have specific enforcement 
activities surrounding compliance with waste and litter bye-laws.  These have been 
targeted at distinct areas within the five administrative areas and have been operated in 
conjunction with the Public Domain officers for each area. In excess of 3000 door-to-door 
enquiries have been undertaken during the lifetime of the previous plan and are currently 
ongoing. 

 
 A compliance campaign in relation to the provisions of the litter byelaws was undertaken 

to coincide with the cigarette litter awareness campaign in 2018. A substantial number of 
enforcement actions were taken and compliance increased. 

 
 Behavioural surveys have been undertaken in specific areas, surveillance of dumping 

blackspots has been undertaken. 
 

 Dog fouling patrols and illegal dumping investigations have also been ongoing over the 
lifetime of the plan. Including high visibility patrols of popular dog walking areas in 
conjunction with the dog warden service. 

 
 Litter enforcement patrols are undertaken at all major sporting events to ensure 

compliance with the provisions of the litter prevention bye laws. 
 
Waste Bye Laws 
 

 The new Dublin City Council Waste Bye Laws adopted in 2019 provide for improving 
enforcement of the requirement to take part in a waste collection service and a large scale 
compliance enforcement campaign is being prepared for implementation. 
 

 
 
 

Page 19



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

15 
 

Projects 
 

 The Waste Management Department has been involved in both the Department of 
Communications, Climate Action and Environment Anti-Dumping initiatives in 2017 and 
2018 and also in 2018 the SMART Dublin/Enterprise Ireland Small Business Innovation 
Research (SBIR) projects directed at targeting the issue of illegal dumping. 

 
 The Waste Management Department is currently examining the issue of waste and illegal 

dumping as part of the Dublin City BETA city challenge initiative.  Projects will be 
developed to assess whether they provide for a better waste service and consequently 
reduce levels of illegal dumping. 

 
 

Actions and Targets 

Implementation of the various objectives set out for Enforcement in the 2016 2018 Litter 
Management Plan were monitored through a set of tangible actions and the achievements are set out 
below: 
 

Objective From 2016-2018 Litter 
Management Plan 

Status Update on Objective 

Dublin City Council will review the 
Litter Wardens duties in order to 
meet the requirements of the new 
Litter Management Plan. 

Reorganisation of the litter enforcement service is 
underway 

Continued use of CCTV surveillance 
and associated signage. 

CCTV continues to be used in community bring centres 
and illegal dumping locations throughout the city to 
detect, prevent and deter illegal dumping and littering 
offences 

Expansion of door to door 
enforcement campaigns across the 
city. 

Pilot projects in North Inner City, South East, South 
Central Area, North West and North Central have been 
completed.   
Expansion of the use of this type of enforcement action 
is planned using the provisions of the proposed new 
Waste Bye Laws.  
 

In conjunction with WEEE Ireland, 
Dublin City Council will facilitate WEEE 
collection days at specific locations 
across the City.  

RecycleIT carry out door-to-door collections in the 
Dublin City area in cooperation with DCC. 

Formulate and implement Citywide 
enforcement policy including the 
establishment of a citywide 
enforcement team. 

An enforcement policy has been formulated including 
step by step approach to establishing compliance levels 
and carrying out of enforcement. 
 

Page 20



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

16 
 

Prepare submission on legislative 
requirements to support 
enforcement activities. 

Discussion document prepared on legislative issues 
relating to litter enforcement. 
Feedback on draft bye laws provided to Eastern 
Midland Waste Region on formulation of new Waste -
By Laws 
Draft Waste Bye Laws public consultation period 
recently completed.   
Bye Laws introduced 

 

Page 21



 

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2019-2021 

 

 
Objectives for the 2020 – 2022 Litter Management Plan 17 

 

 
3 Objectives for the 2019-2021 Litter Management Plan 

 

 

The 2020- 2022 Litter Management Plan has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

the Litter Pollution Act 1997 to 2009. The Plan has been developed in consultation with Dublin City 

Council staff, elected representatives and with the citizens of Dublin who live and work in the city 

through the statutory consultation process. 

The plan is built on the three pillars of litter management in the City: Resources, Partnership and 

Enforcement. Effective management of litter can be achieved when we make the best use of the 

human resources, skills and knowledge from Dublin City Council, coupled with improvements in 

service delivery, by working together with the public, residents and businesses who call Dublin home 

and by taking enforcement action on those who do not respect our shared environment and illegally 

dump waste materials, fail to clean up after their pets and incidentally litter the city.  

The aims, objectives and actions for the management and prevention of litter are outlined for each 

key area and are to be undertaken during the lifetime of the Litter Management Plan.  

The overall aim is to improve the standard and consistency of cleanliness throughout the city for 

residents, businesses and visitors over the lifetime of this plan.  Successful initiatives, projects and 

operational activities that have been implemented over the lifetime of previous litter management 

plans will continue and improvements will be sought in all aspects of service delivery. 

 

  

RESOURCES:

Resources for street 
cleaning and litter 

management

PARTNERSHIP:

Engaging citizens 
and local business

ENFORCEMENT:

Enforce the Litter 
Acts and Bye Laws

Page 22



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

18 
 

3.1 Resources 

In previous years, Dublin City Council implemented a number of technological innovations to improve 

the efficiency of litter management and street cleansing. The Council intends to combine these 

innovations with the most efficient deployment of existing and additional resources in order to keep 

pace with the ever-changing city.   

 

Street Cleaning and Litter Bins  

 Dublin City Council will increase the number of handcarts in operation both in the city and the 

main streets of villages ensuing operatives can maintain the previous standards of cleanliness 

with the anticipated increase in footfall.  

 

 Dublin City Council has introduced and will maintain a programme of street grading to ensure 

a high standard of street cleaning services is being delivered and to address any deficits in its 

service delivery.  The street grading programme is an ongoing measurement of day to day 

performance of operational services 

 
 Every litter bin in the city is now ‛tagged’ with a unique 

identifier (QR code) which feeds into an IT system. 

Dublin City Council will launch a campaign to 

demonstrate to the public that with a few clicks on a 

smart phone they can report when a litter bin is 

damaged or overflowing. This provides real-time data, 

enabling cleaning operatives to issue a rapid response.  

 

 The stock of public litter bins in use will be maintained 

and improved.  High capacity units will be installed in 

areas of need and a programme of bin replacement will 

be undertaken to ensure the supply of public litter bins 

is maintained in good condition.  Upgrading of bins will 

be ongoing in urban villages and additional bins will be 

installed in areas of need. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue the rollout of solar-compactor bins where there is high 

capacity requirement such as areas of high demand or with seasonal peak demand. These 

units provide extra capacity when compared to standard litter bins, reducing the quantity of 

collections required and are generally well received within the community. 

 

 The management of the stock of public litter bins will be continued using the bin tagging 

technology introduced in the 2016 – 2018 Litter Management Plan. 

 

Page 23



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

19 
 

 Dublin City Council will continue to provide and extend its road sweeping services, allowing 

streets to be thoroughly cleaned in the absence of parked cars. The service is available through 

cooperation with residents and community groups and has been successfully implemented.  

 

 Dublin City Council will continue to provide and extend the successful Halloween Programme 

to combat the social and environmental consequences of bonfires. A multi Departmental 

approach to ensuring the maximum amount of material is diverted from potential bonfires 

will continue to be implemented.  Diversionary events will continue to be promoted to provide 

alternatives to bonfires for communities to take part in and enjoy. 

 

 Graffiti and Chewing gum removal programmes will continue in the city with ongoing removal 

of graffiti throughout the city and a scheduled programme of chewing gum removal in the 

core city centre and other public spaces. 

 

 A pilot leaf composting programme will be introduced to investigate whether all leaves 

collected by Dublin City Council during the autumnal leaf fall season may be diverted to 

compost production and the compost produced made available to the public through bring 

centres. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue to identify and remove abandoned bicycles in the city and 

divert the bicycles removed for repair and reuse.  

 

Recycling Infrastructure – Civic Amenity Sites, Bring Centres, Bottle and Textile Banks 

 

 Dublin City Council will extend the use of the QR Code system to all Bring Centres and bottle 

bank locations throughout the City to provide for a simple method of customer interaction 

and to ensure that the recycling infrastructure at the centres is maintained in good condition. 

 

 Dublin City Council will explore and trial the introduction of sensor technology to bottle and 

textile banks to provide for real time information on servicing requirements. 

 

 Dublin City Council will seek to increase the supply of bottle and textile bank facilities in the 

city and will engage with the public to identify potential new sites. 

 

 The Waste Management Department will seek to include the provision of recycling facilities 

in all new residential and commercial developments as an objective of the Dublin City 

Development Plan. 

 

 Dublin City Council will trial the use of compartmentalised waste and recycling bins at selected 

public spaces and areas, to encourage recycling at street level from members of the public.   A 

pilot programme is currently being developed in partnership with industry and NGO’s.  

 

Page 24



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

20 
 

 Dublin City Council will examine how it can engage with initiatives such as Terracycle to 

promote recycling of additional waste streams. 

 

 

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) System and the use of Technology 

 The CRM system will continue to play a pivotal role in highlighting litter ‛hotspots’, areas  

where litter related complaints have been made and incidences of illegal dumping have been 

reported and locations where illegal dumping or dog fouling is most prevalent, enabling Dublin 

City Council to allocate cleaning and enforcement resources efficiently.  

 

 Dublin City Council will encourage  and communicate with members of the public to provide 

as much detail as possible when reporting an incident, including the exact location and where 

possible, details of the type and amount of material when reporting . 

 

 Dublin City Council will endeavour to feed back to a member of the public who logs an incident 

or complaint with the Council through the CRM system when the incident has been dealt with 

appropriately and is closed off.  

 

 The data generated through the CRM will be used for greater statistical analysis and internal 

reporting to assist the council in planning operations, recycling or enforcement initiatives.   

 

 Smart technology will be introduced where possible to increase efficiency and data capture in 

the areas of  street cleaning and enforcement. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue to promote it 

services, initiatives and customer engagement 

through its social media presence 

@dubcityenviro commenced under the lifetime 

of the previous litter management plan. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue to expand its 

provision of Open Data through the data.gov.ie 

portal in relation to as many of its waste, 

recycling and litter services as possible to 

facilitate research, business and community 

initiatives. 

 

 A resource such as an interactive map showing cleaning schedules for the city will be made 

available to the public through the dublincity.ie website. 

 

 

Page 25



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

21 
 

3.2 Partnership 

Engagement with citizens and businesses residing within the City has proven successful in the past and 

community buy-in is viewed as being paramount to maintaining a litter-free City.  The City Council will 

continue to foster engagement in these areas, work in partnership with all stakeholders to promote, 

support, and reward environmental best practice at local levels. 

Communications 

 Internal and external communication has been identified as a key area of service delivery 

improvement that will be undertaken over the lifetime of the plan. 

 

Education  

 Dublin City Council will continue to 

engage with primary and secondary 

schools through the Green Schools 

programme and support schools 

engaged in the green schools 

programme through its annual green 

schools seminar. 

 

 Dublin City Council will introduce and 

support pilot educational projects such 

as the ‘Picker Pals’ programme recently 

introduced to 10 primary schools in the 

city in conjunction with Voice Ireland. 

 

Dublin City Council will establish a ‛communications plan’ which will include the following components: 

 

1. Strengthening of Internal and External Communications between Dublin City Council Departments 

and external stakeholders to promote a coordinated approach to litter management in the city 

 

2. Communications with the community, outlining exactly what litter management services and 

support the council can provide. 

 

3. Communications with businesses will be improved and built upon to provide information on 

services, responsibilities, and compliance and improve engagement with Corporate Social 

Responsibility initiatives to work in partnership with Dublin City Council in an effort to reduce litter 

throughout the city. 

 

4. Improve communications with members of the public using the CRM system. An email 

communication should be sent to the customer or to a specific individual when their request or 

complaint has been dealt with and closed off. 

 

Page 26



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

22 
 

 

 Dublin City Council will also consider the use of incentive and reward schemes for children 

and young adults who engage in anti-littering practices.  

 

Accessibility  

 Dublin City Council will carry out an accessibility audit on its litter, waste and recycling 

infrastructure to identify and address issues. 

 

Community Clean Ups  

 Dublin City Council aims to expand on the success of the Team Dublin Clean Up and Dublin 

Community Clean Up Day and continue to promote, support and expand this annual initiative. 

 

 The Waste Management Department will engage with local community groups and tidy towns 

groups to advertise Dublin City Council services such as street sweeping and leaf removal. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue to provide support and resources for litter picks and 

community clean ups such as bags, litter pickers, gloves etc. 

 

 Dublin City Council will deliver information and support to communities on best practice 

environmental topics including resource management, climate change and tidy towns and city 

neighbourhoods’ competitions through media, workshops, seminars and direct engagement. 

 

Single Use Items 

 This is a highly publicised national issue.  Dublin City Council will encourage its citizens through 

education, to avoid the use of single use items (e.g. to use re-usable coffee cups and water 

bottles) which will also reduce littering incidences across the city. This work was started with 

the ‘Choose to Reuse’ campaign and will be further promoted through other campaigns and 

initiatives through the lifetime of the plan. 

 

 Dublin City Council will engage with local businesses on the wider issue of the use of single 

use items and recommend the use of sustainable alternatives such as wooden or compostable 

cutlery and compostable or reusable cups. 

 

 Dublin City Council is committed to continuing the phasing-out of single-use items at all DCC 

offices and facilities in line with the “Green Government” requirements from DCCAE. 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

23 
 

Blue Spaces 

 

 Dublin City Council will work with the relevant internal and external stakeholders, along with 

community organisations to support and facilitate clean-ups of waterways and beach clean-

ups in the City. 

 

 Dublin City Council will consider the issue of provision of litter bins in proximity to waterways. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue to support and work with businesses around the docklands 

to collect litter removed from the River Liffey and seek to form partnerships with other groups 

engaged in similar initiatives. 

 

 

3.3 Enforcement 

Dublin City Council has a statutory responsibility to enforce the Litter Pollution Act, bye-laws and other 

relevant regulations. While tactical deployment of resources and education of citizens of the city are 

pertinent in preventing incidences of littering, there will always be individuals and groups who openly 

ignore the law. Enforcement measures such as fines, prosecutions and convictions are necessary to 

curtail the behaviour of citizens who choose not to abide by the law.  

 

Enforcement 

 Dublin City Council will concentrate enforcement resources and campaigns to specific areas 

where issues arise and/or are prevalent.   

 

 Dublin City Council will increase coordination with other enforcement bodies, particularly An 

Garda Síochána in an effort to strengthen cases, leading to convictions that are more 

successful.  

 

 The Waste Management Department will continue to liaise with An Garda Síochána, Dublin 

Fire Brigade and other stakeholders in the run up to Halloween to implement the successful 

‛Halloween Programme’, with the aim of reducing the social and environmental consequences 

associated with bonfires.  

 

 Dublin City Council will continue the use of surveillance and CCTV throughout the city, paying 

particular attention to littering and illegal dumping blackspots. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

24 
 

Illegal Dumping   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Dublin City Council will concentrate enforcement resources to specific areas where incidences 

of illegal dumping are particularly prevalent. 

 

 CRM mapping will be used to identify and target specific locations or areas for enformcent 
and complaince campaigns and initiatives. 
 

 Dublin City Council will continue to run media campaigns, with a view discouraging this type 

of behaviour and prompting citizens to report incidences of illegal dumping to the council 

through a dedicated hotline. Included in the media campaign will be a reminder that all 

households must have a waste collection provider in place to collect their waste. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue to capture data relating to the weight of illegally dumped 

material in the city for reporting purposes and to provide more detailed information on 

dumping blackspots. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue the use of CCTV and other surveillance methods in illegal 

dumping blackspots to act as a deterrent.  

 

Management of Domestic and Commercial Waste  

 Dublin City Council will trial the implementation of a strategy to address ongoing waste 

management issues that are prevalent in certain multi-occupancy buildings.  A multi - agency 

approach will be pursued to address these issues. 

 

 Dublin City Council will continue to examine the issue of waste management generally and 

trial interventions to promote better outcomes and reductions in waste dumping and litter 

through the Dublin City Beta city challenge initiative. 

 

 Dublin City Council will implement a large-scale compliance campaign concentrating on the 

enforcement of the bye law requirement to use authorised waste collectors. 

 

 Dublin City Council will seek to trial and implement alternative solutions to waste presentation 

in plastic refuse bags 

 

 Dublin City Council will consider whether it is possible to create and maintain up to date 

records based on information such as eircodes on the domestic and commercial waste 

collections and civic amenity site use for the purposes of ensuring compliance with 

requirement to use authorised waste collectors. 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

25 
 

Dog Fouling   

 

 Dublin City Council will develop a clear 

strategy demonstrating the fact that any 

type of litter bin can be used for the disposal 

of bagged dog litter.  

 

 Dublin City Council will use various social 

media channels such as Twitter and 

Facebook and traditional media for targeting 

educational campaigns around dog fouling, 

the correct use of bins and fines. 

 

 Dublin City Council will also launch blitz/enforcement campaigns in targeted areas for a 

defined period of time.  

  

Page 30



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

26 
 

4 Monitoring and Implementation of the 2019-2021 Litter Management 

Plan 
 

4.1 Implementation Plan 

Implementation of the various objectives of the plan will be monitored through a set of tangible 

actions and realistic targets as follows. 

 Objective Baseline Metric Measurement  Timeframe  

  

Resources 

 

 

1.  

 
 

Advertise and extend on 

demand street cleaning 

service to facilitate cleaning 

in cooperation with 

residents groups arranging 

for removal of parked cars 

N/A No. of requests 

received per year 

and actioned 

Q3-Q4, 2020 

2.  Extend QR Code customer 

service system to all Dublin 

City Council Bottle and 

Textile Bank sites 

0% Achieved/Not 

Achieved 

Q4, 2020 

3.  Trial use of sensor 

technology in Bottle / Textile 

banks 

None in Use Trial Completed Q4 2020 

4.  Ongoing bin replacement 

and upgrade programme 

3200 public 

litter bins in 

place 

% upgraded and 

replaced 

Total number of litter 

bins 

2020 - 2022 

5.  Trial the use of 

compartmentalised waste 

and recycling bins at 

selected public spaces. 

None in use Achieved  

Quantity of 

recyclables 

recovered 

% of contamination 

Q2 2020  

Page 31



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

27 
 

6.  Introduce a composting 

programme to investigate 

potential to ensure all leaves 

collected are used to 

produce compost to be 

made available to the public 

at bring centres 

800 tonnes 

composted in 

2019 

Programme 

introduced 

 Compost produced  

Compost available to 

Public 

2020 - 2022 

7.  Introduce and manage an 

online resource to provide 

information on street 

cleaning schedules 

Not in place Resource introduced 

and managed 

Q3 2020 

8.  Continue to provide graffiti 

and chewing gum removal 

services  

 

Contract in 

place and 

service 

provided 

10,148sq m of 

graffiti 

removed in 

2019 

Service provided 

Quantity of removal 

undertaken annually  

2020 - 2022 

9.  Seek to include in the Dublin 

City Development Plan a 

requirement for all new 

residential and commercial 

developments to include 

appropriate space for 

provision of recycling 

infrastructure 

N/A Submission drafted 

and submitted 

2020 - 2022 

10.  Carry out public consultation 

to seek additional locations 

for recycling infrastructure 

in the city 

N/A Consultation carried 

out 

Locations identified 

and assessed  

Q4 2021 

11.  Continue to provide and 

enhance Open Data on 

waste management services  

6 current 

datasets 

available 

Number of datasets 

provided and 

maintained 

2020 - 2022 

Page 32



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

28 
 

 

Partnership  

12.  Develop and implement a  

‛communications plan’ as set 

out within the plan at pg18 

N/A Plan Created and 

implemented 

Q4, 2020 

13.  Seek to foster greater 

engagement with the 

community on topics of 

environmental concern. 

N/A 

 

 
 
 

3 climate 
workshops /  1 

tidy towns 
workshop in 2019 

 
243 unique 

groups engaged 
with City 

Neighbourhoods 
in 2019 

Information on litter 

management  services 

offered by DCC shared 

on social media 

 

No of Workshops held 

 

Number of groups 

engaged with City 

Neighbourhoods 

Competition 

2020 - 

2022 

14.  Investigate trial of 

incentivised reward schemes 

for recycling / anti-litter 

initiatives 

N/A Report produced and 

trail undertaken 

Q3 2021 

15.  Strengthen Internal 

communication between 

departments. 

N/A No. of initiatives 

involving collaboration 

with multiple 

departments  

2020 - 

2022 

16.  Continue to develop and roll 

out the Green Schools 

Programme to primary and 

post primary schools. 

290 Green 

Schools 

Currently 

registered 

No. of Schools Visited 

No. of Green Schools 

2020 - 

2022 

17.  Continue to expand success of 

Dublin Community Clean Up 

Day 

114 groups took 
part in 2019 

No. of Volunteers 

Tonnage of litter 

collected annually 

 

2020 - 

2022 

Page 33



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

29 
 

18.  Develop liaison with primary 

and secondary schools on 

litter education including 

providing an updated Litter 

Education Packs to schools 

N/A Litter pack updated and 

distributed 

No of schools engaged 

2020  -

2022 

19.  Facilitate Community Clean-

Ups with Residents 

Associations and community 

groups. 

4043 community 

clean-ups 

supported in 

2019 

No. of Clean-Ups held 

Amount of resources 

distributed (bags, litter 

picks etc. 

2020 - 

2022 

20.  Create awareness campaign 

to encourage citizens to 

reduce use of single use 

plastics. 

N/A Achieved/Not Achieved Q4, 2020 

21.  Develop and implement 

initiative targeting to local 

businesses to replace single 

use plastics with sustainable 

alternatives. 

N/A No. of businesses 

engaged 

Q2 2021 

22.  Phase out single use Plastics 

at all Dublin City Council 

offices and facilities. 

Underway in 

canteens Civic 

Offices / 

Smithfield/ 

Marrowbone 

Lane 

Achieved/Not Achieved Q1, 2021 

23.  Develop clear, unambiguous 

strategy informing the public 

that bagged dog litter can be 

disposed in any litter bin 

N/A Achieved/Not Achieved Q2, 2020 

24.  Continue to run advertising 

campaigns on litter, dog 

fouling and illegal dumping. 

N/A No. of campaigns rolled 

out 

2020 - 

2022 

25.  Collaboration with all relevant 

stakeholders to carry out 

N/A No. of river clean-ups 

No of Canal clean ups 

No. of beach clean-ups 

2020 - 

2022 

Page 34



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

30 
 

clean-ups of waterbodies in 

the city’s jurisdiction. 

26.  Collaboration with businesses 

surrounding the docklands to 

collect litter removed from 

the River Liffey.  

Underway with 

Liffey Kayak  

Tonnage of material 

collected annually 

2020 - 

2022 

  

Page 35



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

31 
 

Enforcement   

27.  Concentration of resources on 

areas where litter incidences 

are particularly prevalent. 

N/A No. of locations 

targeted 

No. of fines secured 

No. of prosecutions 

2020 - 2022 

28.  Coordination with other 

enforcement bodies, 

particularly An Garda 

Síochána. 

N/A Evidence of 

collaboration 

Successful 

prosecutions as a 

result of collaboration  

2020 - 2022 

29.  Continue successful 

Halloween Response Actions. 

400 Tonnes 

Removed 2019 

Tonnage of material 

removed 

2020 - 2022 

30.  Continue the use of CCTV 

surveillance and associated 

signage. 

15 

 

156 fines /1500 

warning notices 

No. of locations CCTV 

installed 

No. of fines secured 

No. of prosecutions 

2020 - 2022 

31.  Investigate households who 

are not serviced by a 

registered waste provider. 

N/A No. of households 

visited 

% compliant 

% increase in 

compliance 

Q3 2020 

32.  Complete Reorganisation of 

Litter Warden Service  

N/A Service Reorganised  

  

Q2, 2020 

33.  Devise and implement a 

strategy engaging with 

tenants of multi-occupancy 

buildings to ensure 

compliance with waste and 

littering laws. 

N/A No. of Multi-

occupancy buildings 

visited. 

No. of actions taken 

 

% increase in 

compliance  

Q4, 2020 

34.  Carry out review and update 

of Litter Prevention and 

Control Bye Laws. 

N/A Review Completed and 

updated Bye Laws 

adopted 

Q4 2021 

Page 36



  

 

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

32 
 

 

4.2 Key Performance Indicators 

In addition to the actions and metrics specific to the 2020 - 2022 Litter Management Plan, general 

statistics on litter management and CRM data will be collected and collated for measuring the 

success of the plan. This data will include, but is not limited to, the following Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs): 

 Number of litter patrols undertaken per year 

 Number of litter pollution / bye law enforcement actions issued per year  

 Performance in EPA Environmental Enforcement Assessment 

 All relevant litter and waste CRM data for the period of the plan 

 Performance in annual IBAL monitoring results 

 Performance in annual NLPMS litter survey 

 Results of Street Grading Programme 

 

4.3 Review and Reporting 

The actions outlined in the implementation plan will be reviewed against the metrics and 

timeframe targets. A progress report will be prepared on an annual basis with status and findings 

for presentation to the Strategic Policy Committee in line with the legislative requirements of the 

plan. 

 

 

Page 37





 
 
 

 

 

                                                         Environment and Transportation Department, 
                                                           Block 2, Floor 6,      

                                                         Civic Offices, 
                                                         Dublin 8. 

 

                      16th October 2020. 

 

To Each Member of the 

Climate Action, Energy and Environment Strategic Policy Committee 

 

Re: Public Consultation Report on the Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 

 

This report provides an update on the progress of the development of the Dublin City Draft Litter 

Management Plan 2020 – 2022. 

The plan had been brought before the Strategic Policy Committee for approval for presentation to the 

City Council to allow for the commencement of a period of statutory public consultation. 

The outcomes of that statutory consultation period and further consultation are set out below along 

with a synopsis of the issues raised and the proposed amendments to the draft plan. 

 

Consultation Overview 

The statutory public consultation period for the litter management plan was initially provided for a 6 

week period between February and April  2020 concluding on the 6th April.   

Given the unprecedented situation that occurred in and around the same period with the 

implementation of various restrictions in respect of the emergence of Covid 19 in Ireland the 

consultation period was extended for a further period until the 22nd June. 

During the consultation period 67 submissions were received from the public, business representative 

groups, community and environmental groups and elected representatives.  2 submissions were 

received in the week of the 22nd June and these were also considered in the following report. 

 

Submissions Overview 

The submissions contained a large number of comments, observations, queries and recommendations 

in relation to the plan.   

The areas covered in the submissions were wide ranging and demonstrated an engagement with the 

plan and interest in ensuring that the plan provides appropriate measures to address issues relating 

Page 39



 
 
 
to litter in Dublin City.  Many of the suggestions are useful, interesting, innovative and are extremely 

worthy of consideration and development in the implementation of the plan. 

Each of the submissions has been addressed in relation to the various points raised. The submissions 

are provided in full in the documents accompanying this report and a subsequent document addresses 

the responses to each of the points made in the submissions and any recommendations for 

amendments to the plan. 

The following points suggest how the submissions and the various suggestions made are to be 

addressed in the context of ensuring the plan is in line with the provisions and scope of its statutory 

basis and that it remains a relevant strategy and plan for the management of litter in the city. 

 

1. In addressing the submissions many suggestions have been noted as having relevance to 

specific internal departments or external stakeholders.  It is suggested that these will be 

compiled for referral to be considered appropriately by the appropriate department, division, 

operational area or body.   

These include: 

 Issues specific to local areas. 

 Issues specifc to the management of local parks and green areas 

 Issue specific to the activities of other internal departments 

 Issues relevant to external stakeholders such as waterways bodies or An Taisce 

 

 

2. There are a large number of suggestions, queries and recommendations that can be addressed 

through the aims and objectives that are set out in the plan and it is recommended that these 

be progressed in this way in the implementation of the plan and reported on in the annual 

progress report of the plan to this committee. 

These include: 

 Suggestions on the range and type of open data made available. 

 Suggestions on how to progress engagement with communities and schools. 

 Suggestions on how to improve communications and access to information. 

 Suggestions on reporting on progress of the plan. 

 

3. There are also a large number of suggestions and recommendations that go beyond the scope 

of the plan in respect of its legislative provision and basis.  While these suggestions may have 

merit they cannot be incorporated into the plan. 

These include: 

 Structure and regulation of the waste market and industry. 

 Provision of waste infrastructure. 

 Implementation of initiatives and programmes that require amendments to 

primary legislation that is not the Litter Pollution Act. 

 

Page 40



 
 
 
Proposed Amendments to the Plan 

A number of submissions made valuable and relevant points regarding the content, aims and 

objectives of the plan that could not be addressed within the existing content and objectives of the 

draft plan. These suggestions did fall within the legislative scope of the plan and were not relevant for 

referral for consideration to other departments or stakeholders.  These suggestions are addressed by 

way of proposed amendments to the plan.   

These proposed amendments are listed below in tabular form for ease of reference. 

 

 

 

1. 

Recommendation: Amend Plan at Pg 24. 

 

 

Amendment:  

amend heading to: 

Management of Domestic and Commercial Waste 

 

Insert Additional Bullet Point   

 Dublin City Council will seek to trial and implement alternative solutions to waste 
presentation in plastic refuse bags  

 

2. 

Recommendation: Amend Plan to include Baseline Metric indicators to be included for all 

objectives of the implementation Plan where appropriate 

 

Amendment: Insertion of Baseline metrics to objectives where applicable on pages 25 – 29. 

 

3. 

Page 41



 
 
 

Recommendation: Amend Plan to include  

1. Additional appendix – Final report on Litter Management Plan 2016 – 2018 
2. Amend plan at pg 2 to reference the Dublin City Climate Action Plan, Eastern Midland 

Regional Waste Plan and UN Sustainable Development Goals. 
 

Amendment:  

1. Include Appendix – Report on Litter Management Plan 2016 – 2018 

2. Pg 2.  Insert text: The Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 is formulated having regard to 

the shared goals of the Dublin City Climate Action Plan, the Eastern Midland Regional 

Waste Management Plan and the UN Sustainable Development Goals.  The plan contains 

actions and objectives that can contribute to positive climate outcomes, waste reduction 

and increases in recycling and reuse. 

  

4. 

Recommendation: Amendment to plan at pg 24 and pg 29 

 

Amendment: 

Pg 24. 

Insert Additional Bullet Point: 

 Dublin City Council will consider whether it is possible to create and maintain up to 

date records based on information such as eircodes on the domestic and commercial 

waste collections and civic amenity site use for the purposes of ensuring compliance 

with requirement to use authorised waste collectors. 

 

Pg 29 

Insert New Objective  

 Carry out review and update of Litter Prevention and Control Bye Laws. 

 

5. 

Recommendation: Amend plan at pg1 and pg 30and also at implementation plan  

Page 42



 
 
 

Amendment: Insert paragraph at pg 1 – definition of litter and responsibilities 

Pg 30 Promotion of the plan will be undertaken  

Implementation plan include additional objective: 

 Develop liaison with primary and secondary schools on litter education including 
providing an updated and distribute Litter Education Packs to schools 

 

6. 

Recommendation: Amend plan at pg.19 

Amendment: insert new bullet point under heading – Recycling Infrastructure 

 

 Dublin City Council will examine how it can engage with initiatives such as Terracycle 

to promote recycling of additional waste streams. 

  

7. 

Recommendation: Amend plan throughout to address any formatting on syntax errors 

Amendment: Various amendments to formatting and syntax to ensure consistency throughout 

the plan 

 

8. 

Recommendation: Amend plan at pg 22 

Amendment: Insert sentence under heading Blue Spaces 

 

Dublin City Council will consider the issue of provision of litterbins in proximity to waterways. 

 

 

9. 

Page 43



 
 
 

Recommendation: Amend plan at pg 23 

Amendment: Insert new Header and sentence 

Accessibility  

Dublin City Council will carry out an accessibility audit on its litter, waste and recycling 

infrastructure to identify and address issues. 

 

I recommend the approval by this Strategic Policy Committee of the Dublin City Litter Management 

Plan as amended for recommendation to the City Council for adoption.   

This report is submitted for the consideration and debate of the committee. 

 

CÉLINE REILLY 

EXECUTIVE MANAGER 
 
 

 

Page 44



Name /Group: Donnybrook Tidy Towns 

Ref: LMP/STAT 001 

Submission: 

Observations on locating of public litter bins 
and community involvement 

 

 

Observation on leaf composting and 
community involvement 

 

Positive observation on use of QR codes 

 

Observation welcoming upgrade of CRM  

 
 

Observation on plans to introduce online 
resource for street cleaning schedules 

Response: 

Dublin City Council work closely with local 
area offices and local representative groups 
when planning provision of infrastructure. 

 

Dublin City Council intends expanding where 
possible composting of leaves to involve 
communities where possible to do so. 

 

No response required. 

 

No response required. 

 

This tool will be available as a tool for the 
public to be able to check cleaning schedules 
and activities. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

 

 

Page 45



Name /Group: Senator David Norris 

Ref: LMP/STAT 002 

Submission: 

Observation on the compulsory use of thin 
plastic bags for waste presentation.  Specific 
Reference to North Great Georges St. 

Response: 

Dublin City Council is currently examining 
ways to address the use of plastic bags for 
waste presentation and is also seeking to 
amend its waste bye laws to empower it to 
legislate for the use of alternatives.  The plan 
will be amended to reflect this. 

 

Similarly Dublin City Council is also examining 
the use of communal bins through its Dublin 
City Beta Project. 

Recommendation: Amend Plan at Pg 24. 

 

 

Amendment:  

amend heading to: 

Management of Domestic and Commercial Waste 

 

Insert Additional Bullet Point   

 Dublin City Council will seek to trial and implement alternative solutions to waste 
presentation in plastic refuse bags  

Page 46



 

 

Name /Group: Minister Richard Bruton 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 003 

Submission: 

 

Observation on including additional Key 
Performance Indicators including baseline 
indicators. 

 

Observation on inclusion of definite targets 
for issues such as Single Use Items / Bin the 
Butt and introduction of recycling to 
apartment complexes. 

Response: 

 

Baseline Metric indicators will be included for 
all objectives of the implementation Plan. 

 

 

Dublin City Council is working towards the 
complete elimination of single use items in all 
of its activities and work locations. This also 
includes events and activations within public 
spaces that the City Council permits or 
licences. 

 

As the issue is a national issue there are 
many areas where the City Council can exert 
influence but cannot impose restrictions on.    

 

The provision of recycling facilities in private 
developments is desirable in all instances but 
is ultimately a matter for the city 
development plan and planning department.  
It is stated within the plan that it will be 
sought to have recycling facilities included in 
all large developments in the city through the 
provisions of the development plan. 

Recommendation: Baseline Metric indicators to be included for all objectives of the 
implementation Plan. 

 

Amendment: Insertion of Baseline metrics to objectives where applicable on pages 25 – 29. 

Page 47



 

 

Name /Group: Gwen O’Dowd 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 004 

Submission: 

 

Observation on the issue of illegal dumping 
in the environs of Great Western Way, D7. 

Notes CCTV may be an effective deterrent. 

Response: 

 

The issue of combatting illegal dumping 
through a variety of enforcement measures is 
dealt with in the draft under a number of 
areas including Enforcement / Illegal 
dumping and Management of Domestic 
Waste and associated objectives 27 / 28 / 30 
/ 31 /34. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 48



Name /Group: Brian Sheehan 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 005 

Submission: 

A wide ranging and detailed submission on 
all aspects of the plan making a variety of 
observations and recommendations. 

 

The plan is not linked to the Climate Action 
Plan or the Eastern Midland Regional Waste 
Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There is no mention of a strategic 
environmental assessment of the plan being 
carried out. 

 

 

There is no reference to the UN sustainable 
development goals in the plan. 

 

The plan should set out SMART goals for 
specific areas. 

 

 

 

 

It would be useful to report on the 
performance indicators for previous plans. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

 

 

The plan is formulated with regard to 
objectives and actions of the Dublin City 
Council Climate Action Plan and Circualr 
economy goals and there are shared 
objective such as actions on single use 
plastics and composting of organic street 
cleaning waste and the introduction of 
segregated recycling bins on street.  The 
connection and interrelated nature of the 
plans may not be clearly stated and this will 
be rectified by amendment.  

 

Dublin City Council do not believe that a SEA 
is required for a Litter Management Plan.  
Screening is being carried out in order to 
confirm the position. 

 

This will be rectified in the plan by 
amendment to refer to the relevant 
sustainable development goals. 

 

The plan sets out within the implementation 
plan a number of objectives in each area with 
associated measurements of the success of 
these objectives as well as KPI’S for the plan 
overall and a variety of stated aims within 
the plan . 

 

Previous plans have all provided detailed 
update reports including statistics on KPI’s on 
an annual basis as is required for the plan.  
The final annual report of the previous plan 
will be included as an appendix to the current 
plan. 

 

 

 

Page 49



Install additional high capacity bins in 
proximity to Croke Park. 

 

 

 

Rate of replacement of bins is not clearly 
defined in implementation plan. 

 

Propose greater integration of fix your street 
/ see it say it app and QR codes. 

 

 

Better cleaning required for certain local 
areas and defined cleaning schedules for 
these locations. 

 

 

 

Expand boundaries of city centre cleaning 
regime to enhance cleaning of additional 
areas. 

 

 

 

 

Explore the provision of underground 
recycling bins and cardboard recycling 
facilities at bring locations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Make underground recycling facilities 
mandatory at new apt developments. 

 

 

 

Consider the use of smart bins as part of 
segregated bin trial.   

This suggestion will be considered in the 
context of the criteria for the installation of 
litter bins and the ongoing replacement and 
upgrade programme and will be based on a 
local assessment of need. 

 

Amend implementation plan to address this 
issue. 

 

Dublin City Council supports the use of Fix 
Your Street and See it Say It through the 
existing CRM system. 

 

Local operations management define 
cleaning schedule for areas within  a locality 
that require additional attention over and 
above day to day cleaning schedules and 
implement these working in conjunction with 
local area offices and public domain units. 

 

The Waste Management Division keep the 
cleaning boundaries under constant review 
and adjustments are made as required to 
ensure that high standards of cleaning are 
delivered as appropriate to all areas. 

 

 

The Waste Management Division has 
examined the feasibility of providing 
underground recycling facilities.  The 
footprint of bring locations would not 
facilitate the provision of additional 
cardboard recycling.  Unlike glass or textiles 
mixed dry recycling collections are available 
at kerbside for all households and free of 
charge in all bring centres and civic amenity 
sites. 

 

 

This is beyond the scope of the plan and 
legislative provisions.  The plan clearly sets 
out the intention to recommend the 
provision of recycling facilities in all new 
developments. 

The use of smart bins forms part of the 
segregated bin trial project. 

Page 50



Consider the trialling of an environmental 
district such as Mountjoy Square where new 
initiatives could be implemented. 

 

 

Consider a bin sponsorship trial where smart 
bins replace standard bins. 

 

 

Investigate Green exchange programme such 
as those operating in Brazil. 

 

Expand Team Dublin Clean up to a 3 times a 
year event. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Set a response time for dealing with 
customer requests. 

 

 

Suggestion for awareness campaign around 
illegal dumping messaging. 

 

Consider introducing communal 
underground bins in the city. 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council to resume control of 
waste collection in Dublin City. 

 

Address issues relating to landlord 
properties and tenants dumping. 

 

Carry out enforcement in relation to 
overloaded bins. 

 

 

While there is merit in this suggestion, there 
are mechanisms already in place for the 
trialling of new initiatives such as BETA and it 
may not be desirable to concentrate activity 
into a single location. 

 

Dublin City Council are considering the 
sponsorship of bins based on any proposals 
received. 

 

This suggestion will be referred to the 
environmental awareness officer for 
consideration. 

It is not considered that this is viable.  Dublin 
City Council supports a very large number of 
community clean ups and volunteer led 
initiatives throughout the year that take 
place at regular intervals. Coordinating all 
groups to take part in 3 annual events in 
addition to regular scheduled events would 
not be successful and would most likely 
dilute the success of the initiative. 

 

Dublin City Council Waste Management 
Services strive to address all customer 
requests within 24 hours. 

 

This will be considered in the development of 
future awareness campaigns. 

 

Dublin City Council through the Dublin City 
BETA programme are currently engaged in a 
project to trial communal bins in the city.  
Underground bins will be considered in the 
context of this trial. 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

Dublin City Council is examining issues 
relating to the treatment of domestic waste 
issues in the private rented sector. 

Dublin City Council will enforce the provisions 
of the Waste Bye Laws and Litter Pollution 
Act wherever possible.  Various aims and 

Page 51



 

 

Include report on BETA waste projects within 
the plan. 

 

 

 

Adopt an interim one year plan and redraft a 
new plan thereafter to be more ambitious 
consulting with international expertise 
suggested to create a plan for 2021 -23  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

objectives relating to enforcement are 
outlined in the plan. 

 

Reports on the progress of BETA waste 
projects will be included in the updates and 
annual reporting of the plan to Dublin City 
Council. 

 

This is not recommended.  It should be noted 
that national and international initiatives and 
experiences are identified and researched 
during the development of the plan. 

 

Recommendation: Amend Plan to include  

1. Additional appendix – Final report on Litter Management Plan 2016 – 2018 
2. Amend plan at pg 2 to reference the Dublin City Climate Action Plan, Eastern Midland 

Regional Waste Plan and UN Sustainable Development Goals. 
 

Page 52



Amendment:  Include Appendix – Report on Litter Management Plan 2016 – 2018 

Pg 2.  The Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 is formulated having regard to the shared 
goals of the Dublin City Climate Action Plan, the Eastern Midland Regional Waste 
Management Plan and the UN Sustainable Development Goals.  The plan contains actions 
and objectives that can contribute to positive climate outcomes, waste reduction and 
increases in recycling and reuse. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



Name /Group: DublinTown 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT006 

Submission: 

Street Washing – recommendation to invest 
in additional street washing equipment and 
focus on highest profile streets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dog Fouling – submission notes the issue is 
relevant to the core business district and 
that dog fouling programmes, information 
and advertising campaigns be used to 
promote dog fouling bins and their use and 
also enforcement  

 

 

 

 

 

Waste Segregation –Submission suggests the 
introduction segregated bins including the 
provision of compost bins for organic waste. 

The submission also suggests increased 
usage of smart bins in the city centre 

 

 

Waste Collection – submission refers to the 
feasibility and legal implications of tendering 
for waste collection service s and associated 
issue such as collection times and 
appropriate size of collection vehicles  

 

Response: 

Dublin City Council has recently conducted a 
trial of new street washing equipment and 
maintains a fleet of high quality specific 
street cleaning machinery and vehicles.  The 
Waste management Division continuously 
invests in ensuring that the fleet and 
equipment in use is of the highest standard 
to provide cleaning services to the city. 

 

The highest profile streets in the city centre 
are those that are prioritised for washing 
particularly during prolonged spells of dry 
weather in the city. 

 

 

Any bin may be used to dispose of dog 
fouling and the provision of foul specific bins 
is not recommended for the city centre 
where there is an ample supply of litter bins 
including standard and solar compactor bins. 

It is a stated aim of the plan to combat dog 
fouling through the use of media information 
and education campaigns and to target 
enforcement activities at the issue. 

 

 

 

The Draft Plan states that Dublin City Council 
will trial the use segregated bins, a pilot 
project is in development that includes the 
trialling of organic waste and the use of smart 
bins within the trial. 

 

 

These issues are noted however they are 
beyond the legislative scope of a Litter 
Management Plan and are not applicable to 
related waste or litter bye-laws. 

 

 

Page 54



 

Submission is supportive of the introduction 
of reusable waste containers to replace the 
use of plastic bags. 

 

Education and Policy – Submission observes 
that business may feel more likely to be 
fined for littering or bye law offences than 
members of the public and encourages 
greater use of litter wardens in the city 
centre and publication of names of those 
caught littering 

 

 

 

 

 

Abandoned bicycles - Submission notes that 
the removal of abandoned bicycles could be 
increased  

 

 

Dublin City Council is engaged in market 
consultation and the proposed amendment 
of bye-laws to achieve this. 

 

As the enforcement of bye-laws in the city 
centre is focused on the storage, 
presentation and segregation of waste it is 
clear that the commercial entities will make 
up the majority of those subject to 
enforcement notices. 

It is the aim of Dublin City Council to focus 
more litter warden activity in the central 
commercial district. 

It is not legally possible to publish to names 
of those subject to fixed penalty notices or 
prosecutions for littering offences. 

 

Dublin City Council has recently been 
awarded additional funding under the Anti-
Dumping initiative 2020 to increase the 
abandoned bicycle service provision 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

 

 

Page 55



Name /Group: Abi Cassidy  

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 007 

Submission: 

Submission makes observations on the 
following issues: 

 

Equipment of cleaning staff. 

High standards of cleaning to be maintained. 

Identify why there are differences in 
cleanliness of areas after cleaning has taken 
place. 

No litter left behind following cleaning 

 

 

 

 

 

Authorised collectors to be reminded not to 
allow spillages from waste collection and 
clean up in the event of any incidents. 

 

 

Introduction of DNA ID for all dogs. 

 

 

 

Reduce the number of horses kept for leisure 
purposes in the Dublin City area to address 
the issue of horse manure as litter. 

 

 

Presentation of waste on incorrect days due 
to ignorance of collection days. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

 

 

All staff have appropriate equipment 
available for use at all times.   

The street grading programme has been 
designed to ensure high standards of cleaning 
are maintained and ensure consistency of 
cleaning standards.  The programme includes 
comparisons of cleaning standards and 
graded results that are assessed and 
addressed with local management teams.  
The plan notes that the grading programme 
will continue to be implemented to ensure 
high standards are maintained 

 

This point will be referred to the authorised 
waste collectors – any issues reported to 
Dublin City Council will be acted upon and if 
witnessed they will be addressed. 

 

This is beyond the scope of the litter 
management plan as it is beyond the 
legislative provisions of the Litter Pollution 
Act. 

 

This is beyond the scope of the litter 
management plan as it is beyond the 
legislative provisions of the Litter Pollution 
act. 

 

Dublin City Council through its BETA 
programme is developing a resource for 
citizens to provide simple information on 
local waste arrangements. 

As part of the commitment in the plan to 
provide a communications plan this will 
include simple information on day-to-day 
management of waste. 

 

Page 56



Presentation of untagged waste bags. 

 

 

 

 

 

Free provision of recycling bags. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recycling Materials as a financial resource. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All schools / community organisations to be 
given responsibility for green areas / spaces 
in their vicinity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Offer jobs to homeless people in street 
cleaning and link in with services to help 
people progress. 

 

 

 

The issue of combatting illegal dumping 
through a variety of enforcement measures is 
dealt with in the draft under a number of 
areas including Enforcement / Illegal 
dumping and Management of Domestic 
Waste and associated objectives 27 / 28 / 30 
/ 31 /34. 

 

This is not a matter that is under the remit of 
the City Council as kerbside recycling 
collection services are provided by private 
commercial authorised waste collectors. It is 
beyond the scope of the Litter Management 
Plan and the provisions of the Litter Pollution 
Act.  the City Council supports recycling and 
provides a network of bottle and textile 
banks for free public recycling and several 
bring centres and civic amenity sites where 
mixed dry recyclables may be recycled free of 
charge. 

 

This is a waste management planning and 
circular economy issue.  While the draft plan 
has regard to supporting and implementing 
recycling initiatives to address litter related 
issues it does not address these issues.  It 
should be noted that Dublin City Council does 
receive rebates and payments for certain 
recyclable materials collected at its facilities. 

 

This cannot be dictated to community groups 
or schools rather it is a matter that Dublin 
City Council should support any group 
interested in taking responsibility for such 
areas.  This is in place through programmes 
such as the City Neighbourhoods 
competition, Green Schools Programme and 
Picker Pals project and corporate social 
responsibility initiatives.  All are supported by 
the City Council. 

 

Dublin City Council supports any initiative 
focused on communities or citizens seeking 
to engage in environmental improvements in 
their community and will work with any 
group seeking to advance this type of 
initiative in any sector. 

 

Page 57



Long term unemployed persons to be 
employed by DCC to assist in street cleaning. 

 

 

 

 

Naming and shaming of offenders. 

 

 

 

Regularly advertise a chart of the worst 
offending areas and the cleanest areas. 

 

 

 

 

Work with DCC Beta to come up with novel 
ideas to change culture 

This is not a matter for the Litter 
Management Plan.  Dublin City Council 
engages in all relevant state employment, 
training and development programmes that 
are applicable to it. 

 

 

It is not legally possible to publish to names 
of those subject to fixed penalty notices or 
prosecutions for littering offences. 

 

This is not considered constructive in 
effecting change.  It will be considered how 
to highlight improvements in previously 
problematic areas and how these have been 
achieved in order to assist in the 
development of anti-litter initiatives. 

 

The draft plan notes ongoing cooperation 
with DCC BETA on projects to address waste 
and litter issues. 

Recommendation: No amendment to Draft Litter Management Plan. 

Amendment: None. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



Name /Group: Phibsboro Village Tidy Towns 

 

Ref: LMPSTAT / 008 

Submission: 

Observations on waste reduction and the 
potential banning of soft plastics and single 
use plastics. 

 

 

 

Suggestion that a deposit scheme could be 
introduced for certain materials. 

 

 

Observation that private waste collection is 
not effective, suggestion that waste 
collection is taken back into local authority 
control and charged for through household 
rates. 

 

Observation that bye laws must be enforced 
regarding provision of segregated bins 

 

Suggestion that tougher bags or smaller bins 
be provided for smaller households without 
storage for bins. 

 

 

 

Suggestion that CCTV is more widely used for 
enforcement 

 

Response: 

While the plan supports the issue of waste 
reduction to reduce litter and Dublin City 
Council targets on reduction and elimination 
of single use plastics the banning of materials 
is beyond the scope of the plan and its 
legislative provisions. 

 

This requires national implementation and is 
beyond the scope of the plan and legislative 
provisions 

 

This is beyond the scope of the plan and its 
legislative provisions. 

 

 

 

The enforcement of the waste bye-laws is 
one of the stated objectives of the plan.  

 

Dublin City Council is engaged in market 
consultation and the proposed amendment 
of bye-laws to progress this issue and is 
working with Dublin City BETA to examine 
issues relating to communal waste 
presentation and better waste services. 

 

It is a stated aim of the plan to continue to 
use CCTV where appropriate for the purposes 
of enforcement. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

 

Page 59



Name /Group: Eoin McMahon 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 009 

Submission: 

 

Three core issues are addressed in the 
submission: 

Requirement to use bags rather than 
wheeled bins and resultant litter 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lack of handcart cleaning outside of the core 
retail district 

 

 

 

 

Under resourcing of litter warden services 

Response: 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council recognises that this is a 
serious issue and is engaged in market 
consultation and the proposed amendment 
of bye-laws to progress alternatives to plastic 
bags and is working with Dublin City BETA to 
examine issues relating to communal waste 
presentation and better waste services. 

 

 

This point is noted and it is a stated aim of 
the plan to continue to increase this type of 
cleaning where appropriate.  Different forms 
of cleaning are required in different locations 
and the most appropriate forms of cleaning 
are implemented to address priority issues. 

 

The need to reorganise enforcement services 
was recognised in the previous litter 
management plan and it is stated within the 
review of the plan that this is underway to 
provide a more effective and efficient service. 

Recommendation: Amend Plan at Pg 24. 

 

 

Amendment:  

amend heading to: 

Management of Domestic and Commercial Waste 

 

Insert Additional Bullet Point   

 Dublin City Council will seek to trial and implement alternative solutions to waste 
presentation in plastic refuse bags  

Page 60



 

Name /Group: Dublin Chamber 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 010 

Submission: 

 

The submission makes the observation that 
the plan should show its alignment with the 
climate action and circular economy 
objectives of the City Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The submission makes the observation that 
better information on service provision, 
range of services and frequency of activity 
could be communicated better to the 
business community 

 

The submission observes that an information 
campaign is required to promote the correct 
use of segregated bins once introduced 

 

Response: 

 

The plan is formulated with regard to 
objectives and actions of the Dublin City 
Council Climate Action Plan and circular 
economy goals and there are shared 
objective such as actions on single use 
plastics and composting of organic street 
cleaning waste and the introduction of 
segregated recycling bins on street.  The 
connection and interrelated nature of the 
plans may not be clearly stated and this will 
be rectified by amendment.  

 

This is a valuable suggestion that will be 
examined as part of the communications 
planning that is outlined in the plan. 

 

 

The introduction of segregated bins through 
the circle city project includes at its core a 
vibrant media and information campaign to 
promote the correct use of the segregated 
bins. 

Recommendation: Amend Plan at Page 2 to make reference to the alignment of the plan with 
the Dublin City Climate Action Plan and the Eastern Midland Regional Waste Management 
Plan  

Amendment:  The Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 is formulated having regard to the 
shared goals of the Dublin City Climate Action Plan, the Eastern Midland Regional Waste 
Management Plan and the UN Sustainable Development Goals.  The plan contains actions 
and objectives that can contribute to positive climate outcomes, waste reduction and 
increases in recycling and reuse. 

Page 61



 

 

Name /Group: Mark Price 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 011 

Submission: 

 

The submission refers to the local authority 
resuming control of waste collection and 

 

The submission also notes the requirement 
for  provision of alternatives to plastic bags 
for waste collection. 

Response: 

 

This structure of the waste collection market 
and regime is beyond the scope of the plan 
and its legislative provisions. 

Dublin City Council recognises that this is a 
serious issue and is engaged in market 
consultation and the proposed amendment 
of bye-laws to progress alternatives to plastic 
bags and is also working with Dublin City 
BETA to examine issues relating to communal 
waste presentation and better waste 
services. 

 

 

Recommendation: Amend Plan at Pg 24. 

 

 

Amendment:  

amend heading to: 

Management of Domestic and Commercial Waste 

 

Insert Additional Bullet Point   

 Dublin City Council will seek to trial and implement alternative solutions to waste 
presentation in plastic refuse bags  

Page 62



Name /Group: Stephanie Dickinson 

 

Ref: LMP / STAT 012 

Submission: 

The submission makes observations and 
suggestions under a number of headings. 

 

Bring Centres and Civic Amenity Recycling 
Facilities – increase the number of facilities 
and increase the waste accepted at these 
facilities. 

 

 

Provide occasional hazardous waste 
collections. 

 

 

 

Provide for segregation of waste at 
community clean up events. 

 

Provide educational workshops on 
Sustainable Living, Circular Economies, 
Disposal of Waste, and Composting 

 

 

 

Support for community environment 
initiatives  

 

 

Provide more densely planted planters to 
avoid potential for litter 

 

Promote Plogging in Dublin  

Response: 

 

 

 

It is a stated aim of the plan to seek to 
increase the number of recycling facilities 
available in the city.  It also noted that the 
City Council is seeking where possible to 
increase the recyclable material accepted at 
bring centres. 

The provision of hazardous waste collections 
has been supported and promoted by the 
City Council previously and this can be 
examined in the context of the provision of 
amnesty days as stated in objective 33 in the 
implementation plan. 

This will be examined in the operation of 
supporting community clean ups – 
contamination may be an obstacle to 
achieving this. 

This is an area that it is intended to promote 
through shared actions with the Dublin City 
Climate Action Plan based on the success of 
the climate action workshops. Objective 13 of 
the implementation plan refers. 

 

Dublin City Council supports these initiatives 
through the Local Authority Prevention 
Network and Community Environment Action 
Fund 

This suggestion will be referred to the parks 
and landscape services division. 

This suggestion will be raised with the sports 
and wellbeing partnership 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 63



Name /Group: Cllr Mary Fitzpatrick 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 013 

Submission: 

The submission suggests that the Dublin City 
Climate Action Plan and Eastern Midland 
Regional Waste Management Plan be 
referenced. 

The submission suggests that the plan should 
refer to the commitment from the elected 
members to remunicipalise domestic waste 
collection. 

 

The plan should set out an action plan for 
addressing litter in the North Inner City. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Carry out a major compliance and 
enforcement campaign. 

 

Reintroduce a waiver for low income 
households. 

 

Programme for introduction of segregated 
street bins. 

 

Develop a plan to provide additional 
recycling facilities. 

 

 

 

Introduction of a deposit return scheme. 

 

 

Introduction of street sweeping and cleaning 
programme for urban villages. 

 

Response: 

This is agreed and the plan will be amended 
to reflect this. 

 

 

The structure of the waste market and the 
provision of waste collection services is 
beyond the scope of the plan and its 
legislative provisions. 

 

The plan is a citywide plan for the prevention 
and minimisation of litter and does not 
concentrate on specific areas of the city. The 
plan does refer to the concentration of 
resources where most needed and 
specifically relating to areas considered to be 
litter blackspots or suffering from high levels 
of illegal dumping 

 

This is set out in the plan in respect of the 
enforcement of waste bye-laws. 

 

This is beyond the scope of the plan and its 
legislative provisions. 

 

This is set out as an objective of the plan and 
the project planning is underway. 

 

The plan clearly shares this aim and sets out 
that it will seek to consult with the public to 
achieve this and seek the provision of 
recycling facilities within the objectives of the 
Dublin City Development Plan. 

 

This is a national issue that is beyond the 
scope the plan and its legislative provision 

 

The provision of handcart sweeping services 
is set out as a stated aim of the plan. 

 

Page 64



Introduce bye laws to facilitate alternate 
side of the street parking to allow for street 
cleaning. 

 

 

 

 

 

Provide an annual review and report on the 
plan to the appropriate SPC and City Council 

There is no provision in legislation to make 
bye-laws of this nature, the matter has been 
examined and is beyond the scope of the 
legislative provision of the plan.  The plan 
does state the aim of increasing the provision 
of its service to communities wishing to 
arrange for clearing of parking to facilitate 
cleaning which has been successfully 
implemented. 

 

This is a requirement of the legislation 
providing for the plan and is clearly set out in 
the plan.  The previous plan provided the 
same reports annually as was required by the 
legislation. 

 

 

 

Recommendation: Amend Plan at Page 2 to make reference to the alignment of the plan with 
the Dublin City Climate Action Plan and the Eastern Midland Regional Waste Management 
Plan  

Amendment:  The Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 is formulated having regard to the 
shared goals of the Dublin City Climate Action Plan, the Eastern Midland Regional Waste 
Management Plan and the UN Sustainable Development Goals.  The plan contains actions 
and objectives that can contribute to positive climate outcomes, waste reduction and 
increases in recycling and reuse. 

 

  

Page 65



Name /Group: South Georgian Core Residents Association 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 014 

Submission: 

The submission observes that the issue of 
waste bags creating litter must be 
addressed. 

 

 

 

 

Lack of enforcement of Bye Laws and 
operating hours of Litter Wardens. 

 

 

 

 

Graffiti on commercial premises. 

 

 

On street recycling facilities for glass and 
plastic should be provided. 

 

 

 

 

Grant licences only to single operators for 
waste collection on city streets/areas. 

 

 

Provide a citywide response to the seagull 
issue and insist bags are presented on 
railings where present to prevent seagull 
interference. 

 

The issue of cigarette butts on the street to 
be addressed 

 

 

Response: 

Dublin City Council recognises that this is a 
serious issue and is engaged in market 
consultation and the proposed amendment 
of bye-laws to progress alternatives to plastic 
bags and is also working with Dublin City 
BETA to examine issues relating to communal 
waste presentation and better waste 
services. 

The need to reorganise enforcement services 
was recognised in the previous litter 
management plan and it is stated within the 
review of the plan that this is underway to 
provide a more effective and efficient service. 

The plan states that it is seeking to carry out 
more effective enforcement of the bye laws 

Graffiti can be addressed through the existing 
provisions of the Litter Pollution Act as 
appropriate. 

 

It is a stated aim of the plan to introduce 
segregated bins for the most prevalent 
recyclables.  Bottle banks are provided for 
glass recycling and it is stated in the plan that 
the City Council will seek to increase the 
numbers of these facilities. 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provision of the plan and refers to the 
collection permitting system and structure of 
the market. 

The success of implementing alternatives to 
presentation of waste in plastic bags would 
address these issues. 

 

 

Dublin City Council did carry out both 
enforcement action and awareness raising 
campaign in relation to cigarette litter during 
the previous plan; the issue will continue to 
be addressed in this manner.  Objective 24 
refers 

Page 66



Recommendation: Amend Plan at Pg 24. 

 

 

Amendment:  

amend heading to: 

Management of Domestic and Commercial Waste 

 

Insert Additional Bullet Point   

 Dublin City Council will seek to trial and implement alternative solutions to waste 
presentation in plastic refuse bags  

  

Page 67



Name /Group: Maura Hiney 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 015 

Submission: 

 

Submission observes that a cleaning strategy 
is welcome but unsure how this will be 
implemented. 

 

 

Submission notes that support for 
community street cleaning requests and 
community clean ups should be available all 
year round. 

 

Submission suggests additional bins are 
required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submission welcomes plans for additional 
enforcement  

Response: 

 

The use of local knowledge, CRM data, street 
grading data and communication with local 
communities and representatives inform how 
cleaning schedules are implemented. 

 

This facility is available throughout the year. 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council work closely with local 
area offices and local representative groups 
when planning provision of infrastructure  

Dublin City Council has developed criteria for 
the provision of litter bins, which will be used 
to inform the placement of litter bins.  The 
City Council is also currently in the process of 
putting in place contracts for the supply of 
new litter bins. 

 

No response required. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 68



Name /Group: Proinsias Mac Fhlannchadha 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 016 

Submission: 

Submission makes the following 
observations. 

DCC to consider expanding the materials 
which can be collected from bottle and 
textile banks to include cardboard given the 
prevalence of online shopping. 

 

 

DCC to consider having a bin at textile banks 
for clothes not suitable for reuse. Based on 
the findings of the EPA (attached), c10% of 
black rubbish includes "Textiles."  A key 
reason for this may be to the fact that all 
textile bins are for charities and people may 
not feel comfortable donating unusable 
clothing to a charity and thus it ends up in a 
black bin 

DCC to commit that 100% of their units 
owned and leased for social housing will 
comply with DCC's own waste bye-laws for 3 
stream bins (Black/ brown/ green) 

 

DCC to engage with the other 3 local 
authorities within Dublin so that any 
campaigns for dog poo, illegal dumping etc. 
are consistent and coherent which will not 
only generate maximum imapct by way of 
reach but also minimise costs per campaign 
as one campaign could be rolled out across 
the 4 local authorities. All local authorities 
are experiencing the same problem and it 
needs to be tackled collectively in the Dublin 
area 

Response: 

 

 

Dublin City Council provides for recycling of 
mixed dry recyclables at bring centre and 
recycling centre locations throughout the 
city.  Household kerbside collections are 
available throughout the city which includes 
the collection of mixed dry recyclables. 

 

 

 

This is a matter that is more relevant to 
waste management planning and policy and 
is considered in the context of recent public 
consultation on waste policy development.   

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council is working towards 
ensuring that all housing complexes have 
access to 3 bin collections.  In all other social 
housing units there is access to a 3 bin system 
and the tenant is responsible for compliance 
with the use of the system.   

 

Dublin City Council engages with the other 
Dublin local authorities in respect of 
awareness campaigns and initiatives and will 
continue to do so.  Dublin City Council 
recognises the benefit of this approach. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



There is no mention of no. of business/ 
commercial/ civic buildings to be inspected 
in the enforcement metrics of this plan.  

 

According to the EPA,  approx. (attached) 
70% of the material in the black bin could be 
diverted to recycling or composting.    Many 
businesses/ offices are not compliant with 
the Bye-Laws of DCC. Compliance with Bye-
Laws (registered with a waste provider and 
multi stream bins need to be explored by 
DCC. This needs to be examined further 

There is no mention of no. of households to 
be inspected to confirm that they have 3 
separate bins for waste streams (green/ 
black/ brown). This needs to be examined 
further. 

The Bye-laws need to be revisited as their 
intended purpose and financial penalties are 
not having the desired effect. 

 

 

 

 

Consider ensuring waste collectors advertise 
the recycling list to all customers. 

 

 

 

 

Ensure requirement for landlords to provide 
3 bin systems within tenanted 
accommodation. 

 

Consider bye law to provide for a 
requirement for dog owners to be obliged to 
carry dog foul bags. 

 

 

 

The same responsibilities apply to business as 
to domestic waste and the plan will be 
amended to reflect that commercial activities 
will also be investigated. 

 

The plan clearly sets out a compliance 
campaign will be undertaken in respect of the 
waste bye-laws. This campaign if successful 
will be expanded upon during the lifetime of 
the plan 

 

 

 

The compliance campaign outlined in the 
plan will initially target circa 3000 households 
and if successful will be expanded upon 
during the lifetime of the plan. 

 

The Waste bye-laws began implementation in 
2019 as part of a nationwide consistent 
approach to the storage, presentation and 
segregation of household and commercial 
waste there are no current plans to revisit 
the bye laws excepting the current 
amendment proposed to facilitate alternative 
containers to plastic bags. 

 

Dublin  City Council cannot oblige the waste 
collector to do this.  The City Council will 
promote the recycling list and other shared 
beneficial messaging as is already the case 
through its various communications 
channels. 

 

This provision exists in the current waste  

bye-laws. 

 

There is no provision in legislation to make 
such a bye-law.  This specific issue was 
considered in respect of primary legislation 
and is not considered a workable legislative 
provision. 

 

 

 

Page 70



Create a central register of waste compliance 
information based on eircodes and updated 
by authorised waste collectors. 

 

 

 

 

Create user accounts related to usage of civic 
amenity sites linked to eircodes to identify 
households disposing of waste at civic 
amenity sites. 

 

Increase fixed penalty notice fine amount in 
waste bye laws. 

 

Review international experience in on street 
recycling such as that carried out by Hubbub 
(Leeds by example). 

 

DCC to contact all property management 
companies to address non compliance with 
waste bye laws in multi unit developments. 

 

 

 

DCC to establish a live database of all multi 
unit buildings and associated management 
information with a requirement to submit 
annual updates. 

 

Make regulations via conditions of planning 
permission and Bye Law stipulating provision 
of 3 bin system for customers in food to go 
premises. 

 

 

DCC to commit to publishing a street 
sweeping plan for leaf removal in autumn. 

 

 

 

 

 

This suggestion refers in some respects to 
provisions within the Waste Management 
Act.  As described it may go beyond these 
provisions and may not comply with Data 
Protection Legislation.  Dublin City Council 
will investigate the possibility of the 
suggested project. 

 

Dublin City Council will investigate the 
possibility of the suggested project 
particularly in the context of data protection 
legislation. 

 

This is not possible as the fixed penalty 
amount is defined by primary legislation. 

 

Dublin City Council are working in 
partnership with Hubbub on the 
implementation of on street recycling bins. 

 

The plan sets out that Dublin City Council will 
implement a strategy to address waste 
management issues in multi occupancy 
buildings using a multi-agency approach.  This 
suggestion will be considered in the context 
of this aim. 

 

See response above to suggestion regarding 
central compliance register and civic amenity 
site user accounts. 

 

This suggestion will be examined in the 
context of reviewing existing litter prevention 
and control bye-laws and an amendment to 
the plan will be recommended to include a 
review of these bye-laws. 

 

Mechanical street sweeping is ongoing daily 
throughout the main arterial routes and 
thoroughfares of the city.  A leaf removal 
programme is implemented each autumn.  A 
commitment is provided in the plan to 
provide an online facility to provide 
information on street sweeping schedules for 
the city. 

 

Page 71



DCC to commit to providing water refill 
stations throughout the city. 

 

 

Issue of use of plastic bags for waste 
presentation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DCC to take control of waste collection in 
certain areas or operate a tender for waste 
collection services provision  

 

DCC to examine feasibility of underground 
bins 

 

 

DCC to introduce standard colour coding for 
waste bins provided by private operators. 

 

Consider introduction of reverse vending 
machines. 

 

Consider making it a mandatory requirement 
to implement deposit and refund scheme at 
licensed events. 

 

 

Ensure al non specialist waste vehicles are 
full electric or hybrid vehicles 

This is not a matter for the plan.  It is worth 
noting that Dublin City Council Climate Action 
Plan does include a target for provision of 
such facilities. 

 

Dublin City Council recognises that this is a 
serious issue and is engaged in market 
consultation and the proposed amendment 
of bye-laws to progress alternatives to plastic 
bags and is working with Dublin City BETA to 
examine issues relating to communal waste 
presentation and better waste services. 

 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provision of the plan. 

 

The feasibility of underground bins for the 
purposes of recycling has been examined by 
Dublin City Council  

 

This is not considered a necessary 
intervention and would be cost increasing for 
customers of authorised waste collectors. 

 

The trial of such technology is being 
considered as an element of the introduction 
of on street recycling. 

Dublin City Council are currently working to 
implement a ban on all single use plastics at 
events supported or licensed by the council. 

 

 

This is not a matter for the plan.  It is worth 
noting that Dublin City Council Climate Action 
Plan does include a target for provision of 
electric vehicles and the waste management 
division is seeking to introduce electric 
vehicles and equipment to replace 
diesel/petrol wherever possible. 

 

Recommendation: Amendment to plan at pg 24 and pg 29 

 

Page 72



Amendment: 

Pg 24. 

amend heading to: 

Management of Domestic and Commercial Waste 

 

Insert Additional Bullet Point   

Dublin City Council will seek to trial and implement alternative solutions to waste 
presentation in plastic refuse bags 

 

Insert Additional Bullet Point 

Dublin City Council will consider whether it is possible to create and maintain up to date 
records based on information such as eircodes on the domestic and commercial waste 
collections and civic amenity site use for the purposes of ensuring compliance with 
requirement to use authorised waste collectors. 

 

Pg 29 

 

Insert New Objective  

 

Carry out review and update of Litter Prevention and Control Bye Laws 

  

Page 73



Name /Group: Claire Moloney 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 017 

Submission: 

Reinstall bins on Aughrim St, D7 

 

Response: 

Dublin City Council work closely with local 
area offices and local representative groups 
when planning provision of infrastructure  

Dublin City Council has developed criteria for 
the provision of litter bins that will be used to 
inform the placement of litter bins.  The City 
Council is also currently in the process of 
putting in place contracts for the supply of 
new litter bins. 

Consideration will be given to the submission 
of what is set out above. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 74



Name /Group: Lisa Duggan Connolly 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 018 

Submission: 

Appoint a Litter Sheriff for small districts 
within the area. 

 

Implement a bye law where Landlords can 
be fined for not keeping their properties and 
gardens in good order and ensuring wheelie 
bins are provided for their Tenants. These 
are commercial properties. 

Request shops to sweep outside their 
premises and wash down shop fronts on a 
daily basis. 

Encourage local schools to participate in 
programmes of school sweep up and blue 
bag litter collection. 

Name and shame people who dump litter. 

 

Distribute blue bags and litter pickers to 
Community groups .We always have to drive 
to Sean McDermott street to find them,often 
having to call more than once. 

Have a litter hotline number that is easy to 
remember and advertise it. 

Old age pensioners fill the bins with their 
little bags rather than pay. Could they avail 
of a free scheme. 

 

Install C.C.T.V.under railway bridges around 
the area and along the canals where 
dumping is a daily occurrence. 

 

 

Response: 

Litter wardens are currently assigned to 
operate within specific areas. 

 

These suggestions are provided for in the 
Litter Pollution Act and Waste Bye Laws. 

 

 

These suggestions are provided for in the 
litter prevention and control Bye Laws. 

 

This is done through the picker pals 
programme that is outlined in the plan. 

 

This is not possible within current legislative 
provisions. 

This service is currently available 

 

 

 

All litter issues can be reported at 2222222 

There is no such scheme available.  Dublin 
City BETA projects may be able to consider 
this issue in the context of better waste 
management services as outlined in the plan 

 

The plan sets out that CCTV will continue to 
be used to try to address issues of illegal 
dumping. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 75



Name /Group: Bobby Behan 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 019 

Submission: 

 

Submission makes a number of points on the 
following areas. 

 

Dumping blackspots in Ballyfermot area to 
be tackled. 

 

 

 

Restriction of access the laneway at 
Thomond Rd /Kylemore Rd to pedestrians 
and access only at restricted times. 

 

 

Cleaning at Upper Decies Rd. 

 

 

Comment regarding use of GPS in City 
Council vehicles. 

 

Comment regarding community cleanups 

 

 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

 

 

 

The plan sets out stated aims and objectives 
in respect of tackling illegal dumping 
including the use of cctv and compliance 
campaigns.  Both locations identified will be 
investigated. 

 

This is not a matter that can be dealt with in 
the context of a litter management plan.  It 
will be referred for the attention of local area 
management within Dublin City Council. 

 

This local matter will be referred to the local 
Waste Management Inspector for attention. 

All Dublin City Council vehicles are fitted with 
GPS systems. 

 

Dublin City Council works with communities 
to facilitate all community clean ups in 
whatever way possible. 

 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 76



Name /Group: Paul Stafford 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 020 

Submission: 

 

Submission suggests that Dublin City Council 
take control of all waste collection. 

 

Submission suggests increased provision of 
bins at parks and dog walking locations 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

The criteria for the placement of litter bins 
includes siting at entrances to parks and at 
areas of high footfall dog walking.  Efforts 
have been made to ensure this is done and 
these will continue. 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 77



Name /Group: Carmen Neary 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 021 

Submission: 

 

The submission makes the following 
suggestions. 

 

Use audio messages to address dog fouling 
in Dartmouth Square Park. 

 

 

 

Regular clearing of watertraps is important 
during Autumn. 

 

 

 

Clearing of leaf fall need to be carried out 
more than once in autumn. 

 

Reintroduce the annual bulky waste 
collection service 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

 

 

 

This issue will be raised with the Parks and 
Landscape Services Division.  The plan makes 
reference to working with other internal 
departments on joint initiatives at objective 
15. 

 

The Waste Management Division work in 
conjunction with the Drainage Division to 
target street cleaning and sweeping at areas 
at risk of flooding during leaf fall season. 

 

Removal of leaf fall material is ongoing 
throughout Autumn across the city. 

 

The annual service has been replaced by a 
low cost on demand service that provides an 
overall more flexible option for citizens.  
There are no plans to reintroduce the annual 
service which only serviced one third of the 
city annually. 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 78



Name /Group: Anonynous 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 022 

Submission: 

 

Submission states as a Dublin City resident I 
think the management of waste should be 
taken back under the control of DCC.  

 

 

 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

Recommendation: No Amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 79



Name /Group: Dodder Action 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 023 

Submission: 

Submission suggests the following. 

 

DCC to lead out and support banning of 
single use plastics and implementation of a 
deposit and return scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

Removal of clothing recycling bins from 
recycling areas. 

 

 

 

Relocation of recycling bins away from river 
Dodder at the Dropping Well and opposite 
Milltown Church. 

 

Provision of segregated solar bins 
throughout the river area. 

 

 

Response: 

 

 

Dublin City Council supports the elimination 
of single use plastics and the plan outlines its 
aims in this regard that are also shared in the 
Dublin City Climate Action Plan.  The City 
Council does not have the power to ban 
these items outright or to introduce a deposit 
and return scheme but is leading in 
introducing these measures within Dublin 
City Council. 

 

Dublin City Council recognises that textile 
recycling facilities require more stringent 
management to address dumping but do not 
recommend the removal of facilities. 

 

Dublin City Council will examine this 
suggestion locally. 

 

The feasibility of the provision of bins 
throughout the river area will be examined 
locally. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 80



Name /Group: Geraldine Cusack 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 024 

Submission: 

 

Submission makes suggestions relating to 
signage, litter wardens, location of bins and 
CCTV to address graffiti along the Grand 
Canal. 

 

 

Response: 

 

The management of the canal is the 
responsibility of Waterways Ireland.  Dublin 
City Council works closely with Waterways 
Ireland in respect of various issues and will 
refer these suggestions for further discussion. 

 

The plan sets out a stated aim and objective 
to work with stakeholders to improve litter 
issues on waterways. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 81



Name /Group: Crumlin Community Clean -up 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 025 

Submission: 

A wide ranging submission covering the 
entirety of the plan. 

 

Please include dates for next plan and 
reports on plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

Please provide appendix entry on public 
consultation. 

 

Make realtime data available to the public in 
one location under a litter management 
portal on the DC website. 

 

 

Include definition of plan, litter and 
responsibilities in relation to litter in the 
plan introduction. 

 

Include data on river and waterways clean 
ups and responsibilities. 

 

 

Include review of 2016 – 2018 plan as an 
appendix to the plan or be made available 
on the DCC website. 

 

Area of rationalisation of depots/human 
resources should not be include in review of 
plan. 

 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

 

 

The plan will be prepared in line with the 
legislative provisions and a report will be 
issued each year to the council as close as is 
possible to the full year following adoption of 
the plan. It is anticipated that the next plan 
will be presented in 2022 for adoption to 
provide for a new plan at the expiry of this 
plan should it be adopted. 

This will be provided. 

 

 

This is an excellent suggestion that will be 
considered in the context of the 
communications area of the plan and the 
plan will be amended accordingly. 

 

 A brief paragraph will be added and the plan 
amended accordingly. 

 

 

The plan sets out the aim to engage with this 
issue and record data.  This data will be 
provided in the reporting on the progress of 
the plan. 

 

This review will be made available as an 
appendix to the plan. 

 

As the Waste Management Division 
responsible for litter management within the 
city council underwent significant change 
during the lifetime of the previous plan it is 
considered relevant and important to provide 
information on developments such as these 
in the review of the plan. 

 

Page 82



Not all areas of the litter management plan 
2016 – 2018 are referred to in the review of 
the plan. 

 

 

 

Can the council confirm if local community 
insight and knowledge will still be used to 
address litter issues and the designation of 
resources. 

 

 

 

Can the plan state how the City Council has 
worked on the recommendations of the IBAL 
report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Please provide a report on the 
implementation of the new Waste Bye Laws. 

 

 

No mention in review of WEEE Collection 
days.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Review does not contain any cost analysis on 
effectiveness of measures taken. 

 

 

 

 

 

The plan clearly states that the highlights of 
the previous plan are shown for the purposes 
of the review section of the previous plan.  A 
full review of the previous plan was 
undertaken and reported on and will be 
included as an appendix to the plan. 

 

Dublin City Council works closely with 
communities through its liaison officers 
including the Litter Prevention Officer and 
Public Domain Officers and environmental 
liaison officers.  This will be continued.  
Programmes such as the city 
neighbourhoods’ awards facilitate such 
interaction. 

 

The City Council addresses directly any 
locations identified in the IBAL report by 
assessing cleaning needs and addressing any 
deficits identified that have contributed to a 
poor rating in the report.   This level of detail 
is not provided in the plan in the interest of 
providing a concise strategy document 
setting out the aim, objective and ambitions 
of the City Council in dealing with litter 
management for the city as a whole.   

 

The plan clearly sets out that a large-scale 
enforcement campaign is being prepared for 
implementation.  Annual reporting on the 
plan will provide updates in this regard. 

 

Updates on the progress of the previous plan 
clearly show that this objective was deemed 
no longer necessary due to the provision of 
WEEE collections directly through producer 
schemes. I.e. collection and removal when 
new products purchased or provision of 
WEEE recycling points at retail outlets. 

 

This is not a requirement of the plan. Cost 
benefit of litter and street cleaning 
expenditure is not straightforward due to the 
highly variable environmental factors 
required to be measured.  The budgetary 
requirements of the service are based on the 
provision of the services and achieving the 

Page 83



 

 

Provide online access to street grading 
results in addition to street cleaning 
schedules. 

 

 

Provide online map of Dublin city bins. 

 

Carry out assessment of areas of need for 
additional litter bins. 

 

Develop a litter bin placement protocol. 

 

Provide data relating smart bins. 

 

 

Replant areas marked by bonfires at 
Halloween. 

 

Process should be in place for staff to 
feedback on issue of overflowing bins. 

 

CRM Data should be made available online. 

 

 

CRM should update customer on progress of 
an incident. 

 

Use of smart technology is not defined in the 
actions. 

 

 

 

 

Open Data not up to date and not user 
friendly. 

 

 

Interactive map should also include updates 
on completed schedules and effectiveness. 

 

objectives of the service as set out in the 
litter management plan. 

 

This will be considered in the context of the 
development of the online street cleaning 
schedule. 

 

This is available through data.smartdublin.ie 

 

This is done within the criteria for provision 
of public litter bins.  It is Dublin City Council 
policy to provide litter bins in areas of need 
in proximity to litter generators. 

Criteria for provision of public litter bins in 
place. 

This is being examined in the context of the 
stated aim of providing open data as set out 
in the plan. 

This suggestion will be referred to the Parks 
and Landscape Services Division for their 
consideration. 

 

This is in place through local management 
structures. 

 

This will be examined in the context of the 
commitment in the plan to provide open 
data. 

Pursuing this improvement to CRM is set out 
as an aim of the plan. 

 

As an example the plan sets out to introduce 
QR code technology to bring bank locations 
and the continued roll out of solar compactor 
bins.  As technology emerges and the city 
council engages with new technology how 
this can be applied to the waste area will be 
investigated and trialled. 

The datasets provided to the open data 
platform have been increased and now 
regularly provide detail on the tonnages of 
wastes collected and recycled. 

The interactive facility will provide as much 
information as possible within the confines of 
what is technically possible when designing 
and providing the facility. 

Page 84



 

Recommend new section – Human 
Resources. 

 

Recommendation new section – Waste 
Collection. 

 

 

Information regarding the bulky waste 
collection should be provided and an 
analysis of whether low income areas use 
the service. 

 

Monitor bin collections to see if litter is 
being created. 

 

Organise an annual event to discuss litter 
management in Dublin City. 

 

Use leaflet drops to promote issues and 
initiatives. 

 

 

Provide greater detail on Green schools. 

 

Provide details on the role and purpose of 
the litter prevention officer. 

 

Set out targets for the Picker Pals 
programme. 

 

 

 

 

Create an initiative to allow schools to visit 
DCC facilities to see litter issue at first hand. 

 

Explore the possibility of liaison with schools 
around a variety of anti-litter initiatives. 

 

 

 

 

Updates on staffing levels will be provided 
annually for comparative purposes. 

 

This information is available from nwcpo.ie 
and can be made available on the 
dublincity.ie portal.   

 

Reporting on the bulky waste collection was 
carried out in each annual report for the 
previous plan and this can continue to be the 
case. 

 

This can be done as part of overall 
enforcement activity. 

 

This suggestion will be considered in the 
context of objective 13 of the 
implementation plan. 

This will be considered in the context of 
objective 12 of the implementation plan 
regarding the creation and implementation of 
a communications plan. 

 

This will be done through the annual 
reporting mechanism. 

The Litter Prevention Officer will provide an 
update to the annual report on the plan. 

 

This is dependent on capacity of the 
programme provider and other programmes 
may be implemented.  Dublin City Council 
will seek to provide these programmes to as 
many schools as possible during the lifetime 
of the plan. 

 

This suggestion will be assessed in respect of 
how it can be facilitated in conjunction with 
ensuring health and safety is maintained. 

This will be added to the implementation 
plan objectives and the plan amended 
accordingly. 

 

Page 85



Update and distribute Litter Education Pack. 

 

 

Compile community clean up information so 
that it does not skew reports. 

 

 

 

Provide training for community groups on 
environmental issues. 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council should work with all 
community groups to help devise local plans 
to deliver local objectives and assist in the 
development of tidy towns groups. 

 

 

 

 

DCC should try and promote plastic free 
initiatives. 

 

 

 

 

 

The Waste Management Division should trial 
a deposit and return scheme at local level. 

 

 

Dublin City Council should impose a levy on 
single use items. 

 

Introduce cleaning schedule for waterways. 

 

 

 

 

This will be added to the implementation 
plan objectives and the plan amended 
accordingly. 

 

Community clean ups are dealt with 
separately to all other cleaning requests or 
complaints within the CRM system and can 
be reported on in a variety of different 
formats or reports as required. 

Workshops have been held for community 
groups on climate issues for example and 
DCC also cosponsored and facilitated travel 
for community groups to a tidy towns 
seminar in 2019.  This is also considered to be 
within the remit of objective 13 of the 
implementation plan. 

Dublin City Council works with all groups to 
achieve local aims through its local area 
functions in conjunction with the Waste 
Management Services Division.  This is clearly 
demonstrated in the success of the city 
neighbourhoods programme. 

 

 

Dublin City Council supports plastic free 
initiatives and has supported refill.ie and the 
conscious cup campaign among local 
interventions to remove single use plastics 
from its own facilities.  The City Council is 
also targeting the elimination of single use 
plastics from any promotions or events that is 
supports or licences. 

 

Reverse vending machines will be trialled as 
part of the circle city segregated bins 
initiative. 

 

This suggestion goes beyond the powers of 
the local authority. 

 

As Dublin City Council do not have 
responsibility for the cleaning of all 
waterways this would be beyond the remit of 
the council.  The suggestion can be 
considered in the context of collaboration 
with the other relevant stakeholders. 

 

Page 86



 

DCC should look at providing support and 
prizes for community and schools 
competitions. 

 

Community incentive green fund to be 
established. 

 

 

There is no mention of the adopt a street 
programme in the plan. 

 

 

 

Please provide data on enforcement on DCC 
website. 

 

Please state the cost of CCTV and the 
number of fines and prosecutions . 

 

 

State how the Anti Litter Awareness Grant is 
used and how it may be applied for 

 

 

 

No information provided on door to door 
campaigns to be undertaken. 

 

 

Make available publically CRM mapping. 

 

Make Dog fouling statistics available online. 

 

 

 

 

Trial DNA id for dogs. 

 

 

 

 

This is already in place in the format of the 
City Neighbourhoods Competition. 

 

 

This is already in place through the 
Community Environment Action Fund that is 
cofunded by Government and the Local 
Authority. 

Dublin City Council works with local business 
and communities throughout the city to 
promote and progress environmental 
initiatives these can take the form of informal 
approaches or formal adopt a street projects. 

 

This will be included for consideration in the 
commitment to pursue dedicated litter data 
set out above. 

This information will be provided in the 
annual report on the progress of the plan as 
is set out in the implementation plan 
objective metrics. 

 

This will be provided annually in the progress 
report on the plan.  Dublin City Council 
generally use this funding to carry out 
citywide awareness campaigns. 

 

The plan sets out the reporting to be 
provided on this type of campaign in the 
annual reporting. 

 

This will be considered and the suggestion 
referred to the IS department for assessment. 

 

This will be provided in the context of 
providing other litter data as referred to 
earlier in the submission and commitment 
given in responses. 

 

It is beyond the scope of the plan to 
introduce dog DNA testing.   

Any such scheme would require to be 
introduced nationally, be mandatory and 
have significant resources made available to 
provide for investigation and testing and 

Page 87



 

 

 

Suggest new section – green space 
maintenance. 

 

Plan should detail targets, measurements, 
current values for all targets and actions. 

 

Annual reports should be available on the 
DCC website. 

 

 

Suggested new section – promotion of the 
plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

would not address the issue of unlicensed 
dogs. 

 

This will be referred to the Parks and 
Landscape Services Division for their 
attention. 

 

Baseline metrics will be included wherever 
possible and the plan amended accordingly. 

 

All reports to the relevant strategic policy 
committee are available on the DCC website.  
This will be included in litter data. 

 

Various elements of this suggestion are 
already in place.  The remainder will be 
considered.  They are useful and easily 
implementable.  A brief paragraph will be 
included and the plan amended accordingly. 

 

 

Recommendation: Amend plan at pg1 and pg 30and also at implementation plan  

Amendment: Insert paragraph at pg 1 – Litter is defined 

Pg 30 Promotion of the plan will be undertaken  

Implementation plan include additional objectives 

 Develop liaison with primary and secondary schools on litter education lncluding 
providing an updated and distribute Litter Education Packs to schools 

 

Page 88



 

Name /Group: Joe O’Connor 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 026 

 

Submission: 

 

Dog fouling is a problem and goes totally 

unpunished as there is no enforcement. Why 

not make it an offence to be in charge of a 

dog in a public place without a bag/poop 

scoop/...? 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

There is no provision in legislation to make a 
bye-law in this regard.  This specific issue was 
considered in respect of primary legislation 
and is not considered to be a workable 
legislative provision. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 89



Name /Group: Proinsias Mac an Bheatha 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 027 

Submission: 

Dog poo on footpaths is the biggest problem. 

The laws are there but not enforced.   

DNA testing would be a solution.   

 

 

 

 

Many people use a plastic bag for the dogs 

poo, and once they reach the dunes on the 

Bull Island, merely dump the bag on the 

ground.  

A barrel for the bags is at the entrance to the 

beach from the causeway/ Interpretive 

Centre. No such barrel exists at the entrance 

to the dunes just after the St Anne’s golf club 

road. 

No such barrel exists at the dunes after the 

Royal Dublin golf club.  

This is where the poo bags are being 

dumped. 

 

 

Response: 

It is beyond the scope of the plan to 
introduce dog DNA testing.   

Any such scheme would require to be 
introduced nationally, be mandatory and 
have significant resources made available to 
provide for investigation and testing and 
would not address the issue of unlicensed 
dogs. 

 

This suggestion will be referred to the parks 
and landscape services division for 
consideration. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 90



Name /Group: Kelly McCarthy 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 028 

Submission: 

 

Submission makes suggestion under a 
number of headings. 

 

Reduce waste at source by incentivising  
through rates reductions and name and 
shame business whose packaging ends up as 
litter. 

 

 

 

 

 

Enforce bye laws around provision of 3 bin 
system in apartments.  

 

 

 

 

Pilot / introduce communal bins for smaller 
dwellings. 

 

 

 

A publicly provided waste collection service 
be reintroduced as a means to curbing illegal 
dumping. 

Sign up to Terracycle programme and have 
DCC buildings  as a collection /drop off 
centre 

 

Pilot deposit and return schemes 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

 

 

 

The variation of commercial rates is beyond 
the scope of the legislative provisions of the 
plan.   

How to engage and encourage responsible 
waste reduction through highlighting 
frequently occurring litter can be examined in 
the context of social media and 
communications messaging as set out in the 
aims and objectives of the plan. 

  

The priority of enforcement of the 
requirement to use an authorised waste 
collector or facility is specifically targeted in 
the plans aims and objectives.  This is in the 
context of overall efforts to enforce all 
aspects of the waste bye-laws. 

 

It is a stated aim in the plan to work with 
Dublin City BETA to improve waste services.  
A project is already underway to trial 
communal household bins in the city. 

 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

This will be considered as an objective of the 
plan and the plan will be amended 
accordingly 

 

The introduction of on street segregated bins 
project will also include the piloting of 
reverse vending machines to trial their 
effectiveness. 

 

Page 91



 

Ensure plastic bags provided by waste 
collectors are sturdy enough to withstand 
birds. 

 

 

Consider radical measures to address dog 
fouling and convene a mini consultation on 
the issue. 

 

 

 

Provide sanctioned space for graffiti murals. 

 

 

 

Continue to run end consumer education 
campaigns. 

 

 

We would also ask that the council 
proactively monitor social media channels 
for reports for issues with bins and/or 
general litter issues. 

We would encourage the council to make 
greater use of CCTV warning signs and 
blurred images from CCTV to discourage 
littering. 

 

We would ask the council to allocate the 
amount of Litter Wardens to areas 
proportionate to the amount of illegal waste 
and dumping. 

Implement and publish a litter log, managed 
by the responsible DCC litter officer that lists 
the complaint received, Geocode of the litter 
location, date received, action / response 
taken, date of action. 

Publish a schedule on the Dublin City Council 
website that showed whether streets were 
cleaned daily, weekly or monthly. 

 

Dublin City Council is seeking to trial 
alternatives to presenting waste in plastic 
bags in the city through market consultation 
and amending its waste bye-laws to regulate 
for the use of suitable alternatives. 

 

Dublin City Council will carry out a mini non 
statutory consultation on a number of 
specific litter issues including dog fouling as 
suggested this can be done in the context of 
objective 13 in the implementation plan. 

 

Dublin City Council Arts Office and Planning 
Dept are engaged in this topic and a number 
of such spaces have already been trialled in 
the city. 

 

It is a stated aim of the plan to continue to 
carry out awareness and education 
campaigns.  Dublin City Council have recently 
run a dog fouling awareness media campaign. 

This is already in place through official Dublin 
City Council social media channels such as 
@dubcitycouncil and @dubcityenviro 

 

The plan states that CCTV will be used for 
enforcement purposes where appropriate. 
This will be used to the fullest extent possible 
within the constraints of applicable 
legislation such as GDPR. 

 

 

The plan states in its aims that resources will 
be allocated to areas where issues such as 
illegal dumping are most prevalent.  

 

Dublin City Council will consider this in the 
context of the commitment given to 
providing open data as set out in the plan. 

 

 

The plan states that a resource such as an 
interactive map showing cleaning schedules 
for the city will be made available to the 
public through the dublincity.ie website. 

Page 92



Reform our parking regulations working with 
the Department of Transport so that we can 
restrict parking on one side of the street on 
one day a month to allow our street cleaning 
trucks to make a clean sweep of roadsides. 

 

 

 

 

Where possible we would encourage a move 
to or trialling of electric vehicles to improve 
the city’s air quality. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The feasibility of being able to introduce such 
as scheme when residential parking permit 
schemes can be oversubscribed and no 
alternative parking provision can be allocated 
for those with permits is considered to be 
difficult.  The matter will be referred to the 
parking enforcement section for their views 
on whether such a scheme could be 
successful and how it could be progressed.  
Dublin City Council does provide for an on 
demand service to be provided in conjunction 
with residents as stated in the plan and aims 
to increase the provision of this service. 

 

Dublin City Council Waste Management 
Division is committed to the introduction of 
electric vehicles and equipment wherever 
feasible.  Dublin City Councils commitment to 
moving to electric vehicles is set out in the 
Dublin City Climate Action Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: Amend plan at pg.19 

Amendment: insert new bullet point under heading – Recycling Infrastructure 

 

Dublin City Council will examine how it can engage with initiatives such as Terracycle to 
promote recycling of additional waste streams. 

  

Page 93



Name /Group: Ronan 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 029 

Submission: 

 

Submission suggests the introduction of 
segregated bins in the city. 

 

Submission suggests composting of leaves 
collected by DCC. 

 

Submission suggests examining model of 
recycling centres in Luxembourg  

 

 

Response: 

 

It is a stated aim of the plan to introduce 
segregated bins to the city and this project is 
progressing to launch. 

Dublin City Council has introduced the 
composting of leaves collected by street 
cleaning and this is detailed within the plan. 

 

This model will be examined by Dublin City 
Council in recycling services to examine any 
additional services provided above what is 
available at Dublin City Civic Amenity 
Centres. 

 

Recommendation:No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 94



Name /Group: Susan Pike 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 030 

Submission: 

 

Please ban the selling of coffee cups and 

plastic bottles across the city to reduce 

waste and litter.  

 

 

Also dog dirt is appalling across the city. 

Particularly in Drumcondra. Dangerous 

around schools. Please enforce the rules. 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

It is beyond the scope of the plan or the 
powers of the local authority to implement a 
ban as suggested. 

The plan outlines the approach of Dublin City 
Council to address single use items. 

 

It is the aim of Dublin City Council to enforce 
the provisions of the Litter Pollution Act 
wherever possible to do so. 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 95



Name /Group: Colm Moore 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 031 

Submission: 

A wide ranging submission on the plan  

 

Provide a 24-hour hotline for reporting of 
exceptional cases. 

 

Use commercial satellite imagery for 
dumping of waste. 

 

Data on facilities should be shared through 
open data. 

 

 

Can data such as QR codes be used to better 
identify locations for locating bins. 

 

Can solar compactor bins automatically 
report when full. 

 

Provide more community recycling facilities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Are open topped bins still in use.  

 

 

 

There is a requirement to plan for cleaning 
around traffic islands. 

 

Are surface sealed after cleaning. 

 

 

Response: 

 

 

Dublin City Council provide a 24-hour 
emergency number for such incidents. 

 

Aerial photography is in use for waste 
enforcement purposes nationally.  This is not 
required for litter management. 

The plan sets out the aim to provide as much 
data as possible through open data in line 
with national government approach. 

 

All available data including mapping and CRM 
data can be used in this regard. 

 

This is a key part of the technology of smart 
bins. 

 

The plan sets out to try to identify additional 
locations and provide for similar in the 
development plan.  Dublin City Council 
cannot mandate private commercial 
operations to provide community recycling 
facilities.  It should be noted that many do 
provide these facilities. 

 

Only in the case of bins provided for 
additional capacity on a temporary basis such 
as at events. 

 

 

This is in place and managed locally by 
operational teams. 

 

Newly constructed areas of public realm may 
be sealed to protect surfaces. 

 

 

Page 96



Put in place a scheme to assist property 
owners with graffiti. 

 

 

Cooperate with drainage department to 
prevent blocked gullies in leaf fall season. 

 

 

It may be useful to consider the use of 
booms to collect litter in waterways. 

 

Shift burden of waste onto original 
producers. 

 

 

 

Provide water refill stations. 

 

Deposit schemes should be introduced for 
most polluting waste streams. 

 

Provide better information on what goes in 
each bin. 

 

Food service locations should be required to 
present waste in bins not bags.  

 

 

Encourage a single wholesale market in 
waste collection. 

 

Permanent hazardous waste collection 
programme should be put in place. 

 

Implement measures to reduce accidents 
relating to waste collection. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council will advise and assist in 
dealing with issues relating to graffiti.  Dublin 
Town also provide a service to their members 
in the central commercial district. 

 

This is in place.  The Waste Management 
Division carry out cleaning of at risk locations 
in cooperation with the Drainage Division. 

 

Dublin City Council are currently examining 
proposals such as this suggests. 

 

This is already in place through packaging and 
waste regulations and associated producer 
responsibility schemes.  It is beyond the 
scope of the legislative provisions of the plan. 

 

This is provided for the Dublin City Council 
Climate Action Plan. 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

This has been carried out with the 
development of the recycling list and the 
mywaste.ie portal. 

Bins cannot be used in all locations.  Dublin 
City Council is investigating potential 
alternatives to the use of bags to present 
waste. 

This is beyond the scope of bye-laws and the 
legislative provisions of the plan. 

 

Bring Centres and Civic Amenity sites provide 
for the disposal of a range of hazardous 
wastes. 

 

Dublin City Council operates stringent health 
and safety protocols in line with legislative 
requirements and best practice in all 
operations.  The matter of the safety of 
waste collection is not dealt with in the litter 
management plan. 

 

 

Page 97



 

Do not collect waste at peak time usage i.e. 
in city centre at rush hour. 

 

 

 

Enforce proper presentation of waste. 

 

 

 

Identify and divert graffiti taggers. 

 

 

Identify and divert those collecting bonfire 
materials and organise community bonfires. 

 

 

 

 

Spell Checking, consistency of phrasing and 
formatting of plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Waste collections avoid rush hour and are 
carried out largely at evening/night in the city 
centre.  Public bins in the core city centre are 
serviced largely by electric hand driven carts 
that do not travel on carriageways. 

 

It is the aim of Dublin City Council to fully 
enforce all aspects of bye-laws relating to the 
storage, segregation and presentation of 
waste. 

Dublin City Council is engaged in consultation 
with street artists. 

 

 

Dublin City Council provide a large range of 
diversionary events in the lead up to 
Halloween.  Dublin City Council do not 
consider community bonfires to be 
appropriate in the context of various 
concerns including burning of material and 
the environmental effects of this activity. 

This has been fully considered and addressed 
where appropriate in the final plan. 

Recommendation: Amend plan throughout to address any formatting on syntax errors 

Amendment: Various amendments to formatting and syntax to ensure consistency 
throughout the plan 

Page 98



Name /Group: Paschal Nee 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 032 

Submission: 

Duplicate submission of LMP/STAT 028 

 

 

Response: 

As LMP/STAT 028 above. 

 

 

Recommendation: As LMP/STAT 028 above. 

 

Amendment: As LMP/STAT 028 above. 

 

Page 99



Name /Group: Conor Fennessey 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 033 

Submission: 

 

Submission states that the collection of 
domestic and commercial waste system 
needs reform.  The fact that some people 
seem to think they can bring their domestic 
waste and leave it at a litter bin is 
unfathomable.  Surely there is a better way, 
look at cities like Barcelona where waste is 
deposited in big bins and segregated in an 
orderly fashion.   

 

Street sweeping is hit and miss, why is there 
not a regular programme, especially on 
secondary streets, there should be times 
when there is no parking allowed on streets 
regularly so streets get swept properly.  
Often I see sweepers going up and down 
Camden Street, but the footpaths are filthy 
dirty, no effort is made to pick up that litter, 
it then blows onto the street after the 
sweeper has passed by. 

 

Dog fouling is a huge problem.  On my street 
there is St Kevin's Park, many people walk 
their dogs there and in the process their 
dogs foul both the park and the surrounding 
footpaths - I don't see any dog fouling bins in 
the area.  People need to be prosecuted for 
dog fouling and litter in general. 
 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Street sweeping schedules are in place and a 
street grading programme is in place to 
assess and address the quality of service 
provision.  Local issues identified will be 
brought to the attention of local 
management. 

 

 

 

 

The plan states that a clear message will be 
developed to inform that any bin can be used 
for dog fouling and that targeted 
enforcement campaigns will be carried out in 
relation to dog fouling offences. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 100



Name /Group: Lorraine Mitchell 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 034 

Submission: 

 

Drimnagh has a row of businesses on  
A. Errigal road 
B. Galtymore road 
C. Benbulbin road 
D. Keeper road 
The paths at these locations need be 
cleaned/power washed on an ongoing basis. 
 
Bins on Benbulbin/Sperrin road are needed 
as these are roads off Luas stops. 

 
Dog bins around  Drimnagh esp side of canal. 
 

Residents to be made aware of street 
sweeping days so that cars are prevented 
from parking to allow for thorough cleaning 
of streets.  

 

 

More public bins in area esp at busy bus 
stops. 

 

Response: 

 

This will be brought to the attention of local 
operations management.  Neighbourhood 
shopping locations are prioritised for cleaning 
and servicing of litter bins. 

 

 

 

Requests for additional bins will be examined 
in line with the criteria applied to the 
provision of public litter bins. 

 

 

A street cleaning schedule will be made 
available online as is set out in the plan and 
Dublin City Council provide a service in 
cooperation with residents to provide street 
sweeping at prearranged times when vehicles 
have been removed. 

As above comment re provision of additional 
bins. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 101



Name /Group: Anonymous Submission 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 035 

Submission: 

 

DCC need to increase the number of litter 

wardens, have them working shifts as most 

dumping occurs at night, and be PRO-ACTIVE 

in identifying and prosecuting the people 

who are dumping rubbish. Costs can be 

covered by issuing and collecting fines.  The 

current bye laws allow for fines up to €2500. 

 

 

Response: 

 

Dublin City Council is in the process of 
reorganising its enforcement services to 
provide for more effective litter enforcement. 
Enforcement services are not cost neutral 
and fines over €75 can only be imposed and 
collected by the courts following successful 
prosecution 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 102



Name /Group: Niall Loftus 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 036 

Submission: 

 

The draft plan makes references to litter bins 
on streets and in public parks, but there is no 
reference to public paths including those 
along the river Dodder.  
These pubic walkways should be specifically 
covered in the new plan, including the 
provision of litter bins, added to the cleaning 
schedule and checking for illegal dumping.  
 

 

 

Response: 

 

Dublin City Council will consider the issue of 
provision of litter bins in proximity to 
waterways. The plan will be amended 
accordingly. 

Recommendation: Amend plan at pg 22 

Amendment: Insert sentence under heading Blue Spaces 

 

Dublin City Council will consider the issue of provision of litter bins in proximity to 
waterways. 

 

Page 103



Name /Group: Tim O’Sullivan 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 037 

Submission: 

 

I consider the present strategy of charging 
for waste disposal is fundamentally 
mistaken. The fact is that waste charges 
actually incentivise many people to dispose 
of waste illegally. This is regrettable 
behaviour but simply an observable fact. 
While working with the Raheny Tidy Village 
Group I often see bags of domestic rubbish 
deposited on the street beside litter bins or 
on grass areas. 
I think that waste charges should be rolled in 
with the household charge so that there is 
no incentive to dump illegally. 
The present system is based on a polluter 
pays model but this can only work if there is 
higher level of enforcement than can 
actually be provided. 

 
In addition I think consideration should be 
given to large communal bins such as can be 
seen across Spain and Greece. 

 

 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This issue is being examined in conjunction 
with Dublin City BETA examining how to 
deliver better waste services. 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 104



Name /Group: Orna McMonagle 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 038 

Submission: 

 

Upgrade and Upsize the current bins in the 
area parks - the ones at Bushy Park , 
Palmerston Park along the Dodder are not fit 
for purpose  , they are too small for the 
pedestrian traffic through these areas - they 
get filled far too quickly with coffee cups and 
picnic waste  
 
 There should be development of separate 
bins for Dog Faeces disposal for the welfare 
of City Council Staff and sufficient signage of 
fines  / Campaign  - inner city streets are 
quite spoiled  in areas  
 
 

Roving hidden CCTV cameras for problem 
areas - maybe a part time litter officer for 
the parks to manage this. - overflowing glass 
recycling in the public car park at Milltown  
 
Plastic bin bag collections in the city centre 
are a disaster with the growing seagull and 
pigeon population that has got out of control 
and now at dangerous levels.  
 
 

 

 

Is there an audit programme taken on 
condition of bins and city centre streets - 
spot checks 

 

 

Response: 

 

This suggestion will be referred to the parks 
and landscape services division for their 
consideration.  Solar compactor bins have 
been installed in a number of parks providing 
additional capacity. 

 

 

Dog fouling specific bins are in use in the city 
where standard bins are not recommended.  
The city council do promote the fact that any 
bin can be used for dog waste and standard 
litter bins cater for all litter and therefore 
provide a better overall service. 

 

Mobile CCTV is in use for the purpose of 
identifying offences and the plan states that 
this use will continue. 

 

Dublin City Council recognises that this is a 
serious issue and is engaged in market 
consultation and the proposed amendment 
of bye-laws to progress alternatives to plastic 
bags and is working with Dublin City BETA to 
examine issues relating to communal waste 
presentation and better waste services. 

 

The Street Grading programme introduced by 
Dublin City Council is designed to provide 
ongoing audits of street cleaning and includes 
the condition of public litter bins in its 
assessment. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 105



Name /Group: Vinnie Hall 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 039 

Submission: 

That litter receptacles of any type be 
situated and positioned in such a manner as 
to facilitate rather than prevent or obstruct 
the mobility of impaired persons. This should 
include blind, mobility impaired and others. 
This means taking into account other 
adjacent street furniture, licensed and 
unlicensed. 
Further, that those receptacles currently 
poorly positioned be moved. 
 
That all litter receptacles, recycling facilities, 
and any other associated devices in the 
proposed plan, be made fully accessible . 
Further, that those currently not accessible 
be made so. 
 
The need of citizens disabled by Dublin City 
Council's poor current execution of service 
provision overrides the preservation of 
entire sections of the built environment 
where an already sufficient example exists, 
and where a minor adjustment to allow safe 
mobility would enable. 

 

Response: 

Dublin City Council does situate litter 
receptacles with the aim of ensuring that 
mobility is maintained for all citizens.  Any 
poorly located receptacles will be relocated. 

 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council will carry out an 
accessibility audit on its waste and recycling 
infrastructure to identify and address issues. 

 

Recommendation: Amend plan at pg 23 

Amendment: Insert new Header and sentence 

Accessibility  

Dublin City Council will carry out an accessibility audit on its litter, waste and recycling 
infrastructure to identify and address issues. 

 

Page 106



Name /Group: Ailbhe Horgan 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 040 

Submission: 

Time to have municipalities responsible for 
waste management services! Current status 
quo of a free for all where private operators 
go uncoordinated is chaotic, inefficient and 
expensive!! Illegal dumping and rubbish 
everywhere! Time to have DCC manage this 
service, like any other major european city.   

 

Response: 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 107



Name /Group: Sharon Weldon 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 041 

Submission: 

Provide dog poo bins in Phoenix park. 

 

Response: 

The Phoenix park is not within the remit of 
Dublin City Council.  The suggestion will be 
referred to the OPW for consideration. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 108



Name /Group: Jillian Doyle 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 042 

Submission: 

 

I would like to request an increase in 
provision of better bins (i.e. solar belly bins) 
in the Lower Drumcondra/ Binns Bridge area 

 

I would also request an increase in street 
cleaning services 

 

On a more global level I would value a longer 
term plan whereby litter collection was 
made available to all citizens of Dublin for 
free but that we paid a local tax to cover the 
cost of the service. In this way all citizens 
would automatically pay for waste collection 
and people would not be trying to evade 
paying for bins. 

Response: 

 

These are local issues that will be considered 
in the context of operational planning and 
service provision. 

 

 

 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 109



Name /Group: John Denby 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 043 

Submission: 

 

Submission complains about servicing of bins 
in Stoneybatter and the condition of 
croppies acre park. 

 

 

Response: 

 

These are local issues that will be considered 
by local operations managers.  Issues in Parks 
will be referred to the Parks and Landscape 
Services Division for consideration. 

 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 110



Name /Group: Sean Lynch 

 

Ref:  LMP/STAT 044 

Submission: 

 

DCC to partner with Open Litter Map 

 

 

Response: 

 

Dublin City Council will contact submitter to 
explore the potential of the suggestion. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 111



Name /Group: Miriam Fitzgerald 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 045 

Submission: 

 

The issue of dog fouling on the streets of 
Dublin 7 needs to be addressed. Faussagh 
ave, Rathoath rd, Nephin rd are an example 
of how bad the situation is . There needs to 
be a monitoring of the streets and harsher 
penalties for people who do not clean up 
after their dogs. It's at critical and dangerous 
levels. 

 

 

Response: 

 

The issue of dog fouling and how Dublin City 
Council aims to address the issue is clearly set 
out in the plan. 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 112



Name /Group: Harry Havelin 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 046 

Submission: 

I am of the view that all bin collection 
services should be returned to DCC control. 

 

Street/road cleaning/pavement cleaning 
needs to be greatly improved. Parked cars 
prevent proper gutter cleaning. New 
regulations should be brought in to require 
streets/roads to be clear of cars on cleaning 
days. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cycle paths have been laid in various parts of 
the city, but then they are never cleaned - 
resulting in accumulation of dirt, and broken 
glass. 

 

Response: 

This is beyond the legislative provisions of 
the plan. 

 

The feasibility of being able to introduce such 
as scheme when residential parking permit 
schemes can be oversubscribed and no 
alternative parking provision can be allocated 
for those with permits is considered to be 
difficult.  The matter will be referred to the 
parking enforcement section for their views 
on whether such a scheme could be 
successful and how it could be progressed.  
Dublin City Council does provide for an on 
demand service to be provided in conjunction 
with residents as stated in the plan and aims 
to increase the provision of this service. 

 

Dublin City Council is currently examining 
how segregated cycle ways may be cleaned 
more effectively given the difficulty in 
accessing some of these street cleaning 
vehicles. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None. 

Page 113



Name /Group: JP O’Keeffe 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 047 

Submission: 

 

Take it back under council control  

Direct labour put a charge on every 

household so everyone pays and generates 

revenue for the council to put resources into 

it . Stops people dumping leaving bags on 

streets 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 114



Name /Group: Melissa 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 048 

Submission: 

 

I am based in Phibsborough and most days 

there is illegal rubbish dumped at the bus 

stop and beside the bin. I have sent 

complaints. It takes the look off my shop and 

makes the area and local businesses look 

filthy.  We pay enough in rates not to be 

dealing with this. 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

The plan clearly states the aims and 
objectives of Dublin City Council to tackle the 
issue of illegal dumping.  

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 115



Name /Group: Micheál Kelliher 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 049 

Submission: 

 

Privatisation of waste service is clearly not 

working. Illegal dumping is increasing, and 

it's damaging the city. I believe that bringing 

the bin services back in the public ownership 

is the only way forward.  

 

I believe that the waste service should be 

funded directly by progressive taxes, like 

income taxes. I don't agree with the 

property taxes, because they are taxes on 

debt, not on wealth. But the property taxes 

can be used to cover the bin services.  

 

Communal bins would be a good idea for 

some streets, with lack of spaces for 

individual wheelie bins. For communal bins, 

they should be collected more regular, a 

couple of times per week, rather than 

weekly.  

 

We need a lot more public bins on footpaths. 

It doesn't make any sense removing public 

bins from streets when we need more! 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This issue is being progressed as a trial 
project in conjunction with Dublin City BETA  

 

 

 

 

There are commitments in the plan to 
maintain and upgrade the stock of litter bins 
and to provide additional bins where they are 
required 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 116



Name /Group: Aidan Regan 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 050 

Submission: 

I am a resident of Cabra East, Dublin 7.  

 

The issue of dog fouling occurs on all streets 

around Christ the King church. More 

interventions from the City Council to raise 

awareness about this problem would be 

most welcome, in addition to much heavier 

penalties on those who allow their dog to do 

it. 

 

Maybe consider a leaflet drop into houses? 

 

The issue of littering is particularly bad along 

Imaal road, and adjoining roads to the 17 

shops. This is particularly a problem when it 

comes to people dropping their take away 

boxes from the local take aways. The 

problem rests with those who do this, but 

more interventions from the Council to raise 

awareness would be most welcome. 

 

The issue of illegal dumping is really bad in 

the lane adjoining Charleville road and 

Annamoe Drive. It looks worse than the 

worse inner city streets of 1970's Napoli. I 

have requested before that cameras are 

inserted, and that the lanes are reclaimed by 

street artists, or anything to try make them a 

public-streetscape, rather than a dumping 

ground. 

 

Maybe reach out to TUD, and request they 

get involved? 

Response: 

 

 

The plan clearly states the actions that Dublin 
City Council aims to take to address the issue 
of dog fouling.  The City Council have recently 
carried out an awareness campaign on this 
issue. 

 

 

 

 

The plan sets out the City Councils aims and 
objectives to carry out education and 
awareness raising measures and to improve 
its communications.  It also sets out how it 
intends to continue to improve on how it 
works with communities to address litter 
related issues. 

 

 

The plan sets out the City Councils aims and 
objectives to carry enforcement and continue 
to use CCTV for this purpose. The specific 
issues raised will be considered locally. 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

Page 117



Name /Group: Janine Brennan 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 051 

Submission: 

 

The government need to take back 

management of waste to stop illegal 

dumping.  

 

Also a trial of underground waste bins would 

be a fantastic opportunity to curb the litter 

pandemic in the north inner city 

 

 

There needs to be harsher laws to prosecute 

people who dump rubbish illegally. 

 

 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan 

 

The feasibility of underground bins for the 
purposes of recycling has been examined by 
Dublin City Council.  The City Council will 
contact the local authorities in the UK noted 
in the submission to seek their experience to 
date with underground bin projects. 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan.  Dublin City Council 
does advocate for changes to primary 
legislation to address litter and illegal 
dumping. 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 118



Name /Group: Peggie Moore 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 052 

Submission: 

The dumping around Dublin City centre and 

adjacent areas has grown significantly in the 

past 3 months. I have seen people drive up 

in cars and dump bags on side streets that 

are loved by their neighbours. It is shocking 

what the Dublin City street cleaners  have to 

clean on a daily basis.  

At Amien Street one house dumps all the 

rubbish outside on a daily basis and it is 

pulled around the street by seagulls, this is 

encouraging rats and creating further issues.  

People need to be fined, the same people do 

not dump in their own areas!  

Cannot wait to see what your future plans 

are, our beautiful city is being destroyed. 

 

 

Response: 

The plan clearly sets out the aims and 
objectives of Dublin City Council to address 
litter and illegal dumping issues. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 119



Name /Group: Peter McCarthy 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 053 

Submission: 

I propose examining ways to ridicule and 
humiliate offenders. It may not be possible 
to ridicule the individual offender but there 
might be a way of doing something that is as 
effective.  

 

For example: A photoshopped real life  - 
stock photo of an individual who was caught 
with the words "This  is Joan, she was caught 
throwing her rubbish in a laneway - this 
could be you next" 

 

Response: 

The merits of the suggestion in the 
submission can be examined in the context of 
the development of awareness raising 
programmes that are set out in the plan. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 120



Name /Group: Jennifer Walsh 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 054 

Submission: 

I would like the DCC to take back the 
management of waste in eastwall as the 
litter situation is really bad. 

 
I would like the yearly collection by DCC of 
large household item to resume again  which 
would stop littering of those items. 

 

 

 

Response: 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

 

This service has been replaced by a low cost 
on demand service that provides an overall 
more flexible option for citizens.  There are 
no plans to reintroduce the annual service 
which only serviced one third of the city 
annually. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 121



Name /Group: Gearoidin Aine Ni Ciosog 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 055 

Submission: 

Submission makes observations on litter and 
associated issue sin Dartmouth Square and 
along the grand canal 

 

 

Response: 

The issues relating to the day-to-day 
management of Dartmouth Square will be 
referred to the Parks and Landscape Services 
Division for their consideration. 

The issues relating to the grand canal will be 
considered in the context of the stated aims 
and objectives of the plan where it refers to 
blue spaces and waterways. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 122



Name /Group: Geraldine Griffin 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 056 

Submission: 

Hi, our local park Ranelagh Gardens has only 
one bin, it is more often than not 
overflowing and as a result people just leave 
their rubbish beside it and it blows around 
the park and attracts vermin. 
 
Please could you consider adding two more 
large bins to the park? 

 

 

Response: 

The suggestions relating to Ranelagh Gardens 
will be referred to the Parks and Landscape 
Services Division for their consideration. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 123



Name /Group: Sile McVeigh 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 057 

Submission: 

 

Please increase numbers of bins in parks and 

in large parks (eg Herbert park) zones where 

dogs are completely forbidden as well as dog 

friendly zones with longer off-lead hours. It  

would benefit both dog owners and those 

who don’t want to be around dogs. In 

London lots of parks are zoned like this and 

it worked very well for everyone - people 

with toddlers don’t have to worry about 

stray dog poo and dogs aren’t overcrowded  

And causing a nuisance as they sometimes 

do here because they all turn up for the 

same off lead hour. 

 

 

 

Response: 

 

The suggestions made will be referred to the 
Parks and Landscape Services Division for 
their consideration. It is worth noting that 
additional high capacity solar compactor bins 
have recently been installed in a number of 
Dublin City parks. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 124



Name /Group: Shane O’Duibhleacain 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 058 

Submission: 

McDonalds have removed litter bins outside 
eastward store they should replace public 
bins outside the shopping areas are required 
in the east wall north strand areas.  

CCTV to monitor problem litter black spots in 
conjunction with  litter warden patrols.  

 

Ossory road Irish Rail lands access should be 
closed and fly tipping controlled.  

  

 

The recycle centres on Alfie Byrne road and 
east road should be monitored.  

 

Dog fouling rules need to be enforced great 
work so far.  

 

More public anti litter campaign throughout 
the city public litter bins are a necessity 
combined with a take it home.  

 

The use of remotely piloted aerial vehicles to 
monitor areas. It’s our city keep it pretty. 

 

 

Response: 

This local issue will be addressed through the 
Litter Management Office. 

 

 

CCTV is in use and the plan sets out the aims 
to continue using CCTV for enforcement. 

 

This local issue will be referred to Dublin City 
Council area management for consideration. 

 

Both locations have benefitted from CCTV 
monitoring and this will be continued. 

 

The plan sets out how Dublin City Council aim 
to address the issue of dog fouling. 

 

The plan states that Dublin City Council will 
continue to carry out litter awareness 
campaigns. 

 

The use of drones has not been considered in 
the plan due to GDPR concerns. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 125



Name /Group: Sabatina Andreucetti 

 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 059 

Submission: 

 

With increased high rises, traffic & 
businesses in East Wall area it is increasingly 
noticable that litter bins are inadequate. 

 

Plus communal bins. As dumping is also 
increasing. 

 

 

Response: 

 

The plan clearly sets out that Dublin City 
Council aims to maintain and improve the 
stock of litter bins in the city and provide 
additional capacity bins where required. 

 

Dublin City Council is progressing a project to 
trial communal bins in the city through the 
Dublin City BETA process. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 126



Name /Group: Greg Timony 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 060 

Submission: 

 

Litter is atrocious at the weekends (scattered 

all over the complex) because people from 

outside are using the complex as a rubbish 

dump, overflowing the bins. We need more 

collective rubbish Bins in Poplar Row for the 

other complexes.   

Additionally there is a problem with litter in 

and around Fairview Park , especially around 

the Council sports grounds where there 

illegal dumping in the wooded areas making 

them eyesores .  

The Long term solution would be to reverse 

the Bin collection privatisation, but in the 

mean time better policing is needed to try to 

reduce casual and illegal dumping. 

 

Response: 

 

The suggestion is beyond the scope of the 
legislative provision of the plan. 

 

Dublin City Council is in the process of 
reorganising its enforcement services to 
provide a more effective response to 
enforcement issues. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 127



Name /Group: Caitriona Ni Cassaithe 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 061 

Submission: 

DCC need to increase staffing levels to 
ensure the waste management system runs 
efficiently and effectively. 

 
 

Bins in the East Wall area are regularly 
overflowing and should be emptied more 
regularly as the litter is all over the streets. 

  

A city-wide campaign needs to be launched 
to explain the QR code system to people 
(including involving children and young 
adults).  

Compartments for safe disposal of cigarette 
butts shoud be regularly checked. Many in 
the East Wall area are broken/absent.  

 
Regular weeding of streets in the East Wall 
area.  

 
 

Dog fouling is still an issue in parts of the city 
despite media campaigns and extra bins. 
DCC should have regular litter warden 
patrols to give on the spot fines to those 
responsible. Again, this requires additional 
staff.  

 
“All bottle and textile bank locations are 
now included in Area Based cleaning 
schedules and receive scheduled daily 
cleaning and deep cleaning on an annual 
basis” This is not happening at the East Road 
Bottle and Textile Bank. 

 
The plinth for the Luke Kelly statue at 
Commons Street should be raised to 
discourage graffiti. 

 
The iron bridge needs painting and rust 
protection (like the ones along the Quays) 

Response: 

Dublin City Council has consistently ensured 
that staffing levels are maintained to deliver 
a full range of within Waste Management 
Services. 

 

This issue will be referred to the local 
operations manager to address.  Adequate 
resources are in place to ensure regular 
servicing of bins. 

 

Awareness raising of how to use the service is 
underway on social media. 

 

This forms part of normal servicing of litter 
bins and will be referred to the local 
operations manager for attention. 

 

This is not a matter for the litter management 
plan and will be referred to the Roads 
Maintenance Division for their consideration. 

 

Regular dog fouling patrols are undertaken. 
The plan clearly sets out the aims of Dublin 
city Council in relation to the issue of dog 
fouling awareness and enforcement. 

 

 

This will be referred to the local operations 
manager for attention.  

 

 

 

 

This suggestion will be referred to Area 
Management and the Arts Office for their 
consideration. 

This suggestion will be referred to Area 
Management for their consideration. 

Page 128



 
Involve children more in the descision 
making process rather than just at the end 
where they are viewed as agents rather than 
agentic.  

 
Bins need to be brought back under DCC 
control. 

 

 

 

The Litter Prevention Officer will consider 
how this can be achieved through existing 
channels in place such as the Green Schools 
Programme, Picker Pals or Chomairle Na Nog. 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan.   

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

  

Page 129



Name /Group: Joe Mooney 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 062 

Submission: 

I believe that the Draft management plan 
contains many positive suggestions and 
should be broadly welcomed. 
 
However , a major failing in the plan is that it 
contains no substantial enforcement 
measures . I live in East Wall and witness the 
daily illegal dumping and littering engaged in 
by a minority in the community . Merchants 
Road is a prime example , and one which 
DCC have failed to address despite 
numerous complaints over past years and 
face-to-face discussions to examine issue. I 
do not doubt the frustration felt by DCC staff 
at these problems but no amount of 
surveillance , fines issued etc (when this 
does actually happen) is affecting the 
behaviour of offenders.  
 
There needs to be consequences to deter 
this behaviour . I am aware of the reasons 
offered for not pursuing certain approaches 
but I believe that these can be overcome if 
suffecient will exists.  
 
Fines issued for illegal dumping should be 
substantial and collection enforced.  
 
 

 

 

 

Illegal dumping should be re-classified as an 
anti-social offence and should carry 
consequences in terms of local authority 
housing tenancy . Put simply - if people 
engage in illegal dumping they should be at 
risk of eviction. 
 
An anti illegal dumping clause should be 
included in private rental agreements. 
Landlords should be informed if their 
tenants are found guilty of offences and this 

Response: 

 

 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan.  Dublin City Council 
does advocate for changes to primary 
legislation to address litter and illegal 
dumping. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The collection of fines beyond those issued 
for fixed penalty notices is a matter for the 
Courts Service and Dublin City Council have 
no role in the application or collection of 
fines once a successful prosecution has been 
obtained in respect of an offence. 

 

 

Dumping can be addressed as a breach of 
tenancy agreement for local authority 
tenants. 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council is examining issues 
relating to the treatment of domestic waste 
issues in the private rented sector. 

Page 130



should have implications on contracts . 
 
A name & shame policy should be pursued 
where the details of those convicted of 
illegal dumping offences  are made publically 
available. I do not believe that DCC has 
challenged the claim that this breaches data 
protection requirements.  
 
The waste management services should be 
fully restored to the local authority . As it is 
we have the ineffeciency of multiple private 
companies operating in the same areas , 
often with a very poor service yet DCC still 
maintain responsibility for cleaning up and 
removing other waste and their spill etc. In 
terms of finance and effeciency a local 
authority operated service is preferable , 
though it is clear that there may be 
ideological and political  barriers to this 
within DCC.  
 
The shared bins idea is interesting and worth 
exploring further. 
 

 

 

 

The issue of naming and shaming of 
offenders has been clearly stated to be 
beyond the scope of the litter pollution 
legislation by Government in correspondence 
to the local authorities.  

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This is being examined in the context of a 
Dublin City BETA project which is currently 
being progressed. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

  

Page 131



Name /Group: Paul Byrne 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 063 

Submission: 

Enforcement measures should be 

strengthened further to discourage littering. 

There is a serious issue with the public 

littering public/green areas and beaches, 

particularly in good weather. Such offenders 

need to be appropriately dealt with when 

caught littering and anyone considering 

littering needs to be aware of the 

consequences. This can be achieved by 

targeted ad campaigns/warnings etc. 

 

 

 

Response: 

This is beyond scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan.  Dublin City Council 
does advocate for changes to primary 
legislation to address litter and illegal 
dumping. 

 

Dublin City Council does carry out targeted 
awareness campaigns and the plan clearly 
sets out that this will continue. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 132



Name /Group: Veronica Brady 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 064 

Submission: 

Whatever steps are taken they should come 

hand in hand with a long term public 

educational program about our natural 

habit. The extent of illegal dumping is out of 

control. A survey should be conducted to 

understand why people are choosing to 

dump illegally or not take their rubbish 

home. In conjunction with this more bin 

warden/dog fouling wardens should be put 

out into the public space to ensure people 

are caught and fined. 

 

 

Response: 

Dublin City Council is in the process of 
reorganising its enforcement services to 
provide a more effective response to 
enforcement issues. 

 

Consideration will be given to carrying out a 
survey as suggested in the context of 
objective 12 and 13 of the implementation 
plan. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 133



Name /Group: Grace Maguire 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 065 

Submission: 

ban dogs from parks as they are destroying 
them and their owners who do not follow 
rules that are displayed. They are not picking 
up full stop. 

 

Additional bins for Dartmouth Square park. 

 

 

Dumping -people were dumping all over 
Ranelagh. People were spotted driving up 
and dumping stuff out of their cars. Others 
who do not pay for their bins are putting 
their waste into Luas bin or others bin. 

 

Perhaps we need additional bins to cater for 
demand. 

 

 

 

 

Response: 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

 

 

This will be referred to the Parks and 
Landscape Services Division for their 
consideration. 

The plan sets out Dublin City Councils aims 
and objectives to address illegal dumping and 
those who are not using authorised waste 
collector to dispose of their waste. 

 

 

The plan sets out Dublin City Councils 
commitment to maintaining and improving 
the stock of litter bins and providing 
additional high capacity bins where 
appropriate. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 134



Name /Group: Sean Brennan  

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 066 

Submission: 

 

Would like to see a penalty system for Fast 
Food outlets with a levy on the non-
biodegradable containers they use.  
 
Also Fast food outlets should pay more rates 
then non retail outlets to compensate for 
additional resources needed to clean up the 
litter they generate.   
 
Obviously more bins and would like to see 
Big Belly bins along the Dodder walkway and 
in parks to discourage illegal dumpers.    
 
 

 

We'd like to see more classical bins in the 
Village Cores especially in Heritage Villages 
such as Donnybrook promoting Dublin City 
(with Crest) and also shared space on the 
bins to allow community groups advertise 
clean-ups and events.   
 
Enhancement of the Autumn Leaves 
campaign with strategically placed leaf 
composting bins on display to encourage 
public participation.   
 
A blue or green flag system for Villages who 
comply with environmental friendly 
initiatives. 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

The plan has no legislative scope to effect 
changes in commercial rates. 

 

 

 

The issue of bins along the Dodder walkway 
will be considered in the context of the aims 
and objectives of Dublin City Council to work 
with all stakeholders to improve litter issues 
in blue spaces as set out in the plan. 

 

The provision of cast iron style bins in 
heritage areas is in place and can be 
examined locally. 

 

 

The environmental awareness section in 
Dublin City Council will work with community 
groups to achieve this type of objective. 

 

 

The Green Flag award scheme is managed by 
An Taisce in Ireland.  This suggestion will be 
referred to them for consideration and 
advice. 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan. 

Amendment: None. 

Page 135



Name /Group: Cllr Cieran Perry 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 067 

Submission: 

 

The submission makes a number of 
observations under the heading of resources 
partnership and enforcement. 

Waste management is a very labour 
intensive operation and staff resources are 
key. The increased use of technology is to be 
particularly welcomed but if there is no 
investment in extra staff resources this plan 
will fail. While recruitment has increased 
over the last couple of years it is still not at 
the pre economic crash levels.  

 

While the overall proposal of a partnership 
with residents, communities and businesses 
is a good idea, it becomes problematic if the 
intention is to replace lost staff resources 
with increased community/business 
participation. In the past, communities have 
been very willing to engage with Dublin City 
Council to tackle various issues which affect 
them, from anti-social behaviour to illegal 
dumping, but if such partnerships are to 
succeed communities need to be treated as 
equal partners. Support for community clean 
ups and the provision of a leaf collection 
service are a very successful example of a 
real partnership between communities and 
Dublin City Council.   

 

I believe the lack of enforcement in relation 
to illegal dumping is the major cause of what 
can only be described as a continuing waste 
crisis. 

The majority of residents and businesses do 
not engage in illegal dumping or littering. It 
is a very small minority who cause the 
majority of the problems. I believe 
enforcement is the only way to tackle these 
people. Nowhere in the draft is there a 
practical suggestion of how to improve the 
effectiveness of enforcement.  

Response: 

 

 

 

 

In recent years, Dublin City Council has 
consistently ensured that staffing levels are 
maintained at an agreed level to deliver a full 
range of waste management services. This 
will be maintained over the lifetime of this 
plan. 

 

 

Dublin City Council has focused on engaging 
in partnerships with communities and 
voluntary groups to build sustainable 
initiatives and recognises the value of these 
partnerships through its support of 
community awards such as the City 
Neighbourhoods Awards and Pride of Place 
awards.  The plan sets out the aim of Dublin 
City Council to build on this and have greater 
engagement with communities on 
environmental issues 

 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council is in the process of 
reorganising its enforcement services to 
provide a more effective response to 
enforcement issues and to establish a 
citywide enforcement team. 

This was begun under the last litter 
management plan and a commitment was 
given that any outstanding objectives of the 
last plan would be completed. 

 

 

Page 136



The current plan proposed the establishment 
of a citywide enforcement team, which I 
believe would have been a good idea but the 
draft has no mention of such a plan. 

 

The Litter Management Plan 2016 -2018 
proposed the expansion of door-to-door 
enforcement campaigns across the city but 
apart from a small number of pilot projects 
this proposal, which has proved successful in 
trials, has not progressed. In my previous 
submission I noted that “the lack of support 
from waste management officials outside 
the local area for the pilot and it’s 
continuation doesn’t inspire confidence that 
any expansion of the campaign citywide will 
be successful” and unfortunately my 
prediction was correct.   

This door-to-door enforcement is labour 
intensive but very effective if carried out 
properly. The costly aspect of the process is 
the initial household visit and subsequence 
visits but once the householder is signed up 
to a waste collection service there will be no 
requirement to revisit. The labour intensive 
aspect of the process can be seen by some of 
the results of two inner city trials – in the 
North Inner City approximately 600 
addresses were visited reveling a compliance 
rate of 30%. After another two rounds of 
surveys compliance had reached over 50%. 
Continuing resources would have increased 
the compliance rate but unfortunately this 
investment was not forthcoming. In the 
South Inner City investment in overtime and 
security had enabled over 3500 properties to 
be examined. The successful trials in both 
inner cities could provide a template for a 
citywide enforcement team.     

 

In my submission on the current Litter 
Management Plan during the consultation 
phase I identified the remunicipilisation of 
the waste collection service as an important 
requirement. The fact that there is now 
political support on the council for such an 
action is hugely positive. I suspect council 
management remain ideologically opposed 
to re-entering the waste collection service 
but in the current situation DCC find 

 

 

 

 

A large-scale compliance campaign is set out 
as one of the aims and objectives of the plan.  
This campaign is set to commence with a plan 
to investigate waste arrangements in 3000 
households.  The campaign has been 
approved for funding through the existing 
revenue budget and under the Anti-Dumping 
Initiative 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 137



themselves ‘unofficially’ providing a waste 
collection service in tackling the illegal 
dumping. The cost of this unofficial service is 
unknown as DCC don’t record all illegal 
dumping collections. An indication of the 
extend of the problem is that in the Central 
area alone over 100 tons of illegally dumped 
materials were collected last December. 

 

It has been acknowledged by senior 
management in DCC that there is a difficulty 
securing convictions against offenders with 
the judiciary being unsympathetic to the 
Local Authorities. The draft plan proposes a 
‘Communications Plan’ but does not identify 
the courts as an area which could benefit 
from increased communications. I have 
previously called for the Chief Executive to 
write to the Presidents of the relevant courts 
to highlight the difficulties being 
experienced by Dublin City Council in 
prosecuting individuals suspected of illegally 
dumping.     

 

Naming and shaming is a very effect method 
of tackling illegal dumping but Dublin City 
Council have been reluctant to use this tactic 
due to data protection concerns. If such a 
concern is genuine and if Dublin City Council 
are serious about tackling illegal dumping we 
must progress. 

 

Modern, high-tech, high quality surveillance 
technology is available and Dublin City 
Council must increase the use of such 
equipment in the illegal dumping blackspots. 
Currently the level of fines emanating from 
CCTV is disappointing.   

 

Dog litter continues to be is one of the most 
contentious issues I have encountered and, 
despite an increase in signage, there appears 
to be no improvement in the proliferation of 
the problem, as can be seen from the fines 
issued mentioned above. The miniscule 
number of dog foul fines issued by Litter 
Wardens would appear to indicate either a 
lack of interest in tackling this issue or an 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This suggestion can be incorporated into the 
considerations of the communications plan 
outlined in the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The issue of naming and shaming of 
offenders has been clearly stated to be 
beyond the scope of the litter pollution 
legislation by Government in correspondence 
to the local authorities.  

 

 

Dublin City Council has set out in the plan 
that it intends to continue to use CCTV for 
the purposes of enforcement.  The aim is 
always to achieve a reduction in dumping and 
the identification of offenders. 

 

 

The plan clearly sets out a number of aims in 
respect of tackling dog fouling including 
carrying out patrols and enforcement 
campaigns and states in objective 28 the aim 
to strengthen enforcement activity with 
relevant bodies such as An Garda Siochana. 

Page 138



expectation that such fines will not be paid. 
The draft plan again provides no concrete  

A pilot program in the South Inner City using 
a partnership between the Gardai and 
authorised council officers has proven 
successful but the required resources have 
not been invested by Waste Management. 
For a relatively small cost I believe this 
program could be rolled out citywide and 
have a significant effect on this disgusting 
problem. I believe such as a visible campaign 
would inspire public confidence in the 
council’s ability to tackle such a contentious 
problem.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

  

Page 139



Name /Group: Cllr Joe Costello 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 068 

Submission: 

 

1. Dublin City Council needs to be in control 
of the domestic municipal waste collection 
as well as street cleaning and the collection 
of rubbish and dumped waste matter. Only 
when the entire process of waste 
management comes under the control of the 
local authority can a truly comprehensive 
management system be put in place. We 
should speed up the remunicipalisation of 
waste collection. The present system of 
private waste collection is contributing 
enormously to the problem as multiple 
waste collectors are operating in each urban 
area, criss-crossing the city causing 
unnecessary emissions and causing 
confusion for residents who often put out 
bags and bins at different times and days on 
the same street.  

 

There is a culture of carelessness about 
waste across many sectors of Irish society. 
We must endeavour to change that culture. 
Much good work can be carried out in our 
schools at both primary and second level. 
Many schools for example are now Green 
Schools work towards addressing climate 
change by teaching children about the 
environment to respect and protect it. Green 
Schools should also be Clean Schools and the 
importance of dealing with litter, rubbish 
dumping, dog dirt etc. should be treated as 
being equally important as traffic emissions 
and global warming.  
 
 
3. Legislation and bye-laws dealing with 
waste management are largely about 
addressing bad behaviour through fines and 
penalties. These are necessary but do not 
address the causes of the problem. Much of 
the problem comes from rented 
accommodation. I believe that landlords and 
management companies should be made 

Response: 

 

This is beyond the scope of the legislative 
provisions of the plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Green schools programme includes 
modules on resources, waste and litter.  
Schools are also encouraged to take part in 
the City Neighbourhoods Awards 
programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council is examining issues 
relating to the treatment of domestic waste 
issues in the private rented sector. 

In order to address the issues contained in 
the suggestion specific amendments to 
legislation would be required that are beyond 
the legislative scope of the Litter Pollution 

Page 140



jointly responsible with their tenants for 
waste management. To do so would require 
an amendment to the Litter Pollution Acts.  

 

Dublin City Council is of course the biggest 
landlord in the City and has a particular 
responsibility to ensure that all its tenants 
and their families are fully aware of what is 
required to keep their homes and complexes 
clean and tidy and dispose properly of their 
waste. DCC should draw up a special strategy 
for each DCC housing complex and a special 
task force consisting of councillors, residents 
and DCC officials should be established to 
implement it. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The new Government will undoubtedly have 
a special focus on the environment and 
waste management. Thus, there should be 
an injection of funding for resources and 
staffing to implement new policies Funding 
from central Government is crucial to 
tackling the problem comprehensively. 
Dublin City Council should immediately 
campaign for greatly increased funding from 
Government.  
 
The present DCC area-based approach is the 
correct one. It should operate on a grid 
system and every street should be covered 
every day. Streets that are littered on a daily 
basis are not susceptible to cleaning in the 
normal fashion and will require special 
measures. Otherwise they simply exhaust 
resources. A special Task-Force needs to be 
established for the North Inner City.  

 

The Fleet of vehicles used by DCC should be 
electric and emission free. The fleet and staff 
need to be increased by 50%.  

 

 

 

 

 

Act.  These are beyond the legislative scope 
of the provisions of the plan. 

 

Dublin City Council is carrying out a project to 
enhance waste compliance and segregation 
through the better management of waste 
storage space within complexes and 
providing education and facilitation of 
tenants to achieve this.  This is being carried 
out on an area by area basis and includes 
workshops for tenants.  Reports on progress 
are provided regularly to the City Council and 
any suggestions to improve this project can 
be incorporated into the project.  This 
suggestion will be referred to the public 
domain officer managing the project. 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council would welcome any 
additional funding streams that are made 
available to address litter related issues.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

This suggestion will be referred to the area 
manager for consideration regarding the 
establishment of a task force A sub 
committee of the relevant area committee 
has already been established to examine 
issues relating to illegal dumping.  
Environmental issues are also currently being 
addressed in the context of the existing north 
east inner city programme. 

 

Dublin City Council Waste Management 
Services currently operate a fleet of in excess 
of 200 vehicles and almost 500 operational 
and support staff.  These numbers are 
designed to provide a high quality of street 
cleaning services to the city and are 
comparable with other similar sized city 
services. 

Page 141



 

 

 

 

 

Mobile cameras should be widely used with 
public signs warning of prosecution, 
including naming and shaming.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Some areas have strong communities and 
strong engagement by residents. Dublin city 
Council can work closely with these 
communities. Where communities are not 
strong and have few structures, DCC should 
endeavour to engage with these 
communities and provide support for them 
to participate more fully.  

 

DCC should provide a wide range of centres 
for people to recycle their waste. For 
example, there is no public facility for 
composting organic waste matter, including 
food. This should be provided in greatly 
expanded and increased Bring Centres. 
Consideration should also be given to 
providing black bin facilities in 
Grangegorman and other Bring Centres.  

 

Most people do a spring cleaning of their 
households each year. Dumping can happen 
as it did on a large scale during Covid-19 
because people were at home for a long 
period, cleaning sheds and attics and rooms 
of unwanted material. There should be a 
free bulk collection at a certain time each 
year for each area and for all households.  

 

The cleaning of streets can be difficult where 
car parking is allowed. We should follow the 
example of the US and many European 
countries which facilitate cleaning of 
alternative sides of each street each week by 

Dublin City Council Waste Management 
Services are working towards the 
introduction of electric vehicles into this fleet 
where possible and a number of vehicles are 
already electric. 

Mobile CCTV is in use and the plan outlines 
that this will continue to be the case.  Signage 
is installed at any locations that CCTV is in 
operation. 

It has been clearly communicated to local 
authorities from central government that the 
naming and shaming of offenders is not 
provided for under the provisions of the 
Litter Pollution Act. 

 

 

Dublin City Council works closely with 
communities and seeks to engage with all 
communities through the Litter Prevention 
Officer, Public Domain Officers and 
Environmental Liaison Officers.  The plan 
clearly states the objective to continue to 
work with and engage with communities in 
relation to environmental issues. 

 

Food waste recycling is available at Dublin 
City Council civic amenity facilities. 

There is limited capacity to increase waste 
streams accepted at bring centres.  The 
suggestion will be referred to the 
environmental awareness officer for 
consideration. 

 

 

Dublin City Council provide an on demand 
low cost service for disposal of bulky 
household items.  Bulky household waste can 
also be disposed of at civic amenity sites.  The 
waste industry also offer a range of removal 
and disposal services. 

 

 

The feasibility of being able to introduce such 
as scheme when residential parking permit 
schemes can be oversubscribed and no 
alternative parking provision can be allocated 
for those with permits is considered to be 

Page 142



banning cars from parking on both sides for 
a specified period once a week.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

difficult.  The matter will be referred to the 
parking enforcement section for their views 
on whether such a scheme could be 
successful and how it could be progressed.  
Dublin City Council does provide for an on 
demand service to be provided in conjunction 
with residents as stated in the plan and aims 
to increase the provision of this service. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

  

Page 143



Name /Group: Stoneybatter Pride of Place 

 

Ref: LMP/STAT 069 

Submission: 

 

A greater presence of street cleaners in the 
main village and surrounding streets would 
be welcome. More resources need to be 
spent on personnel and equipment. 

 

 

 

At present our residential streets outside 
the main village are swept just once every 
12 weeks. While DCC state that an Area 
Inspector may increase this rate, the 
residential streets are not swept on a 
weekly basis and it is not clear when 
streets will be swept. The Draft Litter 
Management Plan commits to publishing 
the schedule of street cleaning. This is both 
necessary and welcome.  

It is disappointing to see streets that have 
been swept still quite dirty. Underneath 
parked cars and the kerb side of cars often 
remain untouched. The US system of doing 
different sides of streets on alternate days 
should be trialled in Stoneybatter.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Many of the worst litter offenders live in 
landlord multi-unit accommodation. We 
believe that landlords and management 
companies should be held jointly 
responsible with the tenants/occupiers for 
breaches of the byelaws related to waste 
management. This may require changes to 
primary legislation, the Litter Pollution 

Response: 

 

Dublin City Council Waste Management 
Services currently operate a fleet of in excess 
of 200 vehicles and almost 500 operational 
and support staff.  These numbers are 
designed to provide a high quality of street 
cleaning services to the city and are 
comparable with other similar sized city 
services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The feasibility of being able to introduce such 
as scheme when residential parking permit 
schemes can be oversubscribed and no 
alternative parking provision can be allocated 
for those with permits is considered to be 
difficult.  The matter will be referred to the 
parking enforcement section for their views 
on whether such a scheme could be 
successful and how it could be progressed.  
Dublin City Council does provide for an on 
demand service to be provided in conjunction 
with residents as stated in the plan and aims 
to increase the provision of this service. 

 

Dublin City Council is examining issues 
relating to the treatment of domestic waste 
issues in the private rented sector. 

 

In order to address the issues contained in 
the suggestion specific amendments to 
legislation would be required that are beyond 

Page 144



Acts and DCC should put appropriate 
proposals to Government. 

 

The new byelaws for the storage, 
presentation and segregation of household 
and commercial waste should be strictly 
implemented. 

 

The praiseworthy initiative by DCC to 
knock on doors and check if households 
are registered with a legal waste provider 
must be continued until every household is 
investigated. Many households are 
flouting the law. 

 

The use of CCTV can be very effective in 
identifying people who are regularly in 
breach of proper waste disposal. Mobile 
cameras should be used extensively and 
culprits should be prosecuted, named and 
shamed. 

 

 

 

There is a problem of overflowing bins in 
the Village. The Draft Litter Management 
Plan commits to rolling out QR codes on all 
bins to facilitate reporting of bins that are 
full and overflowing. These have not yet 
been installed in Stoneybatter. There is a 
need for more public bins in the Village 
which would be emptied on a regular 
basis. 

 

The use of innovative technological 
solutions should be rolled out across the 
area. Waste Management section has 
collaborated with tech companies through 
Enterprise Ireland Small Business 
Innovation Research projects. Projects 
included the use of drone technology, 
battery cameras that acted as a deterrent 
by sounding a noise when dumping was 
detected and the data analytics. 
Consideration should be given to scaling 
up some of these projects and 

the legislative scope of the Litter Pollution 
Act.  These are beyond the legislative scope 
of the provisions of the plan. 

The plan sets out that a large-scale 
compliance campaign is to be undertaken in 
respect of the Waste bye-laws. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mobile CCTV is in use and the plan outlines 
that this will continue to be the case.  Signage 
is installed at any locations that CCTV is in 
operation. 

It has been clearly communicated to local 
authorities from central government that the 
naming and shaming of offenders is not 
provided for under the provisions of the 
Litter Pollution Act. 

QR code technology is in place on all public 
litter bins.  If any bins do not have a QR code 
attached this will be rectified. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 145



Stoneybatter would be an ideal testing 
ground for further innovations.  

Dublin City Council should advertise and 
roll out apps such as See It Say It and 
support citizen initiatives such as the Open 
Litter Map which maps plastic waste 
globally.  

There is a need for a free Bulky Items 
collection annually to enable households 
get rid of unwanted furniture without 
some causing unsightly dumping. There 
have been many household clear-outs over 
the COVID-19 lockdown and the level of 
dumping of furniture etc. has increased. A 
free collection as we emerge from 
lockdown and thereafter once annually 
would be welcome. 

The existing City Neighbourhood Awards 
should be continued and expanded and 
the Dublin Community Clean-up Day 
should be promoted in all City 
communities.  

Citizen awareness is essential to success. 
There should be local workshops for local 
communities with built in local supports 
and incentives. 

 

 

 

 

There should be greater engagement 
between waste management and the 
Parks Department. The Greening 
Stoneybatter project provides an excellent 
opportunity to develop such co-operation. 
Stoneybatter was recently recognised as 
Ireland’s first Pollinator Friendly 
Community.  

 

As the street spraying is discontinued 
there is a need to have a weeding 
programme in place. While residents are 
positive about the decision not to spray, 

 

 

Dublin City Council supports the see it say it 
app via the EPA.  Dublin City Council will 
Liaise with Open Litter Map to assess how 
this could be of benefit. 

 

Dublin City Council provide an on demand 
low cost service for disposal of bulky 
household items.  Bulky household waste can 
also be disposed of at civic amenity sites.  The 
waste industry also offer a range of removal 
and disposal services. 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council aims to have all 
communities involved in all initiatives and 
the Litter Prevention Officer is dedicated to 
achieving this aim 

 

Dublin City Council works closely with 
communities and seeks to engage with all 
communities through the Litter Prevention 
Officer, Public Domain Officers and 
Environmental Liaison Officers.  The plan 
clearly states the objective to continue to 
work with and engage with communities in 
relation to environmental issues. 

 

The plan clearly states that Dublin City 
Council intends to increase collaboration 
between internal departments.  This includes 
the Parks and Landscape Services Division 
who contributed to the development of the 
plan. 

 

 

 

This will be referred to the Roads 
Maintenance Division for their consideration  

 

 

 

Page 146



there is still a need to remove weeds from 
the street.  

DCC is involved in Green Schools at 
primary and second-level. These should be 
refocussed on Green and Clean Schools 
with a special emphasis on litter and 
rubbish.  

we suggested that it is time to build up a 
stronger relationship between DCC waste 
management and local communities and 
build a working partnership. This is in 
everyone’s interests.  

 

 

 

 

 

The Green Schools programme includes 
modules on resources, waste and litter.  
Schools are also encouraged to take part in 
the City Neighbourhoods Awards 
programme. 

 

Recommendation: No amendment to plan 

Amendment: None 

 

Page 147





 

 

 

Niall Loftus - Donnybrook Tidy Towns 
 
Good Afternoon, 
 
Firstly may I complete DCC on the great work that you do keeping the city clean.  Thank you for 
sending us a copy of the Draft Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 and I have the following 
comments to make:  
 
Upgrading of bins will be ongoing in urban villages and additional bins will be installed in areas of 
need.   
DTT-Comment: Could local groups be consulted on the upgrading / additional of bins. We like the big 
solar bins but there are some areas where they wouldn’t look the best, like in the heart of 
Donnybrook, but would be great in other parts of the village. 
 
A pilot leaf composting programme will be introduced to investigate whether all leaves collected by 
Dublin City Council during the autumnal leaf fall season may be diverted to compost production and 
the compost produced made available to the public through bring centres.  
DTT-Comment: We though that this was already happening and welcome this move. DTT run 
a 'Don't Leaf It To Others’ campaign and we would be delighted to be involved in a trial of 

this composting programme. https://www.donnybrooktidytowns.ie/community-events/35-
dont-leaf-it-to-others.html 
 
Dublin City Council will extend the use of the QR Code system to all Bring Centres and bottle bank 
locations throughout the City to provide for a simple method of customer interaction and to ensure 
that the recycling infrastructure at the centres is maintained in good condition.  
DTT-Comment: This is a great easy to use system and I used this regularly to notify you about full 
bins. 

Dublin City Council will endeavour to feedback to a member of the public who logs an incident or 
complaint with the Council through the CRM system when the incident has been dealt 
with appropriately and is closed off.  
DTT-Comment: This would be a great update the CRM system for the public end use like us. 
 
Introduce and manage an online resource to provide information on street cleaning schedules 
DTT-Comment: Will this resource be available to the public as it is not clear for the note. Could this 
detail that type of cleaning that will be done e.g. bins, road sweeping, footpath cleaning. 
 
Regards, 
Niall Loftus 
Donnybrook Tidy Towns 
 
  

Page 149

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=5LbV3l3lT3dLNzrZIV1BBV6Tb25jp7jbdbvkjY0xtQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edonnybrooktidytowns%2eie%2fcommunity-events%2f35-dont-leaf-it-to-others%2ehtml
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=5LbV3l3lT3dLNzrZIV1BBV6Tb25jp7jbdbvkjY0xtQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edonnybrooktidytowns%2eie%2fcommunity-events%2f35-dont-leaf-it-to-others%2ehtml


 

 

 

Senator David Norris  

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

I am writing to you following receipt of an email from Daragh Jacques Waste Management 

Services in Dublin City Council regarding making a submission to the Litter Management 

Plan for Dublin City.  

I believe that the compulsory use of thin plastic bags, which have to be purchased, is an 

invitation to seagulls to litter the entire place. North Great Georges Street suffers from fly 

tipping all the time and the street is continually dirty. This is very bad when you consider it is 

a prime street for visitors to Dublin’s James Joyce Centre.  

Yours sincerely, 

Senator David Norris 

 

  

Page 150



 

 

 

Richard Bruton -TD 

 

Good Afternoon,    

 

 

I was very interested to receive your Draft Litter Plan.   It is a comprehensive and innovative 

document.  However, it would be enhanced by having more Key Performance Indicators for 

the various initiatives which are ongoing as well as for the New Actions proposed.  The 

Report Section dealing with implementation does not indicate the base level (ie pre-plan) nor 

the 2020 target, so it will be difficult to judge success. 

 

The document would also benefit from precise ambition being nailed down on issues such as 

Single Use Items, Bin the Butt, introducing recycling to existing apartments as well as new 

ones. 

 

Kind regards. 

 

 

 

 

 
Minister Richard Bruton, TD 

Minister for Communications, Climate Action & Environment 

 

 

  

Page 151



 

 

 

Gwen O’Dowd  
 
To whom it concerns, 
 
I would like to make a submission re the constant illegal dumping in the Dublin 7 area particularly 
Western Way. 
This is a daily problem and having talked to your litter wardens the problem is well known in DCC. 
I and another neighbour  report on the Seeit/Sayit app run by the Environmental Agency based in 
Jamestown House,Wexford. 
It is a very successful app once the photograph is taken the coordinates are sent to  Litter 
management and the subject is dealt with relatively swiftly, at least by the end of the working day 
after the complaint has been made. 
This however is not the solution to the problem as we are literally facilitating the culprits and it 
becomes a continuous cycle. 
We have identified some of those who are the main ‘dumpers’ , two houses in the locality which are 
rented to quite a number of people. 
We did tackle the Landlady of one of these and she said she had warned her tenants previously but 
to no avail. 
Because Western Way is a main thoroughfare it gets a lot of transient traffic and some of litter is 
coming from the Coaches parked at the end of Western Way, Taxies have also been spotted off 
loading their rubbish and also at weekends it increases due to a Church going congregation which is 
situated there also. 
We do have problem hotspots in other areas nearby Blessington Street the whole way to Nth 
Frederic Street is a notorious illegal dumping spot and dreadful Dublin City embarrassment as it 
leads down to the main capital street of O’Connell Street. It also leads into the beautiful Blessington 
Street basin which does take away from the great efforts of the Parks Dept. keeping it so well 
maintained. 
As far as Western Way goes and preventative measures CCTV is the one solution that might prevent 
some of this from occurring . 
As residents we are trying our best to keep are area tidy and have regular street cleaning gatherings. 
This has made  great improvements in the inner streets off Western Way Fontenoy St / Primrose st 
etc. but Western Way is really left to the City Council to maintain as there aren’t too many 
residences with access out to the street thus the people who are dumping have a certain anonymity. 
(Some of the bags being dumped actually have Tags from one of the Refuse companies which might 
appear on a Wednesday or Thursday  having paid for the tag they go ahead and dump. If these 
aren’t reported they remain there until the following Tuesday leading to rodent problems which is 
the unpleasant knock on affect occurring. 
Please can we do something to remedy this situation as I’ve said there are plenty of responsible 
citizens in this area to give it the respect it deserves. 
However we do need this larger problem dealt with promptly as it is taking it’s toll and folk are 
getting weary of the constant battle. 
Regards, 
Yours, 
Gwen O’Dowd 
Fontenoy Street 
D.7 
 
  

Page 152



 

 

 

Brian Sheehan 
 

 

Page 153



 

 

 

 

Page 154



 

 

 

 

Page 155



 

 

 

 

Page 156



 

 

 

 

Page 157



 

 

 

 

Page 158



 

 

 

 

Page 159



 

 

 

 

Page 160



 

 

 

 

Page 161



 

 

 

 

Page 162



 

 

 

 

Page 163



 

 

 

 

Page 164



 

 

 

 

Page 165



 

 

 

 

Page 166



 

 

 

 

Page 167



 

 

 

 

Page 168



 

 

 

 

Page 169



 

 

 

 

Page 170



 

 

 

 

Page 171



 

 

 

 

Page 172



 

 

 

 

Page 173



 

 

 

 
  

Page 174



 

 

 

Gerard Farrell - Dublin Town

Page 175



 

 

 Page 176



 

 

 Page 177



 

 

 

 
  

Page 178



 

 

 

Abi Cassidy 
 

 Dear Sir/Madam 

 

My submission is: 

 All cleaning staff should have sufficient time and tools to properly clean their area 

 There needs to be higher standards for what defines 'clean' for cleaning staff to adhere 

to, they are not high enough - identify exactly why certain areas are not spotless even 

after cleaning has taken place.  Standards to be high e.g. Tidy Towns level.  Aim to 

enter areas into tidy towns, especially badly affected ones, to see if this promotes a 

reduction in general littering. 

 Identify exactly why areas such as the Harold's Cross, The Tenters, Merrion Street are 

much cleaner than e.g. Pimlico and the Liberties in general? 

 There should be absolutely no mess left behind once cleaning staff have completed 

their cleaning, even small items e.g.: 

o if hazardous paint is being removed, remove the spilled paint, not just the tins 

o Zero broken glass to remain. 

 All bin truck companies should be reminded not to allow any spillage from trucks 

when loading, and to clean any rubbish that falls from trucks onto streets (e.g. 

Panda/Ozo) 

 Dog fouling - introduce DNA ID for all dogs (amend Control of Dog legislation) and 

have litter and dog wardens proactively enforce. 

 Horse manure: the only horses that should be in the DCC should be those who are 

properly regulated and licensed for carriages (hire/reward).  There is absolutely no 

need for horses to be kept in DCC for leisure purposes.  Reduce the number of horses 

in DCC, reduce the dung and damage done by them to property. 

 Rubbish Collection Days: people are still making the mistake of leaving 

recycling bags out on the wrong day - advertise days better. 

 It has become the norm for some residents to leave bags out for the council cleaning 

staff to pick up.  This is unfair to people who pay for rubbish collection.   

 Recycling bags should be free. 

 Recycled material should be a resource - investigate how councils can make money 

from e.g. glass/paper etc - so it doesn't need to be shipped around the globe.  Keep 

enterprise local. 

 Glass bottle, aluminium can/plastic bottle recycling - all shops / recycling centres 

should offer bottles for cash/vouchers (perhaps even for charity). 

 All schools/community organisations to be given responsibility for a green area/space 

in their vicinity to encourage children to care more for their local environment - target 

JLO and or young offenders also. 

 Offer jobs to homeless persons who are looking to keep busy during the day to assist 

with street cleaning and link in with other services to help people progress in other 

ways.   

 Anyone on the dole who is long-term unemployed should be offered work to assist 

DCC in maintaining their local area. 

 Naming and shaming - most of the dumping and littering is being done by people 

local to an area - there needs to be a huge campaign to shame people into complying 

with the law - decent cctv footage required and photos and videos of people dumping 

to be displayed on the large advertising boards DCC have access to/bus shelters and at 

the offending area.   

Page 179



 

 

 

 Regularly advertise a chart of the worst offending areas and the cleanest areas.  Make 

it a competition.   

 Work with DCC Beta to come up with novel ideas to change culture.   

 Advertise details of anyone who has been prosecuted or fined for littering, in similar 

manner as Revenue do for tax defaulters. 

Kind regards, 

 

Abi Cassidy 

 

  

Page 180



 

 

 

Phibsboro Village Tidy Towns  

 

Litter Managment Plan 

This current Covid 19 crisis is having an interesting impact on the environment. This sudden 

halting of human activity is allowing the earth to ‘breath again’. What can we learn from this 

pandemic? Something that we have known but ignored for decades. We are destroying our 

planet, our home, our life source, through activities of daily living. We have to find a new 

way of living so we can live in harmony with our environment, or we destroy it and 

ourselves. 

We have to reduce waste at source. Much of the so-called recycling material is not in 

reality recycled – the refusal of China to continue to be the dumping ground for the waste 

created by the Western world, has proven that, we do not have the capacity here to do the job 

properly. Some items claim to be compostable. How compostable are ‘compostable items’?  

In practice this means: 

         Waste reduction should be a major pillar of the plan. 

         Ban soft plastic packaging at source unless scienticially proven to being essential, 

as opposed to convenient. 

         Ban disposable cups and single use plastic.  

         If banning is not possible, incentivize businesses to reduce use of such items 

through reduction of business rates if they can demonstrate good practice in this 

regard.  

         Deposit scheme, for plastic, glass or tin. Effective in other parts of the world. 

Why not here?  

Waste collection 

Private collection of waste is not working. The City has to take back control. We have 

witnessed many people in our community, of all age groups,  who put their household waste 

into public bins. This will continue until the collection of the cost of waste collection is 

included in household rates. This would be the most effective way of preventing illegal 

dumping, and the overflow of public bins.  

         Communal green/brown bin options for apartments. Shared green and brown bins 

in the Council’s own complexes is to be welcomed, and the pilot scheme extended. 

All apartment blocks property managements must be forced to comply with existing 

by-laws to provide adequate waste separation facilities.  

         We welcome the provision of recycling facilities in all new residential and 

commercial developments by Waste Management Department. Presumably this will 

include green and brown bins.  

         Services for smaller dwellings. For smaller dwellings which do not have the 

space for bins and continue to use waste disposal bags, we suggest that all such bags 

be strong enough to prevent birds and animals getting into them, or alternatively 

household be supplied with smaller bins.  

  

Graffiti removal.  

Page 181



 

 

 

Dublin City Council planning guidelines for areas of architectural conservations are so 

restrictive that good high quality street art is not receiving permission. Thus we in 

Phibsborough are condemned to graffiti, on walls that would be much enhanced by good 

quality art. Community initiatives should be encouraged, not hindered.  

  

Dublin City Council should continue to educate the public with campaigns against littering 

but also should put more emphasis on litter reduction. We would also suggest a wider use of 

CCTV cameras in the fight against littering and dumping. We hope that the planned increase 

in staffing levels will come into fruition, of both handcarts operators and Litter Wardens. The 

high quality solar bins are welcome in the community. More please.  

 

We applaud Dublin City Council for giving local communities the opportunity for consultation on this 
important issue, 

 

Regards, 

 

Susan Dawson 

 

  

Page 182



 

 

 

Eoin McMahon  
 
My submission centres on three issues: a) the requirement in specified areas to use refuse sacks 
rather than wheelie bins; b) the ending of the hand cart cleansing regimen outside the core retail 
city centre; c) the unresourced litter warden department.                                                                                                                                                           
A) I have communicated at length with management in both Civic Offices directly and in 
Marrowbone Lane about the ongoing chronic dysfunctionality about the free for all with regard to 
the daily litter carnage that is largely, but not exclusively caused in the April~October gull season. It 
is patently nonsenical to allow refuse sacks to be the method of collection in such an important 
tourist~centric area and where there are annual infestations of gulls. The only logical solution is for 
DCC to take back sole control of all waste collection. Failing that I propose I a Tuesday~Thursday 
collection rota for all areas outside the core retail areas. This will thereby result in your largely van 
bound waste operatives emptying footpath bins operating by a new protocol from Friday to Monday 
of stopping their van and removing ALL rubbish they see abandoned on and outside properties, 
whether refuse sacks left out too late or refuse sacks ripped apart by gulls. This will also result in less 
visual blight of wheelie bins and refuse sacks despoiling thoroughfares seven days a week.                                                                                                 
B) Operatives with hand carts must be reintroduced on either Thursday or Friday afternoons during 
the April~October gull season in Designated Bag areas. I have encountered both DCC and private 
waste operatives drive past refuse sacks abandoned for days. It is obvious executives in awaste 
management are largely indifferent to the myriad problems caused by a multiplicity of waste 
operators in an area where vermin are despoiling the area and where citizens are invariably not 
guided, by either the managers or local authority, on either a sporadic or regular basis about the 
regulations concerning the methodology of waste collection. It is noteworthy that there is not a 
single mention in the proposed draft litter plan of the daily carnage being caused by the triple 
whammy of gulls ripping flimsy refuse sacks left on the streets by a citizenry without guidance and 
where the local authority are content to not clear up the mess their policies are causing.                                                                                                                                   
C) The manner in which the litter wardens are allowed operate with a multitude of Chinese walls in 
place which prevents swift proactive enforcement of miscreants is further evidence of the endemic 
lack of outrage in waste management.                                                                                                                                                         
Finally, please request the relevant department in your traffic section to change the parking meter 
ticketing to a less robust paper. A goodly proportion of random litter is discarded parking tickets.                                                                                                                                                                     
End.                                                                                                                                                                         
Eoin McMahon7 
 
In light of the continuing exponential growth in the urban gull infestation in the core Georgian areas 
- which now are having to use refuse sacks rather than wheelie bins in such Designated Bag areas - a 
measure must be introduced with regard to the collection of commercial office waste, which will 
mirror that of private waste operators' 
collection of residential waste across the entire city council area, whereby all commercial waste on 
each street and road must be collected on the same day. Any litter carnage from gulls, in this 
changed scenario, will mean such carnage having to be cleared on only one day rather than the 
ongoing daily gull carnage that is occurring on individual streets during the April-October gull nesting 
season. I have alerted DCC management to the ongoing and possibly worsening situation - with 
increasing numbers of gulls appearing each year -to zero effect. Finally, DCC must institute a 
mandatory requirement that industrial grade thick refuse sacks can only be used.  
Ends.  
Eoin McMahon 
 
  

Page 183



 

 

 

Dublin Chamber of Commerce

 

Page 184



 

 

 

 

Page 185



 

 

 

 

Page 186



 

 

 

 
  

Page 187



 

 

 

Mark Price 

 

Dear Sir, 

 

I live on Upper Mount Street, Dublin 2 and I wish to draw attention to the ongoing problem 

of plastic refuse sacks being torn open by birds (see image attached, but note that the cafe in 

question changed its practice on request by using double bags, which has partly addressed the 

problem). 

 

This is unsanitary and seriously damaging to the historical and architectural amenity of this 

part of the city (it's not uncommon to see tourists picking their way through strewn litter).  

 

The Council, which does an excellent job collecting waste from the permanent litter bins, 

must take back control of waste collection in this area, which is an important part of the 

City's (and the country's) heritage. Wheelie bins, heavy duty refuse sacks or some other 

system must be re-introduced. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Mark Price, Architect, MRIAI, 

23 Mount Street Upper, 

Dublin 2. 

(086) 3454332. 

 

 
  

Page 188



 

 

 

Stephanie Dickenson 

 

RESPONSE TO DRAFT DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL LITTER PLAN 2020-22 

6th April 2020 

  

INTRODUCTION 

Thank you for the opportunity to give feedback on your draft plan.  

Some notes before I begin: 

I realise that the topic of waste is very closely related to the topic of litter, and 
I’m conscious I have touched on both topics here. 

Some of my response is based very closely on my perception of the needs of my 
immediate community (including cottage dwellers in Stoneybatter), some of it is 
more generic.  

I am very grateful to the Green Party and to Neasa Hourigan for their submission, 
which can be found here https://neasahourigan.com/post/litter22/ and which I’ve 
also included at the end of this document, as well as referencing it at various 
points below. 

I am both on the Kirwan Street & Cottages Residents Committee, and a founding 
member of the “Leafybatter” Stoneybatter Sustainability Coalition – but I am 
writing here in a personal capacity.  

With thanks for your attention - Stephanie 

__ 

BRING CENTRES AND CIVIC AMENITY RECYCLING FACILITIES  

I would be delighted if we could increase the supply  of bring centres, bottle and 
textile bank facilities. I note my understanding that the Grangegorman bring 
centre may have to move – I hope it can stay near its current location, serving the 
community of Stoneybatter, where many people live with minimal or non-existent 
yards to store waste of any kind. Living in a small space, and without a car (I 
believe only about 50% of properties in the area have  car) can make the 
responsible disposal of waste both more urgent and more difficult. Following on 
from this, I note, “Hazardous waste items SHOULD NOT be presented with normal 
household waste i.e. in the mixed black bin waste for collection. Instead hazardous 
waste should be separated at source (in the home) and brought to either Ringsend 
Recycling Centre or North Strand Recycling Centre for safe disposal.” 

Page 189

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC9V9l3JOA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fneasahourigan%2ecom%2fpost%2flitter22%2f


 

 

 

http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-
waste-and-recycling-recycling-services/household 

I would be very keen to see out local bring centre developed into a centre 
receiving hazardous waste material, and indeed to see more sites able to receive 
hazardous waste across the city.  Again, it’s very difficult to deal with and dispose 
of such materials, living in a small property and without a car.  

As an alternative, perhaps DCC could look at the possibility of occasional 
collections of such waste from properties throughout the city.  

I’m interested to follow DCC Beta’s DumpingWasteBETA project – and pleased to 
note their awareness that, “Many waste services feel like they were designed for a 
different type of living (car-dependant)” 
etc.  http://dccbeta.ie/project/article/DumpingWasteBETA 

I’m also pleased to see them looking at the issue of how to make bottle banks 
andwaste depots more appealing and attractive places to visit. (I’m thinking two 
possibilities for this could be employing planters, flowers, shrubs and trees, or 
with decoration of storage units as seen in the painted electrical box scheme, 
etc.)  

COMPOSTING 

I’m very pleased to see talk of a trial leaf composting scheme to investigate 
whether all leaves collected by Dublin City Council may be diverted to compost 
production and the compost produced made available to the public through bring 
centres. Related, I am somewhat confused as to what happens to the blue bags 
collected though our community Tidy Ups.  Could we separate out green/brown 
waste from other rubbish collected at these, to be treated separately? I believe 
such a scheme might be being trialled in Drumcondra?  

EDUCATION & COMMUNICATION 

I very much enjoyed Aoife Munn’s Sustainable Living and Gardening Course which I 
did via DCC in 2019. I would be very keen to see another course, more focused 
purely on Sustainable Living, Circular Economies, Disposal of Waste, and 
Composting, if something along those lines might be a possibility? I also was 
delighted to be able to attend one of DCC’s Climate Action workshops in the 
Gresham Hotel, thank you for that opportunity. Perhaps that kind of format, rather 
than the weekly format of Aoife’s classes, might be another option for the kind of 
training  have in mind.  

With reference to the Green Party’s view, “For areas with high concentration 
smaller houses/cottages where there is little yard space the council should 
pilot/introduce the provision of communal on street green and brown bins.” – I 
am 100% for this idea, but also acknowledge that there could be some local 
resistance or concern from some individual residents, and that support, 
communication and education would be extremely helpful to aid such an initiative.  

Page 190

http://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jH1RqFuZPw&s=342&u=http%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublincity%2eie%2fmain-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling-recycling-services%2fhousehold
http://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jH1RqFuZPw&s=342&u=http%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublincity%2eie%2fmain-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling-recycling-services%2fhousehold
http://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jH9Wo1rLaA&s=342&u=http%3a%2f%2fdccbeta%2eie%2fproject%2farticle%2fDumpingWasteBETA


 

 

 

CIRCULAR ECONOMIES & REDUCING WASTE 

I am very much with the Green Party’s view that I would like to see a massive 
reduction in the amount of waste produced at source.  Expanding on their notes on 
this which I have included below, I wonder whether DCC might also be in the 
position to further support initiatives such as a greater number of urban 
allotments, “sharing communities” (Kirwan St & Cottages has set up a fledgling 
one), libraries of tools (such as the one in Belfast), public drinking water fountains 
and repair cafes.  

LITTER 

With reference to places where people tend to dump litter: 

1)     Narrow pavements, such as Arbour Hill – Stoneybatter’s narrow pavements are 
frequently problematic anyway, particularly for example for wheelchair users and 
people with buggies, and this is exacerbated on “bin day” and by dumping. I am 
pleased that there seems to be a growing interest in widening pavements and 
making the area more pedestrian-friendly – something to continue exploring with 
the relevant bodies.  

2)     I’m aware that a lot of litter can end up in planters. My feeling is that more 
densely-planted planters attract less litter – perhaps this could be explored with 
Parks and other relevant bodies. 

3)     Where I live, by the Grangegorman and Stanhope walls, a lot of litter gets 
stuffed into holes in walls – which can also be home to wildlife, nesting birds etc. 
I’m not sure what could most appropriately be done here – I’m mindful that people 
are very fond of the walls, which I believe are listed. Perhaps a cultural change is 
what’s needed here, though the idea of planting flowers in some of the holes has 
also been suggested.  

4)     Our drains are frequently blocked with litter. I’ve admired the “The Sea Starts 
Here” campaign, which I believe has been rolled out in Tramore amongst other 
places.  See photo below.  Perhaps we could do something similar in Stoneybatter 
and indeed across Dublin?  

  

I know there are some small “plogging” groups across Dublin. Perhaps DCC could 
do more to support such initiatives, perhaps as a sibling initiative to the more 
traditional community “Tidy Ups” – perhaps working with the sports department?  I 
know DCC runs outdoor fitness classes in Phoenix Park. I’m thinking also of the 
“Good Gym” scheme in the UK https://www.goodgym.org/ 

Anecdotally, I have seen a lot of mobility aids dumped in Stoneybatter – crutches 
and such like. I wonder if this could be worked on, with the HSE? My understanding 
is that in the UK, such items can be picked up by the NHS once no longer needed 
by the user/recipient – so saving the NHS a lot of money (and so the burden of 

Page 191

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCcFpQ2faw&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2egoodgym%2eorg%2f


 

 

 

disposal is not on the individual.) 
https://www.thelivewelldirectory.com/Services/1429 

CITY NEIGHBOURHOODS COMPETITION 

Just a quick note to say how very pleased I am that there is now a significant 
emphasis on Climate and Biodiversity Action within the Awards.  

DOG FOULING 

Again, I echo the concerns raised by the Green Party, and I am sure, shared by all 
of us.  This is certainly a topic that causes a lot of upset locally. In addition to the 
suggestions made below by the Green Party, I would like to add this playful 
suggestion – first mentioned to me by Kaethe Burt O’Dea of Bi Urban – The Park 
Spark project, which uses the methane produced from dog waste to power a lamp. 
https://parksparkproject.com/home.html 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aBaGXXG_A_4 

MISC. 

Two notes, as I write in April 2020 in a time of pandemic: 

I am very conscious of the role our Kirwan St & Cottages “Tidy Ups” have served in 
helping to build our community, which has in turn proved incredibly helpful as we 
spring into action to try to address this crisis on a micro local level, making sure 
that vulnerable individuals are not forgotten and indeed feel well looked after.  

And I am hyper conscious of the essential work done by all those working to 
process this city’s waste.  I want to extend my thanks, and express my suspicion 
that many of those people deserve a pay rise.  

 

With thanks for your attention and for everything,  

  

Stephanie Dickenson, 6th April 2020 

  

  

 

From The Green Party / Our submission 

Page 192

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jHgCoQieOA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ethelivewelldirectory%2ecom%2fServices%2f1429
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC0G9VqWaA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fparksparkproject%2ecom%2fhome%2ehtml
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jH1S8VyXMA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2eyoutube%2ecom%2fwatch%3fv%3daBaGXXG%5fA%5f4


 

 

 

Much positive work has been done by the staff of DCC, community groups, and 
business groups to make Dublin a cleaner city. Nonetheless we have a long road to 

travel particularly in certain city centre litter black spots (1). 

The process of seeking feedback from the residents of the city on the litter 
management plan is also a step we very much welcome. 

At a high level our main request is that the primary focus be on reducing the 
production of waste rather than dealing (e.g. collection, recycling, enforcement) 

with the litter that waste inevitably produces. While there are elements of waste 
reduction in the plan our view is that there needs a dedicated focus and, in terms 

of the current plan, waste reduction should be a fourth pillar. 

Detailed feedback can be found below: 

Reduce the amount of waste produced at source 

Be it waste that goes into black bins, waste that goes into green/brown bins or 
waste that ends up as litter on our streets the focus should be on producing less 

waste. 

We suggest actions that will encourage the sources of waste (supermarkets, shops, 
take-aways, cafés, etc.) to reduce* the amount of waste they produce. 

Incentives could include: 

 varying council rates for business that demonstrably move away from the 
production of significant amounts of waste (e.g. reducing single use items, 

introducing “bring your own” initiatives, etc.) 
 Name and shame business whose packaging ends up as litter collected by 

Dublin City Council similar to the #IsThisYours campaign (2) 

*The focus needs to be on waste reduction as opposed to a move to so called 
“recyclable” or “compostable” items many of which are not recyclable or 

compostable in practice in Dublin’s current recycling system. 

Communal green/brown bin options for apartments 

Enforce the existing by-laws (3) around waste collection for apartments. Ensure 
that all apartments provide green and brown bins. We welcome that the council is 

piloting shared green and brown bins in some of its own complexes (4). 

We also welcome that the Waste Management Department will seek to include the 
provision of recycling facilities in all new residential and commercial 

developments as an objective of the Dublin City Development Plan. We hope that 
“recycling facilities” in this context means green and brown bins. 

Services for smaller dwellings 

Page 193

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC1Xo16ZbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fibal%2eie%2fkilkenny-is-king-as-north-inner-city-again-falters%2f
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jHpS8w6ZPA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ehuffingtonpost%2eco%2euk%2fentry%2fpeople-are-tagging-brands-in-photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours%5fuk%5f5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439
http://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCxV9lzMOQ&s=342&u=http%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublincity%2eie%2fmain-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling%2fwaste-bye-laws
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCtSogmdbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublininquirer%2ecom%2f2019%2f12%2f11%2ffinally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes


 

 

 

For areas with high concentration smaller houses/cottages where there is little 
yard space the council should pilot/introduce the provision of communal on street 

green and brown bins. 

The council should also instruct waste companies to provide smaller bins or 
caddies so that there is easy-to-use alternative to larger wheelie bins. 

Publicly provided waste collection services 

41% of the notifications and complaints received by Dublin City Councils Waste 
Management Services in 2018 were related to illegal dumping. There is a 
significant minority of households in Dublin that are not signed up to an 

authorised waste collection service. We note that there is a plan for enforcement 
of the requirement to use an authorised waste collector. Our view is that it is 
debatable whether this will eliminate illegal dumping. Longer term we would 
request that a publicly provided waste collection service be reintroduced as a 

means to curbing illegal dumping. 

Widening recycling reach 

Sign up to the Terracycle program (5) so that items which cannot currently be 
recycled in the normal domestic waste (crisp packets, sweet packets, etc.) can be 

recycled. Have some DCC buildings be a collection/drop off-centre as well as 
libraries/schools and some local businesses. 

Deposit schemes 

Pilot a deposit scheme whereby anything sold in a sealed beverage container - 
milk, alcohol, soft drinks, or water – would go through a deposit scheme. These 

containers can be plastic, glass, tin or of another material. Deposit refund 
schemes are popular globally and their widespread use in Ireland is long overdue. 

Deposit return systems are a proven tool to collect high quantities of containers 
for reuse and high-quality recycling, they are vital to achieving a circular 

economy. Over 130 million people in the EU alone live in countries with deposit-
systems (6). DCC should pilot their own deposit return scheme, taking examples 

from the existing reverse vending machine in Carrickmacross set up by Tidy Towns 
and Sabra Plastics and the Repak machines in some Universities. They should 

expand on these to include anything sold in a sealed beverage container - milk, 
alcohol, soft drinks, or water. These containers can be plastic, glass, tin or of 

another material. 

Bagged waste 

Where areas are required present bagged waste the council should require the 
bags provided by the operator are sturdy enough so that birds are less able to tear 

the bags open. 

Dog fouling 

Page 194

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCYAoAzJMQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2eterracycle%2ecom%2fen-GB%2fbrigades%2fcrisppacket
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC0HqQqWMA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ecmconsultinginc%2ecom%2fwp-content%2fuploads%2f2017%2f05%2fBOOK-Deposit-Global-24May2017-for-Website%2epdf


 

 

 

While dog foul is unpleasant for everybody it is much more of an issue for 
wheelchair users and the visually impaired. The current approach of education 
and limited enforcement does not seem to be working. We ask that the council 

consider some of the more radical solutions employed by other cities (7),(8) and 
convene a mini consultation on what more can be done. 

Graffiti removal 

While graffiti will probably always be a problem the council should consider if 
providing sanctioned space for murals to local artists, schools or community 

groups would deter graffiti has been seen in other cities (9). At a minimum the 
murals would brighten neglected spaces (Dublin Canvas (10) being a great example 

of such and community art initiative). 

End consumer education 

Continue to run end consumer education campaigns (e.g. “don’t be Dick” 
campaign) so that people remain focused on litter reduction. 

QR code 

We welcome the QR code initiatives for bins monitoring. For some however QR 
codes will be too complicated or a barrier to reporting an issue. We would also 

ask that the council proactively monitor social media channels for reports for 
issues with bins and/or general litter issues. 

CCTV 

We would encourage the council to make greater use of CCTV warning signs and 
blurred images from CCTV to discourage littering. 

Front line staff 

We welcome the planned increase in the number of handcarts operation 
recognising that the number of front-line staff had fallen in previous year. 

We would ask the council to allocate the amount of Litter Wardens to areas 
proportionate to the amount of illegal waste and dumping. 

Publication of actions 

Implement and publish a litter log, managed by the responsible DCC litter officer 
that lists the complaint received, Geocode of the litter location, date received, 

action / response taken, date of action. 

Publish a schedule on the Dublin City Council website that showed whether 
streets were cleaned daily, weekly or monthly. 

Parking & street sweeping 

Page 195

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC8NpA2XOQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2foutsider%2eie%2flifestyle%2fdog-poo-problem%2f
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC0G9FmePw&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ebbc%2ecom%2fnews%2fmagazine-22853270
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC8DqV2fbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2eanti-graffiti%2eorg%2fcities-in-action%2fmural-programs
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCwN8w2ePA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublincanvas%2ecom%2f


 

 

 

Reform our parking regulations working with the Department of Transport so that 
we can restrict parking on one side of the street on one day a month to allow our 

street cleaning trucks to make a clean sweep of roadsides. 

Fleet 

Where possible we would encourage a move to or trialling of electric vehicles to 
improve the city’s air quality. 

References 

 (1) “Kilkenny is king as Dublin’s North Inner City again falters”, 6 January 
2020, https://ibal.ie/kilkenny-is-king-as-north-inner-city-again-falters/ 

 (2) “Litter Pickers Are Tweeting Total Rubbish And Asking Brands: 
#isthisyours?”, 18 February 2019, 

https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/people-are-tagging-brands-in-
photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-

isthisyours_uk_5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439 
 (3) “Waste Bye-Laws”, http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-

water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling/waste-bye-laws 
 (4) “Finally, Council Says It’s Rolling out Green and Brown Bins in Its 

Housing Complexes”, 11 December 2019, 
https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-

rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes 
 (5) https://www.terracycle.com/en-GB/brigades/crisppacket 

 (6) https://www.cmconsultinginc.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BOOK-
Deposit-Global-24May2017-for-Website.pdf 

 (7) Shit One: How to Solve the Dog Poo Problem on Our Streets, Jun 21, 
2018, https://outsider.ie/lifestyle/dog-poo-problem/ 

 (8) “Eight radical solutions to the problem of dog mess”, 14 June 2013, 
https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-22853270 

https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-
rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes 

 (9) https://www.anti-graffiti.org/cities-in-action/mural-programs 
 (10) https://www.dublincanvas.com/ 

  

Page 196

https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC1Xo16ZbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fibal%2eie%2fkilkenny-is-king-as-north-inner-city-again-falters%2f
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jHpS8w6ZPA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ehuffingtonpost%2eco%2euk%2fentry%2fpeople-are-tagging-brands-in-photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours%5fuk%5f5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jHpS8w6ZPA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ehuffingtonpost%2eco%2euk%2fentry%2fpeople-are-tagging-brands-in-photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours%5fuk%5f5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jHpS8w6ZPA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ehuffingtonpost%2eco%2euk%2fentry%2fpeople-are-tagging-brands-in-photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours%5fuk%5f5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439
http://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCxV9lzMOQ&s=342&u=http%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublincity%2eie%2fmain-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling%2fwaste-bye-laws
http://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCxV9lzMOQ&s=342&u=http%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublincity%2eie%2fmain-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling%2fwaste-bye-laws
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCtSogmdbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublininquirer%2ecom%2f2019%2f12%2f11%2ffinally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCtSogmdbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublininquirer%2ecom%2f2019%2f12%2f11%2ffinally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCYAoAzJMQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2eterracycle%2ecom%2fen-GB%2fbrigades%2fcrisppacket
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC0HqQqWMA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ecmconsultinginc%2ecom%2fwp-content%2fuploads%2f2017%2f05%2fBOOK-Deposit-Global-24May2017-for-Website%2epdf
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC0HqQqWMA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ecmconsultinginc%2ecom%2fwp-content%2fuploads%2f2017%2f05%2fBOOK-Deposit-Global-24May2017-for-Website%2epdf
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC8NpA2XOQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2foutsider%2eie%2flifestyle%2fdog-poo-problem%2f
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC0G9FmePw&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2ebbc%2ecom%2fnews%2fmagazine-22853270
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCtSogmdbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublininquirer%2ecom%2f2019%2f12%2f11%2ffinally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCtSogmdbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublininquirer%2ecom%2f2019%2f12%2f11%2ffinally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jC8DqV2fbQ&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2eanti-graffiti%2eorg%2fcities-in-action%2fmural-programs
https://scanmail.trustwave.com/?c=17268&d=08yL3nnT1waOXZTc1_1CfUwt2OfpDCZ4jCwN8w2ePA&s=342&u=https%3a%2f%2fwww%2edublincanvas%2ecom%2f


 

 

 

Cllr Mary Fitzpatrick 

 

 
  

Page 197



 

 

 

South Georgian Core Residents Association 
 
To Whom It May Concern: 

 

Many thanks for giving the public an opportunity to comment on the proposed litter management 

plan. 

It is the view of the South Georgian Core Residents Association that: 

1.       The current bags provided by the waste companies are not fit for purpose and different 

specifications need to be developed. The primary issue here is that seagulls break the bags. 

This is the No. 1 problem in our area and it needs to be addressed. 

2.       There is a total lack of enforcement of Litter Bye laws in the South Georgian Core. This is 

evidenced by: 

a.       Wheelie bins being on the footpaths and lanes on a permanent basis, despite 

reporting same to DCC on a regular basis. 

b.      Failure of some companies to collect waste on their scheduled basis, particularly 

City Bins and no apparent action is taken against them. 

c.       The placing of waste outside businesses before 5 p.m. in the evening. 

d.      The usage of the footpath as a storage area by many businesses. 

The South Georgian Core Residents Association request the active enforcement of litter bye 

laws by Dublin City Council. 

3.       A litter warden should be on duty after the pubs close as clearly a lot of litter is caused 

after dark. 

4.       Owners of commercial premises should be required to keep their premises graffiti-free 

and if they fail to do this the council should have the right to remove the graffiti with or 

without their consent and change them for same. 

5.       There should be recycling facilities on the streets for Glass and Plastic. 

6.       A licence should only be granted to one waste operator for each street/area of the city.  

7.       Where there are railings it should be a requirement to place the bags on the railings as 

the seagulls have a greater problem breaking these bags. 

8.       A citywide response to the “sea-gull” issue is required. 

9.       The issue of cigarette butts on the streets needs to be addressed. 

 

Kind regards, 

 

Philip O'Callaghan 

Chair. 

South Georgian Core Residents Association  

Page 198



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 015 
 
Maura Hiney 

 
Dear Bernie, 
 
Thank-you for this opportunity to input to the litter management plan.  
 
I have looked through the draft litter management plan, through the lens of the needs of our 
own area. As you know, we have considerable community engagement in creating a clean 
and attractive environment for residents and a strong track record in the Tidy Communities 
competition.  
 
Things that would assist us in our ongoing efforts, namely: 

- A fuller schedule of street and pavement cleaning, to complement the efforts of local 
residents. I am thinking in particular of Infirmary Road which often looks shabby and 
often has illegal dumping in evidence. Therefore, we very much welcome the 
proposal to develop a cleaning strategy, but it needs to be targeted at problem areas 
and I wonder how DCC plans to identify such areas.  

- We also very much welcome the proposed street cleaning request facility, and the 
current DCC support for residential clean-ups through provision of equipment and 
refuse bags, but would be grateful if this were available on an on-going basis rather 
than only at certain times of year, as residents locally often feel that there is 
insufficient DCC support for their efforts.  

- We welcome the upgrade to existing bins but feel that there is a need for more litter 
bins. For example, on infirmary road there are two bins - one at the bottom and one 
at the top, a distance of almost a km - which is simply not sufficient. There was a third 
near the entrance to Aberdeen Street, but this was removed, and along with it the 
incentive for residents to collect some rubbish as they walked up the road, since there 
is now nowhere to put it. This is about incentivising good behaviours, but it needs 
support. Therefore we welcome to proposal to conduct a bin survey, and hope that 
we will have the opportunity to make the case for more bins in our area.  

- We also welcome the proposals around greater levels of enforcement, as residents 
can sometimes feel powerless to tackle neighbours who are littering, leaving 
untagged bins on the pavement and so on.  

 
Kind regards,  
 

 
 

  

Page 199



 

 

 

LMP /STAT 016 

 

Proinsias Mac Fhlannchadha 

Dear sir/madam, 

 

Please see my feedback in relation to the proposed replacement Waste Plan for DCC; 

1. DCC to consider expanding the materials which can be collected from bottle and 

textile banks to include cardboard given the prevalence of online shopping. 

2. DCC to consider having a bin at textile banks for clothes not suitable for reuse. Based 

on the findings of the EPA (attached), c10% of black rubbish includes "Textiles."  A 

key reason for this may be to the fact that all textile bins are for charities and people 

may not feel comfortable donating unusable clothing to a charity and thus it ends up 

in a black bin 

3. DCC to commit that 100% of their units owned and leased for social housing will 

comply with DCC's own waste bye-laws for 3 stream bins (Black/ brown/ green) 

4. DCC to engage with the other 3 local authorities within Dublin so that any campaigns 

for dog poo, illegal dumping etc. are consistent and coherent which will not only 

generate maximum imapct by way of reach but also minimise costs per campaign as 

one campaign could be rolled out across the 4 local authorities. All local authorities 

are experiencing the same problem and it needs to be tackled collectively in the 

Dublin area. 

5. There is no mention of no. of business/ commercial/ civic buildings to be inspected in 

the enforcement metrics of this plan. According to the EPA,  approx. (attached) 70% 

of the material in the black bin could be diverted to recycling or composting.    Many 

businesses/ offices are not compliant with the Bye-Laws of DCC. Compliance with 

Bye-Laws (registered with a waste provider and muti stream bins need to be explored 

by DCC. This needs to be examined further 

6. There is no mention of no. of households to be inspected to confirm that they have 3 

separate bins for waste streams (green/ black/ brown). This needs to be examined 

further. 

7. The Bye-laws need to be revisited as their intended purpose and financial penalties 

are not having the desired effect 

I also attach my previous submission as part of the public consultation process for your 

consideration, 

 

Regards, 

 

Proinsias 

 

Dear sir/madam. 
 
As you may recall, considerable effort was expended by multiple stakeholders a number of 
years ago in arriving at a list of acceptable products that would be considered for recycling 
with Mywaste.ie. Whilst great work has gone into this, I don't feel that the awareness of the 
public of this list matches that effort which was put into arriving at such a list. This results in 

Page 200



 

 

 

significant levels of contamination when it comes to the recyclable bins. As such, I was 
wondering if DCC would consider making it mandatory that all waste collectors print and 
attach stickers of the approved listing (see below) to green bins? (see attached 
https://www.mywaste.ie/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/A3-Poster_English.pdf ).  
This was done previously by operators but nothing since has been done since the new list 
was published by Mywaste.ie. This could lead to significant operational savings by 
promoting awareness of the approved listing and putting the onus back on the consumer to 
correctly segregate their waste streams. This could also lead to improved recovery rates of 
materials and would not require significant investment in order to do so, 
 
Regards, 
 
Proinsias Mac Fhlannchadha 
 

Dear sir/madam, 
 
I am writing to you in relation to a submission on the rights and responsibilities of landlords. 
As set out under the Housing (Stan+-]dards for Rented Houses) Regulations 2017 " The 
house shall have access to suitable and adequate pest and vermin proof refuse storage 
facilities." 
 
Whilst the onus is on the landlord to provide the required bins, there is no onus on the 
landlord to provide the required infrastructure internally in units to adequately segregate 
waste in order for tenants to adhere to the various bye-laws around the country, which 
requires waste to be adequately segregated (see https://www.mywaste.ie/my-household-
waste-bye-laws/). As far as I am aware it is the obligation of the tenant to be in compliance 
with the Bye-Laws. 
  
This lack of basic multi-segment bins within units is a contributory factor in which leads to 
poor rates of recovery from materials and also contamination of waste streams due to 
impediments being put placed on tenants. Please see the attached infographic which has 
been prepared by the DCCAE as part of their current public consultations which confirms 
this. A simple solution to this would be that the landlord is required to provide segmented 
waste bins internally for Black, Green and Brown Bins. This wouldn't require a massive 
investment from landlords and could be stipulated by way of bye law to be in place for all 
new tenancies to give people adequate time to upgrade their waste bins. Brown Bins could 
be a small caddy as opposed to a stand-alone bin. 
 
I hope that DCC would consider and see the merit in amending the obligations of Landlords 
by way of bye law to factor in the above measures to improve the levels of recycling, 
diversion from landfill and recovery of materials which can be impeded by not having 
adequate bins within units. 
 

Although it is an offence under section 22 of the Litter Pollution Acts not to clean up after 
your dog has fouled (which can result in an on-the-spot fine of €150 or a summary 
conviction to a fine up to €4,000) the reality is that many dog owners are not doing so. 
 

Page 201



 

 

 

A bye law should be considered that litter wardens, dog wardens and An Gardai have the 
power to stop people and for those that do not have poo bags on their person should be 
subject to the on the spot fine. It is too difficult if not impossible to trace any dog fowl and 
which dog or came from, which is evidenced in the poor enforcement rates 

Page 202



 

 

 

 

Page 203



 

 

 

 

Page 204



 

 

 

 

Page 205



 

 

 

 

Page 206



 

 

 

 

Page 207



 

 

 

 

Page 208



 

 

 

 

Page 209



 

 

 

 

  

Page 210



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 017 

Claire Moloney 

I live on Aughrim Street and our garden is constantly full of rubbish blown in off the street. 

We used to have 4 or 5 bins on the street, now we have none I believe. Please put them back. 

Thanks Claire Moloney  
 

  

Page 211



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 018 

Lisa Duggan-Connolly 

Dear Bernie, 

 

Twenty five years of cleaning up after matches and concerts together with Landlords who 

neglect their properties I wish to propose the following: 

1. Appoint a Litter Sheriff for small districts within the area. 

2. Implement a bye law where Landlords can be fined for not keeping their properties and 

gardens in good order and ensuring wheelie bins are provided for their Tenants.These are 

commercial properties. 

3. Request shops to sweep outside their premises and wash down shop fronts on a daily basis. 

4. Encourage local schools to participate in programmes of school sweep up and blue bag 

litter collection. 

5. Name and shame people who dump litter. 

6. Distribute blue bags and litter pickers to Community groups .We always have to drive to 

Sean McDermott street to find them,often having to call more than once. 

7. Have a litter hotline number that is easy to remember and advertise it. 

8. Old age pensioners fill the bins with their little bags rather than pay. Could they avail of a 

free scheme. 

9.Install C.C.T.V.under railway bridges around the area and along the canals where dumping 

is a daily occurrence. 

The planters along Dorset Street and the beautiful planting along Lower Drumcondra Road 

looks fantastic.We have tried to keep the pocket park on St.Annes Road but alas it has been 

taken over by day time drinkers from a local homeless residence,leaving cans and urine 

behind them. 

Many thanks Bernie 

Regards  

Lisa Duggan-Connolly 

 

  

Page 212



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 019 
 
Bobby Behan 

 

June 17th 2020. 

 
Executive Manager 
Dublin City Council 
Waste Management Services 
Environment and Transportation Department, 
68/70 Marrowbone Lane, Dublin 8. 

 
Re: Draft Replacement Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022”. 

Dear Sir/Madam. 
I submit the following for consideration. 

My concerns regarding littering and waste management would be not specific to Dublin 

however as this plan is for Dublin I will raise issues that in my opinion need to be remedied 

in my home area; Ballyfermot. 

I have raised these concerns many time directly to the Corporation and elected officials- 

unfortunately the situation has not improved – in fact it would not be exaggerating to suggest 

that things have deteriorated substantially. 

 There are well known “dump” spots in Ballyfermot. Two (2) of these are outside premises 

owned and managed by the Corporation.  One is the House Maintenance  Depot on 

Garryowen Road and the other at the Recycling Centre on Kylemore Park North. Dumping on 

a huge scale has been carried out at both of these locations for years, I have hundreds of 

photographs- many shared with the Corporation over the years. Clearly this behaviour is 

acceptable – if it wasn’t it would have been dealt with years ago. Huge recourses are wasted 

removing this filth, a fraction of which could have been invested in properly ensuring this 

practice is stopped for good. 

 I suggest whatever legislation/bylaw amendment is required is made. On the spot 

confiscation of the vehicles carrying out this dumping is standard and vehicles returned 

when the cost of the removal is reimbursed or the vehicles sold off to cover the cost. 

Contractors from outside the area to be employed with evidential quality CCT and recording 

would pay for itself in a short time. This procedure needs to be aggressive and rigorous until 

this is resolved. 

 The laneway between Thomond Road and Kylemore Road is another eyesore. This laneway 

is a vital part of our community for the many elderly that use it on a daily basis and for 

whom the additional journey around without this lane would be a major inconvenience. Any 

suggestions that this lane be closed are nothing but a shoddy and lazy non-solution 

penalising the innocent residents. 

 I suggest this lane is properly and securely gated with pedestrian only access. It should be lit 

and CCTV installed. I believe it should be in the charge of the Parks section and locked and 

opened by park staff at park opening times. 

 The shops at Upper Decies Road are regularly filthy. A token clean up is carried out at best. I 

see daily exactly the level of cleaning it gets and I have no idea why there is so little time 

allocated to doing it properly. The “Take Away” is a disgrace and how it gets a licence to 

trade is a mystery to me. Whatever responsibilities they are supposed to have to keep 

Page 213



 

 

 

outside clean are ignored- by the owners and the Corporation. The gatherings and criminal 

activity on a nightly basis, the filth left on a nightly bases is in my opinion sufficient for a 

closure order to be enforced. 

 General Cleaning and Sweeping. I know the Corporation complain about the “lack of 

recourses” and this is the standard excuse when complaints are made. I suggest that there is 

gross mismanagement of recourses; I suggest if this was not the case the “resource” excuse 

would be redundant. 

 I find it nothing short of amazing that Corporation vehicles leave wherever it is they leave 

and there is no system in place to ensure that they are where they are supposed to be and 

doing what they are supposed to be doing.  It is nothing short of remarkable to me that in 

2020, Corporation vehicles have no GPS or dash cam systems fitted. The initial cost of 

rectifying this essential mismanagement would be repaid numerous times over in a very 

short period. 

 Community Cleaning: The recent demand by the Corporation that bags of filth collected on 

our streets by responsible residents with pride in where they live “must” be left outside on 

the public  footpath or they will not be collected, is inexplicable. The great unknown is 

“when” will they be collected and outside they are a target for dogs to pull at them re-

depositing the filth that has been picked up ( the “collectors” will not clean this- they “only” 

pick up bags) and possibly rodents.  I have been told it is “a health and safety issue”! Really. 

A bag inside a gate is a danger to someone? This is nonsense. I have been leaving bags inside 

my driveway gate for years without issue. Perhaps some incident occurred to justify the 

health and Safety Department making things difficult but the one box tick job is another 

quick fix lazy solution that is no solution at all. If the Corporation want help and cooperation 

in keeping our streets clean they need to have in place solutions that work. Leaving bags out 

on the street- sometimes for days on end unless someone is willing to keep putting in and 

out until they are removed is not reasonable or a solution. 

 Road Sweepers: another vehicle that requires GPS and Dash Cam. These vehicles are only 

effective at very slow speed. They do not travel on our streets at the required speed or 

anything like it- a waste of time, manpower and money. A simple cost effective solution 

exists- why is it not in place?  

 

Thank You. 

Bobby Behan. 

 

  

Page 214



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 020 
 
Paul Stafford 

 

Dear sir/madam 

 

I would like to express my concerns with regard to the whole waste management system in 

Dublin at the moment.  

 

I honestly believe that the only way waste management and a cleaner environment can be 

achieved is by Dublin City Council taking control of all rubbish collection in the Greater 

Dublin area, 

 

The operates are not up to what is required in this day and and age,  

I believe that Dublin City Council could easily compete with the standard of refuge collection 

we have at present.  

We need more local bins in parks and walkways where people walk their dogs and these need 

to be emptied on a regular basis.  

 

Regards  

 

Paul Stafford  

 
  

Page 215



 

 

 

Carmen Neary

Page 216



 

 

 

 

  

Page 217



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 022 

 

Denise Dunphy 

To whom it may concern: 

As a Dublin City resident I think the management of waste should be taken back under the 

control of DCC.  

 

I would appreciate if my view is recorded.  

 

Many thanks, 

 

Denise Dunphy.  
 

  

Page 218



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 023 
 
Dodder Action  

 

Dodder Action is a voluntary group which organises regular clean ups on the Dodder Banks 

in the Dublin City area from Donnybrook to Terenure.  We regularly encounter and clean up 

huge amounts of litter, including large numbers of bottles and cans. 

 

We would suggest the following actions, among others: 

1. Full support of the proposed deposits scheme for bottles and cans, including the provision 

of reverse vending machines as up to 60 percent of collected litter can comprise of these; in 

tandem with this, support for the banning of one-use plastic cutlery and non compostable 

coffee cups.  We are looking for DCC to lead out on this and enforce it. 

 

2.Removal of clothing recycling bins from recycling areas.  It is unfortunate, given the fine 

work done by charities such as Pieta House, that their clothing bins attract 

indiscriminate dumping but this is the case.  Recycling areas without clothing bins are not 

dumped on in anything like the same way as areas with clothing bins. The recycling area 

opposite Milltown Church is more often than not a dump site, particularly behind the bins 

backing onto the river.  Our group cleans this area regularly but we find it impossible to keep 

clean and we note it is now rat-infested. 

 

3. Relocation of recycling bins away from the River Dodder at the Dropping Well and 

opposite Milltown Church.  The bins back onto the beautiful river-scape encouraging litter 

and their location dates from a time when rivers were regarded as little more than sewers. 

 

4.  Provision of ideally segregated solar bins throughout the river area.  There are virtually no 

bins along the river.  An experiment by Donnybrook Tidy Towns who hung bags off the 

railings at the river led to a dramatic reduction in litter along the river behind Ashtons. These 

bins inform the Council when they are full when they should be emptied.  If bottles, cans and 

coffee cups were not part of the mix, this would happen at wider intervals. 

 

Please revert to us for any further clarifications and thank you for the opportunity to submit, 

Yours  

Dodder Action 

 

  

Page 219



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 024 
 
Geraldine Cusack  
 

I am a volunteer on the Grand Canal Litter Team that cleans the canal on the first 
Saturday of every month.  We have been doing this for the past 20 years and the 
amount of litter thrown on the grass verges and into the canal increases with every 
year.  It is mainly beer cans, vodka bottles, soft drinks cans and fast food boxes and 
wrapping.  It would help enormously if large signs were posted along the canal 
warning that litter droppers will be prosecuted with a substantial on the spot fine.  A 
warden should be appointed for the job and be visible at lunchtimes and evening 
times.  No use having a sign that is not enforced.  ~Also, the big Belly bins need to 
be placed at reasonable intervals from the docklands to Rialto. and emptied daily. 

 

Also - graffiti along the canal has also increased.  Place CTV cameras along the 
canal bridges where the graffiti occurs - then arrest the perpetrators  and have them 
clean off the graffiti at their own expense.  Graffiti has become a scourge all over the 
city.  Only prosecution and shaming will stop it. 

 

Thank you for this initiative.  Geraldine Cusack   
 

  

Page 220



 

 

 

Crumlin Community Cleanup

 

Page 221



 

 

 

 

Page 222



 

 

 

 

Page 223



 

 

 

 

Page 224



 

 

 

 

Page 225



 

 

 

 

Page 226



 

 

 

 

Page 227



 

 

 

 

Page 228



 

 

 

 

Page 229



 

 

 

 

Page 230



 

 

 

 

  

Page 231



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 026 
 
Joe O'Connor 
 

Dog fouling is a problem and goes totally unpunished as there is no enforcement. Why not 

make it an offence to be in charge of a dog in a public place without a bag/poop scoop/...? 

  

Page 232



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 027 

 

Proinsias Mac an Bheatha 

Dog poo on footpaths is the biggest problem. The laws are there but not enforced.   

DNA testing would be a solution.   

Many people use a plastic bag for the dogs poo, and once they reach the dunes on the Bull 

Island, merely dump the bag on the ground.  

A barrel for the bags is at the entrance to the beach from the causeway/ Interpretive 

Centre. No such barrel exists at the entrance to the dunes just after the St Anne’s golf club 

road. 

No such barrel exists at the dunes after the Royal Dublin golf club.  

This is where the poo bags are being dumped. 

 

  

Page 233



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 028 

Kelly McCarthy 

Much positive work has been done by the staff of DCC, community groups, and business 
groups to make Dublin a cleaner city. Nonetheless we have a long road to travel particularly 
in certain city centre litter black spots (1). 

The process of seeking feedback from the residents of the city on the litter management plan 
is also a step we very much welcome. 

At a high level our main request is that the primary focus be on reducing the production of 
waste rather than dealing (e.g. collection, recycling, enforcement) with the litter that waste 
inevitably produces. While there are elements of waste reduction in the plan our view is that 
there needs a dedicated focus and, in terms of the current plan, waste reduction should be a 
fourth pillar. 

Detailed feedback can be found below: 

Reduce the amount of waste produced at source 

Be it waste that goes into black bins, waste that goes into green/brown bins or waste that 
ends up as litter on our streets the focus should be on producing less waste. 

We suggest actions that will encourage the sources of waste (supermarkets, shops, take-
aways, cafés, etc.) to reduce* the amount of waste they produce. 

Incentives could include: 

 varying council rates for business that demonstrably move away from the 
production of significant amounts of waste (e.g. reducing single use items, 
introducing “bring your own” initiatives, etc.) 

 Name and shame business whose packaging ends up as litter collected by 
Dublin City Council similar to the #IsThisYours campaign (2) 

*The focus needs to be on waste reduction as opposed to a move to so called “recyclable” or 

“compostable” items many of which are not recyclable or compostable in practice in Dublin’s 

current recycling system. 

Communal green/brown bin options for apartments 

Enforce the existing by-laws (3) around waste collection for apartments. Ensure that all 
apartments provide green and brown bins. We welcome that the council is piloting shared 
green and brown bins in some of its own complexes (4). 

We also welcome that the Waste Management Department will seek to include the provision 
of recycling facilities in all new residential and commercial developments as an objective of 
the Dublin City Development Plan. We hope that “recycling facilities” in this context means 
green and brown bins. 

Services for smaller dwellings 

For areas with high concentration smaller houses/cottages where there is little yard space 
the council should pilot/introduce the provision of communal on street green and brown bins. 

Page 234

https://ibal.ie/kilkenny-is-king-as-north-inner-city-again-falters/
https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/people-are-tagging-brands-in-photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours_uk_5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439
http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling/waste-bye-laws
https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes


 

 

 

The council should also instruct waste companies to provide smaller bins or caddies so that 
there is easy-to-use alternative to larger wheelie bins. 

Publicly provided waste collection services 

41% of the notifications and complaints received by Dublin City Councils Waste 
Management Services in 2018 were related to illegal dumping. There is a significant minority 
of households in Dublin that are not signed up to an authorised waste collection service. We 
note that there is a plan for enforcement of the requirement to use an authorised waste 
collector. Our view is that it is debatable whether this will eliminate illegal dumping. Longer 
term we would request that a publicly provided waste collection service be reintroduced as a 
means to curbing illegal dumping. 

Widening recycling reach 

Sign up to the Terracycle program (5) so that items which can not currently be recycled in 
the normal domestic waste (crisp packets, sweet packets, etc.) can be recycled. Have some 
DCC buildings be a collection/drop off-centre as well as libraries/schools and some local 
businesses. 

Deposit schemes 

Pilot a deposit scheme whereby anything sold in a sealed beverage container - milk, alcohol, 
soft drinks, or water – would go through a deposit scheme. These containers can be plastic, 
glass, tin or of another material. Deposit refund schemes are popular globally and their 
widespread use in Ireland is long overdue. 

Deposit return systems are a proven tool to collect high quantities of containers for reuse 
and high-quality recycling, they are vital to achieving a circular economy. Over 130 million 
people in the EU alone live in countries with deposit-systems (6). DCC should pilot their own 
deposit return scheme, taking examples from the existing reverse vending machine in 
Carrickmacross set up by Tidy Towns and Sabra Plastics and the Repak machines in some 
Universities. They should expand on these to include anything sold in a sealed beverage 
container - milk, alcohol, soft drinks, or water. These containers can be plastic, glass, tin or 
of another material. 

Bagged waste 

Where areas are required present bagged waste the council should require the bags 
provided by the operator are sturdy enough so that birds are less able to tear the bags open. 

Dog fouling 

While dog foul is unpleasant for everybody it is much more of an issue for wheelchair users 
and the visually impaired. The current approach of education and limited enforcement does 
not seem to be working. We ask that the council consider some of the more radical solutions 
employed by other cities (7),(8) and convene a mini consultation on what more can be done. 

Graffiti removal 

While graffiti will probably always be a problem the council should consider if providing 
sanctioned space for murals to local artists, schools or community groups would deter graffiti 

Page 235

https://www.terracycle.com/en-GB/brigades/crisppacket
https://www.cmconsultinginc.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BOOK-Deposit-Global-24May2017-for-Website.pdf
https://outsider.ie/lifestyle/dog-poo-problem/
https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-22853270


 

 

 

has been seen in other cities (9). At a minimum the murals would brighten neglected spaces 
(Dublin Canvas (10) being a great example of such and community art initiative). 

End consumer education 

Continue to run end consumer education campaigns (e.g. “don’t be Dick” campaign) so that 
people remain focused on litter reduction. 

QR code 

We welcome the QR code initiatives for bins monitoring. For some however QR codes will 
be too complicated or a barrier to reporting an issue. We would also ask that the council 
proactively monitor social media channels for reports for issues with bins and/or general litter 
issues. 

CCTV 

We would encourage the council to make greater use of CCTV warning signs and blurred 
images from CCTV to discourage littering. 

Front line staff 

We welcome the planned increase in the number of handcarts operation recognising that the 
number of front-line staff had fallen in previous year. 

We would ask the council to allocate the amount of Litter Wardens to areas proportionate to 
the amount of illegal waste and dumping. 

Publication of actions 

Implement and publish a litter log, managed by the responsible DCC litter officer that lists the 
complaint received, Geocode of the litter location, date received, action / response taken, 
date of action. 

Publish a schedule on the Dublin City Council website that showed whether streets were 
cleaned daily, weekly or monthly. 

Parking & street sweeping 

Reform our parking regulations working with the Department of Transport so that we can 
restrict parking on one side of the street on one day a month to allow our street cleaning 
trucks to make a clean sweep of roadsides. 

Fleet 

Where possible we would encourage a move to or trialling of electric vehicles to improve the 
city’s air quality. 

References 

 (1) “Kilkenny is king as Dublin’s North Inner City again falters”, 6 January 
2020, https://ibal.ie/kilkenny-is-king-as-north-inner-city-again-falters/ 

Page 236

https://www.anti-graffiti.org/cities-in-action/mural-programs
https://www.dublincanvas.com/
https://ibal.ie/kilkenny-is-king-as-north-inner-city-again-falters/


 

 

 

 (2) “Litter Pickers Are Tweeting Total Rubbish And Asking Brands: 
#isthisyours?”, 18 February 
2019, https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/people-are-tagging-brands-in-
photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-
isthisyours_uk_5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439 

 (3) “Waste Bye-Laws”, http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-water-
waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling/waste-bye-laws 

 (4) “Finally, Council Says It’s Rolling out Green and Brown Bins in Its Housing 
Complexes”, 11 December 
2019, https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-
rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes 

 (5) https://www.terracycle.com/en-GB/brigades/crisppacket 
 (6) https://www.cmconsultinginc.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BOOK-

Deposit-Global-24May2017-for-Website.pdf 
 (7) Shit One: How to Solve the Dog Poo Problem on Our Streets, Jun 21, 

2018, https://outsider.ie/lifestyle/dog-poo-problem/ 
 (8) “Eight radical solutions to the problem of dog mess”, 14 June 

2013, https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-
22853270 https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-
rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes 

 (9) https://www.anti-graffiti.org/cities-in-action/mural-programs 
 (10) https://www.dublincanvas.com/ 

 

  

Page 237

https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/people-are-tagging-brands-in-photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours_uk_5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439
https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/people-are-tagging-brands-in-photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours_uk_5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439
https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/people-are-tagging-brands-in-photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours_uk_5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439
http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling/waste-bye-laws
http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-water-waste-and-environment-waste-and-recycling/waste-bye-laws
https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes
https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes
https://www.terracycle.com/en-GB/brigades/crisppacket
https://www.cmconsultinginc.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BOOK-Deposit-Global-24May2017-for-Website.pdf
https://www.cmconsultinginc.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BOOK-Deposit-Global-24May2017-for-Website.pdf
https://outsider.ie/lifestyle/dog-poo-problem/
https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-22853270
https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-22853270
https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes
https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes
https://www.anti-graffiti.org/cities-in-action/mural-programs
https://www.dublincanvas.com/


 

 

 

Ronan Carroll 
 

LMP/STAT 029 
 
Hello, 
 
I have a number of suggestions: 
 
Wexford CC use tri compartment bins on the main streets to accept recycling as well as 
general waste. Their designs are compact and should be suitable for many urban areas of 
dublin. Currently the majoring of Dublin bins mix all the waste together including paper and 
glass. 
 
Leaf recycling. I learnt last year that currently the majority of leaves collected by DCC are 
NOT sent to create composting, rather they are put in general landfill. This can be approved 
on if they could find a large volume mechanism to turn into compost.  
 
I lived in Luxembourg for many years. Every small commune has a recycling centre with 
greater capacity that the municipal ones in North Strand and Ringsend. There is so much 
more we can do to facilitate the recycling of household materials. It should be made easier 
and free. In Lux, every taxpaying household was given an access card to the entry barrier to 
their local recycling centre. They also had a section where you could leave 2nd hand toys, 
prams etc. which could be reused by more needy families. See link to below to a typical 
layout and goods accepted.  We are light years behind here in Ireland. 
https://www.vdl.lu/en/working/starting-a-business/waste-collection-and-sorting/collection-
type/recycling-centre 
 
Kind regards, 
Ronan 
 

  

Page 238



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 030  

 

Susan Pike 

Please ban the selling of coffee cups and plastic bottles across the city to reduce waste and 

litter.  

 

Also dog dirt is appalling across the city. Particularly in Drumcondra. Dangerous around 

schools. Please enforce the rules. 

 

  

Page 239



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 031 

Colm Moore 

Page 240



 

 

 

 

Page 241



 

 

 

 

Page 242



 

 

 

 

Page 243



 

 

 

 

Page 244



 

 

 

 

Page 245



 

 

 

 

Page 246



 

 

 

 

Page 247



 

 

 

 

Page 248



 

 

 

 

Page 249



 

 

 

 

Page 250



 

 

 

 

Page 251



 

 

 

 

Page 252



 

 

 

 

Page 253



 

 

 

 

Page 254



 

 

 

 

Page 255



 

 

 

 

Page 256



 

 

 

 

Page 257



 

 

 

 

Page 258



 

 

 

 

Page 259



 

 

 

 

Page 260



 

 

 

 

Page 261



 

 

 

 

Page 262



 

 

 

 

Page 263



 

 

 

 

Page 264



 

 

 

 

Page 265



 

 

 

 

Page 266



 

 

 

 

Page 267



 

 

 

 

Page 268



 

 

 

 

  

Page 269



 

 

 

Paschal Nee 

(A formatted version of this submission can be found at 
https://neasahourigan.com/post/litter22/ ) 
 
Much positive work has been done by the staff of DCC, community groups, and business 
groups to make Dublin a cleaner city. Nonetheless we have a long road to travel particularly 
in certain city centre litter black spots (1). 
 
The process of seeking feedback from the residents of the city on the litter management 
plan is also a step we very much welcome. 
 
At a high level our main request is that the primary focus be on reducing the production of 
waste rather than dealing (e.g. collection, recycling, enforcement) with the litter that waste 
inevitably produces. While there are elements of waste reduction in the plan our view is 
that there needs a dedicated focus and, in terms of the current plan, waste reduction should 
be a fourth pillar. 
 
Detailed feedback can be found below: 
 
++++ Reduce the amount of waste produced at source 
 
Be it waste that goes into black bins, waste that goes into green/brown bins or waste that 
ends up as litter on our streets the focus should be on producing less waste. 
 
We suggest actions that will encourage the sources of waste (supermarkets, shops, take-
aways, cafés, etc.) to reduce* the amount of waste they produce. 
 
Incentives could include: 
- varying council rates for business that demonstrably move away from the production of 
significant amounts of waste (e.g. reducing single use items, introducing “bring your own” 
initiatives, etc.) 
- Name and shame business whose packaging ends up as litter collected by Dublin City 
Council similar to the #IsThisYours campaign (2) 
 
*The focus needs to be on waste reduction as opposed to a move to so called “recyclable” 
or “compostable” items many of which are not recyclable or compostable in practice in 
Dublin’s current recycling system. 
 
++++ Communal green/brown bin options for apartments 
 
Enforce the existing by-laws (3) around waste collection for apartments. Ensure that all 
apartments provide green and brown bins. We welcome that the council is piloting shared 
green and brown bins in some of its own complexes (4). 
 
We also welcome that the Waste Management Department will seek to include the 
provision of recycling facilities in all new residential and commercial developments as an 

Page 270



 

 

 

objective of the Dublin City Development Plan. We hope that “recycling facilities” in this 
context means green and brown bins. 
 
++++ Services for smaller dwellings 
 
For areas with high concentration smaller houses/cottages where there is little yard space 
the council should pilot/introduce the provision of communal on street green and brown 
bins. 
 
The council should also instruct waste companies to provide smaller bins or caddies so that 
there is easy-to-use alternative to larger wheelie bins. 
 
++++ Publicly provided waste collection services 
 
41% of the notifications and complaints received by Dublin City Councils Waste 
Management Services in 2018 were related to illegal dumping. There is a significant minority 
of households in Dublin that are not signed up to an authorised waste collection service. We 
note that there is a plan for enforcement of the requirement to use an authorised waste 
collector. Our view is that it is debatable whether this will eliminate illegal dumping. Longer 
term we would request that a publicly provided waste collection service be reintroduced as 
a means to curbing illegal dumping. 
 
++++ Widening recycling reach 
 
Sign up to the Terracycle program (5) so that items which can not currently be recycled in 
the normal domestic waste (crisp packets, sweet packets, etc.) can be recycled. Have some 
DCC buildings be a collection/drop off-centre as well as libraries/schools and some local 
businesses. 
 
++++ Deposit schemes 
 
Pilot a deposit scheme whereby anything sold in a sealed beverage container - milk, alcohol, 
soft drinks, or water – would go through a deposit scheme. These containers can be plastic, 
glass, tin or of another material. Deposit refund schemes are popular globally and their 
widespread use in Ireland is long overdue. 
 
Deposit return systems are a proven tool to collect high quantities of containers for reuse 
and high-quality recycling, they are vital to achieving a circular economy. Over 130 million 
people in the EU alone live in countries with deposit-systems (6). DCC should pilot their own 
deposit return scheme, taking examples from the existing reverse vending machine in 
Carrickmacross set up by Tidy Towns and Sabra Plastics and the Repak machines in some 
Universities. They should expand on these to include anything sold in a sealed beverage 
container - milk, alcohol, soft drinks, or water. These containers can be plastic, glass, tin or 
of another material. 
 
++++ Bagged waste 
 

Page 271



 

 

 

Where areas are required present bagged waste the council should require the bags 
provided by the operator are sturdy enough so that birds are less able to tear the bags 
open. 
 
++++ Dog fouling 
 
While dog foul is unpleasant for everybody it is much more of an issue for wheelchair users 
and the visually impaired. The current approach of education and limited enforcement does 
not seem to be working. We ask that the council consider some of the more radical 
solutions employed by other cities (7),(8) and convene a mini consultation on what more 
can be done. 
 
++++ Graffiti removal 
 
While graffiti will probably always be a problem the council should consider if providing 
sanctioned space for murals to local artists, schools or community groups would deter 
graffiti has been seen in other cities (9). At a minimum the murals would brighten neglected 
spaces (Dublin Canvas (10) being a great example of such and community art initiative). 
 
++++ End consumer education 
 
Continue to run end consumer education campaigns (e.g. “don’t be Dick” campaign) so that 
people remain focused on litter reduction. 
QR code 
 
We welcome the QR code initiatives for bins monitoring. For some however QR codes will 
be too complicated or a barrier to reporting an issue. We would also ask that the council 
proactively monitor social media channels for reports for issues with bins and/or general 
litter issues. 
 
++++ CCTV 
 
We would encourage the council to make greater use of CCTV warning signs and blurred 
images from CCTV to discourage littering. 
 
++++ Front line staff 
 
We welcome the planned increase in the number of handcarts operation recognising that 
the number of front-line staff had fallen in previous year. 
 
We would ask the council to allocate the amount of Litter Wardens to areas proportionate 
to the amount of illegal waste and dumping. 
 
++++ Publication of actions 
 
Implement and publish a litter log, managed by the responsible DCC litter officer that lists 
the complaint received, Geocode of the litter location, date received, action / response 

Page 272



 

 

 

taken, date of action. 
 
Publish a schedule on the Dublin City Council website that showed whether streets were 
cleaned daily, weekly or monthly. 
 
++++ Parking & street sweeping 
 
Reform our parking regulations working with the Department of Transport so that we can 
restrict parking on one side of the street on one day a month to allow our street cleaning 
trucks to make a clean sweep of roadsides. 
 
++++ Fleet 
 
Where possible we would encourage a move to or trialling of electric vehicles to improve 
the city’s air quality. 
 
++++ References 
 
    (1) “Kilkenny is king as Dublin’s North Inner City again falters”, 6 January 2020, 
https://ibal.ie/kilkenny-is-king-as-north-inner-city-again-falters/ 
    (2) “Litter Pickers Are Tweeting Total Rubbish And Asking Brands: #isthisyours?”, 18 
February 2019, https://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/people-are-tagging-brands-in-
photos-of-litter-online-with-the-hasthag-isthisyours_uk_5c6aa3a7e4b01757c36dc439 
    (3) “Waste Bye-Laws”, http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-water-waste-and-
environment-waste-and-recycling/waste-bye-laws 
    (4) “Finally, Council Says It’s Rolling out Green and Brown Bins in Its Housing Complexes”, 
11 December 2019, https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-
rolling-out-green-and-brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes 
    (5) https://www.terracycle.com/en-GB/brigades/crisppacket 
    (6) https://www.cmconsultinginc.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/BOOK-Deposit-
Global-24May2017-for-Website.pdf 
    (7) Shit One: How to Solve the Dog Poo Problem on Our Streets, Jun 21, 2018, 
https://outsider.ie/lifestyle/dog-poo-problem/ 
    (8) “Eight radical solutions to the problem of dog mess”, 14 June 2013, 
https://www.bbc.com/news/magazine-22853270 
https://www.dublininquirer.com/2019/12/11/finally-council-says-it-s-rolling-out-green-and-
brown-bins-in-its-housing-complexes 
    (9) https://www.anti-graffiti.org/cities-in-action/mural-programs 
    (10) https://www.dublincanvas.com/ 
 

  

Page 273



 

 

 

Conor Fennessey 

Hi, 
 
I am a resident of Camden Row, having lived overseas for many years I am astounded to find 
Dublin to be such a dirty city. 
 
- the collection of domestic and commercial waste system needs reform.  The lack of proper 
waste bins outside premises and houses contributes greatly to the litter blowing around the 
city.  The fact that some people seem to think they can bring their domestic waste and leave 
it at a litter bin is unfathomable.  Surely there is a better way, look at cities like Barcelona 
where waste is deposited in big bins and segregated in an orderly fashion.  Why can't this be 
implemented here. The lack of bins does not encourage people to use litter bins, they are 
not evenly placed across the city. 
 
- street sweeping is hit and miss, why is there not a regular programme, especially on 
secondary streets, there should be times when there is no parking allowed on streets 
regularly so streets get swept properly.  Often I see sweepers going up and down Camden 
Street, but the footpaths are filthy dirty, no effort is made to pick up that litter, it then blows 
onto the street after the sweeper has passed by. 
 
- dog fouling is a huge problem.  On my street there is St Kevin's Park, many people walk 
their dogs there and in the process their dogs foul both the park and the surrounding 
footpaths - I don't see any dog fouling bins in the area.  People need to be prosecuted for 
dog fouling and litter in general. 
 

  

Page 274



 

 

 

Lorraine Mitchell 

Drimnagh is asking for a litter management plan to be drawn up in conjunction with DCC. 

We very much welcome the opportunity to be part of this. 

Observations we have made in the area are as follows- 

 

1. Drimnagh has a row of businesses on  

A. Errigal road 

B. Galtymore road 

C. Benbulbin road 

D. Keeper road 

The paths at these locations need be cleaned/power washed on an ongoing basis. 

 

2. Bins on Benbulbin/Sperrin road are needed as these are roads off Luas stops. 

3 . Dog bins around  Drimnagh esp side of canal. 

4.  Residents to be made aware of street sweeping days so that cars are prevented from 

parking to allow for thorough cleaning of streets.  

5. More public bins in area esp at busy bus stops. 

  

Page 275



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 035 

 

DCC need to increase the number of litter wardens, have them working shifts as most 

dumping occurs at night, and be PRO-ACTIVE in identifying and prosecuting the people who 

are dumping rubbish. Costs can be covered by issuing and collecting fines.  The current bye 

laws allow for fines up to €2500. 

  

Page 276



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 036 

 

Niall Loftus 

The draft plan makes references to litter bins on streets and in public parks, but there is no 

reference to public paths including those along the river Dodder.  

These pubic walkways should be specifically covered in the new plan, including the provision 

of litter bins, added to the cleaning schedule and checking for illegal dumping.  

 

The map attached shows a section of the river dodder walkway from Donnybrook to 

Milltown ( approx 2km ) and the only bin you pass is one beside a bus stop. This highlights 

the need for such walkways to be added to the plan. 

  

Page 277



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 037 

 

Tim O'Sullivan 

I consider the present strategy of charging for waste disposal is fundamentally mistaken. 

The fact is that waste charges actually incentivise many people to dispose of waste illegally. 

This is regrettable behaviour but simply an observable fact. While working with the Raheny 

Tidy Village Group I often see bags of domestic rubbish deposited on the street beside litter 

bins or on grass areas. 

I think that waste charges should be rolled in with the household charge so that there is no 

incentive to dump illegally. 

The present system is based on a polluter pays model but this can only work if there is 

higher level of enforcement than can actually be provided. 

In addition I think consideration should be given to large communal bins such as can be seen 

across Spain and Greece. 

 

Tim O'Sullivan 

  

Page 278



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 038 

 

Orna MacMonagle 

For the litter Management Plan  I would like to suggest the following .  

 

Upgrade and Upsize the current bins in the area parks - the ones at Bushy Park , Palmerston 

Park along the Dodder are not fit for purpose  , they are too small for the pedestrian traffic 

through these areas - they get filled far too quickly with coffee cups and picnic waste  

 

 There should be development of separate bins for Dog Faeces disposal for the welfare of 

City Council Staff and sufficient signage of fines  / Campaign  - inner city streets are quite 

spoiled  in areas  

 

Roving hidden CCTV cameras for problem areas - maybe a part time litter officer for the 

parks to manage this . - overflowing glass recycling in the public car park at Milltown  

 

Plastic bin bag collections in the city centre are a disaster with the growing seagull and 

pigeon population that has got out of control and now at dangerous levels.  

 

I am sure these are already highlighted but it would be amazing to see some improvements .  

Is there an audit programme taken on condition of bins and city centre streets - spot checks 

. 

  

Page 279



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 039  

 

Vinnie Hall 

 

Hello, 

 

I would like to suggest two things regarding accessibility. 

 

1) That litter receptacles of any type be situated and positioned in such a manner as to 

facilitate rather than prevent or obstruct the mobility of impaired persons. This should 

include blind, mobility impaired and others. This means taking into account other adjacent 

street furniture, licensed and unlicensed. 

Further, that those receptacles currently poorly positioned be moved. 

 

2) That all litter receptacles, recycling facilities, and any other associated devices in the 

proposed plan, be made fully accessible . 

Further, that those currently not accessible be made so. 

 

The need of citizens disabled by Dublin City Council's poor current execution of service 

provision overrides the preservation of entire sections of the built environment where an 

already sufficient example exists, and where a minor adjustment to allow safe mobility 

would enable. 

 

Regards, 

 

Vinnie 

  

Page 280



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 040 

 

Ailbhe Horgan 

Time to have municipalities responsible for waste management services! Current status quo 

of a free for all where private operators go uncoordinated is chaotic, inefficient and 

expensive!! Illegal dumping and rubbish everywhere! Time to have DCC manage this service, 

like any other major european city.  Also, our city centre is so filthy when we have tourists 

seeing this.  

Also, in cities in Asia, they have the bin on the surface but the container to the bin is 

underground, letting the bin hold more and longer and a small lorry comes and lifts the bin 

out of the ground....something thaf easily can be done here. DCC shoupd be in charge of 

collection now. 

  

Page 281



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 041 

 

Sharon Weldon 

need dog poo bins on main road Pheonix park.  I'm a Walker and walk past full dog poo bags 

on pathway 

  

Page 282



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 042 

 

Jillian Doyle 

To whom it concerns, 

I have been a resident of Whitworth Place since September 2018. I would like to request an 

increase in provision of better bins (i.e. solar belly bins) in the Lower Drumcondra/ Binns 

Bridge area. I would also request an increase in street cleaning services. We are 

experiencing a huge increase in the amount of litter on our streets. Illegal dumping happens 

on the street on a weekly basis - people leave bags of litter on Whitworth Place and beside 

the bin on the corner of Whitworth Place and Lower Drumcondra Road. The bin on this 

corner is always overflowing and is not fit for purpose. I regularly observe dog faeces, 

broken glass, cans and empty drug packets on Whitworth Place. This form of litter is a 

hazard and is of a particular concern to myself as the mother of a toddler. We have two 

emergency homeless services within 100 m of our house (on Lower Drumcondra Road and 

Whitworth Place) and we frequently observe residents throwing litter on the ground. I feel 

that it is very important that the existence of these services and the increased stress they 

put on the locality in terms of waste disposal be taken into account when developing a litter 

management plan. There are also a number of rental properties on Whitworth Place that do 

not adequately dispose of their litter - bags are often left outside and torn apart by birds. 
 

  

Page 283



 

 

 

On a more global level I would value a longer term plan whereby litter collection was made 

available to all citizens of Dublin for free but that we paid a local tax to cover the cost of the 

service. In this way all citizens would automatically pay for waste collection and people 

would not be trying to evade paying for bins. 

 

I appreciate your time in reading this suggestion. 

  

Page 284



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 043 

 

John Denby 

Bins around Stoneybatter regularly overflowing for days on end. No bins inside croppy acre 

either. The place is littered with cans, syringes and dog waste. Why not provide bins and 

litter warden patrols?  

 

Consistent illegal dumping at corner of wood lane and benburb street. 

  

Page 285



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 044 

Seán Lynch 

Litter is a global epidemic that has become normalized and invisible for many. Mapping 
litter in hyper spatial resolution can reveal the geographic characteristics of litter across 
space and time, and this has the potential to change behaviour. 
 
https://openlittermap.com/world/Ireland/County%20Dublin/Swords/map 
 
https://openlittermap.com/world/Ireland/County%20Dublin/Swords/download 
 
At OpenLitterMap, we are building fun and engaging data collection experiences that can 
harness the largely untapped potential of citizen scientists. 
 
As well as general litter, in collaboration with the HSE, we have also 5+ years worth of 
continuous data on drug-related paraphernalia in Cork and Dublin at druglitter.info. 
 
Both of these data sources have significant implications for policy development, evaluation 
and the allocation of public spending and infrastructure development. Litter mapping is a 
new and largely unexplored field of geographic information science and we would love to 
partner with DCC and lend you our expertize to help you save time and money. 
 
iOS 
 
https://apps.apple.com/us/app/openlittermap/id1475982147 
 
Android 
 
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.geotech.openlittermap 
 
Thanks, 
 
Seán @ OpenLitterMap 
 

  

Page 286



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 045 

 

Miriam Fitzgerald 

The issue of dog fouling on the streets of Dublin 7 needs to be addressed. Faussagh ave, 

Rathoath rd, Nephin rd are an example of how bad the situation is . There needs to be a 

monitoring of the streets and harsher penalties for people who do not clean up after their 

dogs. It's at critical and dangerous levels. Disgraceful behaviour. 

  

Page 287



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 046 

 

Harry Havelin 

Dear Madam/Sir, 

 

I am of the view that all bin collection services should be returned to DCC control.  

 

Bins are emptied and then the bins are not put back properly - they are left all over the 

place, which is a hazard to elderly and blind people. 

 

Street/road cleaning/pavement cleaning needs to be greatly improved. Parked cars prevent 

proper gutter cleaning. New regulations should be brought in to require streets/roads to be 

clear of cars on cleaning days. 

 

Storm drains need to be cleaned out regularly. Every one I look at in gutters along roads and 

streets are stuffed with dirt. 

 

Grass areas are neglected. 

 

Cycle paths have been laid in various parts of the city, but then they are never cleaned - 

resulting in accumulation of dirt, and broken glass. 

  

Page 288



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 047 

 

Jp Okeeffe 

Tale it back under council control  

Direct labour put a charge on every household so every one pays and generates revenue for 

the council to put resources into it . Stops people dumping leaving bags on streets 

  

Page 289



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 048 

 

Melissa 

I am based in Phibsborough and most days there is illegal rubbish dumped at the bus stop 

and beside the bin. I have sent complaints. It takes the look off my shop and makes the area 

and local businesses look filthy.  We pay enough in rates not to be dealing with this. 

  

Page 290



 

 

 

Micheál Kelliher 

Privatisation of waste service is clearly not working. Illegal dumping is increasing, and it's 

damaging the city. I believe that bringing the bin services back in the public ownership is the 

only way forward.  

 

I believe that the waste service should be funded directly by progressive taxes, like income 

taxes. I don't agree with the property taxes, because they are taxes on debt, not on wealth. 

But the property taxes can be used to cover the bin services.  

 

Communal bins would be a good idea for some streets, with lack of spaces for individual 

wheelie bins. For communal bins, they should be collected more regular, a couple of times 

per week, rather than weekly.  

 

We need a lot more public bins on footpaths. It doesn't make any sense removing public 

bins from streets when we need more! 

  

Page 291



 

 

 

LMP/Stat 050 

 

Aidan Regan 

I am a resident of Cabra East, Dublin 7.  

 

The area has a huge problem with dog foul, human litter, and illegal dumping.  

 

The issue of dog fouling occurs on all streets around Christ the King church. More 

interventions from the City Council to raise awareness about this problem would be most 

welcome, in addition to much heavier penalties on those who allow their dog to do it. 

 

Maybe consider a leaflet drop into houses? 

 

The issue of littering is particularly bad along Imaal road, and adjoining roads to the 17 

shops. This is particularly a problem when it comes to people dropping their take away 

boxes from the local take aways. The problem rests with those who do this, but more 

interventions from the Council to raise awareness would be most welcome. 

 

The issue of illegal dumping is really bad in the lane adjoining Charleville road and Annamoe 

Drive. It looks worse than the worse inner city streets of 1970's Napoli. I have requested 

before that cameras are inserted, and that the lanes are reclaimed by street artists, or 

anything to try make them a public-streetscape, rather than a dumping ground. 

 

Maybe reach out to TUD, and request they get involved? 

  

Page 292



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 051  

 

Janine Brennan 

The government need to take back management of waste to stop illegal dumping.  

 

Also a trial of underground waste bins would be a fantastic opportunity to curb the litter 

pandemic in the north inner city. Please see links for examples 

 

https://wastesolutions.ie/recycling-products/specialist-bins/underground-bins 

https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-england-merseyside-45704799  

https://www.themayor.eu/en/larnaca-installs-underground-bins-along-its-beach-areas 

 

There needs to be harsher laws to prosecute people who dump rubbish illegally. 

  

Page 293



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 052 

 

Peggie Moore 

The dumping around Dublin City centre and adjacent areas has grown significantly in the 

past 3 months. I have seen people drive up in cars and dump bags on side streets that are 

loved by their neighbours. It is shocking what the Dublin City street cleaners  have to clean 

on a daily basis.  

At Amien Street one house dumps all the rubbish outside on a daily basis and it is pulled 

around the street by seagulls, this is encouraging rats and creating further issues.  

People need to be fined, the same people do not dump in their own areas!  

Cannot wait to see what your future plans are, our beautiful city is being destroyed. 

  

Page 294



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 053 

Peter McCarthy 

Hello,  
I hope you are well.  
 
My submission is more of an exploration of a small test project I did in Dunlaoghaire. There 
was a graffiti tagger named Toke who was tagging everything in the area I lived in at the 
time and I came up with a plan to stop him.  
 
I thought about it long and hard and came up with the slogan Toke is a Joke and used his 
graffiti style in the font. Then make some small A4 poster and put them beside a number of 
his prominent tags and waited. I glued the posters with flour so I knew they would fall apart 
with the rain over time. Nothing happened for a few days but then I saw that the posters 
were being black markered over and in some cases pulled down.  I had upset him and it 
worked. The tagging stopped, he was humiliated and his ego got burned.  
 
It was a small project and it didn't stop all the others but it stopped Toke. Taggers and litter 
bugs aren't scared of signs or threats of prosecution. Graffiti taggers motivations are ego 
driven whereas littering is more complicated, some have a disregard for their surroundings 
and others the motivation is not spending.  
 
I propose examining ways to ridicule and humiliate offenders. It may not be possible to 
ridicule the individual offender but there might be a way of doing something that is as 
effective. For example: A photoshopped real life  - stock photo of an individual who was 
caught with the words "This  is Joan, she was caught throwing her rubbish in a laneway - this 
could be you next"  
 
To conclude, there's no perfect solution but getting into the core of peoples ego and 
motivations is something I believe has legs.  
 
Regards 
 
Peter McCarthy 
 

  

Page 295



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 054 

jennifer walsh 

All submissions should be clearly marked “Draft Replacement Litter Management Plan 2020 
- 2022” and be received before 5pm on Monday 06th April 2020.. 
the eastwall area is destroyed in dog foul.  
i would like the chair removed from the caledon road side because the local teenagers 
congregate there to smoke weed and its very intimidating when walking by them.  
i would like the DCC to take back the management of waste in eastwall as the litter situation 
is really bad. 
i would like the yearly collection by Dcc of large household item to resume again  which 
would stop littering of those items. 
 

  

Page 296



 

 

 

gearoidin aine ni ciosog 

Dear Dublin City Council Decision Makers, 
I am an owner/occupier in Dartmouth Square. I am writing in relation to Dublin City 
Council’s  management of Dartmouth Square. 
I refer to relevant sections 3.1/3.2/3.3 of the  Dublin City Council Draft Litter Management 
Plan 2020-2022 
 
May I suggest you make an effort to research the files over the last decade on the Square 
and canal area surroundings re: relevant issues of: 
> Street Cleaning and Litter Bins 
> Partnership 
> Enforcement 
> Dog Fouling 
> Waterways - Grand Canal  
 
As a community the residents surrounding the Square have displayed significant generosity 
when we helped fund the buying back of the park, when we painted the railings ourselves 
several times, and cut the grass/ hedges and cleaned the litter prior to the Dublin City 
purchase and management. This is still being done as a last resort during the present COVID 
situation and it can be understood as an interim situation  but week after week of the same 
unmanaged overloading of the small bins on the street and inside the Square is leading to 
over spilling and complete tipping of waste around the Square. And it is residents again who 
are managing the littering and it shows complete disregard by Dublin City Council for the 
residents who have to manage other peoples waste. 
 
As a Local Authority it is complete disregard to the trust built up over the last decade as a 
community engagement journey between a Local Authority and a proactive, fully engaged 
and helpful community around the Square if the Square is not given the resources afforded 
to other parks and green spaces around the city. 
 
Please reassess the full context  of the following problems for our residential area. We also 
have collective experience of the park being open all day & night and have experienced: 
• Proximity of Square to front doors of residential homes – we hear and see what happens 
in front of our doors  
• Magnet for anti-social behavior - noise disturbance, drug & alcohol use/litter,  
• Litter from anti-social behavior -  residents are going out to remove rubbish every morning 
• Vandalism of garden environment and infrastructure, 
• Dogs off leads & excrement within a small space, 
 
Additionally, there needs to be some significant joined up thinking and collaboration among 
Waterways Ireland and Dublin City Council on the management and protection of the Grand 
Canal - all the way from Portabello down to the Waterways Ireland Dock. And STOP relying 
on the volunteers to manage the waterway pollution - it's a disgrace that the volunteers 
have to do SO much work on this! Again it shows total disrespect for the volunteer to have 
such an onerous task. Why is the canal not being managed for pollution & littering by both 
DCC & Waterways Ireland?! 

Page 297



 

 

 

 
The consequent social unintended consequences of a small greenspaces will become the 
deterrent for the intended positive use of these communities. Dublin City Council decision 
makers should not be so short sighted to believe there will not be significant financial costs 
to the consequences of an unmanaged park/greenspace and waterways.  
I am keen for Dublin City Council to regain the trust and engagement with these locally 
engaged communities. I remain hopeful that Dublin City Council will take full control of 
managing and protecting our green and blue spaces and surroundings. 
 
Kindest regards, 
Gearoidin Aine 
 

  

Page 298



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 056 

 

Geraldine Griffin 

Hi, Our local park Ranelagh Gardens ha s only one bin, it is more often than not overflowing 

and as a result people just leave their rubbish beside it and it blows around the park and 

attracts vermin. 

 

Please could you consider adding two more large bins to the park? 

 

Much appreciated, 

 

Geraldine 

  

Page 299



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 057 

 

Sile McVeigh 

Please increase numbers of bins in parks and in large parks (eg Herbert park) zones where 

dogs are completely forbidden as well as dog friendly zones with longer off-lead hours. It  

would benefit both dog owners and those who don’t want to be around dogs. In London lots 

of parks are zoned like this and it worked very well for everyone - people with toddlers don’t 

have to worry about stray dog poo and dogs aren’t overcrowded  And causing a nuisance as 

they sometimes do here because they all turn up for the same off lead hour. 

  

Page 300



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 058 

Shane O’Duibhleacain 

McDonalds have removed litter bins outside eastward store they should replace public bins 
outside the shopping areas are required in the east wall north strand areas. CCTV to monitor 
problem litter black spots in conjunction with  litter warden patrols. Ossory road Irish Rail 
lands access should be closed and fly tipping controlled.  The recycle centres on Alfie Byrne 
road and east road should be monitored. Dog fouling rules need to be enforced great work 
so far. Mor public anti litter campaign throughout the city public litter bins are a necessity 
combined with a take it home. The use of remotely piloted aerial vehicles to monitor areas. 
It’s our city keep it pretty. 
 

  

Page 301



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 059  

 

Sabatina Andreucetti 

With increased high rises, traffic & businesses in East Wall area it is increasingly noticable 
that litter bins are inadequate. 
 
They are being used. Fill us quickly they need to be emptied frequently. Plus more. 
Plus communal bins. As dumping is also increasing. 
 
My mum fell over a branch that was there for several days. 
 

  

Page 302



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 060 

 

Greg Timony 

I live in Ballybough House (Council Complex), Dublin 3 . Litter is atrocious at the weekends 

(scattered all over the complex) because people from outside are using the complex as a 

rubbish dump, overflowing the bins. We need more collective rubbish Bins in Poplar Row for 

the other complexes.   

Additionally there is a problem with litter in and around Fairview Park , especially around 

the Council sports grounds where there illegal dumping in the wooded areas making them 

eyesores .  

The Long term solution would be to reverse the Bin collection privatisation, but in the mean 

time better policing is needed to try to reduce casual and illegal dumping 

  

Page 303



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 061 

 

Caitriona Ni Cassaithe 

Draft Replacement Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 
Observations 
DCC need to increase staffing levels to ensure the waste management system runs 
efficiently and effectively. 
Bins in the East Wall area are rebularly overflowing and should be emptied more regularly 
as the litter is all over the streets. A city-wide campaign needs to be launched to explain the 
QR code system to people (including involving children and young adults). Compartments 
for safe disposal of cigarette butts shoud be regularly checked. Many in the East Wall area 
are broken/absent.  
Regular weeding of streets in the East Wall area.  
Dog fouling is still an issue in parts of the city despite media campaigns and extra bins. DCC 
should have regular litter warden patrols to give on the spot fines to those responsible. 
Again, this requires additional staff.  
“All bottle and textile bank locations are now included in Area Based cleaning schedules and 
receive scheduled daily cleaning and deep cleaning on an annual basis” This is not 
happening at the East Road Bottle and Textile Bank 
The plinth for the Luke Kelly statue at Commons Street should be raised to discourage 
graffitti. 
The iron bridge needs painting and rust protection (like the ones along the Quays) 
Invovle children more tin the descision making process rather than just at the end where 
they are viewed as agents rather than agentic.  
Bins need to be brought back under DCC control. 
 

  

Page 304



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 062  

 

Joe Mooney 

I believe that the Draft management plan contains many positive suggestions and should be 
broadly welcomed. 
 
However , a major failing in the plan is that it contains no substantial enforcement measures 
. I live in East Wall and witness the daily illegal dumping and littering engaged in by a 
minority in the community . Merchants Road is a prime example , and one which DCC have 
failed to address despite numerous complaints over past years and face-to-face discussions 
to examine issue. I do not doubt the frustration felt by DCC staff at these problems but no 
amount of surveillance , fines issued etc (when this does actually happen) is affecting the 
behaviour of offenders.  
 
There needs to be consequences to deter this behaviour . I am aware of the reasons offered 
for not pursuing certain approaches but I believe that these can be overcome if suffecient 
will exists.  
 
Fines issued for illegal dumping should be substantial and collection enforced.  
 
Illegal dumping should be re-classified as an anti-social offence and should carry 
consequences in terms of local authority housing tenancy . Put simply - if people engage in 
illegal dumping they should be at risk of eviction. 
 
An anti illegal dumping clause should be included in private rental agreements. Landlords 
should be informed if their tenants are found guilty of offences and this should have 
implications on contracts . 
 
A name & shame policy should be pursued where the details of those convicted of illegal 
dumping offences  are made publically available. I do not believe that DCC has challenged 
the claim that this breaches data protection requirements.  
 
The waste management services should be fully restored to the local authority . As it is we 
have the ineffeciency of multiple private companies operating in the same areas , often with 
a very poor service yet DCC still maintain responsibility for cleaning up and removing other 
waste and their spill etc. In terms of finance and effeciency a local authority operated 
service is preferable , though it is clear that there may be ideological and political  barriers 
to this within DCC.  
 
The shared bins idea is interesting and worth exploring further. 
 
Thank you for your  consideration of these suggestions. 
 

  

Page 305



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 063 

 

Paul Byrne 

Enforcement measures should be strengthened further to discourage littering. There is a 

serious issue with the public littering public/green areas and beaches, particularly in good 

weather. Such offenders need to be appropriately dealt with when caught littering and 

anyone considering littering needs to be aware of the consequences. This can be achieved 

by targeted ad campaigns/warnings etc. 

  

Page 306



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 064 

 

Veronica Brady 

Whatever steps are taken they should come hand in hand with a longterm public 

educational program about our natural habit. The extent of illegal dumping is out of control. 

A survey should be comducted to understand why people are choosing to dump illegally or 

not take their rubbish home. In conjunction with this more bin warden/dog fouling wardens 

should be put out into the public space to ensure people are caught and fined. 

  

Page 307



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 065 

 

Grace Maguire 

The fact that I have been locking Dartmouth Square Park  since approx  February has given 

me a great insight into what goes on. 

We have now become a destination park for parties and the party people have christened it 

Silicon Park, 

 

Dog poo-as a dog lover myself I walk my dog around the roads and walk her miles.Dog 

walkers and others have no interest in keeping their dogs on leads particularly during the 

lockdown. As I explained to one woman humans are the priority not dogs and got dogs 

abuse. I also asked a woman to put her dog on a lead because all the children were playing 

around was abused by her.  

I’d ban dogs from parks as they are destroying them and their owners who do not follow 

rules that are displayed. They are not picking up full stop. 

 

Bins - As a party destination area we now have the pizza or the Deliveroo Guy delivering to 

the park . Everybody is eating in the Park and drinking in the Park. They are not bringing 

their rubbish and we have to go out and clean up on Saturday/Sunday. When the weather 

was really good it was on a daily basis. I know waste management we’re not geared up for 

this event but we seriously have to look at the waste left at gates as people leave no bin 

could cater for the amount of waste as could be seen outside the Parks. 

 

Dumping -people were dumping all over Ranelagh. People were spotted driving up and 

dumping stuff out of their cars. Others who do not pay for their bins are putting their waste 

into Luas bin or others bin. 

 

Litter-will only say that it is everywhere in Ranelagh. In particular at the side and rear of 

Supervalue. They have need asked to clean up but they have no intention of improving their 

habits. 

 

Graffiti  - certainly were a lot more black spots but it has improved since the developers 

have returned 

 

Finally collections - I do appreciate that the level of waste has exploded over the past six 

months and the staffing issues but it does seem that whatever good was done in the past 

with education has all been lost . 

We seem to have a six day collection on our bin and sometimes not even that because the 

guys get caught up on the bigger black spots and don’t get to us until Monday. I wouldn’t 

like you to think I’m complaining about the collection guys They had a really hard job during 

the lockdown and always had a smile on their face.perhaps we need more bins. 

Thank you for opportunity to submit some of my rankings. Good luck to you all and stay safe 

Page 308



 

 

 

  

Page 309



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 066 

 

Would like to see a penalty system for Fast Food outlets with a levy on the non-

biodegradable containers they use.  

 

Also Fast food outlets should pay more rates then non retail outlets to compensate for 

additional resources needed to clean up the litter they generate.   

 

Obviously more bins and would like to see Big Belly bins along the Dodder walkway and in 

parks to discourage illegal dumpers.    

 

We'd like to see more classical bins in the Village Cores especially in Heritage Villages such 

as Donnybrook promoting Dublin City (with Crest) and also shared space on the bins to 

allow community groups advertise clean-ups and events.   

 

Enhancement of the Autumn Leaves campaign with strategically placed leaf composting bins 

on display to encourage public participation.   

 

A blue or green flag system for Villages who comply with environmental friendly initiatives.  

 

Hope this helps.   

 

Many Thanks  

Sean Brennan  

Donnybrook TidyTowns Trustee. 

  

Page 310



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 067 

 

Cllr Cieran Perry 

There are a lot of very positive proposals in the draft Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 

and I would also like to acknowledge excellent services provided by Waste Management 

such as the recycling centres, the community cleanups, the blue bag initiatives and the 

Halloween response.    

Unfortunately the very visible issues of illegal dumping, litter and dog foul remain a serious 

problem across the city and very little in this draft plan inspires confidence that these issues 

will be addressed. Ultimately, Waste Management will be judged on the visibility of these 

problems.   

 

Similar to the current plan, this draft plan identifies three key areas around which the plan has 

been structured – Resources, Partnership and Enforcement. 

Resources:  
Waste management is a very labour intensive operation and staff resources are key. The 

increased use of technology is to be particularly welcomed but if there is no investment in 

extra staff resources this plan will fail. While recruitment has increased over the last couple 

of years it is still not at the pre economic crash levels.  

Partnership: 
While the overall proposal of a partnership with residents, communities and businesses is a 

good idea, it becomes problematic if the intention is to replace lost staff resources with 

increased community/business participation. In the past, communities have been very willing 

to engage with Dublin City Council to tackle various issues which affect them, from anti-

social behaviour to illegal dumping, but if such partnerships are to succeed communities need 

to be treated as equal partners. Support for community clean ups and the provision of a leaf 

collection service are a very successful example of a real partnership between communities 

and Dublin City Council.   

Enforcement: 
I believe the lack of enforcement in relation to illegal dumping is the major cause of what can 

only be described as a continuing waste crisis. 

The majority of residents and businesses do not engage in illegal dumping or littering. It is a 

very small minority who cause the majority of the problems. I believe enforcement is the only 

way to tackle these people. Nowhere in the draft is there a practical suggestion of how to 

improve the effectiveness of enforcement.  

The current plan proposed the establishment of a citywide enforcement team, which I believe 

would have been a good idea but the draft has no mention of such a plan. 

Enforcement Strategy: 
Statistics provided to me by the Waste Management department confirm the lack of 

enforcement. As an example, replies to questions I have submitted highlight the following: 

 The number of illegal dumping fines issued have decreased significantly between 

2015 and 2019 

 

 The number of illegal dumping fines paid remains below 50% 

 

 4 dog fouling fines were issued in 2018 and only one was paid. 

Page 311



 

 

 

 

 No dog fouling fines were issued in 2019  

 

This is a clear indication that Dublin City Council’s enforcement strategy is not working. I’m 

extremely disappointed that such poor results have not forced a review of this important 

aspect of waste management services.  

The Litter Management Plan 2016 -2018 proposed the expansion of door-to-door 

enforcement campaigns across the city but apart from a small number of pilot projects this 

proposal, which has proved successful in trials, has not progressed. In my previous 

submission I noted that “the lack of support from waste management officials outside the 

local area for the pilot and it’s continuation doesn’t inspire confidence that any expansion 

of the campaign citywide will be successful” and unfortunately my prediction was correct.   

This door-to-door enforcement is labour intensive but very effective if carried out properly. 

The costly aspect of the process is the initial household visit and subsequence visits but once 

the householder is signed up to a waste collection service there will be no requirement to 

revisit. The labour intensive aspect of the process can be seen by some of the results of two 

inner city trials – in the North Inner City approximately 600 addresses were visited reveling a 

compliance rate of 30%. After another two rounds of surveys compliance had reached over 

50%. Continuing resources would have increased the compliance rate but unfortunately this 

investment was not forthcoming. In the South Inner City investment in overtime and security 

had enabled over 3500 properties to be examined. The successful trials in both inner cities 

could provide a template for a citywide enforcement team.     

Illegal Dumping: 
I believe it is generally accepted by those within Dublin City Council’s Waste Management 

Service that the privatisation of the waste service has been an unmitigated disaster. It is the 

certainly the view of the general public who have had to suffer the consequences of this 

managerial decision. The impact of this decision is particularly evident in both North & 

South Inner City but also affects the complete Dublin City Council region. The fact that 

tourism plays such an important role in the Dublin economy should focus attention on 

ensuring that we agree on effective actions to tackle the blight of illegal dumping. It is clear 

from our experience of investigating illegal dumping that it is a small minority of residents, 

landlords and businesses who dump regularly. The majority of compliant residents should not 

have to suffer because of the minority.  

The damage done to the city’s image and reputation by the proliferation of illegal dumping 

cannot be calculated. The main route from the airport to the city centre passes through an area 

considered a dumping blackspot.      

In my submission on the current Litter Management Plan during the consultation phase I 

identified the remunicipilisation of the waste collection service as an important requirement. 

The fact that there is now political support on the council for such an action is hugely 

positive. I suspect council management remain ideologically opposed to re-entering the waste 

collection service but in the current situation DCC find themselves ‘unofficially’ providing a 

waste collection service in tackling the illegal dumping. The cost of this unofficial service is 

unknown as DCC don’t record all illegal dumping collections. An indication of the extend of 

the problem is that in the Central area alone over 100 tons of illegally dumped materials were 

collected last December. 

It has been acknowledged by senior management in DCC that there is a difficulty securing 

convictions against offenders with the judiciary being unsympathetic to the Local Authorities. 

The draft plan proposes a ‘Communications Plan’ but does not identify the courts as an area 

Page 312



 

 

 

which could benefit from increased communications. I have previously called for the Chief 

Executive to write to the Presidents of the relevant courts to highlight the difficulties being 

experienced by Dublin City Council in prosecuting individuals suspected of illegally 

dumping.     

Name & Shame: 
Naming and shaming is a very effect method of tackling illegal dumping but Dublin City 

Council have been reluctant to use this tactic due to data protection concerns. If such a 

concern is genuine and if Dublin City Council are serious about tackling illegal dumping we 

must progress  

One glaring omission from the Bye-Laws is the lack of sanction for a Waste Provider who 

doesn’t collect on the designated day. The onus is incorrectly placed on the householder 

(Holder).   

CCTV: 
Modern, high-tech, high quality surveillance technology is available and Dublin City Council 

must increase the use of such equipment in the illegal dumping blackspots. Currently the 

level of fines emanating from CCTV is disappointing.   

Dog Foul: 
Dog litter continues to be is one of the most contentious issues I have encountered and, 

despite an increase in signage, there appears to be no improvement in the proliferation of the 

problem, as can be seen from the fines issued mentioned above. The miniscule number of dog 

foul fines issued by Litter Wardens would appear to indicate either a lack of interest in 

tackling this issue or an expectation that such fines will not be paid. The draft plan again 

provides no concrete  

A pilot program in the South Inner City using a partnership between the Gardai and 

authorised council officers has proven successful but the required resources have not been 

invested by Waste Management. For a relatively small cost I believe this program could be 

rolled out citywide and have a significant effect on this disgusting problem. I believe such as 

a visible campaign would inspire public confidence in the council’s ability to tackle such a 

contentious problem.     

Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 Objectives 

There are a number of objectives listed in the draft plan which are important and worth 

highlighting. 

The proposal to trial the use of compartmentalised waste and recycling bins at selected public 

spaces and areas, to encourage recycling at street level from members of the public is an 

excellent idea. The Shared Bins BETA program will provide an opportunity to trial a process 

already common in many European countries. This trial should be rolled out in as many areas 

as possible to evaluate.   

Previous Litter Management Plans has a timeline for cleaning the various categories of streets 

and this could be checked online. This is no longer the case but the draft plan proposes 

introducing an online resource to provide information on street cleaning schedules. This will 

serve a dual purpose – providing information to the public and also identifying schedules 

which have not been met. 

Dublin City Council has introduced and will maintain a programme of street grading to 

ensure a high standard of street cleaning services is being delivered and to address any 

Page 313



 

 

 

deficits in its service delivery. The street grading programme is an ongoing measurement of 

day to day performance of operational services. New technology and the information 

gathered from the CRM system should make the street cleaning operation more efficient. 

The proposal to feed back to a member of the public who logs an incident or complaint with 

the Council through the CRM system when the incident has been dealt is another vital aspect 

of waste management if we are to convince the public that we intend to act on their 

information and complaints.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 314



 

 

 

 

 LMP/STAT 068 

 

Cllr JOE COSTELLO  
 
 Submission to Draft Litter Management Plan, 2020-22 Cllr Joe Costello  

 
 338 North Circular Road, Phibsborough, Dublin 7 M: +353 87 2450777 E: joe@joecostello.ie 

W:www.joecostello.ie Facebook/Twitter: @JoeCostelloIE  

 

 DRAFT LITTER MANAGEMENT PLAN SUBMISSION  
Litter Management is the single most common issue of complaint by residents to City Councillors 
and to the City Council itself.  
It is a continuous problem and the situation seldom improves significantly in the litter ‘hotspots’ 
even when Dublin City Council has provided further personnel and resources.  
Each year the IBAL survey shows some small changes but the areas of endemic litter and dumping 
remain stubbornly the same.  
Invariably, the North Inner City remains top of the litter list. It is soul destroying for all involved in 
tackling the problem. It is like battling against the tide.  
COVID-19 has exacerbated the problem. The closure of the Bring Centres and the Civic Amenity 
Centres for two months undoubtedly contributed to the problem. People were living and working at 
home and did a lot of spring cleaning but had nowhere to put the material they were clearing out. 
Dumping increased by at least one third.  
A special effort will be needed in the autumn to regain the ground lost since March and to begin to 
gain control of the situation again.  
The 2020-22 Draft Litter Management Plan will need to maintain all the good work that has been 
carried out to date under the 2018-2020 plan and build on it. But the new plan will have to be far 
more targeted and comprehensive and will have to tackle the causes of the problem. This is a huge 
task and will require a multidisciplinary approach, more money, more staff, more resources and new 
strategies. It also requires a new social contract with local urban communities to support local 
cleaning and weeding. In addition the problem of absentee landlords needs to addressed.  
Special Litter Task Forces need to be established for the North and South Inner Cities.  
Recommendations: Causes of the Problem & Solutions:  
1. Dublin City Council needs to be in control of the domestic municipal waste collection as well as 
street cleaning and the collection of rubbish and dumped waste matter. Only when the entire 
process of waste management comes under the control of the local authority can a truly 
comprehensive management system be put in place. We should speed up the remunicipalisation of 
waste collection. The present system of private waste collection is contributing enormously to the 
problem as multiple waste collectors are operating in each urban area, criss-crossing the city causing 
unnecessary emissions and causing confusion for residents who often put out bags and bins at 
different times and days on the same street.  

2. There is a culture of carelessness about waste across many sectors of Irish society. We must 
endeavour to change that culture. Much good work can be carried out in our schools at both primary 
and second level. Many schools for example are now Green Schools work towards addressing 
climate change by teaching children about the environment to respect and protect it. Green Schools 
should also be Clean Schools and the importance of dealing with litter, rubbish dumping, dog dirt 
etc. should be treated as being equally important as traffic emissions and global warming.  
Submission to Draft Litter Management Plan, 2020-22 Cllr Joe Costello  

Page 315



 

 

 

 

Page 316



 

 

 

 
3. Legislation and bye-laws dealing with waste management are largely about addressing bad 
behaviour through fines and penalties. These are necessary but do not address the causes of the 
problem. Much of the problem comes from rented accommodation. I believe that landlords and 
management companies should be made jointly responsible with their tenants for waste 
management. To do so would require an amendment to the Litter Pollution Acts.  

 

In the meantime, the recent bye-laws for the storage, presentation and segregation of household 
and commercial waste should be strictly implemented.  
4. Dublin City Council is of course the biggest landlord in the City and has a particular responsibility 
to ensure that all its tenants and their families are fully aware of what is required to keep their 
homes and complexes clean and tidy and dispose properly of their waste. DCC should draw up a 
special strategy for each DCC housing complex and a special task force consisting of councillors, 
residents and DCC officials should be established to implement it.  

5. The new Government will undoubtedly have a special focus on the environment and waste 
management. Thus, there should be an injection of funding for resources and staffing to implement 
new policies Funding from central Government is crucial to tackling the problem comprehensively. 
Dublin City Council should immediately campaign for greatly increased funding from Government.  

 

LITTER MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES  
1. The present DCC area-based approach is the correct one. It should operate on a grid system and 
every street should be covered every day. Streets that are littered on a daily basis are not 
susceptible to cleaning in the normal fashion and will require special measures. Otherwise they 
simply exhaust resources. A special Task-Force needs to be established for the North Inner City.  

2. The Fleet of vehicles used by DCC should be electric and emission free. The fleet and staff need to 
be increased by 50%.  

3. Mobile cameras should be widely used with public signs warning of prosecution, including naming 
and shaming.  

4. Some areas have strong communities and strong engagement by residents. Dublin city Council can 
work closely with these communities. Where communities are not strong and have few structures, 
DCC should endeavour to engage with these communities and provide support for them to 
participate more fully.  

5. DCC should provide a wide range of centres for people to recycle their waste. For example, there 
is no public facility for composting organic waste matter, including food. This should be provided in 
greatly expanded and increased Bring Centres. Consideration should also be given to providing black 
bin facilities in Grangegorman and other Bring Centres.  

6. Most people do a spring cleaning of their households each year. Dumping can happen as it did on 
a large scale during Covid-19 because people were at home for a long period, cleaning sheds and 
attics and rooms of unwanted material. There should be a free bulk collection at a certain time each 
year foreach area and for all households.  

7. The cleaning of streets can be difficult where car-parking is allowed. We should follow the 
example of the US and many European countries which facilitate cleaning of alternative sides of each 
street each week by banning cars from parking on both sides for a specified period once a week.  

 

ENDS 

 

 

Page 317



 

 

 

LMP/STAT 069 
 
 

 Stoneybatter Pride of Place  
Submission to the Draft Litter Management Plan  
Introduction to Stoneybatter Pride of Place  
Stoneybatter Pride of Place (POP) is a voluntary organisation comprising residents, businesses 
and community groups in the Stoneybatter area. We have over 400 on our mailing list and 
several thousand followers on social media (Facebook, Twitter and Instagram).  
In 2016 Stoneybatter won the All-Ireland Pride of Place award as the premier urban heritage 
village in Ireland.  
Team Dublin Clean-up 2019  

The aim of Stoneybatter POP is to seek to make the area a safe, sustainable and attractive place 
to live and work and to build up a strong sense of urban community. We conduct regular clean-
ups of the streets and plants shrubs and flowers in public places. We organise the annual three-
day Stoneybatter Summer Festival which attracts more than 10,000 people. We engage with the 
local primary and secondary schools and with the new Technological University in 
Grangegorman which will have 10,000 students on campus by the end of the year. We provide 
support for senior citizens’ groups in the area such as An Síol and also Brother Kevin, at the 
Capuchin Day Centre. We work with the local business community and provide a range of 
activities including the installation of lights on the trees of the village at Christmas. We promote 
sporting and cultural activities such as films, music, concerts, boxing and football.  
All projects are viewed in the context of the benefits they can bring the area and the 15,000 
residents who live in Stoneybatter and in its environs. Stoneybatter has a larger population than 
most towns in Ireland and has more than half the population of Leitrim!  
The population of the area is set to increase dramatically with over 6,000 student 
accommodation beds already built or under construction, the redevelopment of the 16-acre 
residential site at O’Devaney Gardens and the development of the Technological University 
Dublin (TU Dublin) Campus at Grangegorman. Stoneybatter Pride of Place Submission to Draft 
Litter Management Plan 2  

 

Page 318



 

 

 

Stoneybatter Pride of Place welcomes this opportunity to make a submission to the Draft Litter 
Management Plan.  
We wish to acknowledge the open and productive engagement we have had with Dublin City 
Council Waste Management Department and the local Area Office in organising our monthly 
clean-ups and the positive impact City Neighbourhoods and Pride of Place competitions have 
had on our community.  
We also with to acknowledge the support of the Waste management in supporting our annual 
Stoneybatter Festival.  

Draft Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022  
The Dublin City Council Litter Plan for the next two years is a substantial document. It 
demonstrates the many strategies that have been developed in recent years to tackle the 
problem of litter and dumping in many of our urban communities in the City and proposes to 
build on those.  
However, it is discouraging for all concerned when littering continues despite all the best efforts 
that are made.  
At all times we must be prepared to develop new measures and new strategies.  
In Stoneybatter, Dublin City Council carries out its regular sweeping and litter removal. 
Stoneybatter Pride of Place conducts a monthly clean-up which involves 30 – 40 members of the 
community. Most streets are cleaned and some streets are weeded. Dublin City Council 
provides the equipment and collects the bags of rubbish afterwards.  
This year the Stoneybatter Festival took place on 19th to 21st June. Dublin City Council carried out 
a special clean-up over the three days and assisted with graffiti removal.  
Despite the good relationship between DCC and the Community, litter, rubbish, dog dirt remain 
the main problems that concern people in the area.  
We wish to make the following recommendations to the Draft Litter Management Plan:  
1. A greater presence of street cleaners in the main village and surrounding streets would be 
welcome. More resources need to be spent on personnel and equipment.  

2. At present our residential streets outside the main village are swept just once every 12 weeks. 
While DCC state that an Area Inspector may increase this rate, the residential streets are not 
swept on a weekly basis and it is not clear when streets will be swept. The Draft Litter 
Management Plan commits to publishing the schedule of street cleaning. This is both necessary 
and welcome.  

3. It is disappointing to see streets that have been swept still quite dirty. Underneath parked 
cars and the kerb side of cars often remain untouched. The US system of doing different sides of 
streets on alternate days should be trialled in Stoneybatter.  
Stoneybatter Pride of Place Submission to Draft Litter Management Plan 3  

 

Page 319



 

 

 

 
4. Many of the worst litter offenders live in landlord multi-unit accommodation. We believe that 
landlords and management companies should be held jointly responsible with the 
tenants/occupiers for breaches of the byelaws related to waste management. This may require 
changes to primary legislation, the Litter Pollution Acts and DCC should put appropriate 
proposals to Government.  

 

5. The new byelaws for the storage, presentation and segregation of household and commercial 
waste should be strictly implemented.  

6. The praiseworthy initiative by DCC to knock on doors and check if households are registered 
with a legal waste provider must be continued until every household is investigated. Many 
households are flouting the law.  

7. The use of CCTV can be very effective in identifying people who are regularly in breach of 
proper waste disposal. Mobile cameras should be used extensively and culprits should be 
prosecuted, named and shamed.  

8. There is a problem of overflowing bins in the Village. The Draft Litter Management Plan 
commits to rolling out QR codes on all bins to facilitate reporting of bins that are full and 
overflowing. These have not yet been installed in Stoneybatter. There is a need for more public 
bins in the Village which would be emptied on a regular basis.  

9. The use of innovative technological solutions should be rolled out across the area. Waste 
Management section has collaborated with tech companies through Enterprise Ireland Small 
Business Innovation Research projects. Projects included the use of drone technology, battery 
cameras that acted as a deterrent by sounding a noise when dumping was detected and the 
data analytics. Consideration should be given to scaling up some of these projects and 
Stoneybatter would be an ideal testing ground for further innovations.  

10. Dublin City Council should advertise and roll out apps such as See It Say It and support 
citizen initiatives such as the Open Litter Map which maps plastic waste globally.  

11. There is a need for a free Bulky Items collection annually to enable households get rid of 
unwanted furniture without some causing unsightly dumping. There have been many household 
clear-outs over the COVID-19 lockdown and the level of dumping of furniture etc. has increased. 
A free collection as we emerge from lockdown and thereafter once annually would be welcome.  

12. The existing City Neighbourhood Awards should be continued and expanded and the Dublin 
Community Clean-up Day should be promoted in all City communities.  

13. Citizen awareness is essential to success. There should be local workshops for local 
communities with built in local supports and incentives.  
Stoneybatter Pride of Place Submission to Draft Litter Management Plan 4  

 

Page 320



 

 

 

 
14. There should be greater engagement between waste management and the Parks 
Department. The Greening Stoneybatter project provides an excellent opportunity to develop 
such co-operation. Stoneybatter was recently recognised as Ireland’s first Pollinator Friendly 
Community.  
 
15. As the street spraying is discontinued there is a need to have a weeding programme in place. 
While residents are positive about the decision not to spray, there is still a need to remove 
weeds from the street.  

16. DCC is involved in Green Schools at primary and second-level. These should be refocussed 
on Green and Clean Schools with a special emphasis on litter and rubbish.  

17. Finally, we suggested that it is time to build up a stronger relationship between DCC waste 
management and local communities and build a working partnership. This is in everyone’s 
interests.  
 
Yours sincerely  
JOE COSTELLO DAVINA SMITH LOUISE KEEGAN  
CHAIRPERSON SECRETARY TREASURER 

Page 321





 

 

 

  

 

2020 
 

 

STRATEGIC 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSSMENT 
SCREENING REPORT OF 
THE DUBLIN CITY L IT TER 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 
2020-2022.  

Prepared  under S.I. 435 of 2004 as amended for Dublin City Council  

Page 323



1 
 

CONTENTS  
1 Dublin City Council Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 ................................................................................. 3 

1.1 Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.2 Aim and Purpose of the Draft Plan .......................................................................................................... 3 

Figure A: Planning Hierarchy ..................................................................................................................... 4 

2 Environmental Considerations ....................................................................................................................... 4 

2.1 Biodiversity, Flora and Fauna ............................................................................................................... 4 

2.2 Population and Human Health ............................................................................................................. 5 

2.3 Soil and Geology ................................................................................................................................. 5 

2.4 Water Resources ................................................................................................................................. 6 

2.5 Air and Climatic Factors ....................................................................................................................... 6 

2.6 Material Assets ................................................................................................................................... 7 

2.7 Cultural Heritage ................................................................................................................................. 7 

2.8 Landscape ........................................................................................................................................... 8 

3  Schedule 2a Screening Assessment ........................................................................................................... 9 

3.1 Introduction............................................................................................................................................ 9 

Table 2a SEA Screening ............................................................................................................................. 9 

3.2 Conclusion to SEA Screening Assessment .............................................................................................. 12 

3.3 Consultation with environmental authorities ..................................................................................... 12 

Annex A: Detailed commentary ...................................................................................................................... 13 

A1. Introduction...................................................................................................................................... 13 

SEA commentary on the Implementation and Monitoring Plan: ............................................................... 22 

 

This report has been prepared by Minogue Environmental Consulting 

Ltd with all reasonable skill, care and diligence. Information report 

herein is based on the interpretation of data collected and has been 

accepted in good faith as being accurate and valid.  This report is 

prepared for Dublin City Council and we accept no responsibility to 

third parties to whom this report, or any part thereof, is made known. 

Any such party relies on the report at their own risk. 

 

Page 324



2 
 

  

Page 325



3 
 

1  DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL LITTER MANAGEMENT PLAN 2020-
2022 

1.1  INTRODUCTION  
The European Union Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive (2001/42/EC) requires an 

environmental assessment be carried out for all plans that are prepared for certain specified sectors, 

including transport of which the proposed Dublin City Council Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

relates.  

The following Regulations transpose this Directive into Irish law:  

• The European Communities (Environmental Assessment of Certain Plans and Programmes) 

Regulations 2004 (S.I. 435 of 2004),  

• The Planning and Development (Strategic Environmental Assessment) Regulations 2004 (S.I. 

436 of 2004) and further amended by  

• S.I. No. 200 of 2011 (European Communities (Environmental Assessment of Certain Plans 

and Programmes) (Amendment) Regulations 2011) and S.I. No. 201 of 2011 (Planning and 

Development (Strategic Environmental Assessment) (Amendment) Regulations 2011).  

In deciding whether a particular plan is likely to have significant environmental effects, regard must 

be had to the criteria set out in Annex II of the SEA Directive. The approach to this screening 

assessment is to identify the relevant sections of the Litter Management Plan (hereafter called the 

draft plan) and thereafter to assess same for potential environmental effects.  Section Three of this 

report assesses these against the criteria contained in Schedule 2a of the Regulations.  This 

Screening Assessment is being prepared under the European Communities (Environmental 

Assessment of Certain Plans and Programmes) Regulations 2004 (S.I. 435 of 2004).  

1.2  AIM AND PURPOSE OF THE DRAFT PL AN  
The 2020- 2022 Litter Management Plan has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

the Litter Pollution Act 1997 to 2009. The Plan has been developed in consultation with Dublin City 

Council staff, elected representatives and with the citizens of Dublin who live and work in the city 

through the statutory consultation process. 

The plan is built on the three pillars of litter management in the City: Resources, Partnership and 

Enforcement. Effective management of litter can be achieved when we make the best use of the 

human resources, skills and knowledge from Dublin City Council, coupled with improvements in 

service delivery, by working together with the public, residents and businesses who call Dublin home 

and by taking enforcement action on those who do not respect our shared environment and illegally 

dump waste materials, fail to clean up after their pets and incidentally litter the city.  

The aims, objectives and actions for the management and prevention of litter are outlined for each 

key area and are to be undertaken during the lifetime of the Litter Management Plan.  

The overall aim is to improve the standard and consistency of cleanliness throughout the city for 

residents, businesses and visitors over the lifetime of this plan.  Successful initiatives, projects and 

operational activities that have been implemented over the lifetime of previous litter management 

plans will continue and improvements will be sought in all aspects of service delivery. 

Page 326



4 
 

As well as the objectives of the draft plan, a implementation and monitoring plan is including as well 

as key performance indicators. Please see Annex A for this. 

Figure A below illustrates where the draft Plan is situated within the landuse planning hierarchy.  

Each of these land use strategies have been subject to the SEA process.   

F IGURE A:  PL ANNING HIERARC H Y  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2  ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS  
The SEA Environmental Report of the Dublin City Development Plan 2016-20221, provides the 

following descriptions of the environmental resources around the County:  

2.1  B IOD IVERSITY ,  FL ORA AND  FAUNA 

Dublin city is a largely urban environment and is partially built on reclaimed or in-filled lands. The 

city and its bay, as a natural harbour at the confluence of several river basins, contain a variety of 

ecosystems that are biologically diverse and of international and national importance for the species 

which inhabit them and their associations. The ecological value of these areas is a resource for 

Dublin’s citizens and remarkable for such an urbanised capital city. 

The City Council has an objective to promote connectivity of habitats and the enhancement of green 

corridors of public open space both for biodiversity and amenity values. The system of freshwater 

streams, rivers, estuarine habitats and beaches that is managed by Dublin City Council provides a 

network of connected natural areas, part of the green infrastructure of Dublin city. To protect and 

enhance this natural asset, several management plans have been prepared for all aspects, including 

biodiversity and flora and fauna, for the Dodder, Tolka, Liffey and North Bull Island. Habitat 

management plans have also been prepared for a number of city parks, including Bushy Park and Le 

Fanu Park.  

North Dublin Bay is a candidate SAC and includes North Bull Island. The site straddles both Dublin 

City and Fingal County Council administrative areas and covers the inner part of North Dublin Bay, 

 
1 The description of environmental considerations is taken from the SEA ER of the 

Dublin City Development Plan 2016-2022 and the SEA ER of the Dublin City Climate 

Change Action Plan 2019-2024. 

National Planning Policy and Guidelines 

Regional Economic and Spatial 

Strategies  

Dublin City Development Plan 2016-

2022 

Local Area Plans 

Dublin City Litter Management Plan 

2020-2022 

Page 327



5 
 

the seaward boundary extending from the North Bull Wall Lighthouse to the Martello Tower at 

Howth Head.  South Dublin Bay is also candidate SAC. This site includes Booterstown Marsh, along 

the city boundary and straddles both Dublin City and Dún Laoghaire-Rathdown County Council 

administrative areas. The site lies south of the River Liffey and extends from the South Wall to the 

West Pier at Dún Laoghaire. The new habitats at Merrion Gates and just south is becoming 

increasingly important for roosting waterfowl and includes embryonic dunes and a sand spit. The 

largest stand of eelgrass on the east coast occurs within this designated area at Merrion Gates. 

 
The offshore SAC designated in the Irish Sea is – Rockabill to Dalkey Island SAC. This SAC is outside 

the Dublin city boundary, approximately 2.4 km off the Dublin coastline and is designated for reefs 

and the harbour porpoise. 

 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs) are sites which are legally protected for birds under the EU Birds 

Directive. There are two in Dublin City: South Dublin Bay and River Tolka Estuary SPA and North Bull 

Island SPA. 

2.2  POPUL ATION AND  HUMAN HEAL TH  

Dublin City Council, one of four planning authorities in the Dublin Region, covers approximately 115 

km2.  

The human health impacts relevant to SEA are those which arise as a result of interactions with 

environmental receptors, e.g., environmental components such as air, water or soil through which 

contaminants or pollutants, which have the potential to cause harm and can be transported so that 

they come into contact with human beings.. The creation of a ‘healthy and clean, green, vibrant, 

inclusive and safe’ urban environment is central in the city’s current and future planning policies. 

2.3  SOIL  AND GEOL OGY  

Much of Dublin is dominated by rocks of Carboniferous age. During the early Carboniferous period, 

the eastern part of Ireland underwent uplift and erosion. Following this, there was a period of 

general subsidence in the area. This subsidence permitted the sea to invade the lower ground from 

the south during the Carboniferous age. Continued subsidence resulted in shallow and then deeper 

marine sediments accumulating across most of Dublin city and the county. The depth of the sea and 

type of seabed varied from place to place, as did the rate of sedimentation and so a variety of 

carbonate sediments were produced in the area. 

The calp limestone, which covers most of Dublin, was deposited in the basins that formed over 300 

million years ago. Thick sequences of muds and muddy limestones accumulated in the basins, 

sometimes showing graded bedding. The calp Limestone itself is comprised of dark grey, fine-

grained, graded limestone with interbedded black, poorly fossilised shales. 

The soil of Dublin is derived from glacial till of Irish Sea origin, with limestone and shale and is largely 

comprised of grey-brown podzols. Lighter-textured grey-brown podzolics are good all-purpose soils, 

while heavier-textured members are highly suited to pasture production, responding well to 

manurial and management practices. The coast of Dublin has a layer of alluvium overlying the 

topsoil, which is a result of the low-lying status of the city. This sequence of soils remains only in 

Page 328



6 
 

undisturbed areas of the coast. As Dublin is a very built-up city, much of the topsoil and alluvium 

have long since been removed.2  

The majority of soils in Dublin city are characterised under the Soil Information System as ‘urban’ 

soils, i.e., soils that have been disturbed, moved and manipulated by human activities. Urban soils 

are generally overlain by a non-agricultural, man-made layer formed from mixing, infilling or 

contamination by industrial uses. At the fringes of the city, the soil is characterised as fine, loamy 

drift with limestones and siliceous stones, particularly underlying the Phoenix Park, with river and 

lake alluviums in the Tolka and Liffey valleys.  

Given the urban nature of certain areas within the City and the range of land use activities which 

have taken place historically, soils may have been contaminated to some degree in the past in 

certain areas. Such contamination has the potential to affect water quality, biodiversity and flora 

and fauna and human health.  

2.4  WATER RESOURC ES  

The city is situated within the Dublin and Liffey Bay catchment.  This catchment includes the area 

drained by the River Liffey and by all streams entering tidal water between Sea Mount and Sorrento 

Point, Co. Dublin, draining a total area of 1,616km². The largest urban centre in the catchment is 

Dublin City. The other main urban centres are Dun Laoghaire, Lucan, Clonee, Dunboyne, Leixlip, 

Maynooth, Kilcock, Celbridge, Newcastle, Rathcoole, Clane, Kill, Sallins, Johnstown, Naas, 

Newbridge, Athgarvan, Kilcullen and Blessington. The total population of the catchment is 

approximately 1,255,000. The Liffey catchment contains the largest population of any catchment in 

Ireland and is characterised by a sparsely populated, upland south eastern area underlain by granites 

and a densely populated, flat, low lying limestone area over the remainder of the catchment basin. 

Surface Waters: The principal rivers flowing through the Dublin city area are the Camac, Dodder, 

Liffey, Santry and Tolka. There are three designated bathing waters within the Dublin City Council 

area at Dollymount, Merrion Strand and Sandymount. 

Groundwater: The overall status of the Groundwater is good; the main risks are from urban derived 

pressures. 

Flood Risk: A Strategic Flood Risk assessment was undertaken for the County Development Plan. 

2.5  AIR AND  CL IMATIC  FAC TORS  

The Air Quality Index for health (EPA) provides air quality information with health advice for both the 

general public and people sensitive to air pollution. The index is displayed on a colour-coded map, 

updated hourly. The index is based on information from monitoring instruments at representative 

locations in each region.   Dublin City is located in Zone A. 

Dublin City Council Climate Change Adaptation Plan 2019-2024 was approved in 2019 and provides 

the action plan and objectives for climate change over a five year period. 

 
2 Environmental Impact Statement, Sutton to Sandycove (S2S) Project. 

Page 329



7 
 

In general, low environmental sound levels can contribute significantly to the good health and 

quality of life for the population in Dublin city. Co-ordinated and sustained effort is required to 

protect those areas that have low environmental sound levels and to improve areas that are deemed 

to have undesirable high levels. The use and enjoyment of many natural resources, such as our 

green spaces and sea frontage can be further enhanced through the preservation of low sound levels 

or the reduction in undesirably high levels, thus providing respite from the noisy ‘hustle and bustle’ 

often experienced in the busy urban environment.  

2.6  MATERIAL  ASSETS  

Material assets are defined as the critical infrastructure essential for the functioning of society such 

as water supply, wastewater treatment, transportation etc. The SEA Environmental Report will 

address the following:  

Transportation: The existing public transport network currently comprises bus, DART and the Luas 

tram lines.  In June 2015 the NTA and Dublin City Council published their joint Dublin City Transport 

Study which sets out proposals to enhance movement within and across the city and to facilitate a 

modal shift to greater use of public transport, cycling and walking. A total of circa 1,200km of road is 

currently in the charge of Dublin City Council. The roads are of varying quality and are maintained on 

a demand/priority basis. 

Waste Management: A new Regional Waste Management Plan for the Eastern and Midlands Region 

was adopted in 2015.  Energy recovery forms part of this plan and Dublin City will be committing a 

certain amount of waste to the thermal treatment plant in Ringsend within Dublin City Councils 

administrative area, the construction and use of which forms a part of the waste management 

strategy for the Greater Dublin Area. 

Water Supply : The County is largely served by the Greater Dublin Water Supply Area (GDWSA).  It is 

anticipated that Dublin will need a new major water source by 2025, based on projection of growth 

in the Greater Dublin Area.  Irish Water is currently planning the development of a new major water 

source for the East and Midlands which will include supplying projected demand in the GDA water 

supply area. Irish Water is also currently implementing a major water conservation programme in 

order to maximise the availability of treated water from current sources.  Currently, more than 84% 

of Dublin’s water capacity relies on the river Liffey. The Bohernabreena reservoir and waterworks 

located in the Glenasmole valley is managed by Dublin City Council. The reservoir supplies 

approximately 35,000 households in the southern central part of Dublin city. 

Waste Water: The Greater Dublin Drainage Scheme will represent a significant wastewater 

infrastructure development for the Greater Dublin Regional area which will allow for an 

underground orbital sewer and two pumping stations, a new wastewater treatment plan at 

Clonshaugh (in Dublin City County) and an outfall pipe located 6km out to sea from Baldoyle Bay. A 

planning application accompanied by an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and Natura Impact 

Statement (NIS) was approved by An Bord Pleanala in 2019. 

2.7  CUL TURAL  HERITAGE  

Dublin is an ancient city with many sites of archaeological, architectural and cultural heritage 

importance. The city is rich in archaeology and has a diverse range of monuments covering a number 

Page 330



8 
 

of historic eras. It is deemed that the plan area is of high archaeological potential due to the 

potential for the presence of hitherto unknown sub-surface archaeological remains. 

There are currently just over 9000 structures listed for protection in the Record of Protected 

Structures.  There are currently 14 ACAs in Dublin city and these include: O’Connell Street, Grafton 

Street and environs, Prospect Square – De Courcy Square, South City Retail Quarter, Dartmouth 

Square and environs, Marino, Capel Street and environs, Marino Casino, Thomas Street and 

environs, Chapelizod and environs, Fitzwilliam Square and environs, Mountjoy Square, 

Westmoreland Park, Sandymount, Temple Place, Colliers Avenue, Elmpark Avenue and Elmwood 

Avenue, Ranelagh Avenue and Crumlin. 

2.8  LAND SC APE  

The city landscape consists of the public and private landscape of the city. It fulfils an array of 

environmental, ecological, social, recreational and aesthetic functions of the developing city.  The 

modern city has developed over the original natural landscape of the lower reaches of the river 

Liffey and the coastline.   The city park system forms one of the most recognisable components of 

the modern city landscape. 

 

  

Page 331



9 
 

3   SCHEDULE 2A SCREENING ASSESSMENT  

3.1  INTRODUCTION  
The following section and table below presents the SEA screening assessment of the draft Plan 

against the criteria provided in Schedule 2a of the Planning and Development (Strategic 

Environmental Assessment) Regulations 2001-2011 which details the criteria for determining 

whether a plan or programme is likely to have significant effects on the environment.  The Screening 

assessment should be read in conjunction with the draft plan as well as the Habitats Directive 

Screening report.  

TABL E 2A SEA  SC REENING 

Criteria for determining whether the proposed draft Plan is  likely to have significant effects on the 

environment 

1.   The characteristics of the Plan having regard, in particular, to: 

the degree to which the Plan sets a framework for projects and other activities, either with regard 

to the location, nature, size and operating conditions or by allocating resources, 

The Plan provides detail on actions that will address litter management, and reduction within the city 

council area including resources, partnership and enforcement.   Actions include solar bins, 

maintaining stock of public litter bins, Halloween waste management, working with communities and 

enforcement of litter regulations, awareness raising and CCTV in litter black spots. These do not, in and 

of themselves give rise to significant landuse effects and more broadly by addressing and improving 

litter management, positive effects are identified in terms of population and human health, landscape 

and biodiversity and water. 

The draft plan is underpinned ty the statutory landuse framework the Dublin City Development Plan 

2016-2022 and the relevant bylaws and regulations pertaining to Litter.  

the degree to which the  Plan influences other plans, including those in a hierarchy, 

The plan is prepared in line with the requirements of the Litter Pollution Act 1997 to 2009. The plan in 

and of itself does not influence other plans but contributes to environmental management through 

litter reduction and control.  

the relevance of the Draft Plan in the integration of environmental considerations in particular with 

a view to promoting sustainable development, 

The plan highlights working with communities and various actions that aim to reduce and control litter 

and address specific issues such as illegal dumping and waste arising from certain events such as 

Halloween. In this regard the plan supports the integration of environmental considerations through 

reduction of litter, control and management of litter with awareness raising and enforcement.  

Therefore, the plan is considered to augment and integrate environmental considerations with a view 

to promoting sustainable development. 

Environmental problems relevant to the Draft Plan  

The SEA ER of the Dublin City Development Plan 2016-2022 provides considerable detail on 

Page 332



10 
 

environmental problems relevant to the City Council area.   The environmental report conducted as 

part of the SEA process on the entire content of the Dublin City CDP 2016- 2022 discussed various 

issues of concern in the plan area  and provided various mitigating measure to decrease impacts 

considered to be severe or significant.  In terms of waste management of which litter is an element the 

following commentary is provided in the SEA ER of the CDP 2016-2022: 

A range of issues has been identified for waste management in Dublin city. These include localised as 

well as more strategic issues: contribute to meeting the strategic Eastern-Midlands Regional Waste 

Plan targets; reuse of materials rather than the use of new materials in development; a proportion of 

building materials should be from recycled materials such as concrete, brick or stone; use of renewable 

materials and those low embodied energy materials and low toxic materials; biowaste is a valuable 

resource and its recycling should continue to be encouraged; continued encouragement of reuse, up-

cycling and recycling and a move away from landfill in order to meet the targets of the Landfill 

Directive.  

Strategic waste issues related to the entire Eastern-Midlands Region as well as Dublin city include: the 

assessment of historic and unregulated legacy landfill/illegal dump sites; lack of a third or fourth bin in 

some areas which would allow for better segregation of waste; illegal waste storage and non-

compliant businesses; inconsistencies in the classification and thus inappropriate disposal of 

construction and demolition waste as mixed or municipal waste, given the significant potential for 

recycling this material; current over-reliance on the export of residual waste streams abroad for 

processing and recovery.  

The Draft Plan does not conflict with the objectives of the Development Plan, and should actions be 

developed over time they will be in line with the local authority mandate and therefore compliant with 

provisions of the Dublin City CDP 2016-2022 and supporting environmental assessments and guidance. 

the relevance of the Draft Plan to the implementation of European Union legislation on the 

environment (e.g. plans linked to waste-management or water protection). 

The plan has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Litter Pollution Act 1997 to 

2009.  The Litter Pollution Act, 1997, as amended by the Waste Management (Amendment) Act 2001 

and the Protection of the Environment Act 2003, introduced strong penalties in Ireland to help combat 

the problems of litter pollution more effectively.  The draft plan does not explicitly relate to EU 

Directives but is relates to the wider issues of Waste Management which is covered by a suite of EU 

Directives mainly the EU Waste Management Directive 2008. 

2.   Characteristics of the effects and of the area likely to be affected, having regard, in 

particular, to: 

the probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the effects, 

No significant landuse effects are identified at the plan level.  However, positive effects and 

interactions are identified for a number of Strategic Environmental Objectives around Population and 

Human Health (PH11), Water (W1) and Material Assets (MA1); therefore no significant adverse effects 

are identified.   

Page 333



11 
 

the cumulative nature of the effects, 

Given the nature, scale and objectives of the draft plan, adverse cumulative effects are not identified 

to arise.   

the transboundary nature of the effects 

Again, given the focus of the plan on the city council area, and many of the actions being a street and 

or local scale, no transboundary effects are identified. 

the risks to human health or the environment (e.g. due to accidents), 

As above, the draft plan is not identified as giving rise to effects that would present as risks to human 
health or the environment.  Positive effects are identified in relation to cleaner streets and reduction 
and management of litter. 

the magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and size of the population likely 

to be affected). 

No landuse effects or areas identified for physical development at strategic scale. 

 the value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected due to: 

(a) special natural characteristics or cultural heritage 

Dublin City has numerous areas designated under natural and cultural heritage.  The Draft Plan will not 
set the context for landuse or development activities outside of that already facilitated within existing 
landuse plans and therefore no areas likely to be affected are identified. 

(b) exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values, 

It is anticipated that environmental quality standards will not be exceeded by the draft Plan as it aims 
to implement measures to reduce and manage litter. 

(c) intensive land-use,  

The draft Plan does not provide for additional landuse or intensification of same;  therefore such 
effects are not identified. 

(d) the effects on areas or landscapes which have a recognised national, European Union 

or international protection status. 

The Dublin City CDP 2016-202 recognises the importance of sites with National and European 

designations and sets out policies and objectives for their protection.  These include sites designated 

under the EU Birds, and Habitats Directive, Dublin Bay Biosphere and Nature Reserves amongst others. 

It is not considered that the implementation of the Draft Plan will have significant negative effects on 

areas or landscapes which have recognised national, European Union or international protection 

status.    

A Screening Statement in support of the Habitats Directive has been prepared in tandem with this SEA 

Screening to assess if likely significant effects arise in relation to conservation management objectives 

of European Sites and the draft plan.  This has found that no such effects are identified.   

Page 334



12 
 

3.2  CONCLUSION TO SEA  SCREENING AS SESSMENT  
Section 9 (1) of the (2004) Regulations (S.I. No. 435) (as amended) states “subject to sub-article (2), 

an environmental assessment shall be carried out for all plans and programmes   

(a) which are prepared for agriculture, forestry, fisheries, energy, industry, transport, waste 

management, water management, telecommunications, tourism and town and country planning or 

land use, and which set the framework for future development consent of projects listed in Annexes I 

and II to the Environmental Impact Assessment Directive, or ” 

(b) which are not directly connected with or necessary to the management of a European site but, 

either individually or in combination with other plans, are likely to have a significant effect on any 

such site.”. 

The Litter Management Plan 2020 -2022  has been prepared by Dublin City Council to set out 

objectives and actions relating to litter management, specifically around resources, partnership and 

enforcement. It has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Litter Pollution Act 

1997 to 2009. The Plan has been developed in consultation with Dublin City Council staff, elected 

representatives and with the citizens of Dublin who live and work in the city through the statutory 

consultation process. 

In and of itself, the draft plan does not set the framework for future development consent of 

projects listed in the EIA Directive in Annex I and II.   In this regard, the draft plan will not be placing 

limits on activities or development, influence location, nature, size or operating conditions nor will 

they dictate or specifically direct the allocation of resources at this juncture.  

 

The Screening Statement in support of Appropriate Assessment undertaken on this Draft Plan has 

likewise determined no Stage 2 Appropriate Assessment is required in relation to the draft plan. 

 

Therefore, on the basis of the above assessment and consideration of the criteria as set out in 

Schedule 2a of the Regulations 2011 (as amended)  it is considered the Dublin City Litter 

Management Plan 2020-2022 is unlikely to give rise to significant environmental effects and does 

not require full SEA.   

 

3.3  CONSUL TATION WITH  ENVIRONMENTAL  AUTH ORITIES  

The draft Litter Management Plan, and accompanying SEA Screening and Screening statement in 

support of appropriate assessment will be issued to statutory consultees for a four week period from 

Friday 11th September to Friday 9th October 2020 inclusive.  Upon receipt of submissions,  a SEA 

Determination will be prepared. 

 

 

  

Page 335



13 
 

ANNEX A:  DETAILED COMMENTARY  

A1.  INTROD UC TION 

In undertaking the SEA Screening assessment, the Environmental  Protection Objectives (EPOs) 

prepared for the Dublin City Development Plan 2016-2022  were used, these are as follows: 

TABLE 1A  ENVIRONMENTAL PRO TECTION OBJECTIVES FROM DUBLIN CITY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2016-2022 SEA  ER. 

Environmental 
Receptor 

Environmental Protection Objectives 

Population and 
Human Health 

(PHH1) 

To create a sustainable compact city and a high quality safe environment in 
which to live, work and/ or visit. 

Biodiversity / 
Flora and Fauna 

(BFF1) 

To protect and where appropriate, enhance the diversity of habitats, species, 
ecosystems and geological features. 

Climatic Factors  

(CF1) 

Contribute to the mitigation of/ and adaptation to climate change and 
implement requirements of Strategic Flood Risk assessment.  

Air Quality 

(AQ1) 

Minimise emission of pollutants to air associated with development activities 
and maintain acoustic quality. 

Water 

(W1) 

To protect and where necessary improve the quality and management of 
watercourses and groundwater, in compliance with the requirements of all 
water and habitat based legislation including the River Basin Management Plan 
of the Eastern River Basin District. 

Material Assets  

(MA1) 

To make best use of Dublin city’s infrastructure and material assets and to 
promote the sustainable development of new infrastructure to meet the needs 
of the city’s population 

Cultural Heritage 

(CH1) 

To protect and where appropriate enhance the character, diversity and qualities 
of Dublin city’s cultural, including architectural and archaeological, heritage 

Landscape and 
Soils (L1) 

To protect and where appropriate enhance the character, diversity and special 
qualities of Dublin city’s landscapes and soils 

 

 

The Table below provides a commentary of the relevant sections of the Dublin City Council draft 

Litter Management Plan 2020-2022. 

  

Page 336



14 
 

 

TABLE 2 SEA  COMMENTARY OF RELEVANT SECTIONS OF THE LITTER MANAGEMENT PLAN 2020-2022 

Objectives and actions SEA Commentary 

OBJECTIVE: Resources: 
Resources for street cleaning and litter 
management 

Resources allocation in a targeted manner are 
consistent with EPS in particular PH1 and MA1 

Street Cleaning and Litter Bins 

Dublin City Council will increase the number 
of handcarts in operation both in the city and 
the main streets of villages ensuing operatives 
can maintain the previous standards of 
cleanliness with the anticipated increase in 
footfall. 

The actions within this section all aim to reduce, 
manage and deal effectively with littering through 
a variety of actions. 
These aim to reduce overall litter levels in the 
streets as well as promoting recycling (such as 
Leaf Composting action and recycling 
infrastructure). 
The action relating to Halloween bonfires and 
diversion of materials used in such bonfires are 
also positive. 
Key positive effects are in particular related to 
MA1, PHH1 and L1 
 

Dublin City Council has introduced and will 
maintain a programme of street grading to 
ensure a high standard of street cleaning 
services is being delivered and to address any 
deficits in its service delivery.  The street 
grading programme is an ongoing 
measurement of day to day performance of 
operational services 

Every litter bin in the city is now ‛tagged’ with 
a unique identifier (QR code) which feeds into 
an IT system. Dublin City Council will launch a 
campaign to demonstrate to the public that 
with a few clicks on a smart phone they can 
report when a litter bin is damaged or 
overflowing. This provides real-time data, 
enabling cleaning operatives to issue a rapid 
response.  

The stock of public litter bins in use will be 
maintained and improved.  High capacity 
units will be installed in areas of need and a 
programme of bin replacement will be 
undertaken to ensure the supply of public 
litter bins is maintained in good condition.  
Upgrading of bins will be ongoing in urban 
villages and additional bins will be installed in 
areas of need. 

Dublin City Council will continue the rollout of 
solar-compactor bins where there is high 
capacity requirement such as areas of high 
demand or with seasonal peak demand. 
These units provide extra capacity when 
compared to standard litter bins, reducing the 
quantity of collections required and are 
generally well received within the community 

The management of the stock of public litter 
bins will be continued using the bin tagging 
technology introduced in the 2016 – 2018 

Page 337



15 
 

Objectives and actions SEA Commentary 

Litter Management Plan. 

Dublin City Council will continue to provide 
and extend its road sweeping services, 
allowing streets to be thoroughly cleaned in 
the absence of parked cars. The service is 
available through cooperation with residents 
and community groups and has been 
successfully implemented 

Dublin City Council will continue to provide 
and extend the successful Halloween 
Programme to combat the social and 
environmental consequences of bonfires. A 
multi Departmental approach to ensuring the 
maximum amount of material is diverted 
from potential bonfires will continue to be 
implemented.  Diversionary events will 
continue to be promoted to provide 
alternatives to bonfires for communities to 
take part in and enjoy 

Graffiti and Chewing gum removal 
programmes will continue in the city with 
ongoing removal of graffiti throughout the 
city and a scheduled programme of chewing 
gum removal in the core city centre and other 
public spaces 

A pilot leaf composting programme will be 
introduced to investigate whether all leaves 
collected by Dublin City Council during the 
autumnal leaf fall season may be diverted to 
compost production and the compost 
produced made available to the public 
through bring centres 

Dublin City Council will continue to identify 
and remove abandoned bicycles in the city 
and divert the bicycles removed for repair and 
reuse 

Recycling Infrastructure – Civic Amenity Sites, 
Bring Centres, Bottle and Textile Banks 
Dublin City Council will extend the use of the 
QR Code system to all Bring Centres and 
bottle bank locations throughout the City to 
provide for a simple method of customer 
interaction and to ensure that the recycling 
infrastructure at the centres is maintained in 
good condition 

Dublin City Council will explore and trial the 
introduction of sensor technology to bottle 
and textile banks to provide for real time 
information on servicing requirements 

Dublin City Council will seek to increase the 

Page 338



16 
 

Objectives and actions SEA Commentary 

supply of bottle and textile bank facilities in 
the city and will engage with the public to 
identify potential new sites. 

The Waste Management Department will 
seek to include the provision of recycling 
facilities in all new residential and commercial 
developments as an objective of the Dublin 
City Development Plan 

Dublin City Council will trial the use of 
compartmentalised waste and recycling bins 
at selected public spaces and areas, to 
encourage recycling at street level from 
members of the public.   A pilot programme is 
currently being developed in partnership with 
industry and NGO’s. 

Dublin City Council will examine how it can 
engage with initiatives such as Terracycle to 
promote recycling of additional waste 
streams. 

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 
and the use of Technology 

The CRM system will continue to play a 
pivotal role in highlighting litter ‛hotspots’, 
areas  where litter related complaints have 
been made and incidences of illegal dumping 
have been reported and locations where 
illegal dumping or dog fouling is most 
prevalent, enabling Dublin City Council to 
allocate cleaning and enforcement resources 
efficiently. 

Dublin City Council will encourage  and 
communicate with members of the public to 
provide as much detail as possible when 
reporting an incident, including the exact 
location and where possible, details of the 
type and amount of material when reporting 

Dublin City Council will endeavour to feed 
back to a member of the public who logs an 
incident or complaint with the Council 
through the CRM system when the incident 
has been dealt with appropriately and is 
closed off.  

The data generated through the CRM will be 
used for greater statistical analysis and 
internal reporting to assist the council in 
planning operations, recycling or enforcement 
initiatives.   

Smart technology will be introduced where 
possible to increase efficiency and data 
capture in the areas of  street cleaning and 

Page 339



17 
 

Objectives and actions SEA Commentary 

enforcement 

Dublin City Council will continue to promote it 
services, initiatives and customer engagement 
through its social media presence 
@dubcityenviro commenced under the 
lifetime of the previous litter management 
plan 

Dublin City Council will continue to expand its 
provision of Open Data through the 
data.gov.ie portal in relation to as many of its 
waste, recycling and litter services as possible 
to facilitate research, business and 
community initiatives. 

A resource such as an interactive map 
showing cleaning schedules for the city will be 
made available to the public through the 
dublincity.ie website. 

OBJECTIVE: Partnership 
Engaging citizens and local business 

Positive interactions with PH1, MA1 in particular 

Dublin City Council will establish a 
‛communications plan’ which will include the 
following components: 

1. Strengthening of Internal and External 
Communications between Dublin City 
Council Departments and external 
stakeholders to promote a coordinated 
approach to litter management in the 
city 

2. Communications with the community, 
outlining exactly what litter management 
services and support the council can 
provide. 

3. Communications with businesses will be 
improved and built upon to provide 
information on services, responsibilities, 
and compliance and improve 
engagement with Corporate Social 
Responsibility initiatives to work in 
partnership with Dublin City Council in an 
effort to reduce litter throughout the 
city. 

4. Improve communications with members 
of the public using the CRM system. An 
email communication should be sent to 
the customer or to a specific individual 
when their request or complaint has 
been dealt with and closed off. 

Communication and engagement are key to 
education businesses and citizens about litter 
management and reduction. 
Positive interactions with PH1, and MA1 

Education  
▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 

engage with primary and secondary 

As above, education and awareness through 
green schools and Picker Pals initiatives interact 
positively with PH1 and MA1 

Page 340



18 
 

Objectives and actions SEA Commentary 

schools through the Green Schools 
programme and support schools 
engaged in the green schools 
programme through its annual green 
schools seminar 

 

Reduction in single use items is a key action and 
reducing same is positive in terms of overall waste 
reduction. 
Similarly community clean ups and facilitating safe 
disposal of litter is positive for a number of EPOs. 

Dublin City Council will introduce and support 
pilot educational projects such as the ‘Picker 
Pals’ programme recently introduced to 10 
primary schools in the city in conjunction with 
Voice Ireland 

▪ Dublin City Council will also consider 
the use of incentive and reward 
schemes for children and young 
adults who engage in anti-littering 
practices.  

Accessibility  
Dublin City Council will carry out an 
accessibility audit on its litter, waste and 
recycling infrastructure to identify and 
address issues. 

Community Clean Ups  
▪ Dublin City Council aims to expand on 

the success of the Team Dublin Clean 
Up and Dublin Community Clean Up 
Day and continue to promote, 
support and expand this annual 
initiative. 

▪ The Waste Management Department 
will engage with local community 
groups and tidy towns groups to 
advertise Dublin City Council services 
such as street sweeping and leaf 
removal. 

▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 
provide support and resources for 
litter picks and community clean ups 
such as bags, litter pickers, gloves etc. 

▪ Dublin City Council will deliver 
information and support to 
communities on best practice 
environmental topics including 
resource management, climate 
change and tidy towns and city 
neighbourhoods’ competitions 
through media, workshops, seminars 
and direct engagement 

Single Use Items 
▪ This is a highly publicised national 

issue.  Dublin City Council will 

Page 341



19 
 

Objectives and actions SEA Commentary 

encourage its citizens through 
education, to avoid the use of single 
use items (e.g. to use re-usable coffee 
cups and water bottles) which will 
also reduce littering incidences across 
the city. This work was started with 
the ‘Choose to Reuse’ campaign and 
will be further promoted through 
other campaigns and initiatives 
through the lifetime of the plan. 

▪ Dublin City Council will engage with 
local businesses on the wider issue of 
the use of single use items and 
recommend the use of sustainable 
alternatives such as wooden or 
compostable cutlery and compostable 
or reusable cups. 

▪ Dublin City Council is committed to 
continuing the phasing-out of single-
use items at all DCC offices and 
facilities in line with the “Green 
Government” requirements from 
DCCAE. 

 

Blue Spaces 
▪ Dublin City Council will work with the 

relevant internal and external 
stakeholders, along with community 
organisations to support and facilitate 
clean-ups of waterways and beach 
clean-ups in the City. 

▪ Dublin City Council will consider the 
issue of provision of litter bins in 
proximity to waterways. 

▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 
support and work with businesses 
around the docklands to collect litter 
removed from the River Liffey and 
seek to form partnerships with other 
groups engaged in similar initiatives. 

 

These actions are positive for PH1, MA1, W1 and 
BFF1 as they reduce the amount of marine litter 
and litter found in freshwaters. This reduces 
overall risk of pollution  associated with litter, the 
potential to spread invasive species, and 
reduction of ingestion or entanglement in litter in 
water bodies.  

OBJECTIVE: Enforcement 
Enforce the Litter Acts and Bye Laws 

Application and enforcement of litter acts 
interacts positively with PH1 and MA 1 in 
particular. 

Enforcement 
▪ Dublin City Council will concentrate 

enforcement resources and 
campaigns to specific areas where 
issues arise and/or are prevalent.   

▪ Dublin City Council will increase 

as above, measures to apply the legislation and 
enforce fines on littering including illegal dumping 
and dog fouling and disposal are all positive. 
Indirect positive interactions also for soil and 
landscape (L1), and biodiversity (BFF1)EPOs. 

Page 342



20 
 

Objectives and actions SEA Commentary 

coordination with other enforcement 
bodies, particularly An Garda 
Síochána in an effort to strengthen 
cases, leading to convictions that are 
more successful.  

▪ The Waste Management Department 
will continue to liaise with An Garda 
Síochána, Dublin Fire Brigade and 
other stakeholders in the run up to 
Halloween to implement the 
successful ‛Halloween Programme’, 
with the aim of reducing the social 
and environmental consequences 
associated with bonfires.  

▪ Dublin City Council will continue the 
use of surveillance and CCTV 
throughout the city, paying particular 
attention to littering and illegal 
dumping blackspots. 

Illegal Dumping  
▪ Dublin City Council will concentrate 

enforcement resources to specific 
areas where incidences of illegal 
dumping are particularly prevalent. 

▪ CRM mapping will be used to identify 
and target specific locations or areas 
for enformcent and complaince 
campaigns and initiatives. 

▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 
run media campaigns, with a view 
discouraging this type of behaviour 
and prompting citizens to report 
incidences of illegal dumping to the 
council through a dedicated hotline. 
Included in the media campaign will 
be a reminder that all households 
must have a waste collection provider 
in place to collect their waste. 

▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 
capture data relating to the weight of 
illegally dumped material in the city 
for reporting purposes and to provide 
more detailed information on 
dumping blackspots. 

▪ Dublin City Council will continue the use of 
CCTV and other surveillance methods in illegal 
dumping blackspots to act as a deterrent.  
Management of Domestic and Commercial 
Waste  

• Dublin City Council will trial the 

Page 343



21 
 

Objectives and actions SEA Commentary 

implementation of a strategy to 
address ongoing waste 
management issues that are 
prevalent in certain multi-
occupancy buildings.  A multi - 
agency approach will be pursued 
to address these issues. 

• Dublin City Council will continue to 
examine the issue of waste 
management generally and trial 
interventions to promote better 
outcomes and reductions in waste 
dumping and litter through the 
Dublin City Beta city challenge 
initiative. 

• Dublin City Council will implement 
a large-scale compliance campaign 
concentrating on the enforcement 
of the bye law requirement to use 
authorised waste collectors. 

• Dublin City Council will seek to trial 
and implement alternative 
solutions to waste presentation in 
plastic refuse bags 

• Dublin City Council will consider 
whether it is possible to create and 
maintain up to date records based 
on information such as eircodes on 
the domestic and commercial 
waste collections and civic amenity 
site use for the purposes of 
ensuring compliance with 
requirement to use authorised 
waste collectors. 

• Dublin City Council will develop a 
clear strategy demonstrating the fact 
that any type of litter bin can be used 
for the disposal of bagged dog litter.  

▪ Dublin City Council will use various 
social media channels such as Twitter 
and Facebook and traditional media 
for targeting educational campaigns 
around dog fouling, the correct use of 
bins and fines. 

▪ Dublin City Council will also launch 
blitz/enforcement campaigns in 
targeted areas for a defined period of 
time.  

 
 

Page 344



22 
 

 

SEA  C OMMENTARY ON TH E IMPL EMENTATION AND  MONITORING PL AN: 

As with the objectives and actions above, the implementation and monitoring plan will interact 

positively for a number of EPOs in particularly PH1 and MA1. Indirect positive interactions are also 

identified for Biodiversity, Water, Soil and Landscape where actions and implementation reduce 

and divert litter away from sensitive environmental receptors.  

 Objective Baseline 

Metric 

Measurement  Timeframe  

  

Resources 

 

 

1.  

 
 

Advertise and extend on 

demand street cleaning 

service to facilitate cleaning 

in cooperation with 

residents groups arranging 

for removal of parked cars 

 No. of requests 

received per year 

and actioned 

Q3-Q4, 2020 

2.  Extend QR Code customer 

service system to all Dublin 

City Council Bottle and 

Textile Bank sites 

 Achieved/Not 

Achieved 

Q4, 2020 

3.  Trial use of sensor 

technology in Bottle / 

Textile banks 

 Trial Completed Q4 2020 

4.  Ongoing bin replacement 

and upgrade programme 

 % upgraded and 

replaced 

Total number of 

litter bins 

2020 - 2022 

5.  Trial the use of 

compartmentalised waste 

and recycling bins at 

selected public spaces. 

 Achieved  

Quantity of 

recyclables 

recovered 

% of contamination 

Q2 2020  

Page 345



23 
 

6.  Introduce a composting 

programme to investigate 

potential to ensure all 

leaves collected are used to 

produce compost to be 

made available to the public 

at bring centres 

 Programme 

introduced 

 Compost produced  

Compost available to 

Public 

2020 - 2022 

7.  Introduce and manage an 

online resource to provide 

information on street 

cleaning schedules 

 Resource introduced 

and managed 

Q3 2020 

8.  Continue to provide graffiti 

and chewing gum removal 

services  

 

 Service provided 

Quantity of removal 

undertaken annually  

2020 - 2022 

9.  Seek to include in the 

Dublin City Development 

Plan a requirement for all 

new residential and 

commercial developments 

to include appropriate 

space for provision of 

recycling infrastructure 

 Submission drafted 

and submitted 

2020 - 2022 

10.  Carry out public 

consultation to seek 

additional locations for 

recycling infrastructure in 

the city 

 Consultation carried 

out 

Locations identified 

and assessed  

Q4 2021 

11.  Continue to provide and 

enhance Open Data on 

waste management 

services  

 Number of datasets 

provided and 

maintained 

2020 - 2022 

Partnership  

Page 346



24 
 

12.  Develop and implement a  

‛communications plan’ as 

set out within the plan at 

pg18 

 Plan Created and 

implemented 

Q4, 2020 

13.  Seek to foster greater 

engagement with the 

community on topics of 

environmental concern. 

 Information on litter 

management  services 

offered by DCC shared 

on social media 

No of Workshops held 

Number of groups 

engaged with City 

Neighbourhoods 

Competition 

2020 - 

2022 

14.  Investigate trial of 

incentivised reward 

schemes for recycling / anti-

litter initiatives 

 Report produced and 

trail undertaken 

Q3 2021 

15.  Strengthen Internal 

communication between 

departments. 

 No. of initiatives 

involving collaboration 

with multiple 

departments  

2020 - 

2022 

16.  Continue to develop and 

roll out the Green Schools 

Programme to primary and 

post primary schools. 

 No. of Schools Visited 

No. of Green Schools 

2020 - 

2022 

17.  Continue to expand success 

of Dublin Community Clean 

Up Day 

 No. of Volunteers 

Tonnage of litter 

collected annually 

 

2020 - 

2022 

18.  Develop liaison with 

primary and secondary 

schools on litter education 

including providing an 

updated Litter Education 

 Litter pack updated and 

distributed 

No of schools engaged 

2020  -

2022 

Page 347



25 
 

Packs to schools 

19.  Facilitate Community Clean-

Ups with Residents 

Associations and 

community groups. 

 No. of Clean-Ups held 

Amount of resources 

distributed (bags, litter 

picks etc. 

2020 - 

2022 

20.  Create awareness campaign 

to encourage citizens to 

reduce use of single use 

plastics. 

 Achieved/Not Achieved Q4, 2020 

21.  Develop and implement 

initiative targeting to local 

businesses to replace single 

use plastics with 

sustainable alternatives. 

 No. of businesses 

engaged 

Q2 2021 

22.  Phase out single use Plastics 

at all Dublin City Council 

offices and facilities. 

 Achieved/Not Achieved Q1, 2021 

23.  Develop clear, 

unambiguous strategy 

informing the public that 

bagged dog litter can be 

disposed in any litter bin 

 Achieved/Not Achieved Q2, 2020 

24.  Continue to run advertising 

campaigns on litter, dog 

fouling and illegal dumping. 

 No. of campaigns rolled 

out 

2020 - 

2022 

25.  Collaboration with all 

relevant stakeholders to 

carry out clean-ups of 

waterbodies in the city’s 

jurisdiction. 

 No. of river clean-ups 

No of Canal clean ups 

No. of beach clean-ups 

2020 - 

2022 

26.  Collaboration with 

businesses surrounding the 

docklands to collect litter 

 Tonnage of material 

collected annually 

2020 - 

2022 

Page 348



26 
 

removed from the River 

Liffey.  

Enforcement   

27.  Concentration of resources 

on areas where litter 

incidences are particularly 

prevalent. 

 No. of locations 

targeted 

No. of fines secured 

No. of prosecutions 

2020 - 2022 

28.  Coordination with other 

enforcement bodies, 

particularly An Garda 

Síochána. 

 Evidence of 

collaboration 

Successful 

prosecutions as a 

result of collaboration  

2020 - 2022 

29.  Continue successful 

Halloween Response 

Actions. 

 Tonnage of material 

removed 

2020 - 2022 

30.  Continue the use of CCTV 

surveillance and associated 

signage. 

 No. of locations CCTV 

installed 

No. of fines secured 

No. of prosecutions 

2020 - 2022 

31.  Investigate households who 

are not serviced by a 

registered waste provider. 

 No. of households 

visited 

% compliant 

% increase in 

compliance 

Q3 2020 

32.  Complete Reorganisation of 

Litter Warden Service  

 Service Reorganised  

  

Q2, 2020 

33.  Devise and implement a 

strategy engaging with 

tenants of multi-occupancy 

buildings to ensure 

compliance with waste and 

littering laws. 

 No. of Multi-

occupancy buildings 

visited. 

No. of actions taken 

 

% increase in 

compliance  

Q4, 2020 

Page 349



27 
 

34.  Carry out review and 

update of Litter Prevention 

and Control Bye Laws. 

 Review Completed and 

updated Bye Laws 

adopted 

Q4 2021 

 

Page 350



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Litter Management Plan 

2020 - 2022 

Screening Report for Appropriate 

Assessment  

 

10th September 2020 

Page 351



 

 

Dublin City Council 

Dublin city Litter Management Plan 2020 – 2022 

Screening Report for Appropriate Assessment 

 

Document Stage  Document Version Prepared by 

Final 1 Pat Doherty MSc, MCIEEM  

 

 

This report has been prepared by DEC Ltd with 

all reasonable skill, care and diligence. 

Information report herein is based on the 

interpretation of data collected and has been 

accepted in good faith as being accurate and 

valid. 

This report is prepared for Dublin City Council 

and we accept no responsibility to third parties to 

whom this report, or any part thereof, is made 

known. Any such party relies on the report at 

their own risk. 

Page 352



Table of Contents 
1.1 INTRODUCTION 1 

1.2 HABITATS DIRECTIVE ASSESSMENT 1 

1.3 STAGES OF THE HABITATS DIRECTIVE ASSESSMENT 3 

2.0 SCREENING METHODOLOGY 4 

3.0 DESCRIPTION OF THE LITTER MANAGEMENT PLAN 6 

3.1 OVERVIEW 6 

4.0 IDENTIFICATION OF EUROPEAN SITES WITHIN THE ZONE OF INFLUENCE OF 

THE PLAN 8 

4.1 CONSERVATION OBJECTIVES OF EUROPEAN SITES 8 

4.2 EUROPEAN SITES WITHIN 15KM OF THE PLAN 9 

5.0 IMPACTS TO EUROPEAN SITES 24 

5.1 EVALUATION OF THE PLAN’S OBJECTIVES & ACTIONS 24 

5.2 EXAMINATION OF THE PLAN’S POTENTIAL TO RESULT IN NEGATIVE IMPACTS TO EUROPEAN 

SITES WITHIN 15KM OF THE PLAN AREA 38 

5.3 IN-COMBINATION EFFECTS WITH OTHER PLANS & PROJECTS 48 

6.0 SCREENING CONCLUSION 48 

REFERENCES 49 

 

Page 353



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 1 11/09/2020 

 

1.1 INTRODUCTION 

Dublin City Council intends to implement the Dublin City Litter Management Plan for the 

period 2020 to 2022. DEC Ltd. have been appointed by Dublin City Council to prepare a 

Screening Report for Appropriate Assessment for the proposed plan.  

The function of this Screening Exercise is to identify whether or not the plan has the potential 

to result in likely significant effects to European Sites and to provide information so that Dublin 

City Council can determine whether a Natura Impact Statement and Appropriate Assessment 

is required for the Litter Management Plan. 

1.2 HABITATS DIRECTIVE ASSESSMENT 

Article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive requires an assessment of the potential effects of a land 

use plan or project on one or more Natura 2000 (N2K) Sites. It is noted that a Habitats Directive 

Assessment (HDA) is commonly referred to as an “Appropriate Assessment” (Dodd et al, 

2007). However “Appropriate Assessment” forms only one stage of the HDA process (all stages 

making up the assessment process are outlined in detail below). The EU Habitats Directive 

provides the legislative framework for the protection of habitats and species throughout Europe 

through the establishment of a network of designated conservation areas known as the N2K 

network. The N2K network includes sites designated as Special Areas of Conservation (SACs), 

under the EU Habitats Directive and Special Protection Areas (SPAs) designated under the EU 

Birds Directive. Under the European Communities (Birds and Natural Habitats Regulations 

2011, as amended) SACs and SPAs are referred to as European Sites. SACs are designated in 

areas that support habitats listed on Annex I and/or species listed on Annex II of the Habitats 

Directive. SPAs are designated in areas that support: 1% or more of the all-Ireland population 

of bird species listed on Annex I of the EU Birds Directive; 1% or more of the population of a 

migratory species; and more than 20,000 waterfowl. 

Articles 6(1) & (2) of the Habitats Directive set out provisions for the conservation management 

of European Sites. Articles 6(3) and 6(4) of this Directive set out a series of procedural steps to 

test whether or not a plan or project is likely to affect a European Sites. Article 6(3) also 

establishes the requirement for a HDA: 

Page 354



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 2 11/09/2020 

 

“any plan or project not directly connected with or necessary to the management of the 

(European) site but likely to have a significant effect thereon, either individually or in 

combination with other plans and projects, shall be subjected to appropriate assessment of its 

implications for the site in view of the site’s conservation objectives. In light of the conclusions 

of the assessment of the implication for the site and subject to the provisions of paragraph 4, 

the competent national authorities shall agree to the plan or project only after having 

ascertained that it will not affect the integrity of the site concerned and, if appropriate, after 

having obtained the opinion of the general public”. 

Therefore, the objective of this Screening is to identify whether or not any land use measures 

that may be supported by the Plan will have the potential to negatively affect the Conservation 

Objectives of European Sites. Such a conclusion will be arrived at by assessing the implications 

of future land use activities that could be implemented or supported by the Plan on each 

European Site occurring within its zone of influence.  

The HDA is underpinned by the precautionary principle. Therefore, if the risk of negative 

impacts to the conservation objectives of a European Site cannot be ruled out it is assumed that 

the potential for an adverse impact will exist. Where such uncertainties are identified during 

the assessment, measures will be proposed to avoid or mitigate the risk of adverse impacts 

occurring.  

The Screening was undertaken with reference to the following guidance documents on Habitats 

Directive Assessments: 

• Appropriate Assessment of Plans and Projects in Ireland – Guidance for Planning 

Authorities (2009). DEHLG. 

• Managing Natura 2000 Sites – The provisions of Article 6 of the Habitats directive 

92/43/EEC. European commission (2018). 

• Assessment of Plans and Projects Significantly Affecting Natura 2000 sites – 

Methodological Guidance of the Provisions of Article 6(3) and (4) of the Habitats 

directive 92/43/EEC. European Commission (2001). 

Page 355



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 3 11/09/2020 

 

1.3 STAGES OF THE HABITATS DIRECTIVE ASSESSMENT 

The European Commission (2001) Guidance has outlined a staged process for the completion 

of a HDA.  

• Stage 1 – Screening: This stage defines the proposed plan, establishes whether the 

proposed plan is necessary for the conservation management of the European Site and 

assesses the likelihood of the plan to have a significant effect, alone or in combination 

with other plans or projects, upon a European Site. 

• Stage 2 – Appropriate Assessment: If a plan or project is likely to have a significant 

effect an Appropriate Assessment must be undertaken. In this stage the impact of the 

plan or project to the Conservation Objectives of the European Site is assessed. The 

outcome of this assessment will establish whether the plan will have an adverse effect 

upon the integrity of the European Site. 

• Stage 3 – Assessment of Alternative Solutions: If it is concluded that, subsequent to the 

implementation of mitigation measures, a plan has an adverse impact upon the integrity 

of a European Site it must be objectively concluded that no alternative solutions exist 

before the plan can proceed. 

• Stage 4 – Where no alternative solutions exist and where adverse impacts remain but 

imperative reasons of overriding public interest (IROPI) exist for the implementation 

of a plan or project an assessment of compensatory measures that will effectively offset 

the damage to the Natura site 2000 will be necessary. 

Page 356



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 4 11/09/2020 

 

2.0 SCREENING METHODOLOGY 

The function of the Screening Assessment is to identify whether the Plan will have a likely 

significant effect on European Sites. In this context “likely” means any effect that may be 

reasonably predicted and “significant” means not trivial or inconsequential but an effect that is 

potentially relevant to the Site’s conservation objectives1. Any effect, which would compromise 

the functioning and viability of a Site and interfere with achieving the conservation objectives 

of the Site would constitute a significant effect.  

The nature of the likely interactions between the Plan and the Conservation Objectives of 

European Sites will depend upon the potential for future land use activities supported by the 

Plan to interact with European Sites and their associated qualifying features of interest; the 

sensitivity of European Site qualifying features to potential impacts associated with land use 

activities facilitated by the Plan; the current conservation status of the European Site qualifying 

features; and the likely changes that will result from the implementation of the Plan, in 

combination with other plans and projects.  

The European Commission Guidelines (2001) outline the stages involved in undertaking a 

Screening assessment of a plan or project that has the potential to have likely significant effects 

on European Sites. The methodology adopted for the Screening of the Plan is informed by these 

guidelines and was undertaken in the following stages: 

• A brief description of the Plan is provided and determine whether it is necessary for the 

conservation management of European Sites;  

• Identification of European Sites occurring within the zone of influence of the Plan; 

• Identification of potential likely significant effects to European Sites; and  

 

1 See English Nature’s Habitat Regulations Guidance Note No. 3, 1999. 

Page 357



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 5 11/09/2020 

 

• Identification of other plans or projects that, in combination with the Plan, have the 

potential to affect European Sites. 

Page 358



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 6 11/09/2020 

 

3.0 DESCRIPTION OF THE LITTER MANAGEMENT PLAN 

3.1 OVERVIEW 

The 2020 - 2022 Litter Management Plan has been prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Litter Pollution Act 1997 to 2009. The Plan has been developed in 

consultation with Dublin City Council staff, elected representatives and with the citizens of 

Dublin who live and work in the city through the statutory consultation process. 

The plan is built on the three pillars of litter management in the City: Resources, Partnership 

and Enforcement. Effective management of litter can be achieved when the best use of the 

human resources, skills and knowledge from Dublin City Council are utilised, coupled with 

improvements in service delivery, by working together with the public, residents and businesses 

who call Dublin home and by taking enforcement action on those who do not respect our shared 

environment and illegally dump waste materials, fail to clean up after their pets and incidentally 

litter the city.  

The aims, objectives and actions for the management and prevention of litter are outlined for 

each key area and are to be undertaken during the lifetime of the Litter Management Plan.  

The overall aim is to improve the standard and consistency of cleanliness throughout the city 

for residents, businesses and visitors over the lifetime of this plan.  Successful initiatives, 

projects and operational activities that have been implemented over the lifetime of previous 

litter management plans will continue and improvements will be sought in all aspects of service 

delivery. 

As well as the objectives of the draft plan, a implementation and monitoring plan is including 

as well as key performance indicators. Please see Annex A for this. 

Figure 3.1 below illustrates where the draft Plan is situated within the landuse planning 

hierarchy.  Each of these land use strategies have been subject to the SEA process.   

 

 

Page 359



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 7 11/09/2020 

 

Figure 3.1: Planning Hierarchy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The plan is prepared in line with the requirements of the Litter Pollution Act 1997 to 2009 and 

provides detail on actions that will address litter management, and reduction within the city 

council area including resources, partnership and enforcement.   Actions include solar bins, 

maintaining stock of public litter bins, Halloween waste management, working with 

communities and enforcement of litter regulations, awareness raising and CCTV in litter black 

spots.  

 

 

National Planning Policy and Guidelines 

Regional Economic and Spatial Strategies  

Dublin City Development Plan 2016-2022 

Local Area Plans 

Dublin City Litter Management Plan 2020-2022 

Page 360



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 8 11/09/2020 

 

4.0 IDENTIFICATION OF EUROPEAN SITES WITHIN THE ZONE OF INFLUENCE 

OF THE PLAN  

In order to identify the European Sites that could be significantly affected by the 

implementation of the Plan an initial long-list of sites occurring within a 15km radius of the 

Plan area (i.e. Dublin City Council) has been compiled. The establishment of a 15km buffer 

area surrounding the Plan area is in line with the DAHLG recommended procedures for 

identifying European Sites. The buffer distance of 15km was also considered sufficient to 

ensure all potential impacts to European Sites arising from the implementation of the Plan were 

taken into account (see Section 4.1 below for more information). This is based on the absence 

of any impact pathways (i.e. the absence of a hydrological pathway) between the Plan area and 

other European Sites occurring at a distance greater than 15km from the Plan area.  

4.1 CONSERVATION OBJECTIVES OF EUROPEAN SITES  

Generic conservation objectives for all European Sites have been established by the National 

Parks and Wildlife Service (NPWS). The generic conservation objective for the two habitats 

occurring within the zone of influence of the project is to maintain the favourable conservation 

status of these habitats. The favourable conservation status of these habitats is achieved when 

• its natural range, and area it covers within that range, are stable or increasing, and  

• the specific structure and functions which are necessary for its long‐term maintenance 

exist and are likely to continue to exist for the foreseeable future, and  

• the conservation status of its typical species is favourable.  

The generic conservation objective for the qualifying species occurring within the zone of 

influence of the project is to maintain or restore the favourable conservation status of these 

species. This is achieved when:  

• population dynamics data on the species concerned indicate that it is maintaining itself 

on a long‐ term basis as a viable component of its natural habitats, and 

• the natural range of the species is neither being reduced nor is likely to be reduced for 

the foreseeable future, and 

Page 361



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 9 11/09/2020 

 

• there is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large habitat to maintain its 

populations on a long‐term basis.  

Site-specific conservation objectives of European Sites have been identified for many of the 

European Sites occurring within a 15km radius of the plan area and the details of these site-

specific conservation objectives are provided by the NPWS at https://www.npws.ie/protected-

sites/conservation-management-planning/conservation-objectives. 

4.2 EUROPEAN SITES WITHIN 15KM OF THE PLAN 

Table 4.1 lists all European Sites occurring within and surrounding the Plan area. A total 

number of four European Sites, comprising two SACs and two SPAs occur within the Plan 

Area. In addition to these European Sites a total of 13 SACs and 8 SPAs occur within a 15km 

radius of the Plan Area (see Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2).  

Table 4.1 lists the qualifying features of interest of the SAC and the special conservation 

interests of the SPAs occurring within the Plan area and the surrounding 15km buffer zone. In 

addition, the broad habitat types and species for which each site is designated are also outlined.  

 

 

Page 362

https://www.npws.ie/protected-sites/conservation-management-planning/conservation-objectives
https://www.npws.ie/protected-sites/conservation-management-planning/conservation-objectives


Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 10 11/09/2020 

 

 

P
age 363



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 11 11/09/2020 

 

 

P
age 364



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 12 11/09/2020 

 

 

 

Table 4.1: European Sites within 15km of the Plan Area 

European Sites  Distance from Plan 

Area 

Qualifying Features of Interest/Special Conservation 

Interests  
Broad QI/SCI Category 

European Sites within 

the Plan Area 

   

North Dublin Bay 

SAC 

Within Plan area Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low 

tide [1140] 

Annual vegetation of drift lines [1210] 

Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand 

[1310] 

Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia 

maritimae) [1330] 

Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi) 

[1410] 

Embryonic shifting dunes [2110] 

Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila 

arenaria (white dunes) [2120] 

Coastal habitats 

Plant species (Petalwort liverwort) 

P
age 365



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 13 11/09/2020 

 

Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey 

dunes) [2130] 

Humid dune slacks [2190] 

Petalophyllum ralfsii (Petalwort) [1395] 

North Bull Island SPA Within Plan area Light-bellied Brent Goose (Branta bernicla hrota) 

[A046] 

Shelduck (Tadorna tadorna) [A048] 

Teal (Anas crecca) [A052] 

Pintail (Anas acuta) [A054] 

Shoveler (Anas clypeata) [A056] 

Oystercatcher (Haematopus ostralegus) [A130] 

Golden Plover (Pluvialis apricaria) [A140] 

Grey Plover (Pluvialis squatarola) [A141] 

Knot (Calidris canutus) [A143] 

Sanderling (Calidris alba) [A144] 

Dunlin (Calidris alpina) [A149] 

Black-tailed Godwit (Limosa limosa) [A156] 

Bar-tailed Godwit (Limosa lapponica) [A157] 

Wintering coastal waterbirds 

Coastal habitats 

P
age 366



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 14 11/09/2020 

 

Curlew (Numenius arquata) [A160] 

Redshank (Tringa totanus) [A162] 

Turnstone (Arenaria interpres) [A169] 

Black-headed Gull (Chroicocephalus ridibundus) 

[A179] 

Wetland and Waterbirds [A999] 

South Dublin Bay & 

Tolka Estuary SPA 

Within Plan area Light-bellied Brent Goose (Branta bernicla hrota) 

[A046] 

Oystercatcher (Haematopus ostralegus) [A130] 

Ringed Plover (Charadrius hiaticula) [A137] 

Grey Plover (Pluvialis squatarola) [A141] 

Knot (Calidris canutus) [A143] 

Sanderling (Calidris alba) [A144] 

Dunlin (Calidris alpina) [A149] 

Bar-tailed Godwit (Limosa lapponica) [A157] 

Redshank (Tringa totanus) [A162] 

Black-headed Gull (Chroicocephalus ridibundus) 

[A179] 

Roseate Tern (Sterna dougallii) [A192] 

Wintering coastal waterbirds 

Breeding Terns 

Coastal habitats P
age 367



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 15 11/09/2020 

 

Common Tern (Sterna hirundo) [A193] 

Arctic Tern (Sterna paradisaea) [A194] 

Wetland and Waterbirds [A999] 

South Dublin Bay 

SAC 
Within Plan area Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low 

tide [1140] 

Annual vegetation of drift lines [1210] 

Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand 

[1310] 

Embryonic shifting dunes [2110] 

Coastal habitats 

European Sites within 

15km of the Plan area 
   

Rogerstown Estuary 

SPA 

10km to the north Greylag Goose (Anser anser) [A043] 

Light-bellied Brent Goose (Branta bernicla hrota) 

[A046] 

Shelduck (Tadorna tadorna) [A048] 

Shoveler (Anas clypeata) [A056] 

Oystercatcher (Haematopus ostralegus) [A130] 

Ringed Plover (Charadrius hiaticula) [A137] 

Grey Plover (Pluvialis squatarola) [A141] 

Wintering waterbirds 

Wetland habitats 

P
age 368



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 16 11/09/2020 

 

Knot (Calidris canutus) [A143] 

Dunlin (Calidris alpina) [A149] 

Black-tailed Godwit (Limosa limosa) [A156] 

Redshank (Tringa totanus) [A162] 

Wetland and Waterbirds [A999] 

Rogerstown Estuary 

SAC 

10km to the north Estuaries [1130] 

Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at 

low tide [1140] 

Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and 

sand [1310] 

Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia 

maritimae) [1330] 

Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi) 

[1410] 

Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila 

arenaria (white dunes) [2120] 

Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey 

dunes) [2130] 

Coastal Habitats 

Lambay Island SAC 12km to the 

northeast 

Reefs [1170] 

Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts 

Coastal Habitats  

Marine Species 

P
age 369



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 17 11/09/2020 

 

[1230] 

Halichoerus grypus (Grey Seal) [1364] 

Phoca vitulina (Harbour Seal) [1365] 

Lambay Island SPA 12km to the 

northeast 

Fulmar (Fulmarus glacialis) [A009] 

Cormorant (Phalacrocorax carbo) [A017] 

Shag (Phalacrocorax aristotelis) [A018] 

Greylag Goose (Anser anser) [A043] 

Lesser Black-backed Gull (Larus fuscus) [A183] 

Herring Gull (Larus argentatus) [A184] 

Kittiwake (Rissa tridactyla) [A188] 

Guillemot (Uria aalge) [A199] 

Razorbill (Alca torda) [A200] 

Puffin (Fratercula arctica) [A204] 

Breeding waterbirds 

Malahide Estuary 

SAC 

5km to the north Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at 

low tide [1140] 

Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and 

sand [1310] 

Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia 

maritimae) [1330] 

Coastal Habitats 

P
age 370



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 18 11/09/2020 

 

Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi) 

[1410] 

Shifting dunes along the shoreline with Ammophila 

arenaria (white dunes) [2120] 

Fixed coastal dunes with herbaceous vegetation (grey 

dunes) [2130] 

Broadmeadow/Swords 

Estuary SPA 

5km km to the north Great Crested Grebe (Podiceps cristatus) [A005] 

Light-bellied Brent Goose (Branta bernicla hrota) 

[A046] 

Shelduck (Tadorna tadorna) [A048] 

Pintail (Anas acuta) [A054] 

Goldeneye (Bucephala clangula) [A067] 

Red-breasted Merganser (Mergus serrator) [A069] 

Oystercatcher (Haematopus ostralegus) [A130] 

Golden Plover (Pluvialis apricaria) [A140] 

Grey Plover (Pluvialis squatarola) [A141] 

Knot (Calidris canutus) [A143] 

Dunlin (Calidris alpina) [A149] 

Black-tailed Godwit (Limosa limosa) [A156] 

Wintering wetland birds 

Wetland habitats 

P
age 371



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 19 11/09/2020 

 

Bar-tailed Godwit (Limosa lapponica) [A157] 

Redshank (Tringa totanus) [A162] 

Wetland and Waterbirds [A999] 

Baldoyle Bay SAC 1km to the east Mudflats and sandflats not covered by seawater at low 

tide [1140] 

Salicornia and other annuals colonising mud and sand 

[1310] 

Atlantic salt meadows (Glauco-Puccinellietalia 

maritimae) [1330] 

Mediterranean salt meadows (Juncetalia maritimi) 

[1410] 

Coastal habitats 

Baldoyle Bay SPA 1km to the east Light-bellied Brent Goose (Branta bernicla hrota) 

[A046] 

Shelduck (Tadorna tadorna) [A048] 

Ringed Plover (Charadrius hiaticula) [A137] 

Golden Plover (Pluvialis apricaria) [A140] 

Grey Plover (Pluvialis squatarola) [A141] 

Bar-tailed Godwit (Limosa lapponica) [A157] 

Wetland and Waterbirds [A999] 

Wintering coastal waterbirds 

Coastal habitats 

P
age 372



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 20 11/09/2020 

 

Howth Head SAC 4.5km to the east Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts 

[1230] 

European dry heaths [4030] 

Terrestrial exposed rock and peatland habitats 

Howth Head Coast 

SPA 

1.5km to the 

southeast 

Kittiwake (Rissa tridactyla) [A188]  

Ireland’s Eye SAC 11km to the north Perennial vegetation of stony banks [1220] 

Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts 

[1230] 

Terrestrial peatland habitats 

Ireland’s Eye SPA 8km to the northeast Cormorant (Phalacrocorax carbo) [A017] 

Herring Gull (Larus argentatus) [A184] 

Kittiwake (Rissa tridactyla) [A188] 

Guillemot (Uria aalge) [A199] 

Razorbill (Alca torda) [A200] 

Terrestrial peatland habitats 

Dalkey Island SPA 8km to the 

southeast 
Roseate Tern (Sterna dougallii) [A192] 

Common Tern (Sterna hirundo) [A193] 

Arctic Tern (Sterna paradisaea) [A194] 

Breeding waterbirds 

P
age 373



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 21 11/09/2020 

 

Wicklow Mountain 

SAC 
7km to the south Oligotrophic waters containing very few minerals of 

sandy plains (Littorelletalia uniflorae) [3110] 

Natural dystrophic lakes and ponds [3160] 

Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix [4010] 

European dry heaths [4030] 

Alpine and Boreal heaths [4060] 

Calaminarian grasslands of the Violetalia 

calaminariae [6130] 

Species-rich Nardus grasslands, on siliceous 

substrates in mountain areas (and submountain areas, 

in Continental Europe) [6230] 

Blanket bogs (* if active bog) [7130] 

Siliceous scree of the montane to snow levels 
(Androsacetalia alpinae and Galeopsietalia ladani) 

[8110] 

Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic 

vegetation [8210] 

Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation 

[8220] 

Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the 

British Isles [91A0] 

Lutra lutra (Otter) [1355] 

Surface water dependent habitats 

Terrestrial grassland, peatland, woodland and 

exposed rock habitat 

Mammals (otters) 

P
age 374



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 22 11/09/2020 

 

Wicklow Mountain 

SPA 
7km to the south Merlin (Falco columbarius)  

Peregrine (Falco peregrinus) 

Breeding raptor bird species 

Ballyman Glen SAC 11km to the south Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion) 

[7220] 

Alkaline fens [7230] 

Groundwater dependent habitats 

Knocksink Woods 

SAC 
11km to the south Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion) 

[7220] 

Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus 
excelsior (Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion 

albae) [91E0] 

Groundwater dependent habitats 

Glenasmole Valley 

SAC 

7km to the 

southwest 

Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies on 
calcareous substrates (Festuco-Brometalia) (* 

important orchid sites) [6210] 

Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt-

laden soils (Molinion caeruleae) [6410] 

Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion) 

[7220] 

Terrestrial grassland and peatland habitat 

Groundwater dependent habitat 

Bray Head SAC 15km to the south Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts 

[1230] 

European dry heaths [4030] 

Terrestrial exposed rock and peatland habitats 

P
age 375



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 23 11/09/2020 

 

Rye Water Valley 

SAC 
7.5km to the west Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the 

British Isles [91A0] 
Terrestrial woodland habitats 

Rockabill to Dalkey 

Island SAC 

2.5km to the 

southeast 
Reefs [1170] 

Phocoena phocoena (Harbour Porpoise) [1351] 

Marine Habitat 

Marine mammal 

P
age 376



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 24 11/09/2020 

 

5.0 IMPACTS TO EUROPEAN SITES  

The next step of this Screening Exercise is to identify whether or not the plan has the potential 

to interact with and damage or disturb the qualifying habitat or qualifying species of European 

Site or undermine the conservation objectives of the European Sites listed in Table 4.1 above.  

Given that the plan will does not include any land use activities that could result in direct 

impacts, such as the loss of qualifying habitat or habitats upon which qualifying species rely a 

source-pathway-receptor model has been used to establish which European Sites the plan could 

interact with and whether or not the actions of the plan will have the potential to result in 

negative impacts such as those listed above to European Sites. Under such a model the actions 

of the Plan represents the source.  

Negative impacts will have the potential to arise where the actions of the plan have the potential 

to result in damage or disturbance to the qualifying habitat or qualifying species of European 

Sites or where the conservation objectives of European Sites could be compromised by the 

plans actions.  

The receptors represent European Sites and their associated qualifying features of 

interest/special conservation interests. 

Section 5.1 below lists each of the objectives and actions of the plan and provides an evaluation 

of the potential for each objective and/or action to result in negative impacts to European Sites 

and their conservation objectives. Section 5.2 then provides an evaluation for each European 

Site occurring within a 15km radius of the Plan area and establishes the potential implications 

of the plan for each of these European Sites on a site by site basis.   

5.1 EVALUATION OF THE PLAN’S OBJECTIVES & ACTIONS 

Table 5.1 identifies the objectives and actions of the plan and evaluates the potential for each 

to result in likely significant effects to European Sites. Where objectives and actions have the 

potential to result in positive implications for European Sites, such implications are recognised 

in Table 5.1.  

Page 377



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 25 11/09/2020 

 

Table 5.1: Evaluation of the Objectives and Actions of the Litter Management Plan 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

OBJECTIVE: Resources: 

Resources for street cleaning and litter 

management 

Allocating resources for street cleaning and litter 

management will not result in land use activities 

and will not have any negative implications for 

European Sites.  

Street Cleaning and Litter Bins 

Dublin City Council will increase the number 

of handcarts in operation both in the city and 

the main streets of villages ensuring operatives 

can maintain the previous standards of 

cleanliness with the anticipated increase in 

footfall. 

The actions within this section all aim to reduce, 

manage and deal effectively with littering through 

a variety of actions. 

These aim to reduce overall litter levels in the 

streets as well as promoting recycling (such as 

Leaf Composting action and recycling 

infrastructure). 

The actions outlined in this section that will result 

in land use activities will represent activities that 

are minor in scale that will not have the potential 

to result in negative impacts for the environment. 

The implementation of these actions will have the 

potential to result in a reduction in litter which will 

in turn have the potential to contribute to a 

reduction in litter being emitting to the Liffey 

estuary and downstream to Dublin Bay and the 

European Site of North Bull Island SPA, South 

Dublin City Council has introduced and will 

maintain a programme of street grading to 

ensure a high standard of street cleaning 

services is being delivered and to address any 

deficits in its service delivery.  The street 

grading programme is an ongoing 

measurement of day to day performance of 

operational services 

Every litter bin in the city is now ‛tagged’ with 

a unique identifier (QR code) which feeds into 

an IT system. Dublin City Council will launch 

Page 378



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 26 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

a campaign to demonstrate to the public that 

with a few clicks on a smart phone they can 

report when a litter bin is damaged or 

overflowing. This provides real-time data, 

enabling cleaning operatives to issue a rapid 

response.  

Dublin Bay & Tolka Estuary SPA, South Dublin 

Bay SPA, and North Dublin Bay SAC.  

 

The stock of public litter bins in use will be 

maintained and improved.  High capacity units 

will be installed in areas of need and a 

programme of bin replacement will be 

undertaken to ensure the supply of public litter 

bins is maintained in good condition.  

Upgrading of bins will be ongoing in urban 

villages and additional bins will be installed in 

areas of need. 

Dublin City Council will continue the rollout 

of solar-compactor bins where there is high 

capacity requirement such as areas of high 

demand or with seasonal peak demand. These 

units provide extra capacity when compared to 

standard litter bins, reducing the quantity of 

collections required and are generally well 

received within the community 

The management of the stock of public litter 

bins will be continued using the bin tagging 

Page 379



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 27 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

technology introduced in the 2016 – 2018 

Litter Management Plan. 

Dublin City Council will continue to provide 

and extend its road sweeping services, 

allowing streets to be thoroughly cleaned in 

the absence of parked cars. The service is 

available through cooperation with residents 

and community groups and has been 

successfully implemented 

Dublin City Council will continue to provide 

and extend the successful Halloween 

Programme to combat the social and 

environmental consequences of bonfires. A 

multi Departmental approach to ensuring the 

maximum amount of material is diverted from 

potential bonfires will continue to be 

implemented.  Diversionary events will 

continue to be promoted to provide 

alternatives to bonfires for communities to 

take part in and enjoy 

Graffiti and Chewing gum removal 

programmes will continue in the city with 

ongoing removal of graffiti throughout the city 

and a scheduled programme of chewing gum 

removal in the core city centre and other public 

spaces 

Page 380



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 28 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

A pilot leaf composting programme will be 

introduced to investigate whether all leaves 

collected by Dublin City Council during the 

autumnal leaf fall season may be diverted to 

compost production and the compost produced 

made available to the public through bring 

centres 

Dublin City Council will continue to identify 

and remove abandoned bicycles in the city and 

divert the bicycles removed for repair and 

reuse 

Recycling Infrastructure – Civic Amenity 

Sites, Bring Centres, Bottle and Textile Banks 

Dublin City Council will extend the use of the 

QR Code system to all Bring Centres and 

bottle bank locations throughout the City to 

provide for a simple method of customer 

interaction and to ensure that the recycling 

infrastructure at the centres is maintained in 

good condition 

Dublin City Council will explore and trial the 

introduction of sensor technology to bottle and 

textile banks to provide for real time 

information on servicing requirements 

Page 381



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 29 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

Dublin City Council will seek to increase the 

supply of bottle and textile bank facilities in 

the city and will engage with the public to 

identify potential new sites. 

The Waste Management Department will seek 

to include the provision of recycling facilities 

in all new residential and commercial 

developments as an objective of the Dublin 

City Development Plan 

Dublin City Council will trial the use of 

compartmentalised waste and recycling bins at 

selected public spaces and areas, to encourage 

recycling at street level from members of the 

public.   A pilot programme is currently being 

developed in partnership with industry and 

NGO’s. 

Dublin City Council will examine how it can 

engage with initiatives such as Terracycle to 

promote recycling of additional waste streams. 

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 

and the use of Technology 

The CRM system will continue to play a 

pivotal role in highlighting litter ‛hotspots’, 

Page 382



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 30 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

areas  where litter related complaints have 

been made and incidences of illegal dumping 

have been reported and locations where illegal 

dumping or dog fouling is most prevalent, 

enabling Dublin City Council to allocate 

cleaning and enforcement resources 

efficiently. 

Dublin City Council will encourage  and 

communicate with members of the public to 

provide as much detail as possible when 

reporting an incident, including the exact 

location and where possible, details of the type 

and amount of material when reporting 

Dublin City Council will endeavour to feed 

back to a member of the public who logs an 

incident or complaint with the Council through 

the CRM system when the incident has been 

dealt with appropriately and is closed off.  

The data generated through the CRM will be 

used for greater statistical analysis and internal 

reporting to assist the council in planning 

operations, recycling or enforcement 

initiatives.   

Smart technology will be introduced where 

possible to increase efficiency and data 

Page 383



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 31 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

capture in the areas of  street cleaning and 

enforcement 

Dublin City Council will continue to promote 

it services, initiatives and customer 

engagement through its social media presence 

@dubcityenviro commenced under the 

lifetime of the previous litter management plan 

Dublin City Council will continue to expand 

its provision of Open Data through the 

data.gov.ie portal in relation to as many of its 

waste, recycling and litter services as possible 

to facilitate research, business and community 

initiatives. 

A resource such as an interactive map showing 

cleaning schedules for the city will be made 

available to the public through the 

dublincity.ie website. 

OBJECTIVE: Partnership 

Engaging citizens and local business 

Positive interactions with PH1, MA1 in particular 

Page 384



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 32 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

Dublin City Council will establish a 

‛communications plan’ which will include the 

following components: 

1. Strengthening of Internal and External 
Communications between Dublin City 

Council Departments and external 

stakeholders to promote a coordinated 

approach to litter management in the city 
2. Communications with the community, 

outlining exactly what litter management 

services and support the council can 
provide. 

3. Communications with businesses will be 

improved and built upon to provide 
information on services, responsibilities, 

and compliance and improve 

engagement with Corporate Social 

Responsibility initiatives to work in 
partnership with Dublin City Council in 

an effort to reduce litter throughout the 

city. 
4. Improve communications with members 

of the public using the CRM system. An 

email communication should be sent to 

the customer or to a specific individual 
when their request or complaint has been 

dealt with and closed off. 

Communication and engagement are key to 

educating businesses and citizens about litter 

management and reduction. 

These actions will have the potential to result in a 

reduction in litter being emitting to the Liffey 

estuary and downstream to Dublin Bay and the 

European Site of North Bull Island SPA, South 

Dublin Bay & Tolka Estuary SPA, South Dublin 

Bay SPA, and North Dublin Bay SAC. 

Education  

▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 
engage with primary and secondary 

schools through the Green Schools 

programme and support schools 

engaged in the green schools 
programme through its annual green 

schools seminar 

 

As above, education and awareness through green 

schools and Picker Pals initiatives will have the 

potential to result in a reduction in litter being 

emitting to the Liffey estuary and downstream to 

Dublin Bay and the European Site of North Bull 

Island SPA, South Dublin Bay & Tolka Estuary 

SPA, South Dublin Bay SPA, and North Dublin 

Bay SAC. 

Page 385



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 33 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

Dublin City Council will introduce and 

support pilot educational projects such as the 

‘Picker Pals’ programme recently introduced 

to 10 primary schools in the city in conjunction 

with Voice Ireland 

▪ Dublin City Council will also 

consider the use of incentive and 
reward schemes for children and 

young adults who engage in anti-

littering practices.  

Accessibility  

Dublin City Council will carry out an 

accessibility audit on its litter, waste and 

recycling infrastructure to identify and address 

issues. 

Community Clean Ups  

▪ Dublin City Council aims to expand 

on the success of the Team Dublin 
Clean Up and Dublin Community 

Clean Up Day and continue to 

promote, support and expand this 
annual initiative. 

▪ The Waste Management Department 

will engage with local community 

groups and tidy towns groups to 
advertise Dublin City Council 

services such as street sweeping and 

leaf removal. 
▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 

provide support and resources for 

litter picks and community clean ups 
such as bags, litter pickers, gloves 

etc. 

Page 386



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 34 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

▪ Dublin City Council will deliver 
information and support to 

communities on best practice 

environmental topics including 
resource management, climate 

change and tidy towns and city 

neighbourhoods’ competitions 
through media, workshops, seminars 

and direct engagement 

Single Use Items 

▪ This is a highly publicised national 

issue.  Dublin City Council will 
encourage its citizens through 

education, to avoid the use of single 

use items (e.g. to use re-usable coffee 

cups and water bottles) which will 
also reduce littering incidences across 

the city. This work was started with 

the ‘Choose to Reuse’ campaign and 
will be further promoted through 

other campaigns and initiatives 

through the lifetime of the plan. 
▪ Dublin City Council will engage with 

local businesses on the wider issue of 

the use of single use items and 

recommend the use of sustainable 
alternatives such as wooden or 

compostable cutlery and compostable 

or reusable cups. 
▪ Dublin City Council is committed to 

continuing the phasing-out of single-

use items at all DCC offices and 

facilities in line with the “Green 
Government” requirements from 

DCCAE. 

 

Blue Spaces 

▪ Dublin City Council will work with 

the relevant internal and external 

These actions will have the potential to result in 

positive implications for the European Site of 

North Bull Island SPA, South Dublin Bay & 

Page 387



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 35 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

stakeholders, along with community 
organisations to support and facilitate 

clean-ups of waterways and beach 

clean-ups in the City. 
▪ Dublin City Council will consider the 

issue of provision of litter bins in 

proximity to waterways. 
▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 

support and work with businesses 

around the docklands to collect litter 

removed from the River Liffey and 
seek to form partnerships with other 

groups engaged in similar initiatives. 

 

Tolka Estuary SPA, South Dublin Bay SPA, and 

North Dublin Bay SAC by reducing the emission 

of litter to the Liffey estuary and Dublin Bay and 

its ultimate deposition within the coastal habitats 

of these European Sites.  

OBJECTIVE: Enforcement 

Enforce the Litter Acts and Bye Laws 

Application and enforcement of litter will have the 

potential to result in positive implications for the 

European Sites at Dublin Bay by reducing the 

amount of litter being emitted to the bay and the 

coastal habitats supported by the European Sites 

occur along the northern and southern coastline of 

the bay. 

Enforcement 

▪ Dublin City Council will concentrate 

enforcement resources and 

campaigns to specific areas where 
issues arise and/or are prevalent.   

▪ Dublin City Council will increase 

coordination with other enforcement 

bodies, particularly An Garda 
Síochána in an effort to strengthen 

cases, leading to convictions that are 

more successful.  
▪ The Waste Management Department 

will continue to liaise with An Garda 

Síochána, Dublin Fire Brigade and 

other stakeholders in the run up to 

As above.  

Page 388



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 36 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

Halloween to implement the 
successful ‛Halloween Programme’, 

with the aim of reducing the social 

and environmental consequences 
associated with bonfires.  

▪ Dublin City Council will continue the 

use of surveillance and CCTV 
throughout the city, paying particular 

attention to littering and illegal 

dumping blackspots. 

Illegal Dumping  

▪ Dublin City Council will concentrate 
enforcement resources to specific 

areas where incidences of illegal 

dumping are particularly prevalent. 

▪ CRM mapping will be used to 
identify and target specific locations 

or areas for enformcent and 

complaince campaigns and 
initiatives. 

▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 

run media campaigns, with a view 
discouraging this type of behaviour 

and prompting citizens to report 

incidences of illegal dumping to the 

council through a dedicated hotline. 
Included in the media campaign will 

be a reminder that all households 

must have a waste collection provider 
in place to collect their waste. 

▪ Dublin City Council will continue to 

capture data relating to the weight of 

illegally dumped material in the city 
for reporting purposes and to provide 

more detailed information on 

dumping blackspots. 
▪ Dublin City Council will continue the use of 

CCTV and other surveillance methods in 

illegal dumping blackspots to act as a 
deterrent.  

Page 389



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 37 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

Management of Domestic and Commercial 

Waste  

• Dublin City Council will trial the 

implementation of a strategy to 
address ongoing waste 

management issues that are 

prevalent in certain multi-
occupancy buildings.  A multi - 

agency approach will be pursued 

to address these issues. 

• Dublin City Council will continue 

to examine the issue of waste 
management generally and trial 

interventions to promote better 

outcomes and reductions in waste 
dumping and litter through the 

Dublin City Beta city challenge 

initiative. 

• Dublin City Council will 

implement a large-scale 
compliance campaign 

concentrating on the enforcement 

of the bye law requirement to use 
authorised waste collectors. 

• Dublin City Council will seek to 

trial and implement alternative 

solutions to waste presentation in 
plastic refuse bags 

• Dublin City Council will consider 

whether it is possible to create and 

maintain up to date records based 

on information such as eircodes 
on the domestic and commercial 

waste collections and civic 

amenity site use for the purposes 
of ensuring compliance with 

requirement to use authorised 

waste collectors. 

• Dublin City Council will develop a 

clear strategy demonstrating the fact 
that any type of litter bin can be used 

for the disposal of bagged dog litter.  

▪ Dublin City Council will use various 
social media channels such as Twitter 

Page 390



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 38 11/09/2020 

 

Objectives and actions Evaluation for likely significant effects  

and Facebook and traditional media 
for targeting educational campaigns 

around dog fouling, the correct use of 

bins and fines. 
▪ Dublin City Council will also launch 

blitz/enforcement campaigns in 

targeted areas for a defined period of 
time.  

 

 

5.2 EXAMINATION OF THE PLAN’S POTENTIAL TO RESULT IN NEGATIVE 

IMPACTS TO EUROPEAN SITES WITHIN 15KM OF THE PLAN AREA 

European Sites and their associated qualifying features and associated conservation objectives  

are likely to be compromised by the plan only where the actions of the plan have the potential 

to result in land use activities than could result in damage or disturbance to qualifying habitat 

and qualifying species and the processes that they rely upon to maintain their favourable 

conservation status. As identified in Section 5.1 above the Plan will not result in the 

implementation of land use activities that will have the potential to result in negative impacts 

to European Sites and their conservation objectives. On the contrary a number of the objectives 

and actions of the plan will have the potential to result in positive impacts for European Sites 

and their conservation status.   

Table 5.2 provides a further examination of the plan by evaluating its land use implications for 

European Sites on a site by site basis. This evaluation has been undertaken in line with the 

following criteria:  

• Does the Plan have the potential to damage or disturb qualifying habitats? 

• Does the Plan have the potential to disturb and undermine the conservation status of 

qualifying species/special conservation interest bird species? 

Page 391



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 39 11/09/2020 

 

• Does the Plan have the potential to undermine the processes that underpin the 

favourable conservation status of qualifying habitats and qualifying species occurring 

within and surrounding the plan area? 

Page 392



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 40 11/09/2020 

 

 

Table 5.1: Identification of European Sites within the Zone of Influence of the Plan 

European Sites  Potential Damage/Disturbance to 

Qualifying Habitats  

Potential Disturbance to Qualifying 

Species  

Potential to undermine the processes 

that underpin favourable conservation 

status of qualifying features of 

interest   

Is the European Sites at 

risk of likely significant 

effects from the Plan 

European Sites within 

the Plan Area 

    

North Dublin Bay SAC The Plan will not result in land use 

interventions that will have the 

potential to result in disturbance to 

the qualifying habitat of this SAC.  

The interactions of the plan with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC will 

be limited to the eradication of litter 

from within the SAC and its 

qualifying habitats and from 

upstream sources within Dublin City 

and Dublin’s docklands. The 

measures outlined in the plan to 

eradicate or minimise litter from 

these areas will have the potential to 

represent a positive impact for the 

qualifying habitat of this SAC. For 
instance it has been noted by Green et 

al. (2015) that the deposition of litter 

such as plastics on coastal wetland 

habitats has the potential to 

undermine the status of these habitats 

through a reduction in primary 

Petalwort is the only Annex 2 species 

listed as a qualifying feature of 

interest for this SAC. The habitat 

supporting this species is restricted to 

the dunes slacks of Bull Island. As 
outlined opposite for the qualifying 

habitats of this SAC the plan has the 

potential to result in positive impacts 

for the qualifying habitats of the SAC 

and the quality of dune slack habitat 

within the SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC 

No. 

P
age 393



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 41 11/09/2020 

 

productivity and infauna invertebrate 

species richness and abundance. The 

implementations of the objectives and 

actions of the plan as detailed in 
Section 5.1 above will have the 

potential to reduce litter within this 

SAC are result in positive 

implications for the wetland coastal 

qualifying habitats of this SAC.     

North Bull Island SPA The Plan will not result in land use 

interventions that will have the 

potential to result in disturbance to 

the wetland habitats of this SPA.  

As outlined for North Dublin Bay 

SAC above the interactions of the 

plan with the wetland habitats of this 

SPA will be limited to the eradication 

of litter from within the SPA and 

upstream in Dublin City and 

docklands. The measures outlined in 

the plan to eradicate or minimise 

litter from this SPA will have the 

potential to represent a positive 

impact for the wetland habitats of this 

SPA.   

The eradication or minimisation of 

litter within the SPA will have the 

potential to result in in positive 

impacts for the conservation status of 
wetland bird species relying on the 

coastal wetland habitats of this SPA. 

For instance Green et al (2015) 

reported the detrimental impacts of 

plastic litter deposition on primary 

production and infaunal invertebrates 

of coastal wetland habitats. The 

special conservation interest bird 

species of this SPA rely on both the 

vegetation and infaunal invertebrates 

of the wetland habitats supported by 
this SPA and the potential for the 

plan to reduce the extent of litter 

within the SPA will represent a 

positive impact for the SPA and 

support the conservation objectives of 

this SPA.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SPA 

No. 

South Dublin Bay & 

Tolka Estuary SPA 

The Plan will not result in land use 

interventions that will have the 

potential to result in disturbance to 

the wetland habitats of this SPA.  

For the reasons outlined for the North 

Bull Island SPA above the plan has 

the potential to represent a positive 

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

No. 

P
age 394



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 42 11/09/2020 

 

As outlined for North Dublin Bay 

SAC above the interactions of the 

plan with the wetland habitats of this 

SPA will be limited to the eradication 

of litter from within the SPA and 

upstream in Dublin City and 

docklands. The measures outlined in 

the plan to eradicate or minimise 
litter from this SPA will have the 

potential to represent a positive 

impact for the wetland habitats of this 

SPA.   

impact for the SPA and support the 

conservation objectives of this SPA. 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SPA 

South Dublin Bay SAC For the reasons outlined for the North 

Dublin Bay SAC above the plan has 

the potential to represent a positive 

impact for the qualifying habitat of 

this SAC and support the 

conservation objectives of this SAC. 

No qualifying species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC. However it is noted that for 

reasons outlined for the North Bull 

Island SPA above the plan has the 
potential to represent a positive 

impact for the faunal communities 

supported by the qualifying habitats 

of this SAC. 

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC 

No. 

European Sites within 

15km of the Plan area 

    

Rogerstown Estuary 

SPA 

The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the wetland 

habitats of this SPA 

The Plan area is located at a remote 

distance from this SPA and any land 

activities associated with the plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

interactions with the special 

conservation interest bird species of 

this SPA. 

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SPA 

No. 

P
age 395



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 43 11/09/2020 

 

Rogerstown Estuary 

SAC 

The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 
potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC. 

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No. 

Lambay Island SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

Any land use activities associated 

with the plan will be completed at a 

remote distance from this SAC. It is 

predicted that there will be no 

potential for such activities to interact 

with the population of harbour seal 

supported by this SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No. 

Lambay Island SPA The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the wetland 

habitats of this SPA 

The Plan area is located at a remote 

distance from this SPA and any land 

activities associated with the plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

interactions with the special 

conservation interest bird species of 

this SPA. 

Any works associated with the 

expansion of the walking and cycling 

network or with road maintenance 

upstream of this SAC could result in 

negative effects to qualifying species 

and qualifying habitats of the SAC. 

No. 

Malahide Estuary SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Broadmeadow/Swords 

Estuary SPA 

The actions of the plan will be 
restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

The Plan area is located at a remote 
distance from this SPA and any land 

activities associated with the plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

This SPA is located within a separate 
surface water catchment to the Plan 

area and as such there is no 

hydrological pathway linking the 

No.  

P
age 396



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 44 11/09/2020 

 

potential to interact with the wetland 

habitats of this SPA 

interactions with the special 

conservation interest bird species of 

this SPA. 

Plan area and associated land use 

elements to this SPA.  

Baldoyle Bay SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Baldoyle Bay SPA The actions of the plan will be 
restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the wetland 

habitats of this SPA 

The Plan area is located at a remote 
distance from this SPA and any land 

activities associated with the plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

interactions with the special 

conservation interest bird species of 

this SPA. 

There is no hydrological pathway 
linking the Plan area and associated 

land use elements to this SPA.  

No.  

Howth Head SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 
with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 
status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Howth Head Coast SPA The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the wetland 

habitats of this SPA 

The Plan area is located at a remote 

distance from this SPA and any land 

activities associated with the plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

interactions with the special 
conservation interest bird species of 

this SPA. 

This SAC is located within a separate 

surface water catchment to the Plan 

area and as such there is no 

hydrological pathway linking the 

Plan area and associated land use 

elements to this SAC.  

No.  

P
age 397



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 45 11/09/2020 

 

Ireland’s Eye SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 
potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Ireland’s Eye SPA The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the wetland 

habitats of this SPA 

The Plan area is located at a remote 

distance from this SPA and any land 

activities associated with the plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

interactions with the special 

conservation interest bird species of 

this SPA. 

This SPA is located within a separate 

surface water catchment to the Plan 

area and as such there is no 

hydrological pathway linking the 

Plan area and associated land use 

elements to this SPA.  

No.  

Dalkey Island SPA The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the wetland 

habitats of this SPA 

The Plan area is located at a remote 

distance from this SPA and any land 

activities associated with the plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

interactions with the special 

conservation interest bird species of 

this SPA. 

This SAC is located within a separate 

surface water catchment to the Plan 

area and as such there is no 

hydrological pathway linking the 

Plan area and associated land use 

elements to this SAC.  

No.  

Wicklow Mountain SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

The Plan area is located a remote 

distance from this SAC and any land 

use activities facilitated by the Plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

interactions with otters, which is the 

only qualifying species of this SAC. 

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Wicklow Mountain SPA The actions of the plan will be 
restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

The Plan area is located at a remote 
distance from this SPA and any land 

activities associated with the plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

This SPA is located within a separate 
surface water catchment to the Plan 

area and as such there is no 

hydrological pathway linking the 

No 

P
age 398



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 46 11/09/2020 

 

potential to interact with the wetland 

habitats of this SPA 

interactions with the special 

conservation interest bird species of 

this SPA. 

Plan area and associated land use 

elements to this SPA.  

Ballyman Glen SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Knocksink Woods SAC The actions of the plan will be 
restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 
qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 
to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Glenasmole Valley SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 
potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Bray Head SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

No Annex II species are listed as 

qualifying features of interest for this 

SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No.  

Rye Water Valley SAC The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

The Plan area is located a remote 

distance from this SAC and is also 

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

No.  

P
age 399



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 47 11/09/2020 

 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

located downstream of it. Any land 

use activities facilitated by the Plan 

will not have the potential to result in 

interactions with Vertigo snail 
species, which are the only qualifying 

species of this SAC. 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

Rockabill to Dalkey 

Island SAC 

The actions of the plan will be 

restricted to the DCC Plan area and 

any land use activities associated 

with the plan will not have the 

potential to interact with the 

qualifying habitats of this SAC. 

Any land use activities facilitated by 

the plan will be completed at a 

remote distance from this SAC. It is 

predicted that there will be no 

potential for these works to interact 

with the population of harbour 

porpoise supported by this SAC.  

The plan will not have the potential 

to undermine the processes that 

underpin the favourable conservation 

status of the qualifying features of 

interest of this SAC. 

No 

P
age 400



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 48 11/09/2020 

 

Table 5.2 above outlines the relationship between the project site and the European Sites 

occurring within and in the surrounding 15km buffer area of the Plan area. The examination 

provided in Table 5.2 shows that the plan will not have the potential to result in damage or 

disturbance to the qualifying features of interest of European Sites within the Plan area or within 

the wider surrounding area and will not have the potential to undermine the conservation 

objectives of these European Sites.  

5.3 IN-COMBINATION EFFECTS WITH OTHER PLANS & PROJECTS 

As part of the Habitats Directive Article 6(3) assessment process consideration must be given 

to the potential for the Plan to combine with other plans or projects to result in cumulative 

negative effects to European Sites. The plan is prepared in line with the requirements of the 

Litter Pollution Act 1997 to 2009. The plan in and of itself does not influence other plans but 

contributes to environmental management through litter reduction and control. Furthermore 

given the nature, scale and objectives of the plan which will not result in significant land use 

activities there will be no potential for the plan to combine with other plans or projects to result 

in negative cumulative impacts to European Sites. On the contrary the implementation of the 

plan will have the potential to result in a reduction in litter within the European Sites occurring 

within the plan area which will have the potential to result in positive impacts for these 

European Sites and support the achievement of their conservation objectives.  

6.0 SCREENING CONCLUSION  

The Screening of the proposed Dublin City Council Litter Management Plan as set out above 

shows that the plan will not result in land use activities that have the potential to result in 

negative impacts to the qualifying features of interest of European Sites occurring within or 

surrounding the plan area and will not have the potential to compromise the achievement of the 

conservation objective of these European Sites.  

In light of the findings of this report it is the considered view of the authors of this Screening 

Report for Appropriate Assessment that it can be concluded by Dublin City Council that the 

Plan is not likely, alone or in-combination with other plans or projects, to have a significant 

effect on any European Sites in view of their Conservation Objectives and on the basis of best 

scientific evidence and there is no reasonable scientific doubt as to that conclusion. 

Page 401



Client:  Dublin City Council 

Project Title:           Litter Management Plan 2020 - 2022 

Document Title:  Screening for Appropriate Assessment 

Date:  Sept. 2020 

Document Issue: Final 

 

 
DEC 49 11/09/2020 

 

REFERENCES 

Department of the Environment Heritage and Local Government (DEHLG) (2010). 

Appropriate Assessment of Plans and Projects in Ireland: Guidance for Planning Authorities. 

Second Edition, February, 2010. 

European Commission (2002). Assessment of plans and projects significantly affecting Natura 

2000 sites. Methodological guidance on the provisions of Article 6(3) and (4) of the Habitats 

Directive 92/43/EEC. Luxembourg. 

European Commission (2006). Explanatory Notes and Guidelines for the Assessment, 

Monitoring and Reporting under Article 17 of the Habitats Directive. Luxembourg. 

Green, D.S., Boots, B., Blockley, D.J., Rocha, C. & Thompson, R. (2015). Impacts of Discarded 

Plastic Bags on Marine Assemblages and Ecosystem Functioning. Environmental Science & 

Technology. Vol 49: p 5380 – 5389.  

Page 402



1 

 

 

 

                                                         Environment and Transportation Department, 
                                                           Block 2, Floor 6,      

                                                         Civic Offices, 
                                                         Dublin 8. 

 

            

 

Litter Management Plan 2016 -2018 Update Report - September 2018 

 

The Litter Management Plan adopted in March 2016 contains four key objectives: 

 

 To reduce litter by working with our citizens to make Dublin a welcoming environment for all 
who live in, work in and visit the City. 

 To communicate the litter prevention message throughout Dublin City. 

 To ensure that there is an effective and efficient street cleaning operation in place 
throughout the City. 

 To use all available enforcement options under the Litter Pollution Acts 1997-2009 and the 
Bye Laws to prosecute litter offenders whenever possible. 

 
 

 
The Plan was structured around three service delivery areas, Resources, Partnership and 
Enforcement. 31 objectives were set out to be delivered over the lifetime of the plan.   
 

Resources 

During the lifetime of the Plan the Waste Management Department has undergone significant 
change incorporating the introduction of new shift patterns that have delivered on the commitment 
to provide regular 7 day cleaning and litter management services to all areas reflecting the services 
provided to the city centre area. 
 
A move from route based cleaning to areas based cleaning has been undertaken and is currently 
being refined further to ensure that resources are allocated adequately across all of the 
administrative areas. 
 
Use of the Dublin City Council customer relations management system (CRM) has been enhanced to 

improve service delivery, accountability, and measurement of response times and levels of 

complaints in each administrative area. Approximately 16,000 service requests have been addressed 

to date in 2018. 

Page 403



2 

 

Rationalisation of services at the 2 main depot locations north and south of the city at Collins Ave 

and Davitt Road has been completed including the complete redevelopment of the Davitt Road 

Facility.  

The realignment of the Herzog Park recycling bring centre is underway. 

Recruitment has been undertaken at all operational levels including the addition of 100 new recruits 

to general operative staff to ensure that agreed staffing levels are maintained to provide services.  

This is an ongoing process to offset retirements etc from the service. 

160 new solar compactor bins have been introduced to the city following successful trials of this 

type of technology.  Bin surveying and mapping has been completed and the introduction of quick 

response (QR) code reporting for bins requiring has been introduced. 

 
 Objective Status 

1 Develop a cleaning strategy for suburban 

villages, including provision for weekend/out of 

hours service schedule. 

North and Southside crews now assigned and 

scheduled cleaning / power washing of areas 

prioritised in conjunction with Area Depts is ongoing 

on a quarterly basis.  Public Domain 7 over 7 shift is 

providing regular weekend services to all urban 

villages 

2 Roll out of Cleaning Standards booklet to all 

Street Cleaning Staff. 

 Currently being rolled out to all incoming staff 

3 Intensive street washing programme from April 

to October each year. 

street washing programme in City Centre 

implemented on Night Shift. 

4 Update and maintain accurate street cleaning 

and road sweeping schedule on Dublin City 

Council website. 

Not yet implemented due to reorganisation of 

cleaning routes and schedules on an area basis 

5 Introduce street sweeping request facility for 

City residents. Parking restrictions will be sought 

to be put in place in cooperation with residents 

to facilitate this. 

Facility is available in conjunction with local area 

offices and is in use successfully in a number of 

locations on occasional and regular basis 

Page 404



3 

 

6 Introduction of on line Bulky Waste Collection 

service.  Request via Dublin City Council website. 

Online bulky waste collection service is in place and 

working successfully.                                    

1132 service requests completed in 2017.  

7 Implement Halloween Plan to combat social and 

environmental consequences of Bonfires. 

Halloween Plan successfully implemented in 2016 

and 2017  

420 tonnes of material removed in 2016 

450 tonnes of material removed in 2017 

Planning is underway in conjunction with other depts. 

and stakeholders for 2018  

8 Organise Christmas tree collection service.  Christmas Tree Collection in place annually. 

150 tonnes of trees collected in 2016/17 

170 tonnes of trees collected  in 2017/18 

9 Expansion in the use of the GIS system to 

manage illegal dumping incidents. 

CRM Mapping facility in place.  It is intended to use 

this system to target enforcement actions for future 

initiatives. 

10 Increase the number of handcarts to 10 in use in 

City Centre Streets (e.g. O’Connell St., Grafton St. 

and Henry St.) 

 Number of handcarts currently in use - 17 

11 Develop Litter Bin Policy including requirements 

for siting of bins and criteria for bin removal. 

 Litter Bin Policy document developed and reported 

to Litter Sub Committee.  The criteria for locating and 

removal or relocation of litter bins is based on levels 

of demand and proximity to litter generators.   All 

requests for location and removal of bins are 

assessed on this basis. 

12 Updated bin survey, including bins in parks to be 

completed.  

Updated bin survey completed across city in 

conjunction with Implementation of unique Identifier 

system for bins.   

Page 405



4 

 

13 Installation of additional litter bins/dog fouling 

bins in or in close proximity to every enclosed 

Park within the City. 

Dog Fouling bins installed across city at green spaces, 

park entrances and high footfall dog walking 

locations as agreed with the Area Departments.  

Standard litter bins are also in place at many park 

entrances. 

14 Unique identifier placed on every litter bin in 

Dublin City Council area.  To be updated on IT 

System, including removal or addition of new 

bin. 

Identifier tags designed, tested and installed. These 

include QR code for customer reporting to CRM 

system.                                

All tagged bins mapped and active on IT system and 

the QR system is fully operational. 

15 Bin maintenance regime to be developed for 

cleaning and painting of bins. 

Bin washing programme in place.   

16 Use advertising space on litter bins for anti-

littering messages. 

Limited use of bin advertising space has been 

implemented for anti dumping campaigns and to 

advertise the Team Dublin Clean Up.  This will be 

enhanced during the lifetime of the next LMP 

17 Continue maintenance programme for Bottle 

Banks. 

Enhanced programme in place with closer 

coordination between Waste Management and 

service provider.         

All bottle and textile bank locations to be included in 

Area Based cleaning schedules for daily cleaning from 

Oct 1st 2018.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 406



5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Partnership 

The Waste Management Department continue to work in close partnership with local communities 
and residents groups and Dublin City Council Area Departments to deliver services and support local 
environmental initiatives.  Community clean ups are supported throughout the city on an ongoing 
basis.   

The City Neighbourhoods competition is supported and promoted to reward active communities for 
the invaluable contribution they make to their environment and locality.   

The national Pride of Place entries from Dublin City Council are coordinated and supported through 
the Department.  

The Team Dublin Clean Up is now an annual event for the city and the department also supported 
the recent world clean up day activities in the city. 

The Department continues to promote Local Agenda 21 grant funding to support workshops, 
educational activities and initiatives promoting sustainability and environmental awareness. The 
green schools programme is also supported. 

 

18 Implement Team Dublin Clean-up on 

Saturday 26th March. 

Team Dublin Clean Up event held in 

2016/2017./2018 participation has increased 

annually. 

2018 event was held in conjunction with /Dodder 

Action Day / Canal Clean Up / Clean Coasts/ National 

Spring Clean.   

100 groups took part in the event in 2018. 

It is intended to build on the success of this 

collaborative approach in 2019 

19 Dublin City Council will facilitate 

community clean-ups with Residents 

Associations and community groups.  

Community Clean Up support is ongoing in 

conjunction with Area Depts.                                             

1909 clean ups supported in 2017 

1044 clean ups supported to date in 2018 

Page 407



6 

 

20 Dublin City Council will continue to assist 

in the organisation and support of the City 

Neighbourhoods Awards. 

City Neighbourhoods Awards 2017 to took place on 

21st Sept                             

 

Number of entries in 2017 – 287 

Number of entries in 2018 - 298 

21 Continue to develop and roll out the 

Green Schools Programme to primary, 

post primary and third level institutions.  

284 schools are taking part in the programme.   

70 school visits completed annually. 

Green Schools seminar held annually to promote 

programme                               

22 Greater engagement on social media 

regarding litter management issues. 

Greater use of social media to provide 

information about street cleaning across 

the city 

Limited use of social media to promote initiatives 

such as: 

Team Dublin Clean Up 

City Neighbourhoods 

Awareness campaigns: Cigarette Litter / Disposable 

Coffee Cups 

Staff engaged in social media training to improve 

presence and increase usage over lifetime of next 

LMP 

23 Development of policy on responsible dog 

ownership. 

 The Waste Management Department support the 

Green Dog Walkers scheme.  The scheme is 

promoted at relevant events.  Currently examining 

how to promote the scheme to existing and new dog 

licence holders. 

24 Introduce pre-programmed anti dog 

fouling audio messages at dog fouling 

blackspots and bring centres. 

This system has been used at 4 locations including 

bring centre locations and dog walking areas.   

Currently in use at Sundrive Rd bottle banks.  

Areas where the system can be used are limited due 

to noise disturbance.  Effectiveness appears to 

decrease over time so usage will be considered for 

limited timeframes at problematic locations. 

Page 408



7 

 

25 Run local cinema and radio advertising on 

litter, dog fouling and Christmas tree 

campaigns. 

Cinema Campaign run on Theme of Food Waste and 

Dog Litter in Q1 2016. 

Shopping centre radio campaign run on theme of 

litter in Q1 2016 

Food waste campaign run in cinemas in Q4 2017. 

Public awareness campaigns run on social media and 

out of house advertising on issues of cigarette litter 

and disposable coffee cups. 

 
 
 
 
Enforcement  
 
The use of CCTV has continued and expanded in certain locations.  
 
Door to door compliance campaigns have been undertaken as have specific enforcement activities 
surrounding compliance with waste and litter bye laws.  Dog fouling patrols and illegal dumping 
investigations have also been ongoing over the lifetime of the plan. 
 
The proposed new Waste Bye Laws will provide scope for improving enforcement of the 
requirement to take part in a waste collection service. 
 
The department has been involved in the Department of Communications, Climate Action and 
Environment Anti Dumping initiatives and the SMART Dublin/Enterprise Ireland Small Business 
Innovation Research (SBIR) projects both directed at targeting the issue of illegal dumping. 
 
The department is currently examining the illegal dumping issue as part of the Dublin City BETA city 
challenge initiative. 
 
 
 
26 Dublin City Council will review the Litter 

Wardens duties in order to meet the 

requirements of the new Litter 

Management Plan. 

Review of litter enforcement activities was initiated 

in 2018 and is ongoing. 

Page 409



8 

 

27 Continued use of CCTV surveillance and 

associated signage. 

CCTV continues to be used in several community 

bring centres and illegal dumping locations 

throughout the city. 

28 Expansion of door to door enforcement 

campaigns across the city. 

Pilot projects in North Inner City, South Central Area, 

North West and North Central have been completed.   

Expansion of the use of this type of enforcement 

action is envisaged using the provisions of the 

proposed new Waste Bye Laws. 

 

29 In conjunction with WEEE Ireland, Dublin 

City Council will facilitate WEEE collection 

days at specific locations across the City.  

WEEE Ireland no longer carry out collection days as 

all electronic retailers must now accept WEEE items 

for recycling.                                    

RecycleIT carry out door to door collections in the 

Dublin City area in cooperation with DCC 

30 Formulate and implement Citywide 

enforcement policy including the 

establishment of a citywide enforcement 

team. 

An enforcement policy has been formulated 

including step by step approach to establishing 

compliance levels and carrying out enforcement. 

 

31 Prepare submission on legislative 
requirements to support enforcement 
activities. 

Discussion document prepared on legislative issues 

relating to litter enforcement. 

Feedback on draft bye laws provided to Eastern 

Midland Waste Region on formulation of new Waste  

By Laws 

Draft Waste Bye Laws public consultation period 

recently completed.   

 

 
 

Page 410



9 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Key Performance Indicators  
 
The plan also references the Key Performance Indicators to be used over the lifetime of the plan that 
include enforcement data annually and performance in national surveys. 
 
 
National Litter Pollution Monitoring System 
 

Grading 2016 2017 

Unpolluted by Litter 10.70% 13.30% 

Slightly Polluted by Litter 55.35% 53.30% 

Moderately polluted by Litter 26.50% 25.40% 

Significantly polluted by litter 7% 7.40% 

Grossly Polluted by Litter 0.30% 0.40% 

 
 
 
Enforcement Data  
 

2016 Litter Pollution Act Bye Laws 2017 Litter Pollution Act Bye Laws 

Issued 1666 191 Issued 1418 344 

Paid 656 129 Paid 601 174 

Successfully 
Appealed 268 21 

Successfully 
Appealed 191 44 

Settled Out of 
Court 53 6 

Settled Out of 
Court 43 3 

Successful 
Convictions 78 2 

Successful 
Convictions 75 3 

Dismissed 3 0 Dismissed 3 0 

Did Not 608 33 Did Not Proceed 505 120 

Page 411



10 

 

Proceed 

 
 
 
Future Planning 
 
The Waste Management Department are in the process of gathering data to carry out a final review 
of the current Litter Management Plan and begin to prepare the Draft Litter Management Plan 2019 
– 2021 which will be brought to this committee for consideration.  Any outstanding items not 
achieved during the lifetime of the 2016 plan will be carried over into the new plan where they 
remain relevant. 

Page 412



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dublin City Council  
 
 
 

WASTE MANAGEMENT (STORAGE, PRESENTATION AND 
SEGREGATION OF HOUSEHOLD AND COMMERCIAL WASTE) 

BYE-LAWS 2018 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 413



 

 

1. PRELIMINARY AND GENERAL          1 

  

 1.1.Title            1 

 1.2. Statutory Basis of the Bye  law         1 

 1.3. Citation            1 

 1.4. Date of Commencement          1 

 1.5. Geographical area of application         1 

 1.6. Revocations           1 

 1.7. Scope of this Bye-law: Waste Types and Controlled Activities     1 

 1.8. Interpretation and Definitions        2 

 

 

2. SEGREGATION, STORAGE AND PRESENTATION OF HOUSEHOLD AND COMMERCIAL    

WASTE             4 

 

 2.1. Obligation to Participate in a Waste Collection Service      4 

 2.2. Maintenance and Management of Waste Containers      4 

 2.3. Location for container storage         4 

 2.4. Use of Waste Containers on Collection Day       4 

 2.5. Presentation Times and Container Removal       5 

 2.6. Prohibited Waste Types          5 

 2.7. Segregation of Household Waste and Contamination Prevention    5 

 2.8. Additional Provisions for Householders not availing of a Kerbside Collection Service  5 

 2.9. Provisions affecting Multi-user Buildings, Apartment Blocks, etc    6 

 2.10. Interference with Orderly Waste Collection      6 

 2.11. Additional Provisions for Commercial Waste       7 

 2.12. Enforcement Provisions/Fixed Payment Notices.      7

Page 414



 

1 

 

1. PRELIMINARY AND GENERAL  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.1 Title 
 

Dublin City Council (Segregation, Storage and Presentation of Household and 
Commercial Waste) Bye-laws, 2018 
 

 
1.2 Statutory Basis of the Bye-law 
 

Dublin City Council, pursuant to Section 35(1) of the Waste Management Act 1996 and 
Section 199(1) of the Local Government Act 2001 and in accordance with Part 19 of the 
Local Government Act 2001, hereby makes the following bye-laws: 
 

 
1.3 Citation 
 

These bye-laws may be cited as the Dublin City Council (Segregation, Storage and 
Presentation of Household and Commercial Waste) Bye-laws, 2018  
 

 
1.4 Date of Commencement 
 

These bye-laws shall enter into force on the 1st of May 2019. 
  

 
1.5 Geographical area of application 
 

These bye-laws shall apply to the functional area of Dublin City Council.  
 

 
1.6 Revocations 
 

These bye-laws repeal the Dublin City Council, Storage, Presentation and Collection of 
Domestic and Commercial Waste Bye-laws 2013.  
 

 
1.7 Scope of this Bye-law: Waste Types and Controlled Activities 
 

Unless the following bye-laws indicate to the contrary, these bye-laws apply to both 
household and commercial waste.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 415



 

2 

 

1.8  Interpretation and Definitions 
 

In these bye-laws, these words and phrases have the following meanings: 

“appropriate waste container” means a waste container suitable for the collection of 
kerbside waste and which is a receptacle that complies with the standards for mobile 
waste containers (wheeled bins) which are specified in the CEN standard entitled IS EN 
840 (Parts 1-6; 

“authorised person” means a person authorised by Dublin City Council in accordance 
with Section 204 of the Local Government Act 2001 or a member of an Garda Síochána; 

“authorised waste collector” means a person authorised in accordance with Section 34 
of the Waste Management Act, including any regulations made thereunder, for the 
collection of the type of waste being collected; 

“authorised waste facility” means a waste recovery or disposal facility: 
(a) which is authorised under the Waste Management Act, under the Environmental 
Protection Agency Act, under any regulations stemming from either of these Acts or 
under regulations made under the European Communities Act 1972 relating to the 
control of waste management activities; and  
(b) where the authorisation of that facility permits the acceptance of the waste being 
referred to in the particular part of these bye-laws; 

“bring facility” means an authorised waste facility comprising one or more purpose-
built receptacles in which segregated recyclable household waste may be deposited by 
the public for the purposes of the recovery of that waste; 

“commercial kerbside waste” shall mean commercial waste that is kerbside waste. 

“commercial waste” means waste from premises used wholly or mainly for the 
purposes of a trade or business or for the purposes of sport, recreation, education or 
entertainment but does not include household, agricultural or industrial waste; 

“designated waste collection day” shall mean the day designated by Dublin City 
Council for the collection of kerbside waste, and different days may be designated in 
specific areas within and outside of the Central Commercial District for commercial 
kerbside waste and household kerbside waste; 

“designated bag collection area” is an area designated by Dublin City Council in 
accordance with Article 20 of the Waste Management (Collection Permit)Regulations 
2007 where waste can be collected in bags or sacks; 

“fixed payment notice” means a notice provided for by these bye-laws and by Section 
206 of the Local Government Act 2001 which is issued to a person in respect of a 
contravention of these bye-laws and which, as an alternative to prosecution, requires 
that person to pay a specified fixed payment by a specified time; 

“food waste” means waste food that is household waste or, as the case may be, 
commercial waste, and shall have the same meaning as that applying to Regulation 7 
of the Waste Management (Food Waste) Regulations 2009 (SI 508 of 2009) or, as the 
case may be, to Regulation 6 of the European Union (Household Food Waste and Bio-
Waste) Regulations 2015 (SI 430  of 2015); 

Food Waste Regulations: see “national legislation on food waste”; 

“holder” means the waste producer or the person who is in possession of the waste 
and “holder of commercial waste” and “holder of household waste” shall be interpreted 
accordingly; 

“household kerbside waste” means household waste that is kerbside waste; 

“household waste” means waste produced within the curtilage of a building or self-
contained part of a building used for the purposes of living accommodation; 

“kerbside waste” means that fraction of commercial or household waste presented for 
collection from a premises and which is to be collected by an authorised waste 
collector, with the exception of wastewater, construction and demolition waste and 
bulky waste more suitable for collection in a skip or other such receptacle (including 

Page 416



 

3 

 

heavy waste such as waste furniture, carpets and rubble), as well as hazardous waste 
and other streams of household or commercial waste which are required to be collected 
in another appropriate manner, such as waste electrical and electronic equipment and 
waste batteries; 

 

“national legislation on food waste” means the Waste Management (Food Waste) 
Regulations 2009 (SI 508 of 2009) and the European Union (Household Food Waste and 
Bio-Waste) Regulations 2015 (SI 430  of 2015); 

"occupier" includes, in relation to any premises, the owner, a lessee, any person 
entitled to occupy the premises and any other person having, for the time being, control 
of the premises; 

“person” shall, for the purposes of these bye-laws, include an individual, company 
(whether limited, incorporated or not), partnership, co-operative or other similar body 
within the meaning of the definition contained in the Interpretation Act 2005; 

“prescribed place” in relation to any premises means (i) A convenient place 
immediately outside the entrance to the premises or as close as practicable thereto but 
not such as to cause an obstruction to users of the roadway, footway or footpath. A 
particular location, close to or on a particular premises, approved by an appointed 
person.  

 “recyclable household kerbside waste” means the fraction of household kerbside 
waste that comprises recyclable household waste and which includes the materials set 
out in Schedule 11; 

“residual household kerbside waste” means the fraction of household kerbside waste 
remaining after that waste has been separated from the fractions of: 

(a) recyclable household kerbside waste,  

(b) food waste where food waste is required to be segregated under the national 
legislation on food waste or by these bye-laws, and  

(c) if subject to separate collection by an authorised waste collector, biodegradable 
garden waste. 

Unless the contrary is indicated, for the avoidance of doubt and in accordance with Section 19 
of the Interpretation Act 2005, the definitions in the Waste Management Act 1996 apply to these 
by-laws, including to the following terms: 

“facility”, “disposal”, “hazardous waste”, ”premises”, “recovery”, “recycling”, 
”separate collection”, “waste”, “waste producer”. 

 

Where it is necessary, the Interpretation Act 2005 shall apply in construing any provision of 
these bye-laws.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
1 At the end of this appendix 

Page 417



 

4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. SEGREGATION, STORAGE AND PRESENTATION OF HOUSEHOLD AND 
COMMERCIAL WASTE 

 

2.1 Obligation to Participate in a Waste Collection Service 
 

“(a) Subject to paragraph (b), household kerbside waste that arises from the premises 
where such waste is produced shall not be presented to any person other than to an 
authorised waste collector. 
(b) Paragraph (a) does not apply where such waste: 

(i) is deposited in an appropriate waste container provided under a contract by 
an authorised waste collector to another person for the management of that 
waste and where that other person has consented to the receipt of that waste, 
or 
(ii) is delivered directly by the holder to an authorised waste facility. 

(c) Documentary evidence, such as receipts, statements or other proof of payment, 
demonstrating compliance with this bye-law shall be presented to an authorised person 
within a time specified in a written request from either that person or from another 
authorised person employed by Dublin City Council. 
 

 

2.2. Maintenance and Management of Waste Containers 
 

Containers used for the presentation of kerbside waste shall be maintained in such 
condition and state of repair that the waste placed therein will not be a source of 
nuisance or litter. Waste shall not be presented in a container where: 

(a) the wheels or lid have been removed or damaged to such an extent that it is 
not able to contain the waste without spillage, is otherwise unfit for the purpose 
for which it was designed or is not capable of being conveniently emptied. 
 

 

2.3. Location for container storage 
 

Other than on the day before and the designated waste collection day outside the 
Central Commercial District and on the designated waste collection day only within the 
Central Commercial District, containers used for the presentation of kerbside waste 
shall be held within the curtilage of the premises where the waste is produced. They 
shall not be stored on a roadway, footway, footpath or any other public place unless 
the location has been expressly authorised in writing by an authorised person. 

 
 

2.4. Use of Waste Containers on Collection Day 
 

(a) Subject to paragraph (b), household kerbside waste shall only be presented for 
collection in a prescribed place in an appropriate waste container. The container shall 
not be over-loaded and the lid shall be securely closed. No waste shall be presented on 
the top of the lid or adjacent to the waste container. 
(b) Paragraph (a) shall not apply where waste is collected in bags or sacks in an area 
designated by Dublin City Council as a designated bag collection area.  

Page 418



 

5 

 

(c) In specified areas within the functional area of Dublin City Council, Dublin City 
Council may designate that only waste containers suitable for re-use may be used for 
the presentation of household and/or commercial waste for collection.  
Waste containers suitable for reuse include appropriate waste containers and any such 
other waste containers that may be designated by Dublin City Council from time to time 
as suitable for reuse.  
A schedule of specified areas where the presentation of household and/or commercial 
waste may only be presented in waste containers suitable for reuse will be maintained 
by Dublin City Council. A schedule of waste containers designated as suitable for reuse 
will also be maintained by Dublin City Council. 

 
 
2.5. Presentation Times and Container Removal 
 

 (a) Subject to paragraph (b), kerbside waste presented for collection shall not be 
presented for collection earlier than 5.00 pm on the day immediately preceding the 
designated waste collection day;  
(b) In the Central Commercial District the prescribed time for kerbside waste to be 
presented shall be not before 5.00 pm on the designated waste collection day. 

 
All containers used for the presentation of kerbside waste and any uncollected waste 
shall be removed from any roadway, footway, footpath or any other public place no later 
than 10:00am on the day following the designated waste collection day, unless an 
alternative arrangement has been approved in accordance with bye-law 2.3 

 
 

2.6. Prohibited Waste Types 
 

Household waste that comprises hazardous waste or waste electrical and electronic 
equipment shall not be placed in an appropriate waste container for kerbside collection. 
 

 
2.7. Segregation of Household Waste and Contamination Prevention 
 

(a) Household kerbside waste shall be segregated into residual household kerbside 
waste and recyclable household kerbside waste, with these fractions being stored 
separately. Any such separated recyclable waste shall not be deposited into a container 
designated for residual household kerbside waste and no such residual waste shall be 
deposited into a container designated for recyclable household kerbside waste. 
 
(b) Neither recyclable household kerbside waste nor food waste arising from 
households shall be contaminated with any other type of waste before or after it has 
been segregated.  

 
Note: while the remainder of this paragraph does not form part of these bye-laws, there 
are separate legal requirements mandating householders to segregate food waste and 
to keep it separate. These are contained in the European Union (Household Food Waste 
and Bio-Waste) Regulations 2015. Food waste also may be subject to home composting 
or be delivered to an authorised waste facility. 
 

 

2.8. Additional Provisions for Householders not availing of a Kerbside Collection 
Service  
 

Where an occupier of a dwelling is not participating in a household kerbside waste 
collection service, that person shall ensure that: 

Page 419



 

6 

 

(a) recyclable household kerbside waste segregated in compliance with bye-law 
2.7 is taken to an authorised waste facility and is deposited there in a manner 
that allows it to be recycled or otherwise recovered,  
(b) residual household kerbside waste segregated in compliance with bye-law 
2.7 is taken to an authorised waste facility, and 
(c) documentation, including receipts, is obtained and retained for a period of no 
less than one year to provide proof that any waste removed from the premises 
has been managed in a manner that conforms to these bye-laws, to the Waste 
Management Act and, where such legislation is applicable to that person, to the 
European Union (Household Food Waste and Bio-Waste) Regulations 2015.   

 
Documentation required to be obtained and retained by this bye-law, or copies of it, 
shall be presented to an authorised person within a time period specified in a written 
request from either that person or from another authorised person employed by Dublin 
City Council.   

 

 
2.9. Provisions affecting Multi-user Buildings, Apartment Blocks, etc  
 

A management company, or an other person if there is no such company, who 
exercises control and supervision of residential and/or commercial activities in multi-
unit developments, mixed-use developments, flats or apartment blocks, combined 
living/working spaces or other similar complexes shall ensure that: 
 

(a) separate receptacles of adequate size and number are provided for the 
proper segregation, storage and collection of  recyclable household kerbside 
waste and residual household kerbside waste 

(b) additional receptacles are provided for the segregation, storage and 
collection of food waste where this practice is a requirement of the national 
legislation on food waste, 

(c) the receptacles referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b) are located both within 
any individual apartment and at the place where waste is stored prior to its 
collection, 

(d) any place where waste is to be stored prior to collection is secure, accessible 
at all times by tenants and other occupiers and is not accessible by any other 
person other than an authorised waste collector, 

(e) written information is provided to each tenant or other occupier about the 
arrangements for waste separation, segregation, storage and presentation 
prior to collection, 

(f) an authorised waste collector is engaged to service the receptacles referred 
to in this section of these bye-laws, with documentary evidence, such as 
receipts, statements or other proof of payment, demonstrating the existence 
of this engagement being retained for a period of no less than two years. 
Such evidence shall be presented to an authorised person within a time 
specified in a written request from either that person or from another 
authorised person employed by Dublin City Council,  

(g) receptacles for kerbside waste are presented for collection on the designated 
waste collection day, 

(h) adequate access and egress onto and from the premises by waste collection 
vehicles is maintained.  

 
 
2.10. Interference with Orderly Waste Collection 
 

(a) Unless the following activities have been subject to approval by the authorised waste 
collector responsible for the container, a microchip attached to an appropriate waste 
container or any non-time expired identification mark, badge, label, tag, disc or other 

Page 420



 

7 

 

thing attached to that container or to a refuse bag or to another container shall not be 
removed, damaged, destroyed, tampered with or otherwise rendered inoperative. 

 
(b) Waste stored or presented for the purposes of collection shall not be: 

(i) supplemented by waste added by another person unless that person has been 
authorised to do so by the person storing or, as the case may be, presenting the 
container of waste for collection 

(ii) otherwise interfered with by another person.  
 

(c) Waste shall not be deposited into a refuse collection vehicle by any person other than 
by an employee of an authorised waste collector or a local authority  

 
 

 
2.11. Additional Provisions for Commercial Waste 
 

Commercial waste shall not be deposited at any bring facility provided by or on behalf 
of Dublin City Council.  

 

 
2.12. Enforcement Provisions/Fixed Payment Notices. 
 

(a) Subject to paragraph (b), a person found guilty of the contravention of these bye-laws 
shall be liable to the penalty of no more than €2,500  

(b) Paragraph (a) shall not apply where a fixed payment notice has been issued in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 2001 (Bye-Laws) Regulations and where a 
full payment has been made by the person subject to that notice. 

(c) Where the contravention of any provision of these bye-laws continues after a person 
has been subject to the fine referred to in paragraph (a), a person found guilty of an 
offence relating to this continued contravention shall be liable to a penalty of no more 
than €500 per day for each day the contravention continues after that conviction.  

(d) A fixed payment notice may be issued requiring a person found to have contravened 
or be contravening these bye-laws to make a payment of €75.  Payment of this notice 
shall be made within 21 days of the date of the notice in order to avoid the person 
subject to this notice being prosecuted for the contravention of these bye-laws.  

 
 

Page 421



 

8 

 

SCHEDULE 1.  Recyclable Kerbside Waste 

Paper Aluminium Cans Plastic Bottles (PET 1) 

Newspapers Drink cans Mineral bottles 

Magazines Soda & beer cans Water bottles 

Junk mail  Mouthwash bottles 

Envelopes Steel cans Salad dressing bottles 

Paper Pet food cans  

Phone books Food cans Plastic Bottles (HDPE2) 

Catalogues Biscuit tins Milk bottles 

Tissue boxes Soup tins Juice bottles 

Sugar bags  Cosmetic bottles 

Calendars Cardboard Shampoo bottles 

Diaries Food boxes Household cleaning bottles 

Letters Cereal boxes  Laundry detergent bottles 

Computer paper Kitchen towel tubes  Window cleaning bottles 

Used beverage & juice 

cartons 
Parcel boxes Bathroom bottles 

Milk cartons   

Egg boxes Plastic Pots, Trays & Tubs  

Holiday brochures Yogurt pots  

Paper potato bags Margarine tubs  

 Rigid food trays  

 Liquid soap containers  

 Fruit trays/cartons  

 

 

Page 422



 
 
 

 

 

                                                         Environment and Transportation Department, 
                                                           Block 2, Floor 6,      

                                                         Civic Offices, 
                                                         Dublin 8. 

                       

             16th October 2020. 

To Each Member of the 

Climate Action, Energy and Environment Strategic Policy Committee 

 

Public Consultation Report on the Proposed Amendment of the Dublin City Waste Bye Laws 2018 

 

This report provides an update on the progress of the proposed amendment to the Dublin City Waste 

Bye Laws 2018. 

The proposed amendment provides for the following sub section be inserted into the existing bye law 
2.4 Use of Waste Containers on Collection Day after sub section (B): 
 

(c) In specified areas within the functional area of Dublin City Council, Dublin City Council may 
designate that only waste containers suitable for re-use may be used for the presentation of 
household and/or commercial waste for collection.  
 
Waste containers suitable for reuse include appropriate waste containers and any such other 
waste containers that may be designated by Dublin City Council from time to time as suitable 
for reuse.  
 
A schedule of specified areas where there presentation of household and/or commercial 
waste may only be presented in waste containers suitable for reuse will be maintained by 
Dublin City Council.  
 
A schedule of waste containers designated as suitable for reuse will also be maintained by 
Dublin City Council. 

 
The purpose of the amendment is to allow Dublin City Council to trial, introduce and regulate, the use 
of alternative containers for the on street storage and presentation of waste in order to address the 
issues created by the use of plastic bags for the presentation of waste in the city. 
 
The use of plastic bags for the storage and presentation of waste causes significant issues in respect 

of the creation of litter through the failure of such bags through mishandling or interference from 

vermin and animals.  The appearance of waste bags presented for collection also detracts from the 

streetscape and visual amenity of the city generally.   

Page 423



 
 
 
 

Consultation Overview 

The statutory public consultation period for the litter management plan was initially provided for a 2 

month period concluding on the 10th July. 

During the consultation period 11 submissions were received from the public and business 

representative groups.   

 

Submissions Overview 

The submissions contained a number of comments, observations, queries and recommendations in 

relation to the bye laws in general.   

The areas covered in the submissions were wide ranging and demonstrated an engagement with the 

consultation and an interest in ensuring that the bye laws provide for appropriate measures to address 

issues relating to the regulation of waste in Dublin City.   

Many of the suggestions are both useful and interesting.  However a number of the submissions do 

not relate to the purpose of the consultation and do not address directly the proposed amendment, 

rather they refer to other aspects of the overall waste management system both public and private 

and the bye laws more generally. 

Each of the submissions has been addressed in respect of the relevance to the substantive proposal 

to amend the bye laws. The submissions are provided in full in the document accompanying this report 

and also provided the responses to the points made in the submissions and any recommendations for 

alterations to the proposed amendment to the bye laws. 

 

Recommendation 

Given that an overall majority of submissions received, that were specifically relevant to the proposal, 

were supportive of the introduction of measures that the amendment seeks to support it is 

recommended that the amendment be to recommended City Council for adoption. 

This report is submitted for the consideration and debate of the committee. 

 

CÉLINE REILLY 

EXECUTIVE MANAGER 
 

Page 424



Submission Response 

Proinsias Mac Fhlannchadha – No Organisation 
 
Fines -The Fixed Notice Penalty of €75 is not 
much of a deterrent to compliance, particularly 
for large complexes (less than the lift of one 
bin). This is something that should be increased 
substantially to avoid having to go through the 
courts. 
 
Action - The fine should altered to €75 per day 
of non-registration with an authorised waste 
collector and/ or non- compliance with 
providing segregated waste bins. 
 
This €75 per day fine should also be levied on 
Directors, as agents of management 
companies. Where there are third party 
property managers in place, these companies 
should also be subject to a daily €75 fine where 
instances of non-compliance are observed. 
 

The purpose of the consultation is to provide 
for submissions relating to the proposed 
amendment of the Dublin City Waste Bye Laws 
that seeks to introduce a regulation and 
methodology for the use of specific alternative 
waste containers in specific areas of the city. 
 
The submission does not address the specific 
areas that are proposed to be amended and are 
the sole and specific subject of the consultation 
process. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 425



Submission Response 

Proinsias Mac Fhlannchadha – No Organisation 
 
Dear sir/madam, 
 
I am writing to you in relation to a submission 
on the rights and responsibilities of landlords. 
As set out under the Housing (Stan+-]dards for 
Rented Houses) Regulations 2017 " The house 
shall have access to suitable and adequate pest 
and vermin proof refuse storage facilities." 
 
Whilst the onus is on the landlord to provide 
the required bins, there is no onus on the 
landlord to provide the required infrastructure 
internally in units to adequately segregate 
waste in order for tenants to adhere to the 
various bye-laws around the country, which 
requires waste to be adequately segregated 
(see https://www.mywaste.ie/my-household-
waste-bye-laws/). As far as I am aware it is the 
obligation of the tenant to be in compliance 
with the Bye-Laws. 
This lack of basic multi-segment bins within 
units is a contributory factor in which leads to 
poor rates of recovery from materials and also 
contamination of waste streams due to 
impediments being put placed on tenants. 
Please see the attached infographic which has 
been prepared by the DCCAE as part of their 
current public consultations which confirms 
this. A simple solution to this would be that the 
landlord is required to provide segmented 
waste bins internally for Black, Green and 
Brown Bins. This wouldn't require a massive 
investment from landlords and could be 
stipulated by way of bye law to be in place for 
all new tenancies to give people adequate time 
to upgrade their waste bins. Brown Bins could 
be a small caddy as opposed to a stand-alone 
bin. 
I hope that DCC would consider and see the 
merit in amending the obligations of Landlords 
by way of bye law to factor in the above 
measures to improve the levels of recycling, 
diversion from landfill and recovery of 
materials which can be impeded by not having 
adequate bins within units. 
 

The purpose of the consultation is to provide 
for submissions relating to the proposed 
amendment of the Dublin City Waste Bye Laws 
that seeks to introduce a regulation and 
methodology for the use of specific alternative 
waste containers in specific areas of the city. 
 
The submission does not address the specific 
areas that are proposed to be amended and are 
the sole and specific subject of the consultation 
process. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 

Amendment: None 

Page 426



 

Submission Response 

Vinnie Hall – No Organisation 
 
Hello, 
 
I am concerned as to the creation and 
maintenance of scheduled areas in Dublin, 
particularly in view of the existence of elderly, 
disabled or other individuals who may have 
difficulty manipulating large/inflexible 
containers, as opposed to approved bags, who 
may be living in these areas. 
There is also the issue of these large/inflexible 
objects obstructing street users, especially 
those with prams or assistive devices. 
Additionally, some areas do not have sufficient 
outdoor space to store containers. 
 
It reduces to the following:  
Can containers be handled by everyone in a 
given area? yes/no 
 
Is there sufficient streetscape space such that 
containers placed for collection, or awaiting 
return to the owner do not obstruct? yes/no 
 
Do households have a safe storage area for 
containers as they are being filled, such that 
pavements etc. are not obstructed? yes/no 
 
You will find that the key issues iinvolve 
producing less waste in the first place, not 
disposing of it. That is where the work of DCC 
should begin. 
 
There are almost NO streets in the city centre 
of Dublin that are suited to large/inflexible 
waste containers of any sort. The streets are 
already over furnished with signage, bins, 
begging boards, cafe seating and human 
waste., apart from litter and drug 
paraphernalia. It is difficult to navigate all of 
these as it is, particularly if one is elederly, 
blind, mobility impaired, pregnant, 
carrying/wheeling child/ren, lugging 
groceries/luggage and etc. 
 

The purpose of the consultation is to provide 
for submissions relating to the proposed 
amendment of the Dublin City Waste Bye Laws 
that seeks to introduce a regulation and 
methodology for the use of specific alternative 
waste containers in specific areas of the city. 
 
The submission refers to the availability of 
space for any container as an alternative to 
bags and the ability to handle such containers. 
 
It is the purpose of the amendment to allow for 
Dublin City Council to trial, introduce and 
regulate any such container. 
 
It is with regard to the ability to store, manage 
and use successfully such containers that 
Dublin City Council will consider the approval 
for any proposed container. 
 
It is further noted that while the submission 
makes the point of availability of space that 
waste bags also require space for both storage 
and presentation and the nature of plastic bags 
is that multiple bags require significant space 
for presentation. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

Page 427



 

Submission Response 

Marc Hussey – No Organisation 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to make this 
submission. 
 
INTRODUCTION 
Waste Collection in the Fitzwilliam Dublin 2 
area is wholly unsatisfactory.  The general 
volume of street litter, much of it originating 
from official refuse bags torn open and 
contents scattered, is unacceptable, especially 
in an important heritage/tourist area.  As a 
resident, I spend too much time cleaning 
rubbish blown into the street area in front of 
the house or into the basement stairwell.   
   
Dublin City has an opportunity to revamp the 
system to make it work better for all and be 
best in class across capital cities.  
 
ISSUES AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
The specific observations and suggested fixes 
are as follows: 
 
First, collection dates are scattered and difficult 
to follow.  Different operators have different 
pick-up days for different refuse types and 
different weeks which change each month.  
Very difficult to track and follow.  As an 
example, Keywaste will designate days to 
collect general waste, and other days to collect 
both general and recycling waste.  The 
collection dates also vary each month.  So 
rubbish bags are often left out at wrong times, 
go uncollected, then frequently torn open and 
contents scattered.  The fix is to simplify 
collection dates with all providers, and insist a 
wide type of rubbish be collected on the same 
days each month. 
 
Second, the current system is not user friendly 
and lacks easy access to information to make it 
work.  The area has a diverse number of 
commercial and residential occupants with a 
resulting reasonable degree of people turnover.  
So new occupants are unaware of refuse 
disposal system in the area.  There is no 
ongoing education to inform them of the 
protocols.  Google search "fitzwilliam street 

The purpose of the consultation is to provide 
for submissions relating to the proposed 
amendment of the Dublin City Waste Bye Laws 
that seeks to introduce a regulation and 
methodology for the use of specific alternative 
waste containers in specific areas of the city. 
 
The submission makes a number of comments 
and suggestions outside of the specific areas 
that are proposed to be amended and are the 
sole and specific subject of the consultation 
process. 
 
The submission further refers to the use of 
alternatives to the use of plastic bags for waste 
presentation which would appear to be in 
agreement in principle with the proposed 
amendment.  

Page 428



dublin refuse collection dates" or similar, and 
the top hit takes you to a website from Dublin 
City Council announcing the 2012 termination 
of refuse collection services by Greyhound.  Not 
relevant or helpful.   
 
So occupants do not know who the waste 
collection providers and where to find them.  
Even if you locate a provider their websites are 
unhelpful.  Look at the website of KeyWaste 
and there is little practical collection 
information relevant to the area.  It would be 
easy for The Council to insist that all 
stakeholders provide a simple user-friendly 
webpage providing practical, collection 
information (and provide the same on its own 
website).  The information must include (i) 
service providers in the area, (ii) simple to 
follow collection dates and times, (iii) 
information about where to buy collection bags 
locally, (iv) what to do if you have missed a 
collection dates (alternative collection points) 
and (iv) how to report littering.   
 
Third,  official refuse bags are generally not 
available from shops in the area.  Keywaste's 
website is spectacularly unhelpful in telling 
residents where to purchase bags in the 
locality.  It says bags are available at Woodies, 
B&Q etc., but none operate in the area!  All 
waste providers must be required (i) to ensure 
all mini-markets locally (Spar, Tesco etc.) stock 
their bags and (ii) post on their websites an 
easy to use link to buy bags directly.  Dublin 
City must also have a weblink showing where 
the bags can be bought. 
 
Fourth, there are no local alteratives in the area 
for waste drop-off or recycling points.  All the 
points available drop-off points are not within 
walking distance for residents to use.  So there 
is no practical alternative to dispose of waste if 
you miss a scheduled collection.  Residents 
have to wait another 1-2 weeks for the next 
collection. Waste is left in bags, left on the 
street, or stored in basement stairwells, or in 
rear areas in unsuitable plastic bags which are 
often ripped open by seagulls, rats etc.   The 
City needs to provide small, practical local drop 
off and recycling points. Charge if necessary to 
ensure no abuse of the facilities.  These 

Page 429



facilities do not require significant space and 
can be automated. 
 
Fifth, the use of plastic bags must stop.  They 
not environmental friendly, and often ripped 
open by rats or seagulls and contents scattered 
blown.  The wind often blows the bags 
themselves around. A simple fix will be to stop 
the use of the bags and replace with reusable 
'mini'-wheely bins with a lid with same volume 
as the plastic bags but when left out for 
collection can eaily be clipped onto the top of 
the railings that front most houses in the area. 
 
Sixth, the street cleaning frequency in the area 
is not enough.  The litter issues are 
compounded by all too infrequent cleaning 
with sweeping machines.  On the main streets, 
there is an accumulation of rubbish between 
along the curb between the pavement and road 
which would not exist if sweeping frequency 
were increased.  It is compounded by the 
Council having to work around parked cars - but 
this could be solved by posting alternative 
street parking requirements on the Saturday or 
Sunday when sweeping does take place.  
Finally, the cleaning machines do not cover all 
streets in the area.  As an example, I have never 
seen them come into Baggot Court to clean.   
 
Happy to discuss further. 
 
Regards, 
 
Marc Hussey 
 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 430



Submission Response 

Sara Moorhead – No Organisation 
 
i would be delighted to have bins. At present I 
have to buy bags as do many people on the 
lane. it is a huge litter problem. 
 

The submission appears in principle to be 
supportive of the proposed amendment. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

 

 

Submission Response 

Patricia Carroll – No Organisation 
 
I am in favour of instituting bins instead of bags 
for waste on condition that the bins are not left 
out on the road. This must be policed by the 
council, as waste bins outside businesses as 
well as houses would be a dreadful eyesore. 
 

The submission appears in principle to be 
supportive of the proposed amendment. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 431



Submission Response 

Scarlet Merrill – No Organisation 
 
Fees for bin collection should be deducted at 
source (in local property taxes) so people can't 
opt not to have bin collection and then get rid 
of their rubbish in the park, on the street, in MY 
bin, in the river, or local public bins (which are 
constantly overflowing, by the way; your app is 
nice but lots of people report that they use it 
and nothing happens). The rubbish situation is 
out of control because you've made it optional 
and private suppliers are expensive. To combat 
littering, you've been removing the few public 
bins on local streets, which is only making the 
situation worse. I regularly get bags of dog poo 
thrown into my front yard and while I deplore 
the act it hardly surprising seeing as there are 
so few bins around for people to drop these 
items in. I don't understand the entire 
approach to waste in this country, it's 
counterproductive and illogical. Then I see 
requests for tenders for "communications 
campaigns" about waste - this is not a 
communications issue but a lack of 
infrastructure. Put the infrastructure in and 
then the few people who continue to pollute 
(there will always be some) can be prosecuted. 
You won't talk them into compliance! People 
who would never litter in the first place don't 
need a communications campaign. The status 
quo doesn't work, please be brave enough to 
change it. 
 

The purpose of the consultation is to provide 
for submissions relating to the proposed 
amendment of the Dublin City Waste Bye Laws 
that seeks to introduce a regulation and 
methodology for the use of specific alternative 
waste containers in specific areas of the city. 
 
The submission does not address the specific 
areas that are proposed to be amended and are 
the sole and specific subject of the consultation 
process. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 432



Submission Response 

Pat Murphy – No Organisation 
 
Your consultation document mentions kerb 
side multiple times. The public need to be 
educated that bins are to be placed closet to 
the road kerbside. 
On collection days on my road bins are strewn 
across the footpath some by the kerb side but 
most are abandoned at the back of the 
footpath closest to the houses. 
This is where visually impaired people are 
trained to walk. This is where they now have to 
over come all the bins abandoned. 
Maybe you can contact the NCBI to confirm this 
and can you ask bin companies to launch a 
educational campaign to highlight this issue. 
Bin company employees also need to be 
educated as to where to leave the bins after 
collection as they also abandon the bins all 
across the footpath after emptying.  
 
 

The purpose of the consultation is to provide 
for submissions relating to the proposed 
amendment of the Dublin City Waste Bye Laws 
that seeks to introduce a regulation and 
methodology for the use of specific alternative 
waste containers in specific areas of the city. 
 
The submission does not address the specific 
areas that are proposed to be amended and are 
the sole and specific subject of the consultation 
process. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

 

 

Submission Response 

Gerard Farrell – Dublin Town 
 
In relation to the proposed ammendment to 
the Waste Management (Storage, Presentation 
and Segregation of Household and Commercial 
Waste) Bye-Laws 2018, DublinTown is 
supportive of trialling reusable containers in 
key areas of the city. We believe that such 
initiatives should be tested and from surveying 
a number of businesses there is clearly an 
appetite for the trailling of such initiatives. 
 
We believe, if successful, the trialled use of 
such containers could improve the appearance 
of key locations in the city centre and also 
prevent bags waste from attracting vermin or 
being tampered with. 
 

The submission appears in principle to be 
supportive of the proposed amendment. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

Page 433



 

Submission Response 

Simon Bailey – No Organisation 
 
I live in the inner city in a bag collection area. 
The current system leads to rubbish bags being 
ripped open by foxes and seagulls and rubbish 
strewn all over the street. I welcome any 
improvement in this situation. The proposed 
solutions must keep in mind that I do not have 
space indoors to keep a container such a 
wheelie bin. Perhaps a collapsible structure 
that could fold flat when not in use and would 
be easily cleaned. 
 

The submission appears in principle to be 
supportive of the proposed amendment. 

Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

 

Submission Response 

Hugh Considine – No Organisation 
 
Hi, My neighbour places their bins outside my 
property for collection and often in front of my 
door rather than outside their own 
property/door as they need space to park their 
car. It would be useful that there be an onus on 
residents to present their bins outside their 
property and not in front of other resident's 
property. The section 2.3 below in the 
proposed bye laws is difficult to understand 
and does not appear to make any reference to 
the location private residents should present 
their bins for collection having regard to 
neighbours property. 
 
2.3. Location for container storage 
Other than on the day before and the 
designated waste collection day outside the 
Central Commercial District and on the 
designated waste collection day only within the 
Central Commercial District, containers used for 
the presentation of kerbside waste shall be 
held within the curtilage of the premises where 
the waste is produced. They shall not be stored 
on a roadway, footway, footpath or any other 
public place unless the location has been 
expressly authorised in writing by an authorised 
person. 

The purpose of the consultation is to provide 
for submissions relating to the proposed 
amendment of the Dublin City Waste Bye Laws 
that seeks to introduce a regulation and 
methodology for the use of specific alternative 
waste containers in specific areas of the city. 
 
The submission does not address the specific 
areas that are proposed to be amended and are 
the sole and specific subject of the consultation 
process. 

Page 434



Recommendation: No alteration to proposed 
amendment 
 

Amendment: None 

 

Page 435




	Agenda
	2i Draft Litter Management Plan 2020 2022
	2ii Public Consultation Report
	2iii Public Consultation Summary
	2iv Public Consultation Submissions
	Reduce the amount of waste produced at source
	Communal green/brown bin options for apartments
	Services for smaller dwellings
	Publicly provided waste collection services
	Widening recycling reach
	Deposit schemes
	Bagged waste
	Dog fouling
	Graffiti removal
	End consumer education
	QR code
	CCTV
	Front line staff
	Publication of actions
	Parking & street sweeping
	Fleet
	References

	2v Litter Management Plan - Strategic Environmental Assessment
	2vi Litter Management Plan - Screening for Appropriate Assessment Report
	2vii Appendix 1
	3i Draft Amended Bye-Laws 2018
	3ii Public Consultation Report
	3iii Public Consultation Submissions

